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issued by Merrill Lynch B.V. and Merrill Lynch International & Co. C.V.)

by
Bank of America Corporation

This document (the "Offering Circular") constitutes an offering circular in respect of the Programme
(as defined below). Instruments (as defined below) issued on or after the date of this Offering Circular
are issued subject to the provisions herein. This Offering Circular does not constitute a base prospectus
for the purpose of Article 8 of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (as amended or superseded, "EU Prospectus
Regulation") or the UK Prospectus Regulation (as defined below). This Offering Circular supersedes
and replaces the Offering Circular dated 13 May 2022.

The Instruments (as defined below) issued from time to time under this Offering Circular are
derivative financial instruments and do not constitute a participation in a collective investment scheme
in the meaning of the Swiss Collective Investment Schemes Act (""CISA"). They are neither subject to
authorisation nor supervision by the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority ("FINMA").
Accordingly, investors do not benefit from the specific investor protection provided under the CISA
and are exposed to the credit risk of the relevant Issuer (as defined below) and (if applicable) the
Guarantor (as defined below).

This Offering Circular has been approved as a base prospectus on 15 May 2023 by SIX Exchange
Regulation Ltd. ("SER") in its capacity as review body pursuant to article 52 of the Swiss Financial
Services Act of 15 June 2018, as amended (the "FinSA") (in such capacity, the "Swiss Review Body").

Under the terms of the Note, Warrant and Certificate Programme (the "Programme"), Bank of America
Corporation ("BAC") and BofA Finance LLC ("BofA Finance") may from time to time issue notes
("Notes"), Merrill Lynch B.V. ("MLBV") may from time to time issue Notes, warrants ("Warrants") or
certificates ("Certificates" and, together with Warrants, "W&C Instruments" and, together with Notes,
"Instruments") and Merrill Lynch International & Co. C.V. ("MLICo.") (acting by its general partner
ML Cayman Holdings Inc.) and, together with BAC in its capacity as an issuer, BofA Finance and
MLBYV, the "Issuers" and each an "Issuer") may from time to time issue Certificates or Warrants.
Instruments of any kind may be issued including, but not limited to, Instruments relating to a specified
index or a basket of indices ("Index Linked Instruments"), a specified share or a basket of shares
("Share Linked Instruments"), a specified global depositary receipt ("GDR") or American depositary
receipt ("ADR") or a basket of GDRs and/or ADRs ("GDR/ADR Linked Instruments"), a specified
currency or a basket of currencies ("FX Linked Instruments"), a specified commodity or commodity
index or a basket of commodities and/or commodity indices ("Commodity Linked Instruments"), a
specified fund or a basket of funds ("Fund Linked Instruments"), a specified inflation index or a basket
of inflation indices ("Inflation Linked Instruments"), the credit of a specified entity or entities ("Credit
Linked Instruments") and, in the case of Warrants, a specified share of a company listed on the Saudi
Stock Exchange (Tadawul) or a basket of such shares ("Saudi Share Linked Warrants") or any
combination of the foregoing or, in the case of Notes issued by BofA Finance and MLBV, Notes relating
to a specified preference share ("Preference Share Linked Notes") (and each such underlying asset or
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basis of reference, a "Reference Item"). Instruments may also bear interest (in the case of Notes) or pay
additional amounts (in the case of W&C Instruments). MLICo. and MLBV may also issue W&C
Instruments that are secured, in favour of Holders of the W&C Instruments, by a segregated pool of
collateral assets (the "Secured W&C Instruments"). MLBV may also issue Notes that are secured, in
favour of Noteholders, by a segregated pool of collateral assets (the "Secured Notes" and, together with
the Secured W&C Instruments, the "Secured Instruments"). Each issue of Notes will be issued on the
terms set out herein which are relevant to such Notes under "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" on
pages 209 to 255 and the additional Terms and Conditions on pages 408 to 441, pages 463 to 580, pages
651 to 661 and pages 683 to 802 (the "Note Conditions") and each issue of Warrants and Certificates
will be issued on the terms set out herein which are relevant to such W&C Instruments under "Terms
and Conditions of the W&C Instruments" on pages 357 to 406 and the additional Terms and Conditions
on pages 408 to 511, pages 581 to 650 and pages 662 to 802 (the "W&C Instruments Conditions") and,
in each case, on such additional terms as may be set out in the applicable final terms (the "Final Terms").
Further, MLBV may issue cash settled exchangeable notes ("Exchangeable Notes"). Each issue of
Exchangeable Notes will be issued on the terms set out herein which are relevant to such Exchangeable
Notes under the "Terms and Conditions of the Cash Settled Exchangeable Notes" on pages 271 to 310
(the "Exchangeable Note Conditions") and on such additional terms as may be set out in the applicable
Final Terms. In respect of MLBV, references herein to "Notes" shall be deemed to include Exchangeable
Notes, as applicable. Notes issued by BAC and BofA Finance will be governed by, and construed in
accordance with, the laws of the State of New York. Notes issued by MLBYV, and any non-
contractual obligations arising out of them, will be governed by, and construed in accordance with,
English law. The W&C Instruments, and any non-contractual obligations arising out of them, will
be governed by, and construed in accordance with, English law.

BAC (in such capacity, the "Guarantor") has in: (a) a guarantee dated 15 May 2023 (the "BofA Finance
Guarantee"), irrevocably and unconditionally guaranteed the payment obligations in respect of the
Notes issued by BofA Finance from time to time under the Programme on or after the date of this Offering
Circular; and (b) a guarantee dated 15 May 2023 (the "MLBV/MLICo. Guarantee" and, together with
the BofA Finance Guarantee, the "Guarantees" and each, a "Guarantee"), irrevocably and
unconditionally guaranteed the payment and non-cash delivery obligations in respect of the Instruments
(other than the Secured Instruments) issued by each of MLBV and MLICo. from time to time under the
Programme on or after the date of this Offering Circular (see the section entitled "Forms of Guarantee").
The Guarantees will be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of
New York. Secured Instruments issued by MLBV and MLICo. will not benefit from the
MLBV/MLICo. Guarantee.

The maximum aggregate nominal amount of all Notes issued by MLBV from time to time outstanding
under the Programme and MLBV's other structured products programmes will not exceed
€15,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies), subject to increase as described in the English
Law Programme Agreement (as defined under "Offering and Sale" below). The maximum aggregate
nominal amount of all Notes issued by BAC from time to time outstanding under the Programme and
certain other BAC international securities programmes and platforms will not exceed
U.S.$8,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies), subject to increase as described in the New
York Law Programme Agreement (as defined under "Offering and Sale" below). The maximum
aggregate nominal amount of all Notes issued by BofA Finance from time to time outstanding under the
Programme will not exceed U.S.$3,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies), subject to increase
as described in the New York Law Programme Agreement.

The Dealers under the Programme are specified in the section entitled "Overview of the Programme"
(along with any additional Dealer appointed under the Programme from time to time, the "Dealers" and,
each a "Dealer").

Application has been made to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange for Instruments issued under the
Programme to be admitted to trading on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange's Euro MTF market and to be
listed on the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. The Luxembourg Stock Exchange's Euro
MTF market is not a regulated market for the purposes of Directive 2014/65/EU on Markets in Financial
Instruments (as amended or superseded, "MiFID II"). The Programme provides that Instruments may
be listed or admitted to trading, as the case may be, on such further or other stock exchanges or markets
as the relevant Issuer and the Dealer(s) (as defined herein) may agree. The applicable Final Terms will
specify whether the Instruments are to be listed (and, if so, on which stock exchange(s) and/or market(s))
or will be unlisted Instruments.
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In respect of Instruments constituting structured products within the meaning of Article 3(a)(4) of the
FinSA ("Structured Products") and which are intended to be marketed and offered in Switzerland to
private clients within the meaning of the FinSA, the relevant Issuer will set forth all information which
may be required to be disclosed in a key information document (Basisinformationsblatt) in a separate
document referred to as a "Key Information Document" and the relevant Issuer reserves the right to
prepare such separate document for any other Instruments constituting Structured Products. In the
absence of such separate document, Instruments constituting Structured Products shall not be
offered, sold, marketed or otherwise made available to any private client in Switzerland other than
in the context of a portfolio management agreement within the meaning of Article 58(2) FinSA and
Article 83 of the Swiss Financial Services Ordinance of 6 November 2019 (the "FinSO").

The Instruments, the Guarantees and, in certain cases, any securities to be delivered upon exercise or
settlement of the Instruments (if any) have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities
Actof 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), or under any U.S. state securities laws. The Instruments,
the Guarantees and certain Entitlements (as defined herein) do not constitute, and have not been marketed
as, contracts of sale of a commodity for future delivery (or options thereon) subject to the U.S.
Commodity Exchange Act of 1936, as amended (the "CEA"), and trading in the Instruments has not been
approved by the U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission (the "CFTC") pursuant to the CEA. The
Notes issued by BAC and BofA Finance may not be offered, sold, resold, traded, transferred, pledged,
delivered, exercised or redeemed, directly or indirectly, at any time within the United States or to, or for
the account or benefit of, any U.S. person (other than distributors) except pursuant to an exemption from,
or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act. The Instruments
(other than Rule 144A Instruments) issued by MLBV and MLICo., and certain Entitlements (if any)
relating to such Instruments, may not be legally or beneficially owned by U.S. persons at any time nor
offered, sold or delivered in the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons. None
of the Issuers has registered as an investment company pursuant to the U.S. Investment Company Act of
1940, as amended (the "1940 Act"), and the rules thereunder. MLBV and MLICo. may offer and sell
Instruments of certain issues within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons,
if such persons are reasonably believed by MLBV or MLICo., as applicable, to be qualified institutional
buyers (each a "QIB") as defined in Rule 144A under the Securities Act ("Rule 144A") who are also
each a qualified purchaser (each a "QP") within the meaning of Section 3(c)(7) and as defined in Section
2(a)(51) of the 1940 Act and the rules thereunder and who have executed an Investor Representation
Letter (as defined herein) prior to acquiring any interest in such Instruments, such Instruments being
referred to in this Offering Circular as "Rule 144A Instruments". Each purchaser of Rule 144A
Instruments is hereby notified that the offer and sale of such Rule 144A Instruments is being made in
reliance upon the exemption from the securities registration requirements of the Securities Act provided
by Rule 144 A and upon the relevant exemptions from U.S. state securities laws and any other applicable
laws of other jurisdictions, and that such Rule 144 A Instruments are not transferable except as provided
under "Offering and Sale" below. In certain circumstances, exercise or settlement of Instruments will be
conditional upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership or, in the case of a Series (as defined
below) of Rule 144A Instruments, that the holder (and any person on whose behalf the holder is acting)
is a QIB and a QP. See "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" on pages 209 to 255 and "Additional Terms
and Conditions for Rule 144A Notes" on pages 657 to 661. See "Terms and Conditions of the W&C
Instruments" on pages 357 to 406 and "Additional Terms and Conditions for Rule 144A W&C
Instruments” on pages 662 to 676. Investors in the Instruments will be deemed to have made or be
required to make certain acknowledgements, representations and warranties in connection with
purchasing the Instruments. See "Notice to Purchasers and Holders of Instruments and Transfer
Restrictions" on pages 833 to 850. Rule 144A Instruments will, unless otherwise specified in the
applicable Final Terms, be sold through BofA Securities, Inc. or one of its affiliates, which in each case
is a registered broker dealer in the United States.

Rule 144A Instruments relating to commodities and commodities futures may only be offered, sold or
resold in or into the United States pursuant to one or more applicable exemptions and/or exclusions under
the CEA. MLBYV, MLICo. and the Guarantor reserve the right not to make payment or delivery in respect
of any such Rule 144A Instruments to a person in the United States or a U.S. person if such payment or
delivery would constitute a violation of U.S. law.

Hedging transactions involving any Warrants may not be conducted unless in compliance with the
Securities Act.



Unless otherwise indicated, as used in this Offering Circular, "U.S. person" has the meaning ascribed to
it by Regulation S under the Securities Act.

For a description of certain further restrictions on offers and sales of the Instruments and on the
distribution of this Offering Circular, see "Offering and Sale" on pages 905 to 933.

The Notes issued by BAC and BofA Finance are unsecured and are not and will not be savings accounts,
deposits or obligations of, or otherwise guaranteed by, Bank of America, N.A. ("BANA") or any other
bank. The Notes issued by BAC and BofA Finance do not evidence deposits of BANA or any other
banking affiliate of BAC and are not insured by the U.S. Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (the
"FDIC"), the Deposit Insurance Fund or any other insurer or governmental agency or instrumentality.

BAC is incorporated in Delaware, United States, is registered as a bank holding company under the U.S.
Bank Holding Company Act of 1956, as amended, and is a financial holding company. BAC is not
licensed as a bank or a credit institution in the United States or any other jurisdiction, and, under
applicable U.S. laws, is not required to be so licensed in order to issue or guarantee any Instruments
under the Programme. BAC's principal banking subsidiary is BANA. Neither BANA nor any other of
BAC's banking subsidiaries acts as issuer or guarantor of any Instruments issued under the Programme.

Each issue of Instruments will be issued in the form set out in "Form of the Instruments" on pages 150
to 156.

IMPORTANT — EEA RETAIL INVESTORS - If the Final Terms in respect of any Instruments
includes a legend entitled "Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors", the Instruments are not intended
to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made
available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area ("EEA"). For these purposes, a "retail
investor" means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article
4(1) of MIFID II; (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97, as amended (the
"Insurance Distribution Directive"), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as
defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in the EU
Prospectus Regulation. Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No
1286/2014 (as amended, the "EU PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the Instruments or
otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering
or selling the Instruments or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA may be
unlawful under the EU PRIIPs Regulation.

Notwithstanding the above paragraph, in the case where the Final Terms in respect of any Instruments
includes a legend entitled "Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors" but where the Issuer
subsequently prepares and publishes a key information document under the EU PRIIPs Regulation in
respect of such Instruments, then following such publication, the prohibition on the offering, sale or
otherwise making available the Instruments to a retail investor as described in the above paragraph and
in such legend shall no longer apply.

IMPORTANT — UK RETAIL INVESTORS - If the Final Terms in respect of any Instruments includes
a legend entitled "Prohibition of Sales to UK Retail Investors", the Instruments are not intended to be
offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available
to any retail investor in the United Kingdom ("UK"). For these purposes, a "retail investor" means a
person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU)
No 2017/565 as it forms part of UK domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act
2018 (the "EUWA") and the regulations made under the EUWA,; (ii) a customer within the meaning of
the provisions of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000, as amended (the "FSMA") and any rules
or regulations made under the FSMA to implement Directive (EU) 2016/97, where that customer would
not qualify as a professional client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014
as it forms part of UK domestic law by virtue of the EUWA and the regulations made under the EUWA;
or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Article 2 of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 as it forms part of
UK domestic law by virtue of the EUWA and the regulations made under the EUWA (the "UK
Prospectus Regulation"). Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No
1286/2014 as it forms part of UK domestic law by virtue of the EUWA and the regulations made under
the EUWA (the "UK PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the Instruments or otherwise making
them available to retail investors in the UK has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the



Instruments or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the UK may be unlawful under
the UK PRIIPs Regulation.

Notwithstanding the above paragraph, in the case where the Final Terms in respect of any Instruments
includes a legend entitled "Prohibition of Sales to UK Retail Investors" but where the Issuer subsequently
prepares and publishes a key information document under the UK PRIIPs Regulation in respect of such
Instruments, then following such publication, the prohibition on the offering, sale or otherwise making
available the Instruments to a retail investor as described in the above paragraph and in such legend shall
no longer apply.

INVESTORS SHOULD NOTE THAT BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION IS NOT
LICENSED TO OPERATE AS A BANK INITALY.

Prospective purchasers of Instruments should ensure that they understand the nature of the
relevant Instruments and the extent of their exposure to risks and that they consider the suitability
of the relevant Instruments as an investment in light of their own circumstances and financial
condition. Instruments involve a high degree of risk and potential investors should be prepared to
sustain a total loss of the purchase price of their Instruments. See "Risk Factors'" on pages 44 to
134.

BofA Securities



Important Notices

IMPORTANT NOTICES

This Offering Circular is a ""prospectus" for the purposes of the admission to listing on the Official
List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and to trading of the Instruments on the Euro MTF in
accordance with Part IV of the Luxembourg law on prospectuses for securities, dated July 16,
2019, and the rules and regulations of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. The Euro MTF is not a
"regulated market" for the purposes of MiFID II. This document does not constitute a base
prospectus for the purposes of Article 8 of the EU Prospectus Regulation or the UK Prospectus
Regulation. This Offering Circular is not a prospectus for the purposes of Section 12(a)(2) or any
other provision of or rule under the Securities Act.

This Offering Circular is a base prospectus within the meaning of Article 45 of the FinSA and has
been approved as such by SER in its capacity as Swiss Review Body. The Instruments issued
hereunder will not be admitted to trading on any trading venue in Switzerland.

BAC accepts responsibility for the information set forth under "Bank of America Corporation" on
pages 851 to 854, the information set forth under "Selected Financial Data of Bank of America
Corporation" on pages 855 to 856, information incorporated by reference in respect of BAC and
the statements in respect of BAC under "General Information" on pages 934 to 938, and, to the
best of the knowledge of BAC, such information is in accordance with the facts and makes no
omission likely to affect its import. BAC has accurately reproduced the information contained in
the BofA Finance Offering Circular, MLBV Offering Circular and MLICo. Offering Circular
(each as defined below) and accepts responsibility for the accurate reproduction of such
information.

BofA Finance accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Offering Circular,
excluding the information set out under ""Bank of America Corporation' on pages 851 to 854, the
information set out under "Selected Financial Data of Bank of America Corporation" on pages
855 to 856, the information set out under "Merrill Lynch B.V." on pages 859 to 860, the
information set out under "Selected Financial Data of Merrill Lynch B.V." on pages 861 to 863,
the information set out under "Merrill Lynch International & Co. C.V." on pages 864 to 865, the
information set out under "Selected Financial Data of Merrill Lynch International & Co. C.V."
on pages 866 to 867, the information set out under "Form of Final Terms of the Cash Settled
Exchangeable Notes" on pages 256 to 270, the information set out under "Terms and Conditions
of the Cash Settled Exchangeable Notes' on pages 271 to 310, the information set out under "Form
of Final Terms of the W&C Instruments" on pages 312 to 356, the information set out under
"Terms and Conditions of the W&C Instruments'" on pages 357 to 406, the information set out
under "Use of Proceeds of the W&C Instruments' on page 407, the information set out under
"Annex 3 — Additional Terms and Conditions for Low Exercise Price Warrants" on pages 442 to 462,
the information set out under "Annex 9B — Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
W&C Instruments' on pages 581 to 650, the information set out under "Annex 10 — Additional
Terms and Conditions for Physical Delivery Notes" on pages 651 to 656, the information set out
under "Annex 11A — Additional Terms and Conditions for Rule 144A Notes' on pages 657 to 661,
the information set out under "Annex 11B — Additional Terms and Conditions for Rule 144A
W&C Instruments'" on pages 662 to 676, the information set out under "Annex 12 — Additional
Terms and Conditions for Saudi Share Linked Warrants" on pages 677 to 682, the information set
out under "Annex 13 — Additional Terms and Conditions for Secured Static/Floating Instruments"
on pages 683 to 720, the information set out under "Annex 14 — Additional Terms and Conditions
for Secured Fully Floating Instruments" on pages 721 to 750, information incorporated by
reference in respect of BAC, MLBYV and MLICo. and statements in respect of BAC, MLBYV and
MLICo. under "General Information" on pages 934 to 938 (together, the "BofA Finance Offering
Circular"), and, to the best of the knowledge of BofA Finance, the information contained in the
BofA Finance Offering Circular is in accordance with the facts and makes no omission likely to
affect its import.

MLBYV accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Offering Circular, excluding
the information set out under "Bank of America Corporation" on pages 851 to 854, the information
set out under "Selected Financial Data of Bank of America Corporation" on pages 855 to 856, the
information set out under "BofA Finance LLC" on pages 857 to 858, the information set out under
"Merrill Lynch International & Co. C.V." on pages 864 to 865, the information set out under
"Selected Financial Data of Merrill Lynch International & Co. C.V." on pages 866 to 867,



Important Notices

information incorporated by reference in respect of BAC and MLICo. and statements in respect
of BAC, BofA Finance and MLICo. under "General Information" on pages 934 to 938 (together,
the "MLBYV Offering Circular"), and, to the best of the knowledge of MLBYV, the information
contained in the MLBV Offering Circular is in accordance with the facts and makes no omission
likely to affect its import.

MLICo. accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Offering Circular, excluding
the information set out under "Description of the Preference Share Issuer and the Preference
Shares' on pages 148 to 149, "Bank of America Corporation" on pages 851 to 854, the information
set out under "Selected Financial Data of Bank of America Corporation" on pages 855 to 856, the
information set out under "BofA Finance LLC" on pages 857 to 858, the information set out under
"Merrill Lynch B.V." on pages 859 to 860, the information set out under "Selected Financial Data
of Merrill Lynch B.V." on pages 861 to 863, the information set out under "Form of Final Terms
of the Notes" on pages 157 to 208, the information set out under "Terms and Conditions of the
Notes" on pages 209 to 255, the information set out under "Form of Final Terms of the Cash Settled
Exchangeable Notes' on pages 256 to 270, the information set out under "Terms and Conditions
of the Cash Settled Exchangeable Notes'" on pages 271 to 310, the information set out under "Use
of Proceeds of the Notes" on page 311, the information set out under "Annex 9A — Additional Terms
and Conditions for Credit Linked Notes" on pages 512 to 580, the information set out under "Annex
10 — Additional Terms and Conditions for Physical Delivery Notes" on pages 651 to 656, the
information set out under "Annex 11A — Additional Terms and Conditions for Rule 144A Notes"
on pages 657 to 661, the information set out under "Annex 15 — Additional Terms and Conditions
for Preference Share Linked Notes" on pages 751 to 756, the information incorporated by
reference in respect of BAC, BofA Finance and MLBYV and statements in respect of BAC and
MLBYV under "General Information" on pages 934 to 938 (together, the "MLICo. Offering
Circular"), and, to the best of the knowledge of MLICo., the information contained in the MLICo.
Offering Circular is in accordance with the facts and makes no omission likely to affect its import.

Subject as provided in the applicable Final Terms, the only persons authorised to use this Offering
Circular in connection with an offer of Instruments are the persons named in the applicable Final
Terms as the relevant Issuer or the relevant Dealer(s) or Manager(s), as the case may be.

Information contained in this Offering Circular which is sourced from a third party has been
accurately reproduced and, as far as each Issuer and the Guarantor is aware and is able to
ascertain from information published by the relevant third party, no facts have been omitted which
would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading. Each Issuer has also identified
the source(s) of such information.

The applicable Final Terms (if applicable) will specify the nature of the responsibility taken by the
relevant Issuer and the Guarantor (if applicable) for the information relating to the Reference
Item to which the relevant Instruments relate and which is contained in such Final Terms.

No person is or has been authorised by BAC, BofA Finance, MLBYV, MLICo., Merrill Lynch
International ("MLI"), BofA Securities Europe SA ("BofASE") or any other Dealer to give any
information or to make any representation not contained in or not consistent with this Offering
Circular or any other information supplied in connection with the Programme and, if given or
made, such information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorised by
BAC, BofA Finance, MLBV, MLICo., MLI, BofASE or any other Dealer of an issue of
Instruments. This Offering Circular does not constitute, and may not be used for the purposes of,
an offer or solicitation by anyone in any jurisdiction in which such offer or solicitation is not
authorised or to any person to whom it is unlawful to make such offer or solicitation and no action
is being taken to permit an offering of the Instruments or the distribution of this Offering Circular
in any jurisdiction where any such action is required.

This Offering Circular is to be read and construed in conjunction with all documents which are,
or are deemed to be, incorporated herein by reference (see "Documents Incorporated by
Reference' on pages 15 to 25). This Offering Circular shall be read and construed on the basis that
such documents are incorporated in and form part of this Offering Circular.

The Instruments of each issue may be sold by the relevant Issuer and/or any Dealer at such time
and at such prices as the relevant Issuer and/or the Dealer(s) may select. There is no obligation
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upon the relevant Issuer or any Dealer to sell all of the Instruments of any issue. The Instruments
of any issue may be offered or sold from time to time in one or more transactions in the over-the-
counter market or otherwise at prevailing market prices or in negotiated transactions, at the
discretion of the relevant Issuer.

Subject as provided in the "Terms and Conditions of the Notes'", the "Terms and Conditions of
the Cash Settled Exchangeable Notes'" and the "Terms and Conditions of the W& C Instruments',
as applicable, each Issuer shall have complete discretion as to what type of Instruments it issues
and when.

Apart from BAC, BofA Finance, MLBV and MLICo., no other party has independently verified
the information contained herein. Accordingly, no representation, warranty or undertaking,
express or implied, is made and no responsibility or liability is accepted by any Dealer as to the
accuracy or completeness of the information contained in this Offering Circular or any other
information provided by BAC, BofA Finance, MLBV and/or MLICo. No Dealer accepts any
liability in relation to the information contained or incorporated by reference in this Offering
Circular or any other information provided by BAC, BofA Finance, MLBV and/or MLICo. in
connection with the Programme.

Neither this Offering Circular nor any other information supplied in connection with the
Programme or any Instruments (a) is intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation
or (b) should be considered as a recommendation by BAC, BofA Finance, MLBYV and/or MLICo.
or any Dealer that any recipient of this Offering Circular or any other information supplied in
connection with the Programme or any Instruments should purchase any Instruments. Each
investor contemplating purchasing any Instruments should make its own independent
investigation of the financial condition and affairs, and its own appraisal of the creditworthiness,
of the relevant Issuer and the Guarantor (if applicable). Neither this Offering Circular nor any
other information supplied in connection with the Programme or any issue of Instruments
constitutes an offer or an invitation by or on behalf of BAC, BofA Finance, MLBYV and/or MLICo.
or any Dealer or any other person to subscribe for or to purchase any Instruments.

Neither the delivery of this Offering Circular nor the offering, sale or delivery of any Instruments
shall in any circumstances imply that the information contained herein concerning BAC, BofA
Finance, MLBYV and/or MLICo. is correct at any time subsequent to the date hereof or that any
other information supplied in connection with the Programme is correct as of any time subsequent
to the date indicated in the document containing the same. No Dealer undertakes to review the
financial condition or affairs of BAC, BofA Finance, MLBYV and/or MLICo. during the life of the
Programme or to advise any investor in the Instruments of any information coming to their
attention.

This Offering Circular does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any
Instruments in any jurisdiction to any person to whom it is unlawful to make such offer or
solicitation in such jurisdiction. The distribution of this Offering Circular and the offer or sale of
Instruments may be restricted by law in certain jurisdictions. None of BAC, BofA Finance, MLBYV,
MLICo. and any Dealer represents that this Offering Circular may be lawfully distributed, or that
any Instruments may be lawfully offered, in compliance with any applicable registration or other
requirements in any jurisdiction, or pursuant to an exemption available thereunder, or assumes
any responsibility for facilitating any such distribution or offer. In particular, unless specifically
indicated to the contrary in the applicable Final Terms, no action has been taken by BAC, BofA
Finance, MLBV, MLICo. or any Dealer which is intended to permit a public offering of any
Instruments or distribution of this Offering Circular in any jurisdiction where action for that
purpose is required. Accordingly, no Instruments may be offered or sold, directly or indirectly,
and neither this Offering Circular nor any advertisement or other offering material may be
distributed or published in any jurisdiction, except under circumstances that will result in
compliance with any applicable laws and regulations. Persons into whose possession this Offering
Circular or any Instruments may come must inform themselves about, and observe, any such
restrictions on the distribution of this Offering Circular and the offering and sale of Instruments.
In particular, there are restrictions on the distribution of this Offering Circular and the offer or
sale of Instruments in the United States, the EEA (including Austria, Denmark, Finland, France,
Greece, Italy, Luxembourg, the Netherlands and Spain), the United Kingdom, Argentina,
Bahamas, Bermuda, Brazil, Cayman Islands, Chile, China, Colombia, Costa Rica, Dominican



Important Notices

Republic, Dubai International Finance Centre, El Salvador, Guatemala, Guernsey, Honduras,
Hong Kong, Israel, Jamaica, Japan, Jersey, Mauritius, Mexico, New Zealand, Nicaragua, Oman,
Panama, Paraguay, Peru, Philippines, Portugal, Qatar, Singapore, South Africa, South Korea, St.
Kitts and Nevis, Switzerland, Taiwan, Thailand, Turkey, United Arab Emirates, Uruguay and
Venezuela, and such other restrictions as may be required in connection with the offering and sale
of a particular Series of Instruments, including the restrictions in connection with the offering and
sale of Low Exercise Price Warrants that are linked to a share or an index listed on an exchange
in certain jurisdictions including China, Indonesia, Taiwan, Thailand and Vietnam (see "Offering
and Sale" on pages 905 to 933). In particular, the Instruments, the Guarantee and, in certain cases,
any securities to be delivered upon exercise or settlement of the Instruments (if any) have not been
and will not be registered under the Securities Act.

This Offering Circular has been prepared on the basis that any offer of Instruments in any
Member State of the EEA (each, a ""Member State') will be made pursuant to an exemption under
the EU Prospectus Regulation from the requirement to publish a prospectus for offers of
Instruments. Accordingly any person making or intending to make an offer in that Member State
of Instruments which are the subject of an offering contemplated in this Offering Circular as
completed by the applicable Final Terms in relation to the offer of those Instruments may only do
so in circumstances in which no obligation arises for the relevant Issuer or any Dealer to publish a
prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the EU Prospectus Regulation or supplement a prospectus
pursuant to Article 23 of the EU Prospectus Regulation, in each case, in relation to such offer. None
of the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (if applicable) and any Dealer have authorised, nor do they
authorise, the making of any offer of Instruments in circumstances in which an obligation arises
for the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (if applicable) or any Dealer to publish or supplement a
prospectus for such offer.

This Offering Circular has been prepared on the basis that any offer of Instruments in the United
Kingdom will be made pursuant to an exemption under the UK Prospectus Regulation from the
requirement to publish a prospectus for offers of Instruments. Accordingly any person making or
intending to make an offer of Instruments in the United Kingdom which are the subject of an
offering contemplated in this Offering Circular as completed by the applicable Final Terms in
relation to the offer of those Instruments may only do so in circumstances in which no obligation
arises for the relevant Issuer or any Dealer to publish a prospectus pursuant to section 85 of the
FSMA or supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 23 of the UK Prospectus Regulation, in each
case, in relation to such offer. None of the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (if applicable) and any
Dealer have authorised, nor do they authorise, the making of any offer of Instruments in
circumstances in which an obligation arises for the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (if applicable)
or any Dealer to publish or supplement a prospectus for such offer.

No Notes issued by MLBV or W&C Instruments (other than Rule 144A Instruments), or any
interests therein, may at any time be offered, sold, resold, pledged, assigned, delivered or otherwise
transferred, exercised or redeemed, directly or indirectly, in the United States or to, or for the
account or benefit of, U.S. persons (as defined in Regulation S) and any offer, sale, resale, pledge,
assignment, delivery or other transfer, exercise or redemption made, directly or indirectly, within
the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, a U.S. person will not be recognised. See
"Notice to Purchasers and Holders of Instruments and Transfer Restrictions' and "Offering and
Sale". No Notes issued by BAC or BofA Finance may be offered, sold, resold, traded, transferred,
pledged, delivered, exercised or redeemed, directly or indirectly, in the United States or to, or for
the account or benefit of, a U.S. person (as defined in Regulation S) except pursuant to an
exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities
Act. The Notes issued by BAC or BofA Finance will be subject to certain restrictions on transfer
— see ""Offering and Sale".

None of the Instruments and the Guarantees have been approved or disapproved by the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission (the '"SEC") or any other securities commission or other
regulatory authority in the United States, nor have the foregoing authorities reviewed or passed
upon the accuracy or adequacy of this Offering Circular. Any representation to the contrary is a
criminal offence in the United States. The Instruments, the Guarantees and certain Entitlements
do not constitute, and have not been marketed as, contracts of sale of a commodity for future
delivery (or options thereon) subject to the CEA, and trading in the Instruments has not been
approved by the CFTC pursuant to the CEA.
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This Offering Circular is being submitted on a confidential basis in the United States to a limited
number of QIBs who are also QPs for informational use solely in connection with the consideration
of the purchase of the Rule 144A Instruments. It may not be copied or reproduced in the United
States in whole or in part nor may it be distributed or any of its contents disclosed to anyone in the
United States other than the prospective investors to whom it is originally submitted.

Each purchaser or holder of interests in the Instruments will be deemed, by its acceptance or
purchase of any such Instruments, to have made, or will be required to make, certain
representations and agreements as set out in '""Notice to Purchasers and Holders of Instruments
and Transfer Restrictions" and "Offering and Sale".

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, each holder and beneficial owner of
the Instruments (and each employee, representative, or other agent of each holder and beneficial
owner of the Instruments) may disclose to any and all persons, without limitation of any kind, the
tax treatment and tax structure of the transactions described herein and all materials of any kind
that are provided to the holder or beneficial owner of the Instruments relating to such tax
treatment and tax structure (as such terms are defined in United States Treasury Regulation
Section 1.6011-4). This authorisation of tax disclosure is retroactively effective to the
commencement of discussions with holders or beneficial owners of the Instruments regarding the
transactions contemplated herein.

None of BAC, BofA Finance, MLBV and MLICo. has investigated, and none has or may have
access to information that would permit it to ascertain, whether any company which has issued
equity, debt or other instruments to which any Instruments relate is for United States tax purposes
a passive foreign investment company, a controlled foreign corporation, a publicly-traded
partnership or other type of pass-through entity. Prospective investors in any Instruments that are
U.S. taxpayers should consult their own advisers concerning United States tax considerations
relevant to an investment in such Instruments.

If Instruments are linked to Reference Items that are Shares of one or more United States issuers,
such Shares must be registered with the SEC. In addition, if Instruments are linked to Reference
Items that are (i) Shares of one or more United States issuers or (ii) indices comprised of stock,
Shares or other securities of United States issuers, such United States issuers must be, at the time
of the issuance of the relevant Instruments, a reporting issuer under the U.S. Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"). If Instruments are linked to Reference Items that
are ADRs, such ADRs must be listed or admitted to trading on a U.S. securities exchange registered
under the Exchange Act or included in the OTC Bulletin Board Service operated by the Financial
Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc.

In this Offering Circular, references to "U.S.$", "$" and "U.S. dollars" are to United States
Dollars; references to ""A$'" are to Australian dollars; references to "EUR", "Euro", "euro" and
"€" are to the lawful single currency of the member states of the European Union that have
adopted and continue to retain a common single currency through monetary union in accordance
with European Union treaty law (as amended from time to time); references to "Japanese Yen,"
"Yen," "JPY," and "¥" are to the currency of Japan: references to "Korean won" or "KRW" are
to Korean won; and references to "CNY" are to Chinese Renminbi, the lawful currency of the
People's Republic of China (including any lawful successor to the CNY).

In connection with the issue of any Tranche of Notes, the Dealer or Dealers (if any) named as the
Stabilising Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilising Manager(s)) in the applicable
Final Terms may over-allot Notes or effect transactions with a view to supporting the market price
of the Notes at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail. However, stabilisation may
not necessarily occur. Any stabilisation action may begin on or after the date on which adequate
public disclosure of the terms of the offer of the relevant Tranche of Notes is made and, if begun,
may cease at any time, but it must end no later than the earlier of 30 calendar days after the issue
date of the relevant Tranche of Notes and 60 calendar days after the date of the allotment of the
relevant Tranche of Notes. Any stabilisation action or over-allotment must be conducted by the
relevant Stabilising Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilising Manager(s)) in
accordance with all applicable laws and rules.
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Cautionary Note Regarding Forward Looking Statements

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements included or incorporated by reference in this Offering Circular constitute "forward-
looking statements" within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act and Section 21E of the
Exchange Act. These statements can be identified by the fact that they do not relate strictly to historical

nn

or current facts. These statements often use words such as "anticipates", "targets", "expects", "hopes",

n"nong nn nn nn

"estimates", "intends", "plans", "goals", "believes", "continue", and other similar expressions, or future

nmn

or conditional verbs such as "will", "may", "might", "should", "would" and "could".

All forward-looking statements, by their nature, are subject to risks and uncertainties. Actual results may
differ materially from those set forth in these forward-looking statements. As a large, international
financial services company, BAC and its subsidiaries face risks that are inherent in the businesses and
market places in which they operate. Information regarding important factors that could cause BAC's
future financial performance to vary from that described in its forward-looking statements is contained
in the BAC 2022 Annual Report (a defined below), which is incorporated by reference in this Offering
Circular, under the captions "Item 1A. Risk Factors" and "Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and in the BAC 31 March 2023 Quarterly Report (as
defined below), which is incorporated by reference into this Offering Circular, under the caption "Item
2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations".

Investors should not place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the
dates they are made.

All subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to BAC or any person on its
behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements contained or referred to in
this section. Except to the extent required by applicable law or regulation, BAC undertakes no obligation
to update these forward-looking statements to reflect the impact of circumstances or events that arise
after the date of this Offering Circular or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events.

Pursuant to Article 69(3) FinSA, investors are hereby cautioned that any forward-looking
statements contained in this Offering Circular are not historical in nature but are forward-looking
based on information and assumptions the Issuers consider to be reasonable. Such statements are
inherently uncertain and subject to a variety of circumstances, many of which are beyond the
Issuers' control and could cause actual results to differ materially from what the Issuers anticipate.
Due to the uncertainty of future developments, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law,
the Issuers do not assume any liability in respect of or in connection with any forward-looking
statements contained herein.

11



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

IMPORTANT NOTICES ...ttt ettt ettt ettt ea e eh e e e b e bt et e bt emeeseeesbeeteenbe e st enteseeesbeennean 6
AVAILABLE INFORMATION ...ttt ettt ettt ettt st sat ettt es e eb e bt e sbe e bt embeeneesetenaeenbeeneeens 14
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE .......ooiiiiiiiiiiitie ettt ettt 15
OVERVIEW OF THE PROGRAMME ..ottt ettt et b ettt et st st sae et e enteeas 26
SUMMARY FOR FINSA PURPOSES ...ttt sttt ettt st b et s sae 39
RISK FACTORS ...ttt ettt ettt et sa ettt et et e b e s b et es e et eanesueenaeenseenneeas 44
DESCRIPTION OF THE COLLATERAL ARRANGEMENTS RELATING TO SECURED INSTRUMENTS 135
DESCRIPTION OF THE PREFERENCE SHARE ISSUER AND THE PREFERENCE SHARES. .................... 148
FORM OF THE INSTRUMENTS ...ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt et st enae e eane e 150
FORM OF FINAL TERMS OF THE NOTES ......cccooiiioiiiteetee ettt et e 157
TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES .....c..coiiiiiiiiieee ettt ettt s 209
FORM OF FINAL TERMS OF THE CASH SETTLED EXCHANGEABLE NOTES ......ccocoeiiiiienieiieee 256
TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE CASH SETTLED EXCHANGEABLE NOTES ......ccccoiiiiiiiinieieen, 271
USE OF PROCEEDS OF THE NOTES ...ttt et sttt ettt st b e sae s e 311
FORM OF FINAL TERMS OF THE W&C INSTRUMENTS ..ottt e 312
TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE W&C INSTRUMENTS ..ot 357
USE OF PROCEEDS OF THE W&C INSTRUMENTS ...ttt 407
ANNEX 1 ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR INDEX LINKED INSTRUMENTS................. 408
ANNEX 2 ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR SHARE LINKED INSTRUMENTS................ 424
ANNEX 3 ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR LOW EXERCISE PRICE WARRANTS......... 442
ANNEX 4 ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR GDR/ADR LINKED INSTRUMENTS........... 463
ANNEX 5 ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR FX LINKED INSTRUMENTS..........ccccveeunee. 468
ANNEX 6 ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR COMMODITY LINKED INSTRUMENTS.... 477
ANNEX 7 ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR FUND LINKED INSTRUMENTS. .................. 487
ANNEX 8 ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR INFLATION LINKED INSTRUMENTS....... 508
ANNEX 9A ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR CREDIT LINKED NOTES..........cccconeneene. 512
ANNEX 9B ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR CREDIT LINKED W&C INSTRUMENTS . 581
ANNEX 10 ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR PHYSICAL DELIVERY NOTES ................. 651
ANNEX 11A ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR RULE 144A NOTES.......cccccooiiiviiiiienene 657
ANNEX 11B ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR RULE 144A W&C INSTRUMENTS ......... 662
ANNEX 12 ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR SAUDI SHARE LINKED WARRANTS ...... 677
ANNEX 13 ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR SECURED STATIC/FLOATING

INSTRUMENTS ...ttt ettt ettt ettt et sat bt ettt s b et sh e e s bt et e eaeesas e s it enbee bt eaneeaneeunenanennees 683
ANNEX 14  ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR SECURED FULLY FLOATING

INSTRUMENTS ..ttt et h b et ettt s ae e sat et e em et e st et e bt e eh e e bt embeeateseeesatenb e e bt emteeseeentenneenseas 721

ANNEX 15 ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR PREFERENCE SHARE LINKED NOTES... 751
ANNEX 16 ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR INDEX-LINKED FUTURES CONTRACTS 757

ANNEX 17 ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR REFERENCE RATES ........ccccocvnininierinnne. 761
ANNEX 18 SWISS PRODUCT DESCRIPTION .....c..ccciiieiiiieiiiintinienteettet ettt ettt sttt 803
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ABOUT SCREEN RATE DETERMINATION REFERENCE RATES AND

SOFR, SONIA AND TONA .....cooiiiiiiii ettt s s st s 816
FORMS OF GUARANTEES .......ooiiiiiiiiii et st s s 822
BOOK-ENTRY CLEARING SYSTEMS ..o 829
NOTICE TO PURCHASERS AND HOLDERS OF INSTRUMENTS AND TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS..... 833
BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION .....ccoooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiicietee s 851
SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA OF BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION.........cccoectriiiiiiiininieieeeeeenne 855
BOFA FINANCE LLC ...ttt ettt s sttt st ettt s b et e s et b e bt st e nennennen 857
MERRILL LYNCH B.V. Lttt ettt s ettt sttt n 859
SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA OF MERRILL LYNCH B.V...cccooiiiiiiieiiiiiieeeetceeesese et 861
MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL & CO. C.V. ittt ettt 864
SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA OF MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL & CO. C.V....ccccovininirieienns 866
MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL .....coiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeee s s 868
ERISA MATTERS ...ttt 870
TAXATION .ot b e et tesae e e ae ettt e bbb e s s 872
OFFERING AND SALE .....c.oioiiiiiiiiiiie et ettt 905



GENERAL INFORMATION ...

INDEX OF DEFINED TERMS

13



Available Information

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

Other than with respect to Secured Instruments, BAC will provide, without charge, to each person to
whom a copy of this Offering Circular has been delivered, upon the oral or written request of such person,
a copy of any or all of the documents relating to BAC incorporated herein by reference. Written requests
for such documents should be directed to: Bank of America Corporation, Bank of America Corporate
Center, 100 North Tryon Street, Charlotte, North Carolina 28255-0065, Attention: Fixed Income Investor
Relations, or fixedincomeir@bankofamerica.com. Telephone requests may be directed to either +1-866-
607-1234 (toll free) or +1-212-449-6795. BAC's filings with the SEC are available through (1) the SEC's
website at www.sec.gov and (2) BAC's website at www.bankofamerica.com. In addition, all documents
incorporated herein by reference will be available for viewing on the website of the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange (www.luxse.com) and copies will be obtainable at the specified offices of the Principal Paying
Agent (in respect of Exchangeable Notes), the applicable Paying Agent (in respect of Notes) and the
applicable W&C Instrument Agent (in respect of W&C Instruments). References to web addresses in
this Offering Circular are included as inactive textual references only. Except as specifically incorporated
by reference into this Offering Circular, information on these websites is not part of this Offering
Circular.

14



Documents Incorporated by Reference

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The following documents, which have previously been published and have been filed with the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange, shall be deemed to be incorporated in, and to form part of, this Offering
Circular:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

¢

(@

(h)

BAC's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 31 December 2022 (the "BAC 2022
Annual Report");

BAC's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 31 March 2023 (the "BAC 31
March 2023 Quarterly Report");

BAC's Current Reports on Form 8-K filed on 3 February 2023 (the "BAC 3 February 2023
Form 8-K") and 31 March 2023 (the "BAC 31 March 2023 Form 8-K", and together with the
BAC 3 February 2023 Form 8-K, the "BAC Forms 8-K") (other than, with respect to these
reports, information that is furnished but deemed not to have been filed under the rules of the
SEC);

the 2023 Proxy Statement of BAC pursuant to Section 14(a) of the Exchange Act dated 7 March
2023 (the "2023 BAC Proxy Statement"), and filed with the SEC on 7 March 2023 (the "BAC
2023 Proxy");

MLBV's audited financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2021 together
with the accompanying notes thereto and the auditor's report dated 29 April 2022! thereon (the
"MLBY 2021 Accounts") and as at and for the year ended 31 December 2022 together with the
accompanying notes thereto and the auditor's report dated 28 April 2023 thereon (the "MLBV
2022 Accounts");

MLICo.'s General Partner's Annual Report and Financial Statements as at and for the year ended
31 December 2021 together with the accompanying notes thereto and the auditor's report dated
29 April 2022 thereon (the "MLICo. 2021 Accounts") and as at and for the year ended 31
December 2022 together with the accompanying notes thereto and the auditor's report dated 28
April 2023 thereon (the "MLICo. 2022 Accounts");

for the purpose of any issue of Notes by MLBV under the Programme which are to be
consolidated and form a single series with an existing tranche or series of Notes issued on or
after 15 September 2009 and prior to 22 June 2010 or for the purpose of any other Series of
Notes in respect of which the applicable Final Terms provide that the 2009 Note Conditions
apply, the form of final terms of the Notes (the "2009 Note Final Terms") on pages 74 to 112
of the base prospectus of Merrill Lynch S.A. ("MLSA") and MLICo. dated 15 September 2009
(the "2009 Base Prospectus"), the terms and conditions of the Notes on pages 113 to 140 of the
2009 Base Prospectus (the "2009 Note Conditions"), the annexes on pages 227 to 347 of the
2009 Base Prospectus (the "2009 Annexes") and the form of guarantee on pages 348 to 349 of
the 2009 Base Prospectus (the "2009 Form of Guarantee");

for the purpose of any issue of Notes by MLBV under the Programme which are to be
consolidated and form a single series with an existing tranche or series of Notes issued on or
after 22 June 2010 and prior to 22 June 2011 or for the purpose of any other Series of Notes in
respect of which the applicable Final Terms provide that the 2010 Note Conditions apply, the
form of final terms of the Notes (the "2010 Note Final Terms") on pages 74 to 116 of the base
prospectus of MLSA and MLICo. dated 22 June 2010 (the "2010 Base Prospectus"), the terms
and conditions of the Notes on pages 117 to 145 of the 2010 Base Prospectus (the "2010 Note
Conditions"), the annexes on pages 238 to 367 of the 2010 Base Prospectus (the "2010
Annexes") and the form of guarantee on pages 376 to 378 of the 2010 Base Prospectus (the
"2010 Form of Guarantee");

! The auditor's report contained in the MLBV 2021 Accounts incorporated by reference into this Offering Circular is the original auditor's report that
was issued on 29 April 2022 with respect to the MLBV 2021 Annual Report. The paragraph headed "European Single Electronic Format (ESEF)" on
page 8 of the auditor's report relates to the official 2021 annual report of MLBV (as prepared in XHTML format) in accordance with the applicable

Regulatory Technical Standards (RTS) on ESEF, and is not applicable for the financial information and format as set out in this Offering Circular.
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(k)

)

(m)

Documents Incorporated by Reference

for the purpose of any issue of Notes by MLBV under the Programme which are to be
consolidated and form a single series with an existing tranche or series of Notes issued on or
after 22 June 2011 and prior to 24 May 2012 or for the purpose of any other Series of Notes in
respect of which the applicable Final Terms provide that the 2011 Note Conditions apply, the
form of final terms of the Notes (the "2011 Note Final Terms") on pages 92 to 123 of the base
prospectus of MLSA and MLICo. dated 22 June 2011 (the "2011 Base Prospectus"), the terms
and conditions of the Notes on pages 124 to 160 of the 2011 Base Prospectus (the "2011 Note
Conditions"), the annexes on pages 261 to 457 of the 2011 Base Prospectus (the "2011
Annexes") and the form of guarantee on pages 458 to 460 of the 2011 Base Prospectus (the
"2011 Form of Guarantee");

for the purpose of any issue of Notes by MLBV under the Programme which are to be
consolidated and form a single series with an existing tranche or series of Notes issued on or
after 24 May 2012 and prior to 9 January 2013 or for the purpose of any other Series of Notes
in respect of which the applicable Final Terms provide that the 2012 Note Conditions apply, the
form of final terms of the Notes (the "2012 Note Final Terms") on pages 105 to 139 of the base
prospectus of MLSA and MLICo. dated 24 May 2012 (the "2012 Base Prospectus"), the terms
and conditions of the Notes on pages 140 to 176 of the 2012 Base Prospectus (the "2012 Note
Conditions"), the annexes on pages 284 to 489 of the 2012 Base Prospectus (the "2012
Annexes") and the form of guarantee on pages 494 to 496 of the 2012 Base Prospectus (the
"2012 Form of Guarantee");

for the purpose of any issue of Notes by MLBV under the Programme which are to be
consolidated and form a single series with an existing tranche or series of Notes issued on or
after 9 January 2013 and prior to 15 November 2013 or for the purpose of any other Series of
Notes in respect of which the applicable Final Terms provide that the January 2013 Note
Conditions apply, the form of final terms of the Notes (the "January 2013 Note Final Terms")
on pages 76 to 111 of the offering circular of MLBV and MLICo. dated 9 January 2013 (the
"January 2013 Offering Circular"), the terms and conditions of the Notes on pages 112 to 153
of the January 2013 Offering Circular (the "January 2013 Note Conditions"), the annexes on
pages 263 to 492 of the January 2013 Offering Circular (the "January 2013 Annexes") and the
form of non-COSI guarantee on pages 497 to 499 of the January 2013 Offering Circular (the
"January 2013 Form of Non-COSI Guarantee");

for the purpose of any issue of Notes by MLBV under the Programme which are to be
consolidated and form a single series with an existing tranche or series of Notes issued on or
after 15 November 2013 and prior to 12 November 2014 or for the purpose of any other Series
of Notes in respect of which the applicable Final Terms provide that the November 2013 Note
Conditions apply, the form of final terms of the Notes (the "November 2013 Note Final
Terms") on pages 82 to 117 of the offering circular of BAC, MLBV, Merrill Lynch Capital
Markets AG ("MLCMAG") and MLICo. dated 15 November 2013 (the "November 2013
Offering Circular"), the terms and conditions of the Notes on pages 118 to 156 of the
November 2013 Offering Circular (the "November 2013 Note Conditions"), the annexes on
pages 260 to 488 of the November 2013 Offering Circular (the "November 2013 Annexes")
and the form of non-COSI guarantee on pages 493 to 495 of the November 2013 Offering
Circular (the "November 2013 Form of Non-COSI Guarantee");

for the purpose of any issue of Notes by MLBV under the Programme which are to be
consolidated and form a single series with an existing tranche or series of Notes issued on or
after 12 November 2014 and prior to 11 November 2015 or for the purpose of any other Series
of Notes in respect of which the applicable Final Terms provide that the November 2014 Note
Conditions apply, the form of final terms of the Notes (the "November 2014 Note Final
Terms") on pages 85 to 121 of the offering circular of BAC, MLBV, MLICo. and MLCMAG
dated 12 November 2014 (the "November 2014 Offering Circular"), the terms and conditions
of the Notes on pages 122 to 162 of the November 2014 Offering Circular (the "November
2014 Note Conditions"), the annexes on pages 268 to 519 of the November 2014 Offering
Circular (the "November 2014 Annexes") and the form of non-COSI guarantee on pages 524
to 526 of the November 2014 Offering Circular (the "November 2014 Form of Non-COSI
Guarantee");
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for the purpose of any issue of Notes by MLBV under the Programme which are to be
consolidated and form a single series with an existing tranche or series of Notes issued on or
after 11 November 2015 and prior to 10 May 2016 or for the purpose of any other Series of
Notes in respect of which the applicable Final Terms provide that the November 2015 Note
Conditions apply, the form of final terms of the Notes (the "November 2015 Note Final
Terms") on pages 108 to 144 of the offering circular of BAC, MLBV and MLICo. dated 11
November 2015 (the "November 2015 Offering Circular"), the terms and conditions of the
Notes on pages 145 to 185 of the November 2015 Offering Circular (the "November 2015 Note
Conditions"), the annexes on pages 293 to 609 of the November 2015 Offering Circular (the
"November 2015 Annexes") and the form of non-COSI guarantee on pages 614 to 616 of the
November 2015 Offering Circular (the "November 2015 Form of Non-COSI Guarantee");

for the purpose of any issue of Notes by MLBV under the Programme which are to be
consolidated and form a single series with an existing tranche or series of Notes issued on or
after 10 May 2016 and prior to 24 January 2017 or for the purpose of any other Series of Notes
in respect of which the applicable Final Terms provide that the May 2016 Note Conditions
apply, the form of final terms of the Notes (the "May 2016 Note Final Terms") on pages 109
to 145 of the offering circular of BAC, MLBV and MLICo. dated 10 May 2016 (the "May 2016
Offering Circular"), the terms and conditions of the Notes on pages 146 to 186 of the May
2016 Offering Circular (the "May 2016 Note Conditions"), the annexes on pages 296 to 622
of the May 2016 Offering Circular (the "May 2016 Annexes") and the form of non-COSI
guarantee on pages 627 to 629 of the May 2016 Offering Circular (the "May 2016 Form of
Non-COSI Guarantee");

for the purpose of any issue of Notes by MLBV or BAC under the Programme which are to be
consolidated and form a single series with an existing tranche or series of Notes issued on or
after 24 January 2017 and prior to 19 May 2017 or for the purpose of any other Series of Notes
in respect of which the applicable Final Terms provide that the January 2017 Note Conditions
apply, the form of final terms of the Notes (the "January 2017 Note Final Terms") on pages
116 to 152 of the offering circular of BAC, MLBV and MLICo. dated 24 January 2017 (the
"January 2017 Offering Circular"), the terms and conditions of the Notes on pages 153 to 194
of the January 2017 Offering Circular (the "January 2017 Note Conditions"), the annexes on
pages 304 to 630 of the January 2017 Offering Circular (the "January 2017 Annexes") and the
form of non-COSI guarantee on pages 635 to 637 of the January 2017 Offering Circular (the
"January 2017 Form of Non-COSI Guarantee");

for the purpose of any issue of Notes by MLBV or BAC under the Programme which are to be
consolidated and form a single series with an existing tranche or series of Notes issued on or
after 19 May 2017 and prior to 18 May 2018 or for the purpose of any other Series of Notes in
respect of which the applicable Final Terms provide that the May 2017 Note Conditions apply,
the form of final terms of the Notes (the "May 2017 Note Final Terms") on pages 109 to 145
of the offering circular of BAC, MLBV and MLICo. dated 19 May 2017 (the "May 2017
Offering Circular"), the terms and conditions of the Notes on pages 146 to 187 of the May
2017 Offering Circular (the "May 2017 Note Conditions"), the annexes on pages 285 to 613
of the May 2017 Offering Circular (the "May 2017 Annexes") and the form of guarantee on
pages 614 to 616 of the May 2017 Offering Circular (the "May 2017 Form of Guarantee");

for the purpose of any issue of Notes by MLBV or BAC under the Programme which are to be
consolidated and form a single series with an existing tranche or series of Notes issued on or
after 18 May 2018 and prior to 16 May 2019 or for the purpose of any other Series of Notes in
respect of which the applicable Final Terms provide that the May 2018 Note Conditions apply,
the form of final terms of the Notes (the "May 2018 Note Final Terms") on pages 194 to 233
of the offering circular of BAC, MLBV and MLICo. dated 18 May 2018 (the "May 2018
Offering Circular"), the terms and conditions of the Notes on pages 150 to 192 of the May
2018 Offering Circular (the "May 2018 Note Conditions"), the annexes on pages 290 to 594
of the May 2018 Offering Circular (the "May 2018 Annexes") and the form of guarantee on
pages 621 to 623 of the May 2018 Offering Circular (the "May 2018 Form of Guarantee");

for the purpose of any issue of W&C Instruments under the Programme which are to be

consolidated and form a single series with an existing tranche or series of W&C Instruments
issued on or after 18 May 2018 and prior to 16 May 2019 or for the purpose of any other Series
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of W&C Instruments in respect of which the applicable Final Terms provide that the May 2018
W&C Instruments Conditions apply, the form of final terms of the W&C Instruments (the "May
2018 W&C Final Terms") on pages 194 to 233 of the May 2018 Offering Circular, the terms
and conditions of the W&C Instruments on pages 234 to 288 of the May 2018 Offering Circular
(the "May 2018 W&C Instruments Conditions"), the May 2018 Annexes and the May 2018
Form of Guarantee;

for the purpose of any issue of Notes by MLBV, BofA Finance or BAC under the Programme
which are to be consolidated and form a single series with an existing tranche or series of Notes
issued on or after 16 May 2019 and prior to 14 May 2020 or for the purpose of any other Series
of Notes in respect of which the applicable Final Terms provide that the May 2019 Note
Conditions apply, the form of final terms of the Notes (the "May 2019 Note Final Terms") on
pages 122 to 166 of the Offering Circular of BAC, BofA Finance, MLBV and MLICo. dated 16
May 2019 (the "May 2019 Offering Circular"), the terms and conditions of the Notes on pages
167 to 210 of the May 2019 Offering Circular (the "May 2019 Note Conditions"), the annexes
of pages 354 to 698 of the May 2019 Offering Circular (the "May 2019 Annexes") and the form
of MLBV/MLICo. guarantee on pages 699 to 702 of the May 2019 Offering Circular (the "May
2019 Form of MLBV/MLICo. Guarantee") and the form of BofA Finance guarantee on pages
703 to 705 of the May 2019 Offering Circular (the "May 2019 Form of BofA Finance
Guarantee");

for the purpose of any issue of W&C Instruments under the Programme which are to be
consolidated and form a single series with an existing tranche or series of W&C Instruments
issued on or after 16 May 2019 and prior to 14 May 2020 or for the purpose of any other series
of W&C Instruments in respect of which applicable Final Terms provide that the May 2019
W&C Instruments Conditions apply, the form of final terms of the W&C Instruments (the "May
2019 W&C Final Terms") on pages 263 to 304 of the May 2019 Offering Circular, the terms
and conditions of the W&C Instruments on pages 305 to 352 of the May 2019 Offering Circular
(the "May 2019 W&C Instrument Conditions"), the May 2019 Annexes and the May 2019
Form of MLBV/MLICo. Guarantee;

for the purpose of any issue of Notes by MLBV, BofA Finance or BAC under the Programme
which are to be consolidated and form a single series with an existing tranche or series of Notes
issued on or after 14 May 2020 and prior to 14 May 2021 or for the purpose of any other Series
of Notes in respect of which the applicable Final Terms provide that the May 2020 Note
Conditions apply, the form of final terms of the Notes (the "May 2020 Note Final Terms") on
pages 140 to 188 of the Offering Circular of BAC, BofA Finance, MLBV and MLICo. dated 14
May 2020 (the "May 2020 Offering Circular"), the terms and conditions of the Notes on pages
189 to 236 of the May 2020 Offering Circular (the "May 2020 Note Conditions"), the annexes
of pages 379 to 769 of the May 2020 Offering Circular (the "May 2020 Annexes") and the form
of MLBV/MLICo. guarantee on pages 770 to 773 of the May 2020 Offering Circular (the "May
2020 Form of MLBV/MLICo. Guarantee") and the form of BofA Finance guarantee on pages
774 to 776 of the May 2020 Offering Circular (the "May 2020 Form of BofA Finance
Guarantee");

for the purpose of any issue of W&C Instruments under the Programme which are to be
consolidated and form a single series with an existing tranche or series of W&C Instruments
issued on or after 14 May 2020 and prior to 14 May 2021 or for the purpose of any other series
of W&C Instruments in respect of which applicable Final Terms provide that the May 2020
W&C Instruments Conditions apply, the form of final terms of the W&C Instruments (the "May
2020 W&C Final Terms") on pages 289 to 329 of the May 2020 Offering Circular, the terms
and conditions of the W&C Instruments on pages 330 to 377 of the May 2020 Offering Circular
(the "May 2020 W&C Instrument Conditions"), the May 2020 Annexes and the May 2020
Form of MLBV/MLICo. Guarantee;

for the purpose of any issue of Notes by MLBV, BofA Finance or BAC under the Programme
which are to be consolidated and form a single series with an existing tranche or series of Notes
issued on or after 14 May 2021 and prior to 13 May 2022 or for the purpose of any other Series
of Notes in respect of which the applicable Final Terms provide that the May 2021 Note
Conditions apply, the form of final terms of the Notes (the "May 2021 Note Final Terms") on
pages 127 to 173 of the Offering Circular of BAC, BofA Finance, MLBV and MLICo. dated 14
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May 2021 (the "May 2021 Offering Circular"), the terms and conditions of the Notes on pages
174 to 215 of the May 2021 Offering Circular (the "May 2021 Note Conditions"), the annexes
of pages 357 to 716 of the May 2021 Offering Circular (the "May 2021 Annexes") and the form
of MLBV/MLICo. guarantee on pages 717 to 720 of the May 2021 Offering Circular (the "May
2021 Form of MLBV/MLICo. Guarantee") and the form of BofA Finance guarantee on pages
721 to 723 of the May 2021 Offering Circular (the "May 2021 Form of BofA Finance
Guarantee");

for the purpose of any issue of W&C Instruments under the Programme which are to be
consolidated and form a single series with an existing tranche or series of W&C Instruments
issued on or after 14 May 2021 and prior to 13 May 2022 or for the purpose of any other series
of W&C Instruments in respect of which applicable Final Terms provide that the May 2021
W&C Instruments Conditions apply, the form of final terms of the W&C Instruments (the "May
2021 W&C Final Terms") on pages 267 to 308 of the May 2021 Offering Circular, the terms
and conditions of the W&C Instruments on pages 309 to 355 of the May 2021 Offering Circular
(the "May 2021 W&C Instrument Conditions"), the May 2021 Annexes and the May 2021
Form of MLBV/MLICo. Guarantee;

for the purpose of any issue of Notes by MLBV, BofA Finance or BAC under the Programme
which are to be consolidated and form a single series with an existing tranche or series of Notes
issued on or after 13 May 2022 and prior to the date of this Offering Circular or for the purpose
of any other Series of Notes in respect of which the applicable Final Terms provide that the May
2022 Note Conditions apply, the form of final terms of the Notes (the "May 2022 Note Final
Terms") on pages 154 to 205 of the Offering Circular of BAC, BofA Finance, MLBV and
MLICo. dated 13 May 2022 (the "May 2022 Offering Circular"), the terms and conditions of
the Notes on pages 206 to 252 of the May 2022 Offering Circular (the "May 2022 Note
Conditions"), the annexes of pages 405 to 757 of the May 2022 Offering Circular (the "May
2022 Annexes") and the form of MLBV/MLICo. guarantee on pages 808 to 811 of the May
2022 Offering Circular (the "May 2022 Form of MLBV/MLICo. Guarantee") and the form
of BofA Finance guarantee on pages 812 to 814 of the May 2022 Offering Circular (the "May
2022 Form of BofA Finance Guarantee"); and

for the purpose of any issue of W&C Instruments under the Programme which are to be
consolidated and form a single series with an existing tranche or series of W&C Instruments
issued on or after 13 May 2022 and prior to the date of this Offering Circular or for the purpose
of any other series of W&C Instruments in respect of which applicable Final Terms provide that
the May 2022 W&C Instruments Conditions apply, the form of final terms of the W&C
Instruments (the "May 2022 W&C Final Terms") on pages 309 to 353 of the May 2022
Offering Circular, the terms and conditions of the W&C Instruments on pages 354 to 403 of the
May 2022 Offering Circular (the "May 2022 W&C Instrument Conditions"), the May 2022
Annexes and the May 2022 Form of MLBV/MLICo. Guarantee.

To the extent that this Offering Circular is used in connection with an issue or offering of Instruments
under the Programme in circumstances where the EU Prospectus Regulation or the UK Prospectus
Regulation does not apply, the following documents, which may be produced or issued from time to time
after the date hereof, shall upon publication be deemed to form part of this Offering Circular:

(@)

(i)

BAC's annual report on Form 10-K and proxy statements of BAC filed with the SEC after the
date of this Offering Circular; and

any other reports filed by BAC with the SEC pursuant to Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of
the Exchange Act (other than, with respect to these reports, information that is furnished but
deemed not to have been filed under the rules of the SEC) and the rules and regulations
thereunder subsequent to the date of the financial statements included in the BAC 2022 Annual
Report including, without limitation, any quarterly report on Form 10-Q not incorporated by
reference into this Offering Circular.

No separate financial statements of BofA Finance are included in the Offering Circular. BofA Finance
is not required under applicable United States legislation and regulations thereunder to publish stand-
alone financial statements. BAC, as the parent company, consolidates BofA Finance in its consolidated
financial statements. The Guarantor fully, irrevocably and unconditionally guarantees the payment
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obligations of BofA Finance on its debt securities, including the Notes as described herein. In addition,
BofA Finance is not required to file reports under the Exchange Act with the SEC. As a finance
subsidiary, BofA Finance has no operating history or independent operations and is not engaged in and
does not propose to engage in any activity other than the issuance, administration and repayment of its
debt securities and lending the net proceeds from the sale thereof to the Guarantor and/or its subsidiaries.

20



Documents Incorporated by Reference

Documents Incorporated by Reference Cross-Reference List

BAC 2022 Annual Report

Part 1

Item 1. Business

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Item IB. Unresolved Staff Comments
Item 2. Properties

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Part 11

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder
Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Item 6. [Reserved]

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting
and Financial Disclosure

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Item 9B. Other Information

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent
Inspections

Part III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and
Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director
Independence

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

Part IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

Signatures

Exhibit 3.2. Amended and Restated Bylaws of Bank of America
Corporation

Exhibit 4.30. Description of Bank of America Corporation's Securities
Exhibit 21. Direct and Indirect Subsidiaries of Bank of America
Corporation As of December 31, 2022

Exhibit 24. Power of Attorney

BAC 31 March 2023 Quarterly Report
Part I Financial Information

Item 1. Financial Statements

Consolidated Statement of Income

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Consolidated Balance Sheet

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders' Equity
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1 — Summary of Significant Accounting Principles
2 — Net Interest Income and Noninterest Income

3 — Derivatives

4 — Securities

21

Page Number

Pages 2 to 7
Pages 8 to 22
Page 23
Page 23
Page 23
Page 23

Pages 23 to 24

Page 24
Pages 25 to 85

Page 86
Pages 86 to 168
Page 169

Page 169
Page 169
Page 169

Pages 169 to 170
Page 170
Page 170

Page 170

Page 170

Pages 171 to 174
Page 174

Pages 175to 176
Pages 183*to 225*

Pages 226* to 324*
Page 341*

Pages 344%* to 345*

Page 44
Page 44
Page 45
Page 46
Page 47
Page 48
Page 48
Page 49
Pages 50 to 56
Pages 57 to 59



Documents Incorporated by Reference

Documents Incorporated by Reference Cross-Reference List
5 — Outstanding Loans and Leases and Allowance for Credit Losses

6 — Securitizations and Other Variable Interest Entities
7 — Goodwill and Intangible Assets

8 — Leases

9 — Securities Financing Agreements and Restricted Cash
10 — Commitments and Contingencies

11— Shareholders' Equity

12 — Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
13- Earnings Per Common Share

14 — Fair Value Measurements

15 — Fair Value Option

16 — Fair Value of Financial Instruments

17 — Business Segment Information

Glossary

Acronyms

Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition

and Results of Operations
Executive Summary
Recent Developments
Financial Highlights
Supplemental Financial Data
Business Segment Operations
Consumer Banking
Global Wealth & Investment Management
Global Banking
Global Markets
All Other
Managing Risk
Capital Management
Liquidity Risk
Credit Risk Management
Consumer Portfolio Credit Risk Management
Commercial Portfolio Credit Risk Management
Non-U.S. Portfolio
Allowance for Credit Losses
Market Risk Management
Trading Risk Management
Interest Rate Risk Management for the Banking Book
Mortgage Banking Risk Management
Climate Risk Management
Complex Accounting Estimates
Non-GAAP Reconciliations

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Part II Other Information
Item 1. Legal Proceedings

22

Page Number
Pages 60 to 71

Pages 71 to 75
Page 75
Pages 75 to 76
Pages 76 to 78
Pages 78 to 80
Page 80
Page 81
Page 82
Pages 82 to 88
Pages 88 to 89
Pages 89 to 90
Pages 90 to 92
Pages 93 to 94
Page 95

Page 2

Page 3

Pages 3 to 4
Pages 4to 5
Pages 6 to 8
Page 9

Pages 9 to 10
Pages 11 to 12
Pages 13 to 14
Pages 15to 16
Page 16

Page 17
Pages 17 to 21
Pages 21 to 24
Page 25
Pages 25 to 29
Pages 29 to 35
Page 35
Pages 36 to 37
Page 38
Pages 38 to 40
Pages 40 to 41
Page 41

Page 41 to 42
Page 42

Page 43

Page 43
Page 43

Page 96



Documents Incorporated by Reference

Documents Incorporated by Reference Cross-Reference List
Item 1A. Risk Factors

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
Item 6. Exhibits

Signature

BAC 3 February 2023 Form 8-K
Item 8.01 Other Events
Signatures

BAC 31 March 2023 Form 8-K

Item 8.01 Other Events

Item 9.01. Financial Statements and Exhibits

Signatures

Exhibit 99 Press Release of Bank of America Corporation

2023 BAC Proxy Statement
Proposal 1: Electing Directors

. Identifying and Evaluating Director Candidates
. Our Director Nominees
. Communicating with our Board
Corporate Governance
. Our Board of Directors
. Director Independence
. Independent Board Leadership
. Board Evaluation
. Director Education
. CEO and Senior Management Succession Planning
. Board Meetings and Attendance
. Committees and membership
. Board Oversight of Risk
. Compensation Governance and Risk Management
. Additional Corporate Governance Information

Shareholder Engagement
Responsible Growth: Growth that is Sustainable
Related Person and Certain Other Transactions

Stock Ownership of Directors, Executive Officers and Certain Beneficial

Owners
Director Compensation

Proposal 2: Approving Our Executive Compensation (An Advisory, Non-

Binding "Say on Pay" Resolution)
Compensation Discussion and Analysis
. Executive Summary
Pay evaluation and decision process
2022 Company, segment & individual performance
2022 Performance Year Compensation Decisions
Executive Compensation Program Features
. Other Compensation Topics
Compensation and Human Capital Committee Report
Executive Compensation
Summary Compensation Table
Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table

Pension Benefits Table
Nongqualified Deferred Compensation Table

Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control
CEO Pay Ratio
Pay versus Performance Table

23

Year-End Equity Values and Equity Exercised or Vested Table

Page Number
Page 96

Page 96
Page 97
Page 97

Pages 3 to 4*
Page 5*

Page 3*
Page 3%
Page 4%
Pages 5* to 16*

Pages 8§ to 22
Pages 9to 11
Pages 12 to 22
Page 22
Pages 23 to 34
Page 23

Page 23
Pages 24 to 25
Pages 26 to 27
Page 28

Page 28

Page 28
Pages 28 to 29
Pages 30 to 32
Pages 32 to 34
Page 34
Pages 35 to 37
Pages 38 to 46
Page 47
Pages 48 to 49

Pages 50 to 52
Page 53

Pages 53 to 67

Page 54

Page 55
Pages 56 to 60

Page 61
Pages 62 to 65
Pages 66 to 67

Page 67
Pages 68 to 78
Pages 68 to 70
Pages 70 to 72
Pages 73 to 74
Pages 74 to 75
Pages 75 to 76
Pages 76 to 78

Page 79
Pages 80 to 81



Documents Incorporated by Reference

Documents Incorporated by Reference Cross-Reference List Page Number
Proposal 3: A Vote on the Frequency of Future "Say on Pay" Resolutions Page 82
(An Advisory, Non-Binding "Say on Frequency" Resolution)

Proposal 4: Ratifying the Appointment of Our Independent Registered Page 83
Public Accounting Firm for 2023

Audit committee pre-approval policies and procedures Page 84
Audit Committee Report Page 84
Proposal 5: Proposal to Amend and Restate the Bank of America Pages 85 to 92

Corporation Equity Plan

Proposals 6 - 11: Shareholder Proposals

Voting and Other Information

Attending our annual meeting

Appendix A: Reconciliation of GAAP and Non-GAAP Financial Measures
Appendix B: Amended and Restated Bank of America Corporation Equity
Plan

MLBY 2021 Accounts

Pages 93 to 112
Pages 113to 115
Pages 115t0 116
Pages A-1 to A-2

Pages B-1 to B-14

Directors' Report Pages 1 to 5
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income Page 6
Statement of Financial Position Pages 7 to 8
Statement of Changes in Equity Pages 9 to 10
Statement of Cash Flows Page 11
Notes to the Financial Statements Pages 12 to 49
Other Information Page 50

Independent Auditor's Report

MLBY 2022 Accounts

Pages 54* to 64*

Directors' Report Pages 1 to 5
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income Page 6
Statement of Financial Position Pages 7 to 8
Statement of Changes in Equity Pages 9 to 10
Statement of Cash Flows Page 11
Notes to the Financial Statements Pages 12 to 47
Other Information Page 48

Independent Auditor's Report

MLICo. 2021 Accounts

Pages 52* to 59*

General Partner's Report Pages 1 to 4
Independent Auditor's Report Pages 5 to 7
Statement of Comprehensive Income Page 8
Statement of Financial Position Page 9
Statement of Cash Flows Page 10

Notes to the Financial Statements

MLICo. 2022 Accounts

Pages 11 to 43

General Partner's Report Pages 1to 3
Independent Auditor's Report Pages 4 to 10
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income Page 11
Statement of Financial Position Page 12
Statement of Cash Flows Page 13

Notes to the Financial Statements

Pages 14 to 43

* These page numbers are references to the PDF pages included in the relevant report.

Any information not listed in the cross reference list but included in the documents incorporated by
reference is given for information purposes only.

Following publication of this Offering Circular a supplement may be prepared by the Issuers and the
Guarantor. Statements contained in any such supplement (or contained in any document incorporated by
reference therein) shall, to the extent applicable (whether expressly, by implication or otherwise), be
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deemed to modify or supersede statements contained in this Offering Circular or in a document which is
incorporated by reference in this Offering Circular. Any statement so modified or superseded shall not,
except as so modified or superseded, constitute a part of this Offering Circular.

Investors in the Instruments shall be deemed to have notice of all information contained in the documents
incorporated by reference into this Offering Circular, as if all such information were included in this
Offering Circular. Investors who have not previously reviewed such information should do so in
connection with their purchase of Instruments.

The Issuers and (if applicable) the Guarantor will, in the event of any significant new factor, material
mistake or inaccuracy relating to information included in this Offering Circular which is capable of
affecting the assessment of any Instruments, prepare a supplement to this Offering Circular or publish a
new offering circular for use in connection with any subsequent issue of Instruments.
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Overview

OVERVIEW OF THE PROGRAMME

This overview must be read as an introduction to this Offering Circular. Any decision to invest in
any Instruments should be based on a consideration of this Offering Circular as a whole, including
the documents incorporated by reference.

Words and expressions defined in the "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" or in the "Terms and
Conditions of the W&C Instruments”, as applicable, and in the remainder of this Offering Circular shall
have the same meanings in this overview. BAC and BofA Finance may issue Notes; MLBV may issue
Notes, Warrants and Certificates and MLICo. may issue Warrants and Certificates. Notes, Certificates
and Warrants are together referred to as "Instruments".

Issuers:

Guarantor (in respect of Notes
issued by BofA Finance and
Instruments (other than Secured
Instruments) issued by MLBV
and MLICo.):

Description:

Guarantees:

Bank of America Corporation ("BAC")
BofA Finance LLC ("BofA Finance")
Merrill Lynch B.V. ("MLBV")

Merrill Lynch International & Co. C.V. ("MLICo.") (acting by its
general partner ML Cayman Holdings Inc.)

BAC is a Delaware corporation, a bank holding company and a
financial holding company. BAC provides a diversified range of
banking and nonbank financial services and products worldwide.

BofA Finance is a Delaware limited liability company and a direct,
wholly-owned finance subsidiary of BAC. Its purpose is to provide
BAC and/or BAC's other subsidiaries with financing by issuing
debt securities to investors and lending the net proceeds therefrom
to BAC and/or those subsidiaries.

MLBYV is a private limited liability company incorporated under
Dutch law. The main activity of MLBV consists of issuing notes,
certificates, warrants and other securities to investors, the proceeds
of which are loaned to, or placed on deposit with, Group
companies.

MLICo. is a Curagao limited partnership, organised under the laws
of Curagao. MLICo. engages primarily in the issuance of warrants,
certificates and related financial instruments and the distribution of
managed fund products.

Bank of America Corporation (in such capacity, the "Guarantor")

Note, Warrant and Certificate Programme

The payment obligations under the Notes issued by BofA Finance
are unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by the Guarantor
upon and subject to the terms set out in the BofA Finance
Guarantee.

The payment and non-cash delivery obligations under the
Instruments issued by MLBV and MLICo. (other than Secured
Instruments) are unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by
the Guarantor upon and subject to the terms set out in the
MLBV/MLICo. Guarantee.
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Calculation Agent:

Arranger:
In respect of Notes:

Issuers:

Dealers:

Maximum nominal amount of
Notes which may be issued:

Principal Paying Agent:
Registrar:

Issue Price:

Terms of Notes:

Overview

Merrill Lynch International, BofA Securities Europe SA or such
other calculation agent specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Merrill Lynch International

BAC

BofA Finance

MLBV

BofA Securities Europe SA

Merrill Lynch International

Notes may also be issued to other dealers and third parties.

MLBYV may issue up to €15,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in other
currencies) under this Programme and its other structured products
programmes.

BAC may issue up to U.S.$8,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in
other currencies) under this Programme and certain other BAC
international securities programmes and platforms.

BofA Finance may issue up to U.S.$3,000,000,000 (or its
equivalent in other currencies) under this Programme.

Citibank, N.A., London Branch
Citibank Europe plc

Notes may be issued on a fully-paid or partly-paid basis at an issue
price which is at par or a discount to, or a premium over, par. The
issue price will be specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Notes issued by MLBV and BofA Finance may be denominated in
any currency specified in the applicable Final Terms with any
agreed maturity, subject to compliance with all applicable legal
and/or regulatory restrictions.

Notes issued by BAC may be denominated in any currency
specified in the applicable Final Terms with an original maturity
date of not less than 365 days (one year), subject to compliance
with all applicable legal and/or regulatory restrictions.

Notes may: (i) bear interest at a fixed or floating rate; (ii) not bear
interest; (iii) have an interest amount or rate and/or a redemption
amount determined or calculated by reference to one or more
underlying assets or bases of reference such as indices (including
equity, bond, commodity or inflation indices), currency exchange
rates, shares, GDRs or ADRs, fund shares or units, commodities or
the credit of one or more underlying entities (each such underlying
asset or basis of reference, a "Reference Item" and any Reference
Item linked Notes, "Reference Item Linked Notes"); (iv)
reference any combination of the foregoing; (v) (other than in
respect of Notes issued by BofA Finance) be redeemed by physical
delivery ("Physical Delivery Notes") of specified asset(s); (vi) (in
respect of Notes issued by MLBV only) be cash settled

27



Settlement:

Negative Pledge:
Cross Default:

Events of Default:

Taxation:

Overview

exchangeable Notes and/or (vii) have such other terms and
conditions as specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Interest periods, interest rates and the terms of and/or amounts
payable on redemption will be specified in the applicable Final
Terms.

The applicable Final Terms will indicate either that the relevant
Notes may not be redeemed prior to their stated maturity (other
than in specified instalments (if applicable), for taxation reasons,
following an Event of Default and acceleration of the Notes, or (if
applicable) following an Additional Disruption Event), or that such
Notes will be redeemable at the option of the relevant Issuer and/or
the Noteholders. The redemption of any BAC Note that is long-
term debt satisfying certain eligibility criteria ("eligible LTD")
under the final total loss-absorbing capacity rules of the U.S. Board
of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (the "Federal
Reserve Board") will require the prior approval of the Federal
Reserve Board if after such redemption BAC would fail to satisfy
its requirements as to eligible LTD or total loss-absorbing capacity
under such rules.

Settlement may be by way of cash payment ("Cash Settled") or, if
specified in the applicable Final Terms and other than in respect of
Notes issued by BofA Finance physical delivery ("Physical
Delivery"). Rule 144A Notes that are also Secured Notes and
Exchangeable Notes will be Cash Settled only. In respect of
Physical Delivery Notes, in order to receive the relevant asset(s), a
Noteholder must deliver an Asset Transfer Notice on or prior to a
specified cut-off time, which may include certain representations
and certifications of the relevant parties, and pay all taxes, duties
and/or expenses arising from delivery of the relevant assets. For
certain Physical Delivery Notes, if certain disruption events occur
on settlement, the relevant settlement date may be postponed and
in certain circumstances the relevant Issuer will be entitled to make
payment of a cash amount in lieu of physical delivery.

The MLBV/MLICo. Guarantee provides that, in the case of
Physical Delivery Notes issued by MLBV, the Guarantor will have
the right to elect not to make physical delivery of the Entitlement,
but rather to pay the Guaranteed Cash Settlement Amount as
specified in the applicable Final Terms.

None
None

Terms of the Notes contain, among others, events of default
covering non-payment or non-delivery (if applicable) and relating
to the insolvency of the relevant Issuer.

The relevant Issuer or the Guarantor (if applicable) will, subject to
certain limitations and exceptions (set forth in Condition 9 of the
"Terms and Conditions of the Notes"), pay to Noteholders who are
United States Aliens or (in the case of Notes issued by MLBV) a
Netherlands Non-resident (each as defined in Condition 9 of the
"Terms and Conditions of the Notes") such additional amounts as
may be necessary so that every net payment of principal or interest
or other amount with respect to the Notes or (in the case of Notes
issued by BofA Finance or MLBYV) the relevant Guarantee after
deduction or withholding for or on account of any present or future
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tax, assessment or other governmental charge imposed upon such
Noteholders or by reason of the making of such payment, by the
United States or the Netherlands (as applicable) or any political
subdivision or taxing authority of or in the United States or the
Netherlands (as applicable), as the case may be, will not be less
than the amount provided for in the Notes or the relevant Guarantee
(as applicable) to be then due and payable, except as provided in
Condition 9 of the "Terms and Conditions of the Notes".

MLBV
MLICo.
BofA Securities Europe SA
Merrill Lynch International

W&C Instruments may also be issued to other dealers and third
parties.

Citibank, N.A., London Branch

Citibank Europe plc

W&C Instruments may be issued at such price as shall be
determined by the relevant Issuer or Dealer appointed in respect of
the issue. The issue price will be specified in the applicable Final
Terms.

MLBYV and MLICo. may from time to time issue Warrants and
Certificates. The terms of any issue of W&C Instruments may be
linked to one or more underlying assets or bases of reference such
as indices (including equity, bond, commodity or inflation
indices), currency exchange rates, shares, GDRs or ADRs, fund
shares or units, commodities or the credit of one or more
underlying entities (each such underlying asset or basis of
reference, a "Reference Item" and any Reference Item linked
W&C Instruments, "Reference Item Linked W& C Instruments"
and, together with any Reference Item Linked Notes, "Reference
Item Linked Instruments") or any combination of the foregoing
and W&C Instruments may be issued on such terms as may be
determined by the relevant Issuer and specified in the applicable
Final Terms.

W&C Instruments may or may not pay additional amounts as
specified in the applicable Final Terms.

W&C Instruments may be Cash Settled or, if specified in the
applicable Final Terms, settlement may be by way of physical
delivery. Rule 144A W&C Instruments that are also Secured
Instruments will be Cash Settled only. Any W&C Instruments
which are settled by way of physical delivery may be subject to
representations and certifications as set out in the applicable
Exercise Notice or Collection Notice. For certain Physical
Delivery W&C Instruments, if certain disruption events occur on
settlement, the relevant settlement date may be postponed and in
certain circumstances the relevant Issuer will be entitled to make
payment of a cash amount in lieu of physical delivery.
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The MLBV/MLICo. Guarantee provides that, in the case of
Physical Delivery W&C Instruments, the Guarantor will have the
right to elect not to make physical delivery of the Entitlement, but
rather to pay the Guaranteed Cash Settlement Amount as specified
in the applicable Final Terms.

European Style Warrants are only exercisable on the Exercise
Date.

American Style Warrants are exercisable on any Exercise Business
Day during the Exercise Period.

The applicable Final Terms will specify whether or not Warrants
will be automatically exercised.

The applicable Final Terms will specify if Warrants may be
automatically exercised early (as a result of an Issuer Call, a
mandatory early exercise or a Holder put).

Certificates will be automatically exercised on the Exercise Date.
In the case of Physical Delivery Certificates in order to receive the
Entitlement in respect of a Certificate, the Holder must deliver a
Collection Notice prior to a specified cut-off time and pay all taxes,
duties and/or expenses arising from such delivery.

The applicable Final Terms will specify if the Exercise Date for
Certificates may be brought forward (as a result of an Issuer Call,
a mandatory early exercise or a Holder put).

A holder of a W&C Instrument must pay all taxes, duties and/or
expenses arising from the exercise and settlement of such W&C
Instrument and/or if applicable, delivery of the Entitlement. The
relevant Issuer shall not be liable for tax, duty, withholding or other
payment which may arise as a result of the ownership, transfer,
exercise or enforcement of any W&C Instrument and all payments
will be made subject to any such tax, duty, withholding or other
payment.

Secured Instruments will be issued by MLBYV and MLICo. and will
be secured by a segregated pool of collateral assets (the
"Collateral Assets") provided by Merrill Lynch International in its
capacity as collateral provider (the "Secured Instruments
Collateral Provider"). For a further overview of Secured
Instruments, see "Description of the Collateral Arrangements
Relating to Secured Instruments".

The Secured Instruments will not be guaranteed by the Guarantor.

Reference Item Linked Instruments

Index Linked Instruments
(including Instruments linked to
Index-Linked Futures
Contracts):

Amounts payable in respect of Index Linked Instruments will be
calculated by reference to one or more Indices. The Index may
reference or be comprised of equities, bonds, property, currency
exchange rates or other assets or bases of reference.

If "Physical Settlement" is specified as applicable to the Index
Linked Conditions in the relevant Final Terms, Index Linked
Instruments may also provide for settlement by physical delivery
of a specified amount of units, interests or shares of one or more
Exchange Traded Funds (ETFs), subject to payment of the relevant
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Exercise Price (in case of Warrants) and any other amounts
payable.

Index Linked Instruments may be subject to early redemption or
cancellation, as applicable, or adjustment if an Index is modified
or cancelled and there is no successor index acceptable to the
Calculation Agent, if the Index's Sponsor fails to calculate and
announce the Index, if the Index or its administrator is not
authorised under applicable law with the effect that the Issuer, the
Calculation Agent or any affiliate engaged in hedging transactions
is not permitted to use the Index, if certain market disruption events
occur, or if certain events (such as illegality, disruptions or cost
increases) occur with respect to the relevant Issuer's and/or any
Affiliate's hedging arrangements.

If certain disruption events occur with respect to valuation of an
Index, such valuation may be postponed and/or may be made by
the Calculation Agent. Payments may also be postponed.

If specified in the applicable Final Terms, amounts payable (or
assets that are deliverable) in respect of the Instruments will be
calculated by reference to an Index-Linked Futures Contract for an
Index specified in the applicable Final Terms as an "Applicable
Index". An Applicable Index may reference or be comprised of
equities, bonds, property, currency exchange rates or other assets
or bases of reference.

Amounts payable in respect of Share Linked Instruments will be
calculated by reference to a single Share or basket of Shares. Share
Linked Instruments may also provide for settlement by physical
delivery of a specified amount of Shares of one or more companies,
subject to payment of the Exercise Price (in case of Warrants) and
any other amounts payable.

Share Linked Instruments may, at the discretion of the relevant
Issuer, be subject to early redemption or cancellation, as
applicable, or adjustment (including valuation and in certain
circumstances Share substitutions) if certain corporate events
(such as events affecting the value of a Share (including Share
divisions or consolidations, extraordinary dividends and capital
calls), de-listing of a Share, insolvency, merger or nationalisation
of a Share issuer, a tender offer or redenomination of a Share)
occur, if certain events (such as illegality, disruptions or cost
increases) occur with respect to the relevant Issuer's and/or any
Affiliate's hedging arrangements, or if insolvency filings are made
with respect to a Share issuer.

If certain disruption events occur with respect to valuation of a
Share, such valuation may be postponed and/or may be made by
the Calculation Agent. Payments may also be postponed.

Amounts payable in respect of GDR/ADR Linked Instruments will
be calculated by reference to a single global depositary receipt
("GDR") or American depositary receipt ("ADR") or a basket of
GDRs and/or ADRs. GDR/ADR Linked Instruments may also
provide for settlement by physical delivery of a specified amount
of GDRs and/or ADRs subject to payment of the relevant Exercise
Price (in the case of Warrants) and any other amounts payable.

GDR/ADR Linked Instruments may, at the discretion of the
relevant Issuer, be subject to early redemption or cancellation, as
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applicable, or adjustment (including valuation and in certain
circumstances GDR/ADR substitutions) if certain corporate events
(such as events affecting the value of a GDR and/or ADR
(including GDR, ADR or underlying share divisions or
consolidations, extraordinary dividends and capital calls), de-
listing of a GDR, ADR or underlying share, insolvency, merger or
nationalisation of an underlying share issuer, a tender offer or
redenomination of a GDR, ADR and/or underlying share) occur, if
certain events (such as illegality, disruptions or cost increases)
occur with respect to the relevant Issuer's and/or any Affiliate's
hedging arrangements, or if insolvency filings are made with
respect to an underlying share issuer.

Amounts payable in respect of FX Linked Instruments will be
calculated by reference to the rate of exchange of a single currency
or basket of currencies. FX Linked Instruments may also provide
for settlement by physical delivery of a specified amount of the
relevant currencies, subject to payment of the relevant Exercise
Price (in the case of Warrants) and any other amounts payable.

If certain disruption events occur with respect to a rate of exchange
of a single currency or basket of currencies, such valuation may be
postponed and/or may be made by the Calculation Agent.

Amounts payable in respect of Commodity Linked Instruments
will be calculated by reference to a single Commodity and/or
Commodity Index or basket of Commodities and/or Commodity
Indices. Commodity Linked Instruments may also provide for
settlement by physical delivery of a specified amount of
Commodities, subject to payment of the relevant Exercise Price (in
the case of Warrants) and any other amounts payable.

If certain disruption events occur with respect to valuation of a
Commodity or futures or options contracts relating to such
Commodity, such valuation may be postponed and/or may be made
by the Calculation Agent. Commodity Linked Instruments linked
to a Commodity Index may be subject to adjustment if the
Commodity Index is modified or cancelled and there is no
successor acceptable to the Calculation Agent, if the Commodity
Index's sponsor fails to calculate and announce the index or if the
Commodity Index or its administrator is not authorised under
applicable law with the effect that the Issuer, the Calculation Agent
or any affiliate engaged in hedging transactions is not permitted to
use the Commodity Index.

Amounts payable in respect of Fund Linked Instruments will be
calculated by reference to units, interests or shares in a single Fund
or basket of Funds. Fund Linked Instruments may also provide for
settlement by physical delivery of a specified amount of units,
interests or shares of one or more Funds, subject to payment of the
relevant Exercise Price (in the case of Warrants) and any other
amounts payable.

Fund Linked Instruments may, at the discretion of the relevant
Issuer, be subject to early redemption or cancellation, as
applicable, or adjustment (including as to valuations and fund
substitutions) if certain corporate events (such as insolvency (or an
analogous event) or nationalisation of a Fund; litigation against, or
regulatory events occurring with respect to, a Fund; suspensions of
Fund subscriptions or redemptions; certain changes in net asset
value or violations of leverage restrictions of a Fund; Fund
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reporting disruptions; or modifications to the investment
objectives or changes in the nature or administration of a Fund)
occur, if certain valuation or settlement disruption events occur
with respect to a Fund, or if certain events (such as illegality,
disruptions or cost increases) occur with respect to the relevant
Issuer's and/or any Affiliate's hedging arrangements.

Fund Linked Instruments linked to Exchange Traded Funds may
be subject to early redemption or cancellation, as applicable, or
adjustment (including as to valuation) if certain corporate events
(such as events affecting the value of a Fund Share including share
divisions or consolidation, de-listing of a Fund Share, insolvency,
merger or nationalisation of a Fund Share issuer, or a tender offer
of a Fund Share) or modifications of its investment objectives
occur or if certain events occur with respect to the relevant Issuer's
and/or Affiliate's hedging arrangements.

If certain disruption events occur with respect to valuation of a
Fund Share in respect of an Exchange Traded Fund, such valuation
may be postponed and/or may be made by the Calculation Agent.
Payments may also be postponed.

Amounts payable in respect of Inflation Linked Instruments will
be calculated by reference to a single Inflation Index or basket of
Inflation Indices.

Inflation Linked Instruments may be subject to early redemption
or cancellation, as applicable, and/or adjustment if an Inflation
Index is modified or cancelled and there is no successor index
acceptable to the Calculation Agent, or if the Inflation Index
Sponsor fails to calculate and announce the Index.

Amounts payable and/or deliverable in respect of Credit Linked
Instruments will be calculated by reference to the credit of a
specified entity or entities.

If an Event Determination Date occurs during the Notice Delivery
Period, the Credit Linked Instruments will be redeemed or
cancelled, as the case may be, and the relevant Issuer will: (a)
where "Auction Settlement" is specified as being applicable in the
Final Terms and subject to the occurrence of a Fallback Settlement
Event, pay the Auction Settlement Amount, (b) if "Cash
Settlement" is specified in the applicable Final Terms or a Fallback
Settlement Event has occurred and the Fallback Settlement Method
is Cash Settlement, pay the Credit Event Redemption Amount or
(c) if "Physical Settlement" is specified as being applicable in the
Final Terms or a Fallback Settlement Event has occurred and the
Fallback Settlement Method is Physical Settlement, deliver the
Deliverable Obligations comprising the Entitlement.

Amounts payable in respect of Saudi Share Linked Warrants will
be calculated by reference to the notional liquidation by a
Hypothetical Dealer of a Hedge Position corresponding to a single
Share or basket of Shares listed on the Saudi Stock Exchange
(Tadawul) during the relevant Execution Period commencing on
the Valuation Date.

Saudi Share Linked Warrants may, at the discretion of the relevant
Issuer, be subject to early settlement or cancellation, as applicable,
or adjustment (including valuation and in certain circumstances
Share substitutions) if certain corporate events (such as events
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affecting the value of a Share (including Share divisions or
consolidations, extraordinary dividends and capital calls), de-
listing of a Share, insolvency, merger or nationalisation of a Share
issuer, a tender offer or redenomination of a Share) occur, if certain
events (such as illegality, any disruptions, cost increases, or Saudi
Arabian-specific regulatory or other events) occur with respect to
the relevant Issuer's and/or any Affiliate's hedging arrangements,
or if insolvency filings are made with respect to a Share issuer.

Amounts payable in respect of Preference Share Linked Notes will
be calculated by reference to Preference Shares issued by the
Preference Share Issuer. Preference Share Linked Notes may not
be settled by physical delivery of any Preference Shares.

If "Mandatory Early Redemption" is specified as "Applicable" in
the applicable Final Terms and the Calculation Agent determines
that an automatic early redemption event has occurred under the
terms and conditions of the Preference Shares, the Preference
Share Linked Notes shall be subject to mandatory early
redemption.

Preference Share Linked Notes may, at the discretion of the
relevant Issuer, be subject to early redemption if certain corporate
events occur (such as merger, nationalisation or insolvency of the
Preference Share Issuer, including the institution of insolvency
filings against the Preference Share Issuer), if there is an
adjustment to the terms and conditions of the Preference Shares or
amounts or values thereunder in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the Preference Shares or if certain events (such as
illegality, disruptions or cost increases) occur with respect to the
relevant Issuer's and/or any Affiliate's hedging arrangements.

If certain disruption events occur with respect to valuation of a
Preference Share, such valuation may be postponed and/or may be
made by the Calculation Agent. Payments may also be postponed.

Exchangeable Notes will be issued by MLBV and will give
Noteholders the right to require MLBV to exchange such
Exchangeable Notes during any applicable Exchange Period,
subject to the satisfaction of any applicable Exchange Conditions,
for a Cash Amount (such amount based on the prevailing volume-
weighted average price of the Shares of the reference Company
during a specified period following the relevant Exchange Date).

If the Exchange Rights are not exercised by Noteholders during an
applicable Exchange Period and/or any applicable Exchange
Condition is not satisfied, the Exchangeable Notes will be
redeemed at their Final Redemption Amount on the Maturity Date
(unless previously redeemed or purchased by MLBYV, the
Guarantor or any of their respective Affiliates) pursuant to the
Exchangeable Note Conditions, which will be calculated by
reference to the price of the Shares at the relevant time.

Global Instruments and Clearing Systems
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Generally, each Tranche of Instruments will at all times be
represented by a global warrant, a global certificate or a global note
in registered form (the "Global Instrument"), as applicable.

Generally, each Global Instrument which is to be issued into and
transferred through accounts at Euroclear Bank SA/NV
("Euroclear") and/or Clearstream Banking, S.A. ("Clearstream,
Luxembourg") will be deposited on the issue date specified in the
applicable Final Terms with: (a) in the case of Instruments (other
than Notes intended to be held under the New Safekeeping
Structure (the "NSS")), a common depositary (the "Common
Depositary") (which shall at all times be an entity located outside
the United Kingdom) for Euroclear and/or Clearstream,
Luxembourg or (b) in the case of Notes intended to be held under
the NSS for Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg, a common
safekeeper (the "Common Safekeeper").

Rule 144A Instruments which are to be issued into and transferred
through accounts at The Depository Trust Company ("DTC" and,
together with Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg, the "Clearing
Systems" and each a "Clearing System") will be constituted by a
Global Instrument which will be registered in the name of a
nominee for DTC and held by the Principal Paying Agent or
Principal W&C Instrument Agent, as applicable, as custodian for
DTC.

CREST Depository Interests

In certain circumstances, investors may also hold interests in the
Notes through Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited (formerly CREST
Co Limited) ("CREST") through the issuance of dematerialised
depository interests (i.e. securities without any physical document
of title which are distinct from the Notes), held, settled and
transferred through CREST (the "CDIs"), representing the
interests in the relevant Notes underlying the CDIs. CDIs are
independent securities constituted under English law and
transferred through CREST and will be issued by CREST
Depository Limited pursuant to the global deed poll dated 25 June
2001 (as subsequently modified, supplemented and/or restated)
(the "CREST Deed Poll"). Neither the Notes nor any rights
attached to the Notes will be issued, settled, held or transferred
within the CREST system other than through the issue, settlement,
holding or transfer of CDIs. Holders of CDIs (the "CDI Holders")
will not be entitled to deal directly in the Notes and, accordingly,
all dealings in the Notes will be effected through CREST in
relation to the holding of CDIs. Investors should note that the CDIs
are the result of the CREST settlement mechanics and are not the
subject of this Offering Circular.

The Instruments (other than Secured Instruments) issued by
MLBV and MLICo. will constitute direct, unsubordinated,
unconditional and unsecured obligations of the relevant Issuer and
rank equally among themselves and rank equally (subject to such
exceptions as are from time to time provided by applicable laws)
with all other present and future direct, unsubordinated,
unconditional and unsecured indebtedness (in the case of Notes) or
obligations (in the case of W&C Instruments) of the relevant
Issuer.

The Notes issued by BofA Finance will constitute unsecured and
unsubordinated obligations of BofA Finance and will rank equally
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in right of payment with all other unsecured and unsubordinated
obligations of BofA Finance from time to time outstanding, except
obligations that are subject to any priorities or preferences by law.
BofA Finance is a finance subsidiary and has no operations other
than those related to the issuance, administration and repayment of
its debt securities that are guaranteed by BAC. In addition, BofA
Finance will have no assets available for distributions to holders of
Notes issued by BofA Finance if they make claims in respect of
such Notes in a bankruptcy, resolution or similar proceeding.
Accordingly, any recoveries by such holders will be limited to
those available under BAC's guarantee of such Notes. Holders of
Notes issued by BofA Finance will have recourse only to a single
claim against BAC and its assets under BAC's guarantee of the
Notes, and holders of the Notes should accordingly assume that in
any bankruptcy, resolution or similar proceeding, they would not
have any priority over, and should be treated equally with, the
claims of all other unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of
BAC, including claims of holders of unsecured senior debt
securities issued by BAC.

The Notes issued by BAC will constitute unsecured and
unsubordinated obligations of BAC and will rank equally in right
of payment with all of BAC's other unsecured and unsubordinated
obligations from time to time outstanding, except obligations,
including deposit liabilities, that are subject to priorities or
preferences by law.

Because BAC is a holding company, BAC's right to participate in
any distribution of assets of any subsidiary upon such subsidiary's
liquidation or reorganisation or otherwise is subject to the prior
claims of creditors of that subsidiary, except to the extent BAC
may itself be recognised as a creditor of that subsidiary.
Accordingly, BAC's obligations under its Notes will be structurally
subordinated to all existing and future liabilities of its subsidiaries,
and claimants should look only to BAC's assets for payments. In
addition, the BAC Notes will be unsecured and therefore in a
bankruptcy or similar proceeding will effectively rank junior to
BAC's secured obligations to the extent of the value of the assets
securing such obligations.

The Secured Instruments constitute direct, limited recourse,
unsubordinated and secured obligations of MLBV or MLICo., as
applicable, and rank equally among themselves.

The obligations of the Guarantor under the Guarantees, save for
such exceptions as may be provided by applicable laws and
regulations or judicial order, will rank pari passu in right of
payment with its other present and future unsecured and
unsubordinated obligations.

Because BAC is a holding company, BAC's right to participate in
any distribution of assets of any subsidiary upon such subsidiary's
liquidation or reorganisation or otherwise is subject to the prior
claims of creditors of that subsidiary, except to the extent BAC
may itself be recognised as a creditor of that subsidiary.
Accordingly, BAC's obligations under the Guarantees will be
structurally subordinated to all existing and future liabilities of its
subsidiaries, and claimants should look only to BAC's assets for
payments. In addition, the Guarantees will be unsecured and
therefore in a bankruptcy or similar proceeding will effectively
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rank junior to BAC's secured obligations to the extent of the value
of the assets securing such obligations.

Application has been made to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange for
Instruments issued under the Programme during the 12 months
from the date of this Offering Circular to be admitted to trading on
the Luxembourg Stock Exchange's Euro MTF market and to be
listed on the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.
Notes may be listed and/or admitted to trading on such other or
further exchange(s) and/or market(s) as determined by the relevant
Issuer.

The Instruments issued by MLBV and MLICo., and any non-
contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with them,
will be governed by, and construed in accordance with, English
law. Notes issued by BAC and BofA Finance will be governed by,
and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of New
York, United States. Each Guarantee will be governed by, and
construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of New York,
United States.

The Programme has no rating. If any issue of Notes under the
Programme is to be rated, the rating of such Notes will be specified
in the applicable Final Terms. Any such rating is not a
recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject
to suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any time by the assigning
rating agency.

There are restrictions on the offer, sale and transfer of the
Instruments in the United States, the EEA (including Austria,
Denmark, Finland, France, Greece, Italy, Luxembourg, the
Netherlands and Spain), the United Kingdom, Argentina,
Bahamas, Bermuda, Brazil, Cayman Islands, Chile, China,
Colombia, Costa Rica, Dubai International Finance Centre,
Dominican Republic, El Salvador, Guatemala, Guernsey,
Honduras, Hong Kong, Isracl, Jamaica, Japan, Jersey, Mauritius,
Mexico, New Zealand, Nicaragua, Oman, Panama, Paraguay,
Peru, Philippines, Portugal, Qatar, Singapore, South Africa, South
Korea, St. Kitts and Nevis, Switzerland, Taiwan, Thailand,
Turkey, United Arab Emirates, Uruguay and Venezuela, and such
other restrictions as may be required in connection with the
offering and sale of a particular Series of Instruments, including
the restrictions in connection with the offering and sale of Low
Exercise Price Warrants that are linked to a share or an index listed
on an exchange in certain jurisdictions including China, Indonesia,
Taiwan, Thailand and Vietnam (see "Offering and Sale").

In the course of conducting their business operations, BAC and its
subsidiaries (together, the "Group"), including MLBV, BofA
Finance and MLICo., are exposed to a variety of risks, some of
which are inherent in the financial services industry and others of
which are more specific to their own businesses, and that are
material for purposes of assessing the risks associated with
investing in the Instruments. See "Risk Factors" for more
information regarding these risks.

POTENTIAL INVESTORS MUST REVIEW THE
APPLICABLE FINAL TERMS TO ASCERTAIN WHAT
THE RELEVANT REFERENCE ITEM(S) ARE AND TO
SEE HOW THE CASH SETTLEMENT AMOUNT, FINAL
REDEMPTION AMOUNT OR ENTITLEMENT, AS THE
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CASE MAY BE, PAYABLE AND/OR DELIVERABLE ON
THE INSTRUMENTS AND ANY INTEREST PAYMENTS
(IN THE CASE OF NOTES) OR ANY ADDITIONAL
AMOUNT PAYMENTS (IN THE CASE OF W&C
INSTRUMENTS) ARE DETERMINED AND WHEN SUCH
AMOUNTS ARE PAYABLE AND/OR DELIVERABLE, AS
THE CASE MAY BE, BEFORE MAKING ANY DECISION
TO PURCHASE ANY INSTRUMENTS.
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Summary for FinSA Purposes

SUMMARY FOR FINSA PURPOSES

The following summary constitutes a summary within the meaning of articles 40(3) and 43 FinSA which
is to be understood as an introduction to this Offering Circular and is qualified in its entirety by, and
should be read in conjunction with, the more detailed information appearing elsewhere in this Offering
Circular. In particular, investors should carefully consider the discussion of certain risks affecting the
Issuers and the Guarantor under the section headed "Risk Factors" and the financial information included
and/or incorporated by reference in this Offering Circular before making an investment decision.
Investors have to base their investment decision on the information as set out in this Offering Circular in
its entirety, including the documents incorporated by reference, and not merely on this summary.

Investors should be aware that pursuant to Article 69 FinSA the liability for the information
contained in this summary is limited to instances where such information is misleading, inaccurate
or inconsistent when read together with the other parts of the Offering Circular.

Capitalized terms, which are being used in this summary, but are not defined, have the meaning given to
them elsewhere in this Offering Circular.

This summary has been prepared and is being provided solely for the purpose of and with respect to
Instruments that are publicly offered in Switzerland and that do not fall within an exemption from the
prospectus requirements under the ("Swiss Non-Exempt Public Offers"). This summary must not be
used for any other purpose or in any other context than for which it is prepared and provided. This
summary does not apply to, must not be used for or in connection with, and does not constitute, any offer
or invitation for subscription of the Instruments to, or any solicitation by, any person in any jurisdiction
other than Switzerland.

Issuers: Bank of America Corporation ("BAC")

BAC is a Delaware corporation, a bank holding company and a
financial holding company. BAC provides a diversified range of
banking and nonbank financial services and products worldwide.

BAC was incorporated on 31 July 1998 (existing until it is
dissolved). BAC was initially registered with the State of
Delaware, Secretary of State, Division of Corporations on 31 July
1998 under registration number 2927442. BAC's registered office
in Delaware is at the Corporation Trust Company, Corporate Trust
Center, 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington, Delaware 19801, United
States. BAC's headquarters and principal place of business are
located at 100 North Tryon Street, Charlotte, North Carolina
28255, United States.

The LEI in respect of BAC is 9DJT3UXIJIZJI4WXO774.
BofA Finance LLC ("BofA Finance")

BofA Finance is a Delaware limited liability company and a direct,
wholly-owned finance subsidiary of BAC. Its purpose is to provide
BAC and/or BAC's other subsidiaries with financing by issuing
debt securities to investors and lending the net proceeds therefrom
to BAC and/or those subsidiaries.

BofA Finance was formed on 24 June 2016. BofA Finance exists
until it is dissolved and liquidated and its Certificate of Formation
is canceled in accordance with Section 18-203 of the Delaware
Limited Liability Company Act. BofA Finance is registered with
the State of Delaware Secretary of State, Division of Corporations,
under registration number 6078455.

BofA Finance's registered office in Delaware is The Corporation
Trust Company, 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington, Delaware
19801. BofA Finance's principal executive offices are located in
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the Bank of America Corporate Center, 100 North Tryon Street,
Charlotte, North Carolina 28255, United States.

BofA Finance is not required under applicable United States
legislation and regulations thereunder to publish stand-alone
financial statements. BAC, as the parent company, consolidates
BofA Finance in its consolidated financial statements. The
Guarantor fully, irrevocably and unconditionally guarantees the
payment obligations of BofA Finance on its debt securities,
including the Notes as described herein. In addition, BofA Finance
is not required to file reports under the Exchange Act with the SEC.
As a finance subsidiary, BofA Finance has no operating history or
independent operations and is not engaged in and does not propose
to engage in any activity other than the issuance, administration
and repayment of its debt securities and lending the net proceeds
from the sale thereof to the Guarantor and/or its subsidiaries. BofA
Finance is thus not subject to audit and thus it has no auditors
that are supervised by a foreign audit oversight authority
recognised by the Swiss Federal Council in accordance with
Article 8 of the Audit Oversight Act (""AOA") and Annex 2 of
the Audit Oversight Ordinance dated 22 August 2007, as
amended (the "AOQO").

The LEI in respect of  BofA Finance is
549300CGZYSEY3ZSIW16.

Merrill Lynch B.V. ("MLBV")

MLBY is a private limited liability company incorporated under
Dutch law. The main activity of MLBV consists of issuing notes,
certificates, warrants and other securities to investors, the proceeds
of which are loaned to, or placed on deposit with, Group
companies.

MLBV was incorporated on 12 November 2012 as a private
limited liability company (besloten vennootschap met beperkte
aansprakelijkheid) under Dutch law with its statutory seat
(statutaire zetel) in Amsterdam, the Netherlands. MLBYV continues
to exist until it is dissolved and liquidated in accordance with the
relevant provision of the Dutch Civil Code.

MLBV's registered office is at Amstelplein 1, Rembrandt Tower,
27th Floor, 1096 HA Amsterdam, the Netherlands and it is
registered with the Trade Register of the Dutch Chamber of
Commerce (handelsregister van de Kamer van Koophandel) in
Amsterdam, the Netherlands, under number 56457103.

The LEI in respect of MLBV is 549300RQ1D1WIE085245.

Merrill Lynch International & Co. C.V. ("MLICo.") (acting by
its general partner ML Cayman Holdings Inc.)

MLICo. is a Curacao limited partnership of unlimited duration,
organised under the laws of Curagao. ML Cayman Holdings Inc.
is acting as its general partner. MLICo. engages primarily in the
issuance of warrants, certificates and related financial instruments
and the distribution of managed fund products.

MLICo. is organised under the laws of Curacao which commenced
operation on 1 August 1975 and was registered on 1 August 1975
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Secured Instruments
Collateral Provider:

Description of Instruments

Summary for FinSA Purposes

under registered number 11705 in the Commercial Register of the
Chamber of Commerce and Industry in Curagao.

MLICo.'s registered office is at Kaya W.F.G. (Jombi) Mensing 36,
Curagao.

The LEI in respect of MLICo. is AHYIODDQ2LCHPGHIJC422.
Bank of America Corporation

(in respect of Notes issued by BofA Finance and Instruments (other
than Secured Instruments) issued by MLBV and MLICo.)

Merrill Lynch International ("MLI")

(solely with respect to the segregated pool of collateral assets
provided in its capacity as Secured Instruments Collateral
Provider relating to Secured Instruments).

MLI is a private unlimited company incorporated under English
law. MLI's principal activities are to provide a wide range of
financial services to international clients in Europe, the Middle
East and Africa, Asia Pacific and the Americas, to act as a broker
dealer in financial instruments and to provide corporate finance
advisory services. MLI also provides a number of post trade related
services to third party clients, including settlement and clearing
services to third party clients. MLI is authorised by the Prudential
Regulation Authority ("PRA") and regulated by both the PRA and
the Financial Conduct Authority ("FCA"). MLI was incorporated
on 2 November 1988 as a private unlimited company under
English law. MLI's articles of association do not include any
limitations on the duration of the company.

MLI's registered office is at King Edward Street, London, EC1A
1HQ, United Kingdom and it is registered with the UK Companies
House, under number 2312079.

The LEI in respect of MLI is GGDZP1UYGU9STUHRDP48.

The Instruments issued under the Offering Circular and publicly
offered in Switzerland constitute investment products and leverage
products pursuant to the categorization of the Swiss Structured
Products Association SSPA.

The type of product categories and products features described
below and elsewhere in this Offering Circular are based on the
categories and additional product features used in the "SSPA Swiss
Derivatives Map 2023" issued by the Swiss Structured Products
Association ("SSPA") (see https://www.sspa.ch/en). The product
categories and products features are not universal and, in different
markets and jurisdictions, different products categories and
product features may be used for the same product.

Each Instrument issued under this Offering Circular will be linked
to one or more underlying assets, which may be a share or a
depositary receipt, a share index, a commodity, a commodity
index, a foreign exchange rate, a fund (regulated or unregulated,
mutual, exchange traded tracker or hedge), the credit of a specified
entity or entities, a consumer price or other inflation index, an
interest rate, or constant maturity swap rate or any other rate, a loan
or bond or other debt obligation or certificate, a basket of the above
or any combination of any of the above or other types of reference
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Type of Instruments

Summary for FinSA Purposes

asset(s) (each an "Underlying Asset" and together, the
"Underlying Assets"). The performance of the Instruments will
depend to some degree on the performance of such Underlying
Asset.

The main categories of Instruments that may be issued under this
Offering Circular are described in the following. The Issuers are
free to modify the Instruments issued under this Offering Circular
by adding additional product features. Additional information on
the Instruments, including a description of the particular
Instruments will be included in the relevant Final Terms.

Capital Protection Products (SSPA Category 11)

. Capital Protection Note with Participation (SSPA Category
1100)

. Capital Protection Note with Barrier (SSPA Category 1130)

. Capital Protection Note with Twin Win (SSPA Category
1135)

. Capital Protection Note with Coupon (SSPA Category 1140)
Yield Enhancement Products (SSPA Category 12)

. Discount Certificate (SSPA Category 1200)

. Barrier Discount Certificate (SSPA Category 1210)

*  Reverse Convertible (SSPA Category 1220)

. Barrier Reverse Convertible (SSPA Category 1230)

*  Conditional Coupon Reverse Convertible (SSPA Category
1255)

. Conditional Coupon Barrier Reverse Convertible (SSPA
Category 1260)

Participation Products (SSPA Category 13)
. Tracker Certificate (SSPA Category 1300)
. Outperformance Certificate (SSPA Category 1310)
. Bonus Certificate (SSPA Category 1320)
. Bonus Outperformance Certificate (SSPA Category 1330)
. Twin Win Certificate (SSPA Category 1340)

Investment Products with Additional Credit Risk (SSPA
Category 14)

. Credit Linked Notes (SSPA Category 1400)

. Conditional Capital Protection Note with Additional Credit
Risk (SSPA Category 1410)

. Yield Enhancement Certificate with Additional Credit Risk
(SSPA Category 1420)
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. Participation Certificate with Additional Credit Risk (SSPA
Category 1430)

Leverage Products (SSPA Category 20)
. Warrant (SSPA Category 2100)
. Spread Warrant (SSPA Category 2110)
. Warrant with Knock-Out (SSPA Category 2200)
. Mini-Future (SSPA Category 2210)
. Constant Leverage Certificate (SSPA Category 2300)

The key information on the Instruments for a specific public offer
of Instruments in Switzerland will be set out in the relevant Final
Terms.

The relevant Final Terms for such Instruments will be filed with
the Swiss Review Body and published in accordance with the
FinSA as soon as the Final Terms for such Instrument are
available. Such Final Terms are not subject to review or approval
by the Swiss Review Body.

The key information on a specific public offer or a specific
admission to trading of the Securities in Switzerland will be set out
in the relevant Final Terms.

The Instruments will not be admitted to trading on any trading
venue in Switzerland.

This Offering Circular has been approved as a base prospectus on
15 May 2023 by SER in its capacity as review body pursuant to
Article 52 of the FinSA.
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RISK FACTORS

An investment in the Instruments involves substantial risks and is a riskier investment than an investment
in ordinary debt or equity securities. The Instruments are not equivalent to investing directly in the
Reference Items (if any).

Each of BAC (in its capacity as Issuer and in its capacity as Guarantor, with respect with respect to
Instruments other than Secured Instruments), BofA Finance, MLBV and MLICo. believes that the
following factors may affect its ability to fulfil its obligations in respect of its relevant Instruments issued
under the Programme and/or are material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with
its Instruments issued under the Programme. All of these factors are contingencies which may or may
not occur, and none of BAC, BofA Finance, MLBV and MLICo. is in a position to express a view on the
likelihood of any such contingency occurring.

Each of BAC (in its capacity as Issuer and in its capacity as Guarantor, with respect to Instruments other
than Secured Instruments), BofA Finance, MLBV and MLICo. believes that the factors described below
represent the principal risks inherent in investing in the relevant Instruments issued under the
Programme, but the inability of the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor (if applicable) to pay any cash
amounts in connection with any cash settled instruments ("Cash Settled Instruments") or to deliver the
Entitlement in connection with any physical delivery instruments ("Physical Delivery Instruments") may
occur for other reasons, and none of the Issuers nor the Guarantor represents that the statements below
regarding the risks of holding any such Instruments are exhaustive. Additional risks and uncertainties
not presently known to any of BAC (in its capacity as Issuer and in its capacity as Guarantor, with respect
to Instruments other than Secured Instruments), BofA Finance, or MLBV or MLICo. or that any of BAC
(in its capacity as Issuer and in its capacity as Guarantor, with respect to Instruments other than Secured
Instruments), BofA Finance, or MLBV or MLICo. currently believes to be immaterial could also have a
material impact on its business operations or the relevant Instruments. The Final Terms in respect of an
issue of Instruments may contain additional Risk Factors in respect of such Instruments. Prospective
investors should also read the detailed information set out elsewhere in this Offering Circular and reach
their own views prior to making any investment decision.

Terms used in this section and not otherwise defined shall have the meanings given to them in the "Terms
and Conditions of the Notes", the "Terms and Conditions of the Cash Settled Exchangeable Notes" or
the "Terms and Conditions of the W&C Instruments", as applicable (together the "Conditions" and
references herein to "relevant Conditions" shall be construed accordingly).

Organisation of the Risk Factors

1. Risk Factors Relating to the Relevant Issuer's and (with respect to Instruments other
than Secured Instruments) the Guarantor's Ability to Fulfil Their Respective
Obligations Under the Relevant Instruments

2. Risk Factors Relating to BAC and the Group and to the Group's Businesses and
Industry
3. Risks Relating to the Instruments Generally
4. Risks Relating to Notes
5. Risks Relating to Exchangeable Notes
6. Risks Relating to W&C Instruments
7. Risks Relating to Warrants
8. Risks Relating to the Market Generally
9. Risks Relating to the Structure of a Particular Issue of Instruments
(a) General risks relating to Reference Item Linked Instruments
(b) Risks associated with baskets comprised of various components as Reference Items
(c) Risks relating to Instruments linked to certain Reference Item(s)
(1) Risks relating to Index Linked Instruments
(i1) Risks relating to Share Linked Instruments

(1ii) Risks relating to GDR/ADR Linked Instruments

(iv) Risks relating to FX Linked Instruments and other Instruments in respect
of which "Exchange Rate" is specified to be applicable

v) Risks relating to Commodity Linked Instruments

(vi) Risks relating to Fund Linked Instruments

(vii)  Risks relating to Inflation Linked Instruments
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(viii)  Risks relating to Credit Linked Instruments
(ix) Risks relating to Saudi Share Linked Warrants
(x) Risks relating to Secured Instruments
(xi) Risks relating to Preference Share Linked Notes
10. Risks Relating to Floating Rate Notes
(a) Risks Relating to Floating Rate Notes and Notes That Bear Interest by Reference to
a Reference Rate or SOFR, SONIA or TONA
(b) Risks relating to BBSW Notes
(c) Risks relating to EURIBOR Notes
(d) Risks relating to TORF Notes
(e) Risks relating to KRW CD 91 Rate Notes
) Risks relating to the Applicable RFRs Generally
(2) Risks relating to TONA Notes
(h) Risks relating to SOFR Notes
(1) Risks Relating to Swap Rate Notes
6)] Risks Relating to RFR Swap Rate Notes
(ii) Risks Relating to ICE Swap Rate Notes
(iii) Risks Relating to TONA TSR Notes
(iv) Risks Relating to EUR ICE Swap Rate Notes
v) Risks Relating to KRW CMS Rate Notes
(vi) Risks Relating to Specified CMS Rate Notes
(vil)  Risk Relating to Swap Rate Notes
)] Risks relating to Notes for Which Compounded Daily Is Specified in the Applicable
Final Terms as the Manner in Which the Rate of Interest Is To Be Determined

(k) Risks relating to General Benchmark Transition Provisions Set Forth in Additional
Note Condition 4(a)
1. Risk Factors Relating to the Relevant Issuer's and (with respect to the Instruments other

than Secured Instruments) the Guarantor's Ability to Fulfil Their Respective Obligations
Under the Relevant Instruments

BAC is the ultimate parent company of the Bank of America group of companies (BAC and its
consolidated subsidiaries, the "Group"). BofA Finance, MLBYV and MLICo. are part of the Group, and,
as such, may be affected by uncertain or unfavourable economic, market, legal and other conditions that
are likely to affect BAC as a whole.

BofA Finance is a finance vehicle whose principal purpose is to provide BAC and/or BAC's other
subsidiaries with financing by issuing debt securities to investors and lending the net proceeds therefrom
to BAC and/or those subsidiaries. Each of MLBV and MLICo. is a finance vehicle whose principal
purpose is to raise debt or enter into financial contracts to assist the financing activities of such Issuer's
affiliates. Accordingly, none of BofA Finance, MLBV or MLICo. has any trading assets or generates
any significant net income.

The payment and non-cash delivery obligations under Instruments issued by MLBV and MLICo. (other
than in respect of Secured Instruments) under the Programme are guaranteed unconditionally and
irrevocably pursuant to the MLBV/MLICo. Guarantee. The payment obligations under the Notes issued
by BofA Finance under the Programme are guaranteed unconditionally and irrevocably pursuant to the
BofA Finance Guarantee. As a result, if the Guarantor's financial condition were to deteriorate, the value
of such Instruments (other than Secured Instruments) may be adversely affected and each of BofA
Finance, MLBV and MLICo. and investors in such Instruments (other than Secured Instruments) may
suffer direct and materially adverse consequences. Accordingly, prospective investors in such
Instruments (other than Secured Instruments) should review, infer alia, the factors below regarding BAC,
the Group (as defined above) and the Group's businesses and industry, which may affect the relevant
Issuer's ability to repay its obligations and BAC's ability to fulfil its obligations under the applicable
Guarantee.
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Payments on the Instruments are subject to the credit risk of the relevant Issuer and (other than in
respect of Secured Instruments) BAC, in its capacity as the Guarantor, and actual or perceived
changes in the relevant Issuer's or BAC's creditworthiness are expected to affect the value of the
Instruments (other than Secured Instruments).

The amounts payable or deliverable on the Instruments at maturity, redemption, settlement, expiration
or exercise are dependent upon the ability of the relevant Issuer and (other than in respect of Secured
Instruments) BAC, in its capacity as the Guarantor, to repay (or deliver, as applicable) their respective
obligations on the applicable maturity date, redemption date, settlement date, expiration date or exercise
date. If the relevant Issuer and (other than in respect of Secured Instruments) BAC, in its capacity as the
Guarantor, are not able to fulfil their respective obligations under the Instruments to Holders, investors
will be unsecured (other than in respect of Secured Instruments) and will not have the protection of the
FDIC, the U.S. Deposit Insurance Fund, the UK Financial Services Compensation Scheme or any other
government or governmental agency, or insurance protection scheme in any jurisdiction. In such case,
the return on the Instruments (other than Secured Instruments) will be reduced and may be zero. This
will be the case even if the value of the Reference Item increases (or decreases, as the case may be) after
the pricing date. No assurance can be given as to what the financial condition of the relevant Issuer or
(other than in respect of Secured Instruments) BAC, in its capacity as the Guarantor, will be on the
applicable maturity date, redemption date, settlement date, expiration date or exercise date. If the relevant
Issuer and (other than in respect of Secured Instruments) BAC, in its capacity as Guarantor, become
unable to meet their respective obligations under the Instruments at maturity, redemption, settlement,
expiration or exercise, investors may not receive the amounts payable or deliverable under the terms of
the Instruments.

Furthermore, the value of the Instruments (other than Secured Instruments) is expected to be affected, in
part, by investors' general appraisal of the relevant Issuer's or BAC's creditworthiness and actual or
anticipated changes in the relevant Issuer's or BAC's credit ratings prior to the maturity date, redemption
date, settlement date, expiration date or exercise date may adversely affect the value of the Instruments
(other than Secured Instruments). Such perceptions are generally influenced by the ratings accorded to
BAC's outstanding securities by standard statistical rating services. A reduction (or anticipated
reduction) in the rating, if any, accorded to outstanding debt securities of BAC by one of these rating
agencies could result in a reduction in the trading value of the Instruments (other than Secured
Instruments). As the return on the Instruments depends upon factors in addition to the ability of the
relevant Issuer or (other than in respect of Secured Instruments) BAC, in its capacity as the Guarantor,
to pay its respective obligations, an improvement in these credit ratings will not reduce the other
investment risks related to such Instruments. A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell, or
hold any of the Instruments and may be subject to suspension, change, or withdrawal at any time by the
assigning rating agency.

BofA Finance is a finance subsidiary and, as such, has no independent assets, operations or revenues

BofA Finance is a finance subsidiary of BAC, has no operations other than those related to the issuance,
administration and repayment of its debt securities that are guaranteed by BAC, including the Notes, and
is dependent upon BAC and/or BAC's other subsidiaries to meet its obligations under the Notes in the
ordinary course. However, BofA Finance will have no assets available for distributions to holders of its
Notes if they make claims in respect of such Notes in a bankruptcy, resolution or similar proceeding.
Accordingly, any recoveries by such holders in respect of such claims in any such proceeding will be
limited to those available under BAC's guarantee of such Notes, and any obligations under that guarantee
will rank equally in right of payment with all other unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of BAC,
except obligations that are subject to any priorities or preferences by law, and senior in right of payment
to BAC's subordinated obligations. Holders of the Notes will have recourse only to a single claim against
BAC and its assets under BAC's guarantee of the Notes, and holders of the Notes should accordingly
assume that in any bankruptcy, resolution or similar proceeding, they would not have priority over, and
should be treated equally with, the claims of all other unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of BAC,
including claims of holders of unsecured senior debt securities issued by BAC.

In certain circumstances, the Curacao courts may declare themselves competent to adjudicate claims
and/or judgments rendered before the courts of the State of New York and the courts of the United
States of America for the Southern District of New York may not be automatically enforceable against
MLICo. or its assets in Curacao
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In addition, the W&C Instruments Conditions provide that proceedings should be brought before the
courts of England in respect of the W&C Instruments Conditions (other than the Security Agency
Agreement) and before the courts of the State of New York and the courts of the United States of America
for the Southern District of New York in respect of the Security Agency Agreement. In respect of
MLICo., it is noted that under Curacao laws, as the jurisdiction under which laws MLICo. is organised
and existing, these submissions do not preclude that claims for provisional measures, claims below the
amount of 10,000 Netherlands Antillean guilders (U.S.$5,600) or the equivalent thereof, or requests to
levy pre-trial attachments (conservatoire beslagen) be brought before the competent Curacao courts and
that such courts will indeed declare themselves competent to adjudicate such claims or requests.
Accordingly, if a situation would arise where MLICo. would, in contravention of the submission
provisions in the W&C Instruments Conditions, commence proceedings before the Curagao courts for
provisional measures, claims below the amount of 10,000 Netherlands Antillean guilders (U.S.$5,600)
or the equivalent thereof, or in relation to requests to levy pre-trial attachments (conservatoire beslagen)
in Curagao, the courts of Curagao would declare themselves competent in such proceedings
notwithstanding the aforementioned submissions to other courts.

Furthermore, in respect of the Security Agency Agreement which provides that claims be brought before
the aforementioned courts in the United States, the following should be taken into account in case of a
judgment rendered by such courts in the United States. Any such judgment rendered by such courts in
the United States would not automatically be enforceable in Curagao against MLICo. or its assets there
because the United States of America and Curagao do not currently have a treaty providing for reciprocal
recognition and enforcement of judgments in civil and commercial matters. To enforce such judgment
against MLICo.’s assets in Curagao, it will be required to obtain a judgment from the competent courts
in Curacao in proceedings before such courts of Curagao. In such proceedings before the courts in
Curagao the parties have the right to fully relitigate the matter and the competent courts in Curacao may
make their own assessment of the merits of the case and may therefore come to a judgment that is not
the same as the judgment rendered by the relevant court in the United States has given. Examples of
situations where the courts would allow full re-litigation are each of the following: (i) the foreign
judgment has not been rendered by a court of competent jurisdiction (according to internationally
accepted standards), (ii) the proceedings were not in accordance with the principles of due process
(behoorlijke rechtspleging), (iii) the judgment as to its content and enforcement conflict with Curagao
public policy (openbare orde), (iv) the judgment is incompatible with an earlier Curagao judgment or an
earlier foreign judgment (which could be acknowledged in Curagao) between the same parties, about the
same subject and based on the same cause, and (v) the judgment has not been rendered in a civil or
commercial matter but for instance in a criminal, revenue, customs or administrative matter. So, in case
of a judgment rendered by the courts in the United States against MLICo., it is not certain that the courts
in Curacao would reach the same judgment as the relevant court in the United States has given and
enforcement in Curagao of such judgment could potentially cause additional time and additional costs to
be incurred.

2. Risk Factors Relating to BAC and the Group and to the Group's Businesses and Industry

When used in this Offering Circular, and as required by the context, "BAC" may refer to Bank of America
Corporation individually, Bank of America Corporation and its consolidated subsidiaries or certain of
Bank of America Corporation's subsidiaries or affiliates, individually or collectively.

In the course of conducting its business operations, BAC is exposed to a variety of risks, some of which
are inherent in the financial services industry and others of which are more specific to BAC's own
businesses. The most significant factors, of which BAC is currently aware, that could affect BAC's
businesses, results of operations and financial condition are described in the BAC 2022 Annual Report
under the caption "ltem 1A. Risk Factors". Additional factors that could affect BAC's businesses, results
of operations and financial condition are discussed in the BAC 2022 Annual Report under the heading
"Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and
the BAC 31 March 2023 Quarterly Report under the heading "ltem 2. Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Conditions and Results of Operations". However, other factors not discussed in
the BAC 2022 Annual Report or the BAC 31 March 2023 Quarterly Report could also adversely affect
BAC's businesses, results of operations and financial condition. Therefore, the risk factors set forth in
the BAC 2022 Annual Report and the BAC 31 March 2023 Quarterly Report should not be considered a
complete list of the potential risks that BAC may face.
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Any risk factor described in the BAC 2022 Annual Report, the BAC 31 March 2023 Quarterly
Report or in any of BAC's other SEC filings could by itself, or together with other factors,
materially adversely affect BAC's liquidity, cash flows, competitive position, business, reputation,
results of operations, capital position or financial condition, including by materially increasing
BAC's expenses or decreasing BAC's revenues, which could result in material losses

BAC's ability to make payments and, if applicable, non-cash delivery obligations under its Guarantees
or the BAC Notes will depend upon its receipt of funds from its subsidiaries, and applicable law and
regulations, and actions taken under BAC's resolution plan, could restrict the ability of its subsidiaries
to transfer such funds

BAC is a holding company and conducts substantially all of its operations through its subsidiaries. BAC's
ability to make payments and, if applicable, non-cash delivery obligations under its Guarantees or the
BAC Notes, as applicable, depends upon its receipt from its subsidiaries of dividends and other
distributions, loans, advances and other payments. Any inability of these subsidiaries to pay dividends
or make payments to BAC may adversely affect its cash flow and financial condition. Many of these
subsidiaries, including bank and broker-dealer subsidiaries, are subject to laws that restrict dividend
payments or authorise regulatory bodies to block or reduce the flow of funds from those subsidiaries to
BAC or to its other subsidiaries. In addition, BAC's bank and broker-dealer subsidiaries are subject to
restrictions on their ability to lend or transact with affiliates and to minimum regulatory capital and
liquidity requirements. Lower earnings in BAC's subsidiaries can reduce the amount of funds available
to BAC as a holding company. Adverse business and economic conditions could affect BAC's businesses
and results of operations, including changes in interest and currency exchange rates, illiquidity or
volatility in areas where we have concentrated credit risk, and a failure in or breach of our operational or
security systems or infrastructure. Intercompany arrangements BAC has entered into in connection with
its resolution planning could restrict the amount of funding available to it from its subsidiaries under
certain adverse conditions, as described below under "—A resolution under BAC's preferred single point
of entry resolution strategy could materially adversely affect BAC's liquidity and financial condition and
BAC's ability to pay its obligations on its securities and its ability to make payments and, if applicable,
non-cash delivery obligations under the Guarantees or the BAC Notes, as applicable." These restrictions
could prevent BAC's subsidiaries from paying dividends or making other distributions to BAC or
otherwise providing funds to BAC that it needs in order to make payments and, if applicable, non-cash
delivery obligations under its Guarantees or the BAC Notes, as applicable. In addition, BAC's right to
participate in any distribution of assets of any of its subsidiaries upon such subsidiary's liquidation or
otherwise, will be subject to the prior claims of creditors of that subsidiary, except to the extent that any
of BAC's claims as a creditor of such subsidiary may be recognised.

A resolution under BAC's preferred single point of entry resolution strategy could materially adversely
affect BAC's liquidity and financial condition and BAC's ability to pay its obligations on its securities
and its ability to make payments and, if applicable, non-cash delivery obligations under the
Guarantees or the BAC Notes, as applicable

BAC, as the parent holding company, is required periodically to submit a plan to its primary regulatory
authorities describing BAC's resolution strategy under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code in the event of material
financial distress or failure. BAC's preferred resolution strategy is a "single point of entry" ("SPOE")
strategy, whereby only BAC (the parent holding company) would file for bankruptcy under the U.S.
Bankruptcy Code. Certain key operating subsidiaries would be provided with sufficient capital and
liquidity to operate through severe stress and to enable such subsidiaries to continue operating or be
wound down in a solvent manner following a BAC bankruptcy. BAC has entered into intercompany
arrangements resulting in the contribution of most of its capital and liquidity to these key subsidiaries.
Pursuant to these arrangements, if BAC's liquidity resources deteriorate so severely that resolution
becomes imminent, BAC will no longer be able to draw liquidity from its key subsidiaries, and will be
required to contribute its remaining financial assets to a wholly-owned holding company subsidiary. This
could adversely affect BAC's liquidity and financial condition, including the ability to meet its payment
obligations, including on the BAC Notes and the Guarantees, and the ability to return capital to its
shareholders, including through the payment of dividends and repurchase of BAC's common stock. In
addition, BAC's preferred resolution strategy could result in holders of BAC's securities, including the
BAC Notes and the Guarantees, being in a worse position and suffering greater losses than would have
been the case under bankruptcy or other resolution scenarios or plans.
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If the FDIC and U.S. Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (the "Federal Reserve Board")
jointly determine that BAC's resolution plan is not credible, they could impose more stringent capital,
leverage or liquidity requirements or restrictions on BAC's growth, activities or operations. BAC could
also be required to take certain actions that could impose operating costs and result in the divestiture of
assets or restructuring of businesses and subsidiaries.

Additionally, under Title II of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010
(the "Financial Reform Act"), when a global systemically important banking organisation ("G-SIB"),
such as BAC, is in default or danger of default, the FDIC may be appointed receiver to conduct an orderly
liquidation of such institution. In the event of such appointment, the FDIC could, among other things,
invoke the orderly liquidation authority, instead of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code, if the Secretary of the U.S.
Department of Treasury makes certain financial distress and systemic risk determinations. In 2013, the
FDIC issued a notice describing its preferred "single point of entry" strategy for resolving a G-SIB. Under
this approach, the FDIC could replace BAC with a bridge holding company, which could continue
operations and result in an orderly resolution of the underlying bank, but whose equity would be held
solely for the benefit of BAC's creditors. The FDIC's single point of entry strategy may result in holders
of the BAC Notes or the Guarantees suffering greater losses than would have been the case under a
bankruptcy proceeding or a different resolution strategy with respect to payments received under the
BAC Notes and the Guarantees.

If BAC is resolved under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or the FDIC's orderly liquidation authority, third-
party creditors of BAC's subsidiaries may receive significant or full recoveries on their claims while
security holders of BAC, including holders of the BAC Notes and the Guarantees, could face significant
or complete losses.

If BAC enters a resolution proceeding, holders of BAC's unsecured debt securities, including the BAC
Notes, and equity securities would be at risk of absorbing BAC's losses

Under the final rules of the Federal Reserve Board relating to total loss-absorbing capacity (the "TLAC
Rules"), BAC is required to maintain minimum amounts of unsecured external long-term debt satisfying
certain eligibility criteria ("eligible LTD") and other loss-absorbing capacity for the purpose of absorbing
BAC's losses in a resolution proceeding under either the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or Title II of the Financial
Reform Act. If BAC enters a resolution proceeding under either the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or Title II of
the Financial Reform Act, BAC's losses would be imposed first on holders of BAC's equity securities
and thereafter on BAC's unsecured debt, including the BAC Notes, and some or all of such securities
could be significantly reduced or eliminated as a result of such resolution proceeding.

Under BAC's SPOE resolution strategy, and the single point of entry strategy preferred by the FDIC
under Title II of the Financial Reform Act, the value that would be distributed to holders of BAC's
unsecured debt, including the BAC Notes, may not be sufficient to repay all or part of the principal
amount and interest on such debt, and holders of such debt could receive no consideration at all under
these resolution scenarios. Either of these resolution strategies could result in holders of BAC's debt
securities being in a worse position and suffering greater losses than would have been the case under a
different resolution strategy. Although SPOE is BAC's preferred resolution strategy, neither BAC nor a
bankruptcy court would be obligated to follow BAC's SPOE strategy. Additionally, the FDIC is not
obligated to follow its single point of entry strategy to resolve BAC under Title II of the Financial Reform
Act. For more information regarding the financial consequences of any such resolution proceeding, see
"Bank of America Corporation — Financial Consequences to Unsecured Debtholders of Single Point of
Entry Resolution Strategy".

BAC is subject to the Federal Reserve Board's final rules requiring U.S. global systemically important
organisations (""G-SIBs") holding companies to maintain minimum amounts of long-term debt
meeting specified eligibility requirements

Commencing January 1, 2019, under the TLAC Rules, U.S. G-SIBs, including BAC, are required to,
among other things, maintain minimum amounts of eligible LTD and other loss-absorbing capacity for
the purpose of absorbing BAC's losses in a resolution proceeding under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or
Title I of the Financial Reform Act. Any senior long-term debt issued must include terms required by
the TLAC Rules in order to qualify as eligible LTD. Actions required to comply with the TLAC Rules
could impact BAC's funding and liquidity risk management plans.
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BAC's obligations on the BAC Notes and under the Guarantees will be structurally subordinated to
liabilities of BAC's subsidiaries

Because BAC is a holding company, its right to participate in any distribution of the assets of any
subsidiary (including each of BofA Finance, MLBV and MLICo.) upon such subsidiary's liquidation or
reorganisation or otherwise, is subject to the prior claims of creditors of that subsidiary, except to the
extent that BAC may itself be recognised as a creditor of that subsidiary. As a result, BAC's obligations
under the BAC Notes or under the Guarantees will be structurally subordinated to all existing and future
liabilities of BAC's subsidiaries, and claimants under the BAC Notes or the Guarantees should look only
to BAC's assets for payment. Further creditors of BAC's subsidiaries recapitalised pursuant to BAC's
resolution plan generally would be entitled to payment of their claims from the assets of the subsidiaries,
including BAC's contributed assets. In addition, any obligations of BAC under the BAC Notes and the
Guarantees will be unsecured and, therefore, in a bankruptcy or similar proceeding, will effectively rank
junior to BAC's secured obligations to the extent of the value of the assets securing such obligations.

Holders of the BAC Notes and claimants under the Guarantees could be at greater risk of being
structurally subordinated if BAC sells or conveys all or substantially all of its assets to one or more of
its majority-owned subsidiaries

If BAC sells or conveys all or substantially all of its assets to one or more direct or indirect majority-
owned subsidiaries of BAC, the subsidiary or subsidiaries will not be required to assume BAC's
obligations under the BAC Notes or the Guarantees, and BAC will remain the sole obligor on such BAC
Notes and the Guarantees. In such event, creditors of any such subsidiary or subsidiaries would have
additional assets from which to recover on their claims while holders of BAC Notes and claimants under
the Guarantees would be structurally subordinated to creditors of such subsidiary or subsidiaries with
respect to such assets.

The U.S. banking regulators have adopted rules mandating the inclusion of contractual stay
provisions in certain financial contracts, which are intended to mitigate the risk of destabilising
closeouts of such contracts on the resolution of BAC and its subsidiaries. The inclusion of these
provisions into the Instruments could materially adversely affect the rights of Holders against the
relevant Issuer, the Guarantor or, in the case of Secured Instruments, the Secured Instruments
Collateral Provider in a resolution scenario

In the fall of 2017, the Federal Reserve Board, the FDIC and the U.S. Office of the Comptroller of the
Currency issued rules ("QFC Stay Rules") designed to improve the resolvability and resilience of U.S.
G-SIBs and the U.S. operations of foreign G-SIBs, by mitigating the risk of destabilising closeouts of
qualified financial contracts ("QFCs") in resolution. BAC and its subsidiaries, including BofA Finance,
MLBYV, MLICo. and MLI as the Secured Instruments Collateral Provider, are "covered entities" subject
to the QFC Stay Rules. Certain of the Instruments, the Guarantee and the Collateral Transaction
Documents for Secured Instruments may qualify as QFCs.

The QFC Stay Rules seek to eliminate impediments to the orderly resolution of a G-SIB both in a scenario
where resolution proceedings are instituted by the U.S. regulatory authorities under the U.S. Federal
Deposit Insurance Act or the Orderly Liquidation Authority under Title II of the Financial Reform Act
("OLA") (together, the "U.S. Special Resolution Regimes"), as well as in a scenario where the G-SIB
is resolved under ordinary insolvency proceedings under applicable bankruptcy or insolvency laws. To
address this, the QFC Stay Rules require covered entities to ensure that their QFCs subject to the QFC
Stay Rules (i) contain an express contractual recognition of the statutory stay-and-transfer provisions of
the U.S. Special Resolution Regimes and (ii) do not contain cross-default rights against the covered entity
based on an affiliate becoming subject to any type of insolvency proceeding or restrictions on the transfer
of any related credit enhancements (including a guarantee) issued by an affiliate of the covered entity
following that affiliate's entry into insolvency proceedings.

Acknowledgement of U.S. Special Resolution Regimes

To address the QFC Stay Rules requirements, the Instruments contain an express contractual recognition
that in the event the Issuer, the Guarantor or, in the case of Secured Instruments, the Secured Instruments
Collateral Provider becomes subject to a proceeding under a U.S. Special Resolution Regime, the transfer
of the Instruments, the Guarantees or the Collateral Transaction Documents will be effective to the same
extent as the transfer would be effective under such U.S. Special Resolution Regime. In addition, the
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Instruments contain an express contractual recognition that in the event the Issuer, the Guarantor, the
Secured Instruments Collateral Provider or any of their affiliates becomes subject to a proceeding under
a U.S. Special Resolution Regime, default rights against the Issuer, the Guarantor or the Secured
Instruments Collateral Provider with respect to the Instruments, the Guarantees or the Collateral
Transaction Documents are permitted to be exercised to no greater extent than they could be exercised
under such U.S. Special Resolution Regime. For this purpose, "default rights" include the right to
terminate, liquidate or accelerate a QFC or demand payment or delivery thereunder, and may, therefore,
include the right of a Holder to exercise an American Style Warrant or to exercise an Investor Put.

Under current law, BAC, as a Delaware corporation and U.S. entity, and its subsidiary, BofA Finance
LLC, as a Delaware limited liability company and U.S. entity, are eligible to be placed into proceedings
under OLA if certain determinations are made by the applicable U.S. regulatory authorities. However,
MLBYV, MLICo. and MLI, as the Secured Instruments Collateral Provider, are not eligible to be placed
into proceedings under the U.S. Special Resolution Regimes as each is a non-U.S. entity. For more
information, please see the risk factors "4 resolution under BAC's preferred single point of entry
resolution strategy could materially adversely affect BAC's liquidity and financial condition and BAC's
ability to pay its obligations on its securities and its ability to make payments and, if applicable, non-
cash delivery obligations under the Guarantees or the BAC Notes, as applicable" and "If BAC enters a
resolution proceeding, holders of BAC's unsecured debt securities, including the BAC Notes, would be
at risk of absorbing BAC's losses," "Resolution Planning" on page 6 of the BAC 2022 Annual Report on
Form 10-K, "Insolvency and the Orderly Liquidation Authority" on page 6 of the BAC 2022 Annual
Report on Form 10-K and the risk factors under the caption "Item 14 Risk Factors — Liquidity" on pages
9to 11 of the BAC 2022 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

In an Insolvency, there may be a transfer of the Guarantees and other Credit Enhancements and
cross-default rights may be eliminated

The Instruments explicitly provide that the Guarantees and the Collateral Transaction Documents may
be transferred to another entity as transferee upon or following the Guarantor or the Secured Instruments
Collateral Provider becoming subject to a resolution, restructuring, reorganisation or similar proceeding
(an "Insolvency Proceeding"). This is not limited to a proceeding under a U.S. Special Resolution
Regime, and would also include, for example, a proceeding under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy
Code. It is possible, although not required, that in connection with a resolution or restructuring of the
Guarantor or the Secured Instruments Collateral Provider, the Guarantor or the Secured Instruments
Collateral Provider (or the relevant insolvency official) may seek to transfer certain of its guarantee or
other credit support obligations to another entity.

In addition, the Secured Instruments explicitly provide that a Holder will not be permitted to exercise
any default right with respect to any Secured Instrument or the related Collateral Transaction Documents
that is related, directly or indirectly, to an affiliate of the Issuer becoming subject to an Insolvency
Proceeding. This would include an Insolvency Proceeding with respect to the Secured Instruments
Collateral Provider. However, there is an exception to this limitation where the default right arises as a
result of (i) the Issuer becoming subject to an Insolvency Proceeding, (ii) the Issuer not satisfying a
payment or delivery obligation pursuant to such Secured Instrument, or (iii) the failure of the Secured
Instrument Collateral Provider, or any transferee thereof, to satisfy a payment or delivery obligation
pursuant to the Collateral Transaction Documents or any other credit enhancement that supports the
Secured Instrument. After an affiliate of the Issuer becomes subject to an Insolvency Proceeding, a
Holder seeking to exercise a default right against the Issuer with respect to the Secured Instrument or the
Collateral Transaction Documents shall have the burden of proof, by clear and convincing evidence, that
the exercise of such a default right is permitted thereunder. For this purpose, the definition of default
right would not include an on-demand termination right, such as the exercise of an American Style
Warrant or an Investor Put.

Holders may be affected by the risk that the obligations of the Guarantor or the Secured Instruments
Collateral Provider may be transferred to another entity in the event the Guarantor or the Secured
Instruments Collateral Provider enters into resolution, restructuring or similar proceedings or that
the obligations of the Guarantor under the Guarantees or the Secured Instruments Collateral Provider
under the Collateral Transaction Documents will not be transferred to another entity while other
liabilities and assets of the Guarantor or the Secured Instruments Collateral Provider are transferred
in connection with such measures
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Investors should be aware that the taking of resolution measures with respect to the Guarantor or the
Secured Instruments Collateral Provider or even the suggestion of the potential taking of resolution
measures in respect of the Guarantor or the Secured Instruments Collateral Provider could have a material
adverse effect on the rights of Holders, and could lead to a loss of some or all of the investment. Holders
may not be able to anticipate the exercise of any resolution measures and will have very limited rights to
challenge such measures, even where such measures have resulted in the transfer of the Guarantees or
the Collateral Transaction Documents.

3. Risks Relating to the Instruments Generally
Investors risk losing all of their investment in the Instruments

Potential investors should be aware that depending on the terms of the relevant Instruments (i)
they may receive no or a limited amount of interest, (ii) payments may occur at a different time
than expected and (iii) except in the case of Instruments that are structured to pay a minimum
amount equal to (or nearly equal to) the amount invested on the maturity date/settlement date,
they may lose all or a substantial portion of their investment if the value of the Reference Item(s)
does not move in the anticipated direction.

Investors in Instruments, which are structured to pay a minimum amount equal to (or nearly equal
to) the amount invested on the maturity date/settlement date, may still be subject to loss of some
or all of their investment if the relevant Issuer and (if applicable) the Guarantor are subject to
bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings or some other event occurs which impairs the ability of each
to meet its obligations under the Instruments and (if applicable) the Guarantees. An investor may
also lose some or all of its investment if it seeks to sell the relevant Instruments prior to their
scheduled maturity or settlement, and the sale price of the Instruments in the secondary market is
less than the initial investment or the relevant Instruments are subject to certain adjustments in
accordance with the terms and conditions of such Instruments that may result in the scheduled
amount to be paid or asset(s) to be delivered upon redemption or settlement being reduced to or
being valued at an amount less than an investor's initial investment.

The Instruments may not be a suitable investment for all investors

Each potential investor in the Instruments must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its
own circumstances. In particular, each potential investor should:

(a) have sufficient knowledge and experience to evaluate the Instruments, the merits and risks of
investing in the Instruments and the information contained or incorporated by reference in this
Offering Circular or any applicable supplement and all the information contained in the
applicable Final Terms;

(b) have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its
particular financial situation, an investment in the Instruments and the impact the Instruments
will have on its overall investment portfolio;

(c) have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the
Instruments, including Instruments with amounts payable in one or more currencies, or where
the Settlement Currency or Specified Currency of the Instruments is different from the potential
investor's currency;

(d) have knowledge of and access to appropriate analytical resources to analyse quantitatively the
effect (or value) of any redemption, cap, floor, or other features of the Instruments, and the
resulting impact upon the value of the Instruments;

(e) understand thoroughly the terms of the Instruments and be familiar with any relevant indices
and financial markets; and

) be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for
economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear the
applicable risks.
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The Instruments are complex financial instruments. A potential investor should not invest in Instruments
unless it has the expertise (either alone or with a financial adviser) to evaluate how such Instruments will
perform under changing conditions, the resulting effects on the value of those Instruments and the impact
this investment will have on the potential investor's overall investment portfolio.

In addition, an investment in Index Linked Instruments, Share Linked Instruments, GDR/ADR Linked
Instruments, FX Linked Instruments, Commodity Linked Instruments, Fund Linked Instruments,
Inflation Linked Instruments, Credit Linked Instruments, Saudi Share Linked Warrants, Preference Share
Linked Notes or other Reference Item Linked Instruments, may entail significant risks not associated
with investments in conventional securities such as debt or equity securities, including, but not limited
to, the risks set out in "Risks Relating to the Structure of a Particular Issue of Instruments" below.

The Instruments (other than Secured Instruments) are unsecured obligations

Save in respect of Secured Instruments (in respect of which see "Risks related to Secured Instruments"
below), the Instruments issued by each of MLBV and MLICo. constitute direct, unsubordinated,
unconditional and unsecured obligations of the relevant Issuer and rank equally among themselves and
rank equally (subject to exceptions as are from time to time provided by applicable laws) with all other
present and future direct, unsubordinated, unconditional and unsecured indebtedness or obligations, as
applicable, of the relevant Issuer.

The Notes issued by BAC will be unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of BAC and will rank
equally with all of BAC's other unsecured and unsubordinated obligations from time to time outstanding,
except obligations, including deposit liabilities, that are subject to any priorities or preferences by law.

The Notes issued by BofA Finance will constitute unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of BofA
Finance and will rank equally with all other unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of BofA Finance
from time to time outstanding, except obligations that are subject to any priorities or preferences by law.

The obligations of the Guarantor under the Guarantees, save for such exceptions as may be provided by
applicable laws and regulations or judicial order, will rank pari passu with its other present and future
unsecured and unsubordinated obligations.

The yield on the Instruments may be less than the yield on a conventional debt security of comparable
maturity

Any yield that an investor may receive on the Instruments, which could be negative, may be less than
the return an investor would earn if the investor purchased a conventional debt security with the same
maturity date. As a result, an investment in the Instruments may not reflect the full opportunity cost to
an investor when factors that affect the time value of money, such as inflation, are considered.

Movements in the level or price of a Reference Item will affect the performance of the Instruments

The level or price of the Reference Item may be subject to significant fluctuations that may not correlate
with changes in interest rates, currencies or other indices and the timing of changes in the relevant level
or price of the Reference Item. This may affect the actual yield to investors, even if the average level or
price of the Reference Item during the life of the Instruments is consistent with investors' expectations.
In general, the earlier the change in the level or price of the Reference Item, the greater the effect on the
yield of the Instruments.

Leverage will magnify the effect of changes in the Reference Item

If the formula used to determine any amount payable and/or non-cash consideration deliverable contains
a multiplier or leverage factor, then the percentage change in the value of the Instrument will be greater
than any positive and/or negative performance of the Reference Item(s). Any Instruments which include
such multiplier or leverage factor represent a very speculative and risky form of investment since any
change in the value of the Reference Item(s) carries the risk of a correspondingly higher change in the
value of the Instruments.

For Tranched Portfolio CLNs, the Implicit Portfolio Size of the Reference Portfolio is likely to be
significantly larger than the nominal amount of the Notes. Accordingly, the credit risk of investors in
the Notes in relation to the Reference Portfolio is leveraged. The value of such Notes may be more
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volatile, and credit losses in respect of such Notes may be greater than would be the case in the absence
of such leverage. The value of such Notes may also be adversely affected by changes in the relative
value of different tranches of credit risk on the Reference Portfolio. Such relative value changes may
occur as a result of, for example, changes in assumptions used by market participants to model the credit
risk of the Reference Portfolio, as well as changes in the supply of and demand for credit protection in
relation to each such tranche.

A postponement of valuation or determination due to a Market Disruption Event and Disrupted Day
may have an adverse effect on the value of the Instruments

If the Instruments include provisions dealing with the occurrence of a Market Disruption Event or a
failure of an exchange or related exchange to open on a Valuation Date, an Averaging Date or a Pricing
Date and the Calculation Agent determines that a Market Disruption Event or such failure has occurred
or exists on any relevant date, any consequential postponement of the relevant date or any alternative
provisions for valuation provided in the Instruments may have an adverse effect on the value of the
Instruments or of any amounts payable under the Instruments.

The occurrence of a Payment Disruption Event may lead to a delayed and/or reduced payment

If a Payment Disruption Event is applicable to an Instrument, as specified in the applicable Final Terms,
then, in the event that the Calculation Agent determines, in its sole discretion, that an event that (i)
prevents, restricts or delays the relevant Issuer from converting or delivering relevant currencies, (ii)
imposes capital or exchange controls or (iii) implements changes to laws relating to foreign investments,
(a "Payment Disruption Event") has occurred or is likely to occur, then the relevant exercise or payment
date (as applicable) in respect of the Instruments may be postponed to a date falling five Business Days
(or such other date as may be determined by the Calculation Agent and notified to Holders) after the date
on which the Payment Disruption Event is no longer occurring. No accrued interest will be payable in
respect of any such postponement and no Event of Default in respect of the Instruments will result from
such postponement. Partial payments or physical delivery of (i) Shares in lieu of cash settlement of Share
Linked Instruments or (ii) Fund Shares in lieu of cash settlement of Index Linked Instruments (where
"Physical Settlement" is specified as applicable to the Index Linked Conditions in the relevant Final
Terms) may, in the relevant Issuer's sole discretion, be made during such period (after deduction for any
expenses). In the event that a Payment Disruption Event is still continuing on the date which is one year
after the last date on which amounts are due under the Instruments (the "Payment Event Cut-Off Date"),
then (1) such final payment date shall be extended to the Payment Event Cut-Off Date and (2) the
remaining amounts payable under the Instruments shall be deemed to be zero and the relevant Issuer
shall have no obligations whatsoever under the Instruments. Therefore, in a case where Payment
Disruption Event is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, the Holder could lose all or
part of its investment in the Instruments.

In the event that the relevant Issuer satisfies its obligation to make a cash payment by the delivery of
Shares or Fund Shares (as the case may be) following the occurrence of a Payment Disruption Event,
Holders may be unable to sell such Shares or Fund Shares (as the case may be), or may be unable to sell
them at a price equal to the cash payment that would have been payable but for the occurrence of the
Payment Disruption Event.

The occurrence of a CNY Payment Disruption Event may lead to a delayed and/or reduced payment
or payment in another currency

If a CNY Payment Disruption Event is applicable to an Instrument, as specified in the applicable Final
Terms, then, in the event that the Calculation Agent determines, in its sole discretion, that any of the
following events has occurred or is likely to occur: (i) an event that makes it impossible or impractical
for the relevant Issuer to convert any amounts in CNY due in respect of the Instruments in the general
CNY foreign exchange market in the relevant CNY Settlement Centre(s), (ii) an event that makes it
impossible or impractical for the relevant Issuer to deliver CNY between accounts inside the relevant
CNY Settlement Centre(s) or from an account inside the relevant CNY Settlement Centre(s) to an account
outside the relevant CNY Settlement Centre(s) or from an account outside the relevant CNY Settlement
Centre(s) to an account inside the relevant CNY Settlement Centre(s), or (iii) the general CNY foreign
exchange market in the relevant CNY Settlement Centre becomes illiquid as a result of which the relevant
Issuer cannot obtain sufficient CNY in order to satisfy its payment obligations (in whole or in part) under
the Instruments (each, a "CNY Payment Disruption Event"), then the relevant exercise or payment date
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(as applicable) in respect of the Instruments may be postponed to a date falling five Business Days (or
such other date as may be determined by the Calculation Agent and notified to Holders) after the date on
which the CNY Payment Disruption Event is no longer occurring. No accrued interest will be payable
in respect of any such postponement and no Event of Default in respect of the Instruments will result
from such postponement. In the event that a CNY Payment Disruption Event is still continuing on the
Payment Event Cut-Off Date, then (1) such final payment date shall be extended to the Payment Event
Cut-Off Date and (2) the remaining amounts payable under the Instruments shall be deemed to be zero
and the relevant Issuer shall have no obligations whatsoever under the Instruments. Therefore, in a case
where a CNY Payment Disruption Event is relevant as specified in the applicable Final Terms, the Holder
could lose all or part of its investment in the Instruments. If "Payment of Equivalent Amount" is
applicable to an Instrument, as specified in the applicable Final Terms, the relevant Issuer may make
payment of the equivalent amount of the relevant Interest Amount, Fixed Coupon Amount, Final
Redemption Amount, Additional Amount, Cash Settlement Amount or other amount payable under the
Instruments in another currency as specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Risks relating to Instruments denominated in CNY

All payments in CNY under the Instruments will be made solely by credit or transfer to a CNY account
maintained by the payee with a bank in the CNY Settlement Center in accordance with the prevailing
rules and regulations and in accordance with the Conditions. The relevant Issuer shall not be required to
make payment by any other means (including in any other currency or in bank notes, by check or draft
or by transfer to a bank account in the People's Republic of China (excluding the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region, the Macau Special Administrative Region and Taiwan) ("PRC") or anywhere
else other than the CNY Settlement Center).

CNY is not completely freely convertible at present. The PRC government continues to regulate
conversion between CNY and foreign currencies despite the significant reduction over the years by such
government of its control over routine foreign exchange transactions under current accounts. However,
remittance of CNY by foreign investors into the PRC for purposes such as capital contributions, known
as capital account items, is generally only permitted upon obtaining specific approvals from, or
completing specific registrations or filings with, the relevant authorities on a case-by-case basis and
subject to a strict monitoring system. Regulations in the PRC on the remittance of CNY into the PRC for
settlement of capital account items are developing gradually.

There is only limited availability of CNY outside the PRC, which may affect the liquidity of the Notes
and the Issuer's ability to source CNY outside the PRC to fulfil its payment obligations under the Notes.
As a result of the restrictions by the PRC government on cross-border CNY fund flows, the availability
of CNY outside the PRC is limited. While the People's Bank of China (the "PBoC") has entered into
agreements on the clearing of CNY business with financial institutions in a number of financial centres
and cities (the "CNY Clearing Banks") including, but not limited to, Hong Kong and are in the process
of establishing CNY clearing and settlement mechanisms in several other jurisdictions (the "Settlement
Arrangements"), the current size of CNY-denominated financial assets outside the PRC is limited.
There are also restrictions imposed by the PBoC on CNY business participating banks in respect of cross-
border CNY settlement, such as those relating to direct transactions with PRC enterprises. CNY business
participating banks do not have direct CNY liquidity support from the PBoC. The CNY Clearing Banks
only have access to onshore liquidity support from the PBoC for the purpose of squaring open positions
of participating banks for limited types of transactions, including open positions resulting from
conversion services for corporations relating to cross-border trade settlement. The relevant CNY
Clearing Bank is not obliged to square for participating banks any open positions as a result of other
foreign exchange transactions or conversion services and the participating banks will need to source
CNY from outside the PRC to square such open positions.

Although it is expected that the offshore CNY market will continue to grow in depth and size, its growth
is subject to many constraints as a result of PRC laws and regulations on foreign exchange. There is no
assurance that no new PRC regulations will be promulgated or the Settlement Arrangements with the
CNY Clearing Banks will not be terminated or amended in the future which will have the effect of
restricting availability of CNY offshore. The limited availability of CNY outside the PRC may affect the
liquidity of Notes denominated in CNY. To the extent the Issuer is required to source CNY in the offshore
market to service the Notes, there is no assurance that the Issuer will be able to source such CNY on
satisfactory terms, if at all.
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The value of CNY against foreign currencies fluctuates and is affected by changes in the People's
Republic of China and international political and economic conditions and by many other factors. For
example, in August 2015, the PBoC implemented changes to the way it calculates the midpoint against
the U.S. dollar to take into account market-maker quotes before announcing the daily midpoint. This
change, among others that may be implemented, may increase the volatility in the value of CNY against
other currencies. As a result, foreign exchange fluctuations between investor's home currency and CNY
may affect investors who intend to convert gains or losses from the sale or redemption of the Instruments
into their home currency.

The PRC government has gradually liberalised the regulation of interest rates in recent years. Further
liberation may increase interest rate volatility. Instruments denominated in CNY may carry a fixed
interest rate. Consequently, the trading price of such CNY Instruments will vary with fluctuations in
interest rates. A holder of Instruments denominated in CNY may receive less than the amount invested
if it seeks to sell the Instruments prior to their scheduled maturity and the sale price of the Instruments
in the secondary market is less than the investor's initial investment.

If a Currency Substitution Event with respect to the Instruments occurs, adjustments may be made to
the economic terms of the Instruments which may result in a reduced investment return

In the event of a Currency Substitution Event, the relevant Issuer may (a) make adjustments to the
economic terms of the relevant Instruments, including, without limitation, to the exercise, settlement,
valuation, calculation and payment terms or (b) redeem or settle the Instruments early on such day as
shall be notified to the Holders at an early redemption amount or early settlement amount that accounts
for the Currency Substitution Event. Any such action may reduce the value of the Instruments and may
result in the amounts paid or non-cash consideration delivered under the Instruments being less than what
would have been paid or delivered if the adjustments had not been made or the early redemption or
settlement had not occurred, and may be less, or significantly less, than the initial investment.

The relevant Issuer may make certain modifications to the Instruments without the consent of the
Holders

The Conditions provide that the relevant Agent and the relevant Issuer may, without the consent of
Holders, agree to (i) any modification (subject to certain specific exceptions) of the Instruments or the
New York Law Agency Agreement or the English Law Agency Agreement (as applicable) (each as
defined in the "Terms and Conditions of the Notes") which is not, in the opinion of the relevant Issuer,
prejudicial to the interests of the Holders or (ii) any modification of the Instruments or the New York
Law Agency Agreement or the English Law Agency Agreement (as applicable) which is of a formal,
minor or technical nature or is made to correct a manifest error or proven error or to comply with
mandatory provisions of law.

At meetings of Holders, the decision of the majority will bind all Holders

The applicable Agency Agreement and the Conditions contain provisions for calling meetings of Holders
to consider matters affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind
all Holders, including Holders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and Holders who
voted in a manner contrary to the majority.

There may be conflicts of interest between the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (if applicable), the
relevant Dealer and/or their respective Affiliates and the Holders

The relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (if applicable), the relevant Dealer and/or any of their respective
Affiliates or agents may engage in activities (including financial or other business transactions) that may
result in conflicts of interests between their and their respective Affiliates' or agents' financial interests
on the one hand and the interests of the Holders on the other hand. In the ordinary course of their
business activities, the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (if applicable), the relevant Dealer and/or any of
their respective Affiliates or agents may make or hold a broad array of investments and actively trade
debt and equity securities (or related derivative securities) and financial instruments (including bank
loans) for their own account and for the accounts of their customers. These investments and securities
activities may involve securities and/or instruments of the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (if applicable)
or their Affiliates and could influence secondary trading (if any) in such securities and/or instruments, or
otherwise could be adverse to the interests of a beneficial owner of such securities and/or instruments.
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The relevant Dealer or its Affiliates that have a lending relationship with the relevant Issuer and/or the
Guarantor (if applicable) routinely hedge their credit exposure to the relevant Issuer and/or the Guarantor
(if applicable) consistent with their customary risk management policies. The relevant Dealer or its
Affiliates may also make investment recommendations and/or publish or express independent research
views in respect of the Reference Item(s) underlying any Instruments or other instruments and may hold,
or recommend to clients that they acquire, long and/or short positions in such Reference Item(s) or
instruments.

In addition, the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (if applicable), the relevant Dealer and/or their Affiliates
may also engage in trading activities (including hedging activities) related to the Reference Item(s)
underlying any Instruments and other instruments or derivative products based on or related to the
Reference Item(s) underlying any Instruments for their proprietary accounts or for other accounts under
their management. These trading activities may present a conflict of interest between Holders of the
Instruments and the interests of the relevant Issuer, Guarantor (if applicable), the relevant Dealer or their
respective affiliates, as applicable. These trading activities, if they influence the price/value of the
Reference Item(s) underlying the Instruments or secondary trading (if any) in the Instruments, could be
adverse to Holders' interests as an owner of such Instruments. The relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (if
applicable), the relevant Dealer and/or any of their respective Affiliates or agents may also issue other
derivative instruments in respect of the Reference Item(s) underlying Instruments. The relevant Issuer,
the Guarantor (if applicable), the relevant Dealer and/or any of their respective Affiliates or agents may
also act as underwriter in connection with future offerings of Shares or other securities related to an issue
of Instruments or may act as financial adviser to certain companies whose Shares or other securities are
included in a basket of Shares or other securities or which are reference entities, or in a commercial
banking capacity for any such companies. Such activities could present certain conflicts of interest,
could influence the prices of such Shares or other securities and could adversely affect the value of such
Instruments.

From time to time during the term of any Instruments and in connection with the determination of the
payments on the Instruments, the relevant Issuer or its Affiliates also may enter into hedging transactions
or adjust or close out existing hedging transactions. The relevant Issuer or its Affiliates also may enter
into hedging transactions relating to other Instruments that the relevant Issuer may issue, some of which
may have returns calculated in a manner related to that of a particular Series of Instruments. The relevant
Issuer would not seek competitive bids for such arrangements from unaffiliated parties. The relevant
Issuer or its Affiliates will price these hedging transactions with the intent to realise a profit, considering
the risks inherent in these hedging activities, whether the value of the Instruments increases or decreases.
However, these hedging activities may result in a profit that is more or less than initially expected, or
could result in a loss.

Where the Instruments are offered to third parties, as the Dealer(s) and any distributors act pursuant to a
mandate granted by the relevant Issuer and they receive fees on the basis of the services performed and
the outcome of the placement of the Instruments, potential conflicts of interest could arise. The Dealer(s),
their agents and their Affiliates may engage in financial or other business transactions with the relevant
Issuer and the Guarantor (if applicable) in the ordinary course of business.

In addition, unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms, the Calculation Agent is an Affiliate
of the relevant Issuer and the Guarantor (if applicable) and in such capacity may make certain
determinations and calculate amounts payable or deliverable to Holders. The Calculation Agent may
make such determinations using data which is not easily obtainable by a Holder of the Instruments. Under
certain circumstances, the Calculation Agent, as an Affiliate of the relevant Issuer and the Guarantor (if
applicable), and its responsibilities as calculation agent for the Instruments could give rise to potential
conflicts of interest between the Calculation Agent and the Holders. As BAC controls the Calculation
Agent, potential conflicts of interest could arise.

In addition, if the Instruments are linked to a proprietary index, such index will generally be developed,
owned, calculated and maintained by MLI, BofASE or their respective Affiliates, which would be
responsible for the composition, calculation and maintenance of such index. Potential conflicts of
interest may exist in the internal teams and divisions of MLI, BofASE or their respective Affiliates. For
example, one team may calculate and publish the level of the proprietary index, while another team
within the organisation may issue or promote/sell products linked to such index or the underlying index
components. In addition, a further team within the organisation may have trading positions in or relating
to instruments and assets to which the performance of the proprietary index is directly or indirectly linked
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(including any underlying index component). In addition, the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (if
applicable), MLI, BofASE or their respective Affiliates may be active and significant participants in, or
act as market maker in relation to, a wide range of markets for currencies, commodities, securities and
derivatives. Such activities may be undertaken on such a scale as to affect, either temporarily or on a
longer term basis, the price of such investments which may impact adversely the level of the proprietary
index and therefore, the value of, and returns on, the Instruments. None of the relevant Issuer, the
Guarantor (if applicable), the relevant Dealer, MLI, BofASE or their respective agents or Affiliates will
have any duty or obligation to take into account any impact on the performance of the proprietary index
when effecting transactions in such markets. In addition, MLI or BofASE as the index sponsor and index
calculation agent, or Affiliates of MLI or BofASE may enter into transactions referencing or relating to
the proprietary index with one or more counterparties or may engage in proprietary trading in such index
or securities, options, futures, derivatives or other instruments relating to such proprietary index or the
underlying index components (including such trading as it or its Affiliates deems appropriate in their
sole and absolute discretion to hedge its market risk with respect to such proprietary index or any
transaction relating to such index) for their accounts, for business reasons, or for other accounts under its
or their management. MLI or BofASE, as index sponsor, and its Affiliates may enter into such hedging
transactions with a view to a profit or other financial gain. In addition, any such trading may affect the
level of the proprietary index and consequently, the amounts payable or deliverable under any Instrument
referencing or relating to such index. Such trading may be effected at any time, including on or near
determination, setting, resetting or other calculation dates for the proprietary index or the underlying
index components, or the pricing, setting or resetting of any other valuation dates for any Instrument
linked to such index.

Any additional risk factors relating to additional conflicts of interest with respect to a specific Series of
Instruments will be specified in the applicable Final Terms.

The secondary market price of the Instruments may be less than the Issue Price

Investors should note that, in certain circumstances immediately following the issue of the Instruments
or at any time prior to maturity, the secondary market price of the Instruments may be less than the Issue
Price, reflecting the fees to be paid to distributor(s) included in the Issue Price, hedging and other costs
for the Instruments, if applicable, changes to the relevant Issuer's or (if applicable) the Guarantor's credit
spreads and changes in the level of the Reference Item. These factors, together with various credit,
market and economic factors over the term of the Instruments, are expected to reduce the price at which
an investor may be able to sell the Instruments in any secondary market and will affect the value of the
Instruments in complex and unpredictable ways. See also "There may be conflicts of interest between
the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (if applicable) and/or their respective Affiliates and Holders" above.

A Holder may not receive the Entitlement relating to a Physical Delivery Instrument if it fails to deliver
the required notice and pay Expenses relating to such Physical Delivery Instrument

In order to receive the Entitlement in respect of a Physical Delivery Note, the holder of such Note must
(1) duly deliver to the Clearing System and/or Paying Agents, as specified in the Final Terms, a duly
completed Asset Transfer Notice on or prior to the relevant time on the Cut-Off Date and (ii) pay the
relevant Expenses. As used in the Conditions, "Expenses" includes any applicable depositary charges,
transaction or exercise charges, stamp duty reserve tax, issue, registration, securities transfer and/or other
taxes arising from the redemption, exercise and settlement (as applicable) of such Instruments and/or the
delivery of the Entitlement.

In order to receive the Entitlement in respect of a Physical Delivery W&C Instrument, the holder of such
W&C Instrument must (i) deliver or send to the Clearing System and/or Paying Agents, as specified in
the Final Terms, (a) a duly completed Exercise Notice on or prior to the relevant time on the Expiration
Date (in the case of a Warrant) or (b) a duly completed Collection Notice on or prior to the relevant time
on the Cut-Off Date (in the case of a Certificate) and (ii) pay the relevant Expenses.

Failure by a Holder properly to complete and deliver an Asset Transfer Notice, Exercise Notice or
Collection Notice, as the case may be, or to procure that its agent does so on its behalf, may result in
such notice being treated as null and void. This may result in a delay in delivery of the Entitlement, or
the relevant Issuer being unable to deliver the Entitlement. Failure to pay the Expenses will have the
same consequences to a Holder.
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In the case of Physical Delivery Instruments, settlement may be delayed or made in cash if certain
events arise

In the case of Physical Delivery Instruments (other than Credit Linked Instruments), if a Settlement
Disruption Event occurs or exists on the Maturity Delivery Date (in the case of Notes) or Settlement Date
(in the case of W&C Instruments), settlement will be postponed until the next date on which no
Settlement Disruption Event occurs. The relevant Issuer in these circumstances has the right to pay the
Disruption Cash Settlement Price in lieu of delivering the Entitlement. Such a determination may have
an adverse effect on the value of the relevant Instruments. In addition, if "Failure to Deliver due to
[lliquidity" is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, and in the opinion of the Calculation
Agent it is impossible or impracticable to deliver some or all of the Relevant Assets comprising the
Entitlement when due as a result of illiquidity in the market for the Relevant Assets, the relevant Issuer
has the right to pay the Failure to Deliver Settlement Price in lieu of delivering those Relevant Assets.
Any Disruption Cash Settlement Price or Failure to Deliver Settlement Price may be significantly less
than Holders expected to receive prior to such Settlement Disruption Event or Calculation Agent
determination.

Holders have no claim against any Reference Item(s), and the return on a Reference Item Linked
Instrument, if any, may be less than the return on an investment directly in the Reference Item(s)

An Instrument will not represent a claim against any Reference Item(s) and, in the event of any loss, a
Holder will not have recourse under an Instrument to any Reference Item(s). If a Reference Item is
comprised of the same asset as a Collateral Asset in respect of a Series of Secured Instruments, a Holder
may have recourse to such Collateral Asset under the relevant Secured Instruments (see the risk factors
set out in the section entitled "Risks relating to Secured Instruments"). The investment return on the
Instruments, if any, may be less than a comparable investment directly in the Reference Item(s), or the
components included in any Reference Item(s). In contrast to an investment in the Instruments, a direct
investment in the Reference Item(s) or the components of the Reference Item(s) would allow an investor
to receive the full benefit of any appreciation or depreciation, as the case may be, in the value of such
Reference Item(s) or these components.

The Guarantor has the option to vary settlement under the MLBV/MLICo. Guarantee

In relation to Physical Delivery Instruments (other than Secured Instruments) issued by MLBV or
MLICo., under the MLBV/MLICo. Guarantee, the Guarantor has the right at all times to elect not to
deliver or procure delivery of the Entitlement to the holders of Physical Delivery Instruments, but in lieu
thereof to pay an amount in cash equal to the Guaranteed Cash Settlement Amount specified in the
applicable Final Terms. Such cash payment will constitute a complete discharge of the Guarantor's
obligations in relation to such Physical Delivery Instruments. As of the date of this Offering Circular,
the Guarantor would plan to elect to satisfy any of its obligations under the MLBV/MLICo. Guarantee
by payment of the applicable Guaranteed Cash Settlement Amount.

The relevant Issuer may have the right to vary settlement

If so indicated in the applicable Final Terms for Instruments issued by BAC, MLBV or MLICo., the
relevant Issuer has an option to vary settlement in respect of the Instruments. If exercised by the relevant
Issuer, Physical Delivery Instruments may be cash settled or Cash Settled Instruments may be physically
settled. Exercise of such option may affect the value of the Instruments.

In the case of illegality as determined by the relevant Issuer, and to the extent permitted by applicable
law, the relevant Issuer may redeem or cancel the Instruments, as applicable

If the relevant Issuer determines that the performance of either its obligations under the Instruments or
(in the case of Instruments other than Secured Instruments) the obligations of BAC under the Guarantee
has or will become illegal in whole or in part for any reason, then the relevant Issuer may redeem or
cancel the Instruments, as applicable. Additionally, in the case of W&C Instruments in respect of which
the applicable Final Terms specify that the "LEPW Conditions" shall be applicable, MLICo. or MLBV
may cancel the relevant Instruments if it determines that (i) after taking commercially reasonable efforts
or steps, MLICo., MLBV, BAC or any of their respective Affiliates, is unable to comply or ensure
compliance with any applicable laws, rules, regulations, governmental orders, directions or requirements
of governmental or regulatory authorities which are applicable to the relevant W&C Instruments or are
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applicable to MLICo., MLBV, BAC or such relevant Affiliates as a result of having issued the relevant
W&C Instruments, including any requirements as to an investor's eligibility to acquire or continue to
hold the relevant W&C Instruments, or (ii) MLICo., MLBV, BAC or any of their respective Affiliates
has suffered, will or is likely to suffer regulatory sanction, penalty, reputational harm or other material
adverse consequence in connection with the issuance of the relevant W&C Instruments and/or the
performance of its obligations under the W&C Instruments.

If, in the case of illegality and to the extent permitted by applicable law, the relevant Issuer redeems or
cancels the Instruments, then the relevant Issuer will, in the case of Notes, redeem each Note at the Early
Redemption Amount together (if appropriate) with interest accrued to (but excluding) the date of
redemption, or in the case of W&C Instruments, pay an amount to each Holder determined by reference
to the fair market value of each Instrument, in each case, less hedging costs, which may be less than the
purchase price of the Instruments and may in certain circumstances be zero.

A United States federal withholding tax may be imposed on payments made by the relevant Issuer with
respect to the Instruments to certain holders

A 30 per cent. United States withholding tax may be imposed on certain payments made by a foreign
financial institution that enters into an agreement with the United States Department of the Treasury (the
"U.S. Treasury") to collect and provide to the U.S. Treasury substantial information regarding United
States account holders, including certain account holders that are foreign entities with United States
owners, with such institution. An Instrument may constitute an account for these purposes.

Pursuant to U.S. Treasury regulations, the 30 per cent. United States withholding tax may be imposed on
(1) United States source payments made by the relevant Issuer or any Paying Agent with respect to the
Instruments and (ii) non-United States source payments made after the second anniversary of the date of
publication in the United States Federal Register of final regulations defining the term "foreign passthru
payment" by the relevant Issuer or any Paying Agent with respect to the Instruments in each case to
"recalcitrant holders", which are generally holders that do not comply with the relevant Issuer's request
for information to enable it to comply with the tax legislation, and to non-compliant foreign financial
institutions. In the event withholding is required under the legislation, neither the relevant Issuer nor any
Paying Agent will pay any Additional Tax Amounts with respect to the amount so withheld.

A United States withholding tax may be imposed on certain payments made to an Issuer in which case
the relevant Issuer (other than BAC or BofA Finance) may be entitled to redeem or cancel the
Instruments prior to maturity

A 30 per cent. United States withholding tax may be imposed on certain United States source payments
made to a foreign financial institution, unless such institution enters into an agreement with the U.S.
Treasury to collect and provide to the U.S. Treasury substantial information regarding United States
account holders, including certain account holders that are foreign entities with United States owners,
with such institution. An Instrument may constitute an account for these purposes.

If the relevant Issuer (other than BAC or BofA Finance) determines in good faith that it has, or there is
a substantial likelihood that it will, become subject to withholding imposed on a payment made to it on
account of the relevant Issuer's inability to comply with the legislation's reporting requirements (provided
that such inability to comply with the reporting requirements is attributable to non-compliance by any
Holder of such Instruments (or a foreign withholding agent (if any) in the chain of custody of payments
made to the Holders) with the relevant Issuer's requests for certifications or identifying information), it
may redeem or cancel the Instruments held by non-compliant and compliant Holders at their Early
Redemption Amount (in the case of Notes) or at their Early Settlement Amount (in the case of W&C
Instruments).

United States federal tax may be withheld from payments with respect to Instruments that are treated
as "dividend equivalents”. This may have an adverse effect on the value and liquidity of the
Instruments. In addition, if any payment with respect to Instruments would be treated as a "dividend
equivalent', the relevant Issuer would be entitled to redeem or cancel the Instruments at any time
prior to maturity, settlement, expiration or exercise

A "dividend equivalent" payment is treated as a dividend from sources within the United States and such
payments generally would be subject to a 30 per cent. United States withholding tax if paid to a United
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States Alien holder. Under U.S. Treasury regulations issued pursuant to Code Section 871(m), payments
or deemed payments with respect to equity-linked instruments ("ELIs") that are "specified ELIs" may
be treated as dividend equivalents if such specified ELIs reference an interest in a United States
"underlying security," which is generally any interest in an entity taxable as a corporation for United
States federal income tax purposes if a payment with respect to such interest could give rise to a United
States source dividend. Specified ELIs generally do not include (1) ELIs issued prior to 1 January 2025
that are not delta-one instruments or (2) ELIs that are treated as referencing a "qualified index." However,
it is possible that Instruments could be treated as deemed reissued for United States federal income tax
purposes upon the occurrence of certain events affecting the reference asset or the Instruments, and
following such occurrence the Instruments could be treated as subject to withholding on dividend
equivalent payments.

A qualified index is a passive index that (1) is based on a diverse basket of publicly traded securities, (2)
is widely used by numerous market participants, and (3) meets certain specific requirements set forth in
the applicable Treasury regulations. The qualified index determination is made on the first business day
of the calendar year in which the ELI is issued. If, in connection with the purchase of an ELI that
references an index, a taxpayer enters into one or more transactions that reduce exposure to components
of the index, the ELI is not treated as referencing a qualified index.

If any payments are treated as dividend equivalents subject to withholding, the relevant Issuer (or an
applicable withholding agent) would be entitled to withhold taxes without being required to pay any
Additional Tax Amounts with respect to amounts so withheld. In that case, actual payments on the
Instruments may be substantially less than the amounts specified in their terms.

In addition, if any payment with respect to the Instruments (or any payment with respect to a direct or
indirect hedging arrangement entered into by the relevant Issuer or any of its Affiliates relating to the
Instruments) would be treated as a dividend equivalent, the relevant Issuer would be entitled to redeem
or cancel the Instruments, in whole, but not in part, at any time prior to maturity, settlement, expiration
or exercise at their Early Redemption Amount (in the case of Notes) or Early Settlement Amount (in the
case of W&C Instruments), as determined by the Calculation Agent in its discretion. These amounts
could be significantly less than the holder's initial investment, and could be as low as zero.

The value of the Instruments could be adversely affected by a change in English law or administrative
practice or by a change in New York law

The Conditions of the Instruments (other than Notes issued by BAC and BofA Finance) are based on
English law in effect as at the date of issue of the relevant Instruments. The Conditions of the Notes
issued by BAC and BofA Finance and the Guarantees are based on the laws of the State of New York in
effect as at the date of issue of the relevant Instruments. No assurance can be given as to the impact of
any possible judicial decision or change to English law or administrative practice or change to the laws
of the State of New York, as applicable, after the date of issue of the relevant Instruments and any such
change could materially adversely impact the value of, or the amounts paid under, any Instruments
affected by it.

Transfers of Rule 144A Instruments are restricted

Issue and transfers of Rule 144 A Instruments may be made only to purchasers in the United States or to,
or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons that have executed and delivered an Investor Representation
Letter for the benefit of the Dealer, the relevant Issuer and the Guarantor pursuant to which such
purchaser must certify, among other things, that such purchaser is a QIB who is also a QP. A transfer or
attempted transfer of any Rule 144A Instrument which does not comply with the applicable transfer
restrictions shall be absolutely null and void ab initio and shall vest no rights in the purported transferee.

4. Risks Relating to Notes

Events for which acceleration rights under the Notes of BAC and MLBV may be exercised are more
limited than those available pursuant to the terms of the relevant Issuer's outstanding senior debt
securities issued prior to 1 January 2017

In response to the TLAC Rules, BAC, among other things, limited the circumstances under which the
payment of the principal amount of senior debt securities (including the BAC Notes issued under the
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Programme on or after 24 January 2017) can be accelerated by the holders (unless specified otherwise in
the applicable Final Terms). MLBYV also limited the circumstances under which the payment of the
principal amount of the MLBV Notes issued under the Programme on or after 24 January 2017 can be
accelerated by the holders (unless specified otherwise in the applicable Final Terms).

All or substantially all of BAC's outstanding senior debt securities issued prior to 1 January 2017,
including BAC's outstanding senior notes issued under the Programme prior to 24 January 2017, and
MLBV's outstanding senior notes issued prior to 24 January 2017, including outstanding senior notes
issued by MLBYV under the Programme prior to such date (the "Pre-2017 Senior Debt Securities"),
provide acceleration rights for non-payment or bankruptcy. The Pre-2017 Senior Debt Securities issued
by BAC also provide acceleration rights if BAC defaults in the performance of its covenants in those
senior debt securities or the applicable indenture or agency agreement. The Pre-2017 Senior Debt
Securities issued by MLBV also provide acceleration rights if the Guarantor defaults in the performance
of its covenants in the applicable guarantee or the applicable agency agreement. In addition, the Pre-2017
Senior Debt Securities issued by BAC do not require a 30-day cure period before a non-payment of
principal becomes an event of default and acceleration rights become exercisable with respect to such
non-payment.

However, payment of the principal amount of Notes of BAC and MLBYV issued on or after 24 January
2017:

. may be accelerated only (i) if the relevant Issuer defaults in the payment of the principal of or
interest on those Notes and, in each case, the default continues for a period of 30 days, or (ii)
upon the relevant Issuer's voluntary or involuntary bankruptcy and, in the case of the relevant
Issuer's involuntary bankruptcy, the default continues for a period of 60 days; and

. may not be accelerated, in the case of BAC Notes, if BAC defaults in the performance of any
other covenants contained in the BAC Notes or the applicable agency agreement; and

. may not be accelerated, in the case of MLBYV Notes, if the Guarantor defaults in the performance
of any other covenants contained in the applicable guarantee or the applicable agency
agreement.

As a result of these differing provisions, if BAC, in the case of BAC Notes, or the Guarantor, in the case
of MLBYV Notes, breaches or otherwise defaults in the performance of a covenant (other than a payment
covenant) that is applicable both to the Notes of BAC and MLBV and the Pre-2017 Senior Debt
Securities, the Pre-2017 Senior Debt Securities would have acceleration rights that would not be available
to the holders of Notes of BAC and MLBV. In addition, if BAC fails to pay principal when due with
respect to the BAC Notes and the Pre-2017 Senior Debt Securities, an event of default would occur
immediately with respect to the Pre-2017 Senior Debt Securities (and the exercise of acceleration rights
could proceed immediately in accordance with the provisions of the applicable agency agreement as in
effect at the time of their issuance), while the holders of the BAC Notes must wait for the 30-day cure
period to expire before such non-payment of principal becomes an Event of Default and any acceleration
rights are triggered with respect to such non-payment. Any repayment of the principal amount of Pre-
2017 Senior Debt Securities following the exercise of acceleration rights in circumstances in which such
rights are not available to the holders of the relevant Notes of BAC and MLBYV, could adversely affect
the relevant Issuer's ability to make timely payments on the relevant Notes of BAC and MLBYV thereafter.

Failure by a Holder to pay instalments in respect of Partly Paid Notes may result in the Holder losing
all of his investment

BAC, BofA Finance or MLBV may issue Notes where the issue price is payable in more than one
instalment. Failure to pay BAC, BofA Finance or MLBV, as the case may be, any subsequent instalment
could result in a Holder losing all of his investment.

Notes for which the Specified Currency is other than U.S. Dollars permit the Issuer to make payments
in U.S. Dollars if the Issuer determines the Specified Currency is unavailable

The terms of any Notes for which the Specified Currency is other than U.S. Dollars provide that the

Issuer has the right to make a payment in U.S. Dollars instead of the Specified Currency, if at or about
the time when the payment on the Notes comes due, the Specified Currency is subject to unavailability
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resulting from convertibility, transferability, market disruption, or other conditions affecting its
availability because of circumstances beyond the Issuer's control, as set out in Condition 8(B)
(Unavailability of Currency) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes. These circumstances could
include the imposition of exchange controls, economic sanctions or the Issuer's inability to obtain the
Specified Currency because of a disruption in the currency markets for the Specified Currency, or
unavailability because the Specified Currency is no longer used by the government of the relevant
country or for settlement of transactions by public institutions of or within the international banking
community. In addition, if the Specified Currency for a Note has been replaced by a new currency, the
Issuer will have the option to choose whether it makes payments on such Note in the replacement
currency or in U.S. dollars. In either case, the exchange rate used to make payments in U.S. Dollars may
be based on limited information and would involve significant discretion on the part of the Issuer's
exchange rate agent that will determine the amount of U.S. Dollars to be paid, and which may be an
affiliate of the Issuer. As a result, the value of the payment in U.S. Dollars may be less than the value of
the payment that would have been received in the Specified Currency if the Specified Currency had been
available, which could adversely affect the value of, return on and market for the affected Notes. The
exchange rate agent generally will not have any liability for its determinations. Any payment in respect
of Notes so made in U.S. dollars where the required payment is in an unavailable Specified Currency
will not constitute an Event of Default.

An investor may bear currency exchange risk in a lawsuit for payment on a Note denominated or
payable in a currency other than U.S. Dollars

The Notes will be governed by New York law. Under Section 27 of the New York Judiciary Law, a state
court in the State of New York rendering a judgment on Notes denominated in a Specified Currency
other than U.S. Dollars would be required to render the judgment in the Specified Currency.

In turn, the judgment would be converted into U.S. Dollars at the exchange rate prevailing on the date of
entry of the judgment. Consequently, in a lawsuit for payment on the Notes, a Noteholder would bear
currency exchange risk until judgment is entered, which could be a long time In courts outside of New
York, Noteholders may not be able to obtain judgment in a Specified Currency other than U.S. Dollars.
For example, a judgment for money in an action based on Notes denominated in a Specified Currency
other than U.S. Dollars in many other U.S. federal or state courts ordinarily would be enforced in the
United States only in U.S. Dollars. The date and method used to determine the rate of conversion of the
Specified Currency into U.S. Dollars will depend on various factors, including which court renders the
judgment.

The conversion of the Specified Currency into U.S. Dollars in any such case, could result in the value of
the relevant payment in U.S. Dollars being less than it would have been if payment had been made in the
applicable Specified Currency, which, in turn, could adversely the return on and value of the affected
Notes.

Notes may be subject to optional redemption by the relevant Issuer, which may limit their market value

An optional redemption feature of Notes is likely to limit their market value. During any period when
the relevant Issuer may elect to redeem Notes, the market value of those Notes generally will not rise
substantially above the price at which they can be redeemed. This also may be true prior to any
redemption period.

The relevant Issuer may be expected to redeem Notes when its cost of borrowing is lower than the interest
rate on the Notes. At those times, a Holder generally would not be able to reinvest the redemption
proceeds at an effective interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Notes being redeemed and may
only be able to do so at a significantly lower rate. Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk
in light of other investments available at that time.

Notes issued at a substantial discount or premium may be volatile

The market value of Notes issued at a substantial discount from, or premium to, their principal amount
may fluctuate more in relation to general changes in interest rates than do prices for conventional interest-
bearing securities. Generally, the longer the remaining term of the Notes, the greater the price volatility
as compared to conventional interest-bearing securities with comparable maturities.

63



Risk Factors

Notes issued by BofA Finance and MLBYV will not have the benefit of any cross-default or cross-
acceleration with other indebtedness of BofA Finance or MLBYV, as applicable, or BAC; events of
bankruptcy or insolvency or resolution proceedings relating to BAC and covenant breach by BAC will
not constitute an event of default with respect to the guaranteed Notes of BofA Finance or MLBV

Notes issued by BofA Finance and MLBV will not have the benefit of any cross-default or cross-
acceleration with other indebtedness of BofA Finance or MLBV, as applicable, or BAC. In addition,
events of bankruptcy or insolvency or resolution or similar proceedings relating to BAC will not
constitute an event of default with respect to the Notes of BofA Finance or MLBYV that are guaranteed
by BAC. Furthermore, it will not constitute an event of default with respect to the Notes of BofA Finance
or MLBYV if the guarantee thereof by BAC ceases to be in full force and effect for any reason. Therefore,
events of bankruptcy or insolvency or resolution or similar proceedings relating to BAC (in the absence
of any such event occurring with respect to BofA Finance or MLBV) will not permit the Notes of BofA
Finance or MLBYV to be declared due and payable. In addition, a breach of a covenant by BAC (including,
for example, a breach of BAC's covenants with respect to mergers or the sale of all or substantially all
its assets), will not permit the Notes of BofA Finance or MLBV to be declared due and payable. The
value investors receive on these Notes may be significantly less than what they otherwise would have
received had the Notes been declared due and payable immediately upon certain events of bankruptcy or
insolvency or resolution or similar proceedings relating to BAC or the breach of a covenant by BAC or
upon BAC's Guarantee ceasing to be in full force and effect.

5. Risks relating to Exchangeable Notes

The Company to which the underlying Shares relate will not have participated in the preparation of
the applicable Final Terms or in establishing the terms of the Exchangeable Notes

The Company will not have participated in the preparation of the applicable Final Terms or in
establishing the terms of the Exchangeable Notes, and none of MLBV as Issuer, the Guarantor or any
Dealer will make any investigation or enquiry in connection with such offering with respect to any
information concerning the Company contained in such Final Terms or in the documents from which
such information was extracted. Neither MLBYV nor the Guarantor controls the Company and neither is
responsible for any disclosure made by the Company. Consequently, there can be no assurance that all
events occurring prior to the relevant issue date (including events that would affect the adequacy,
accuracy or completeness of the publicly available information described in this paragraph or in any
applicable Final Terms) that would affect the trading price of the relevant Share(s) will have been
publicly disclosed. Subsequent disclosure of any such events or the disclosure of or failure to disclose
material future events concerning the Company could affect the trading price of the Shares and therefore
the trading price of the Exchangeable Notes or amounts payable thereunder.

Exchangeable Notes may be redeemed prior to their Maturity Date

The Exchangeable Note Conditions provide that the Exchangeable Notes are redeemable at MLBV's
option in certain limited circumstances. In such circumstances, an investor may be compelled to exercise
its Exchange Rights earlier than it might otherwise have chosen to do so.

In addition, upon the occurrence of a Nationalisation or Delisting or, if specified as applicable in the
relevant Final Terms, a Change in Law or if option contracts in respect of the Shares are traded on Eurex
or an Alternative Options Exchange and certain events occur as a result of which such option contracts
are settled in accordance with the Eurex Corporate Actions Procedures or the corporate actions
procedures of an Alternative Options Exchange, as the case may be, for example following the
occurrence of a significant corporate action by the Company, MLBV will be obliged to or, following the
occurrence of a Change in Law where specified in the applicable Final Terms, MLBV may elect to
redeem the Exchangeable Notes early.

Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of other investments available at that time.
Risks attached to the exercise of the Exchange Right
Investors should be aware that the Exchangeable Notes that may be redeemed at the option of the

Noteholder during certain times at the Cash Amount bear additional risk. The value of the Cash Amount
will vary depending on the performance during certain specified periods of the underlying Shares, over
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which MLBYV has no control, and therefore the Cash Amount may be lower or substantially lower than
the value of the Exchangeable Notes when they were initially purchased or when the Exchange Rights
were exercised.

There is a limited period during which the Noteholders may exercise Exchange Rights

A Noteholder will have the right to require his or her Exchangeable Notes to be redeemed by MLBV in
accordance with the Exchangeable Note Conditions, upon which, MLBV will procure that the
exchanging Noteholder receives a Cash Amount (such amount based on the prevailing volume-weighted
average price of the Shares during a specified period following the relevant Exchange Date). The
Exchange Right may only be exercised by a Noteholder during limited periods and subject to the
satisfaction of any applicable Exchange Conditions, each as described in Exchangeable Note Condition
7 (Exchange of Exchangeable Notes). 1f the Exchange Rights are not exercised by Noteholders during
an applicable Exchange Period and/or any applicable Exchange Condition is not satisfied, the
Exchangeable Notes will be redeemed at their Final Redemption Amount on the Maturity Date (unless
previously redeemed or purchased by MLBV, the Guarantor or any of their respective Affiliates)
pursuant to the Conditions, which will be calculated by reference to the price of the Shares at the relevant
time.

Holders of Exchangeable Notes have limited anti-dilution protection

The Exchange Price at which the Exchangeable Notes will be redeemed will be adjusted if there is a
payment of a dividend which affects such Shares, but only in the situations and only to the extent
provided under the Exchange Note Conditions.

There is no requirement that there should be an adjustment for every other corporate or other event that
may affect the value of the Shares. Events in respect of which no adjustment is made may adversely
affect the value of the Shares and, therefore, adversely affect the value of the Exchangeable Notes.

In particular, to the extent specified as applicable in respect of any series of Exchangeable Notes, as long
as there are option contracts in respect of the Shares traded on Eurex and under the Eurex Corporate
Actions Procedures there is an adjustment made by Eurex to such options contracts, there will be an
adjustment of the Exchange Price to reflect the adjustments effected by Eurex following a corporate
action, other than a Dividend, Nationalisation or Delisting or, if specified as applicable in respect of any
series of Exchangeable Notes, a Change in Law.

Additionally, to the extent specified as applicable in respect of any series of Exchangeable Notes, if
option contracts in respect of the Shares are not traded on Eurex but are traded on an alternative options
exchange, the Calculation Agent will adjust the Exchange Price to reflect any adjustment effected in
respect of any options contracts by such alternative options exchange following a corporate action, other
than a Dividend, Delisting or Nationalisation or, if specified as applicable in respect of any series of
Exchangeable Notes, a Change in Law.

Furthermore, upon the occurrence of a Nationalisation and/or a Delisting, MLBV shall, and upon the
occurrence of Change in Law (if applicable), MLBV may elect to, redeem all but not some only of the
Exchangeable Notes outstanding at the Automatic Early Redemption Amount, and no adjustment shall
be made to the Exchange Price.

To the extent that an adjustment (or no adjustment as the case may be) is made to the Exchange Price
upon the occurrence of any corporate action in accordance with the Exchange Note Conditions applicable
to any series of Exchangeable Notes, such adjustment (or lack of adjustment as the case may be) may
have a material adverse impact on the price or value of the Exchangeable Notes and may materially
adversely impact the level of any applicable Cash Amount, Automatic Early Redemption Amount or
Final Redemption Amount.

Holders of Exchangeable Notes bear the risk of fluctuation in the price of the Shares

The market price of the Exchangeable Notes is expected to be affected by fluctuations in the market price
of the Shares, and it is impossible to predict whether the price of the Shares will rise or fall. The share
price of listed companies can be highly volatile and their shares may have limited liquidity at certain
times. In addition, equity market conditions may affect the price and market liquidity of Shares regardless
of the performance of the Company. Equity market conditions are affected by many factors, such as
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such as interest and price levels on the capital markets, currency developments, the political factors and
company-specific factors such as earnings position, market position, risk situation, shareholder structure
and distribution policy, changes in investor sentiment towards particular market sectors and the demand
for and supply of capital. Trading in the Shares by other investors, such as large purchases or sales of the
Shares, may also affect the Share Price. Accordingly, the market price of Shares (and therefore, the Cash
Amount receivable on any exercise of the Exchange Rights or any Automatic Early Redemption Amount
or Final Redemption Amount) may not reflect the underlying value of the Company's investments. The
Company's results and prospects from time to time may be below the expectations of market analysts
and investors. Any decline in the market price of the underlying Shares at any time may accordingly have
an adverse effect on the market price of the Exchangeable Notes and may have a corresponding negative
impact on any Cash Amount, Automatic Early Redemption Amount or Final Redemption Amount
payable in respect of the Exchangeable Notes. These factors are not within MLBV's or the Guarantor's
control and may result in a decline in the value of the Exchangeable Notes.

In addition, for the purposes of calculating the Cash Amount payable on any exercise of Exchange Rights,
the Exchange Date by reference to which the relevant Cash Amount is calculated will, unless otherwise
specified in the applicable Final Terms, be the Business Day immediately following the last day of the
Exchange Period in which the Exchange Right was exercised. If so, Noteholders will be exposed to any
decline in the market price of the Shares between the Exchange Notice Delivery Date and the Exchange
Date, which decline may have a corresponding negative impact on the Cash Amount payable in respect
of such Exchangeable Notes.

Holders of Exchangeable Notes will not receive physical Shares and will have no shareholder rights

Holders of the Exchangeable Notes upon exercise of their Exchange Rights will not receive any Shares
and will not have any voting rights, nor any right to receive dividends or other distributions or any other
rights with respect to such Shares. Neither MLBV nor the Guarantor is required under the Conditions to
deliver any Shares at any point.

Exchangeable Notes do not represent a claim against or an investment in the Company and investors will
not have any right of recourse under the Exchangeable Notes to the Company or the Shares.
Exchangeable Notes are not in any way sponsored, endorsed or promoted by the Company and the
Company has no obligation to take into account the consequences of its actions for any Noteholders.
Accordingly, the Company may take any actions in respect of such Shares without regard to the interests
of the investors in the Exchangeable Notes, and any of these actions could adversely affect the market
value of the Exchangeable Notes and may adversely impact the value of any Cash Amount, Automatic
Early Redemption Amount or Final Redemption Amount payable in respect of the Exchangeable Notes.

6. Risks Relating to W&C Instruments
Certain factors affecting the value and trading price of W& C Instruments

Either (1) in the case of Cash Settled W&C Instruments, the Cash Settlement Amount or (2) in the case
of Physical Delivery W&C Instruments, the value of the Entitlement less (in the case of Warrants) the
Exercise Price (the "Physical Settlement Value") at any time prior to expiration (in the case of a
Warrant) or exercise (in the case of a Certificate) is typically expected to be less than the trading price of
such W&C Instruments at that time. The difference between the trading price and the Cash Settlement
Amount or the Physical Settlement Value, as the case may be, will reflect, among other things, the "time
value" of the W&C Instruments. The "time value" of the W&C Instruments will depend partly upon the
length of the period remaining to expiration (in the case of a Warrant) or exercise (in the case of a
Certificate) and expectations concerning the price or level of the Reference Item(s). W&C Instruments
offer hedging and investment diversification opportunities but also pose some additional risks with
regard to interim value. The interim value of the W&C Instruments varies with the price or level of the
Reference Item(s), as well as by a number of other interrelated factors, including those specified herein.

Before exercising W&C Instruments, Holders should carefully consider, among other things, (i) the
trading price of the W&C Instruments, (ii) the price or level and volatility of the Reference Item(s), (iii)
the time remaining to expiration (in the case of a Warrant) or exercise (in the case of a Certificate), (iv)
in the case of Cash Settled W&C Instruments, the probable range of Cash Settlement Amounts, (v) any
change(s) in interim interest rates and dividend yields if applicable, (vi) any change(s) in currency
exchange rates and (vii) any related transaction costs.
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An optional exercise or mandatory early exercise feature in W&C Instruments is likely to limit their
market value. In the case of an optional exercise feature, during any period when the relevant Issuer may
elect to exercise W&C Instruments, the market value of those W&C Instruments generally will not rise
substantially above the price at which they can be exercised. This also may be true prior to any exercise
period. In the case of a mandatory early exercise feature, if the relevant Mandatory Early Exercise Event
occurs the W&C Instruments will be exercised prior to their originally designated exercise or expiration
date. Potential investors should be aware that in certain circumstances, an optional exercise or mandatory
early exercise of the W&C Instruments by the relevant Issuer may result in a loss of all or a substantial
portion of their investment.

In the case of Secured Instruments, the market value of the Secured Instruments will be affected by,
among other things, the Collateral Assets which secure the relevant Series of W&C Instruments.

There are no Events of Default in relation to W&C Instruments other than Secured Instruments

Other than in respect of Secured Instruments, the Conditions of the W&C Instruments do not provide for
any events of default. If the relevant Issuer defaults on any obligation under the W&C Instruments prior
to the Settlement Date, Holders of Instruments other than Secured Instruments will be able to claim
against the Guarantor under the MLBV/MLICo. Guarantee, but will have no right to declare all of the
remaining obligations of the relevant Issuer in respect of the relevant Series of W&C Instruments to be
immediately due and payable.

7. Risks Relating to Warrants

There will be a time lag between the time a Holder gives instructions to exercise and the time the
applicable Cash Settlement Amount relating to such exercise is determined, and such time lag could
decrease the Cash Settlement Amount

In the case of any exercise of Warrants, there will be a time lag between the time a Holder gives
instructions to exercise and the time the applicable Cash Settlement Amount (in the case of Cash Settled
Warrants) relating to such exercise is determined. Any such delay between the time of exercise and the
determination of the Cash Settlement Amount will be specified in the Conditions of the W&C
Instruments. However, such delay could be significantly longer, particularly in the case of a delay in
exercise of Warrants arising from any daily maximum exercise limitation (in the case of American Style
Warrants), the occurrence of a Market Disruption Event or failure of an exchange or related exchange to
open (if applicable) or following the imposition of any exchange controls or other similar regulations
affecting the ability to obtain or exchange any relevant currency in the case of FX Linked Warrants or
other Warrants in respect of which "Exchange Rate" is specified to be applicable in the applicable Final
Terms. The applicable Cash Settlement Amount may change significantly during any such period
between exercise and determination of the Cash Settlement Amount, and such movement or movements
could decrease the Cash Settlement Amount of the Warrants being exercised and may result in such Cash
Settlement Amount being zero.

Holders may have to tender a specified number of Warrants at any one time in order to exercise

If so indicated in the applicable Final Terms, a Holder must tender or hold a specified number of Warrants
at any one time in order to exercise. Thus, Holders with fewer than the specified minimum number of
Warrants will either have to sell their Warrants or purchase additional Warrants, incurring transaction
costs in each case, in order to realise their investment. Furthermore, holders of such Warrants incur the
risk that there may be differences between the trading price of such Warrants and the Cash Settlement
Amount (in the case of Cash Settled Warrants) or the Physical Settlement Value (in the case of Physical
Delivery Warrants (as defined below)) of such Warrants. Therefore it may cost an investor more to
purchase additional Warrants than the value of the increase in the Cash Settlement Amount or Physical
Settlement Value, as the case may be, attributable to such additional Warrants.

The number of American Style Warrants exercisable on any date other than the Expiration Date may
be limited to a maximum number

In the case of American Style Warrants, if so indicated in the applicable Final Terms, the relevant Issuer

will have the option to limit the number of American Style Warrants exercisable on any date (other than
the Expiration Date) to the maximum number specified in the applicable Final Terms and, in conjunction
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with such limitation, to limit the number of American Style Warrants exercisable by any person or group
of persons (whether or not acting in concert) on such date. In the event that the total number of American
Style Warrants being exercised on any date (other than the Expiration Date) exceeds such maximum
number and the relevant Issuer elects to limit the number of American Style Warrants exercisable on
such date, a Holder may not be able to exercise on such date all American Style Warrants that such
Holder desires to exercise. In any such case, the number of American Style Warrants to be exercised
will be reduced until the total number of American Style Warrants exercised on that date no longer
exceeds the maximum, such American Style Warrants being selected at the discretion of the relevant
Issuer or in any other manner specified in the applicable Final Terms. Unless otherwise specified in the
applicable Final Terms, the American Style Warrants tendered for exercise but not exercised on such
date will be automatically exercised on the next date on which American Style Warrants may be
exercised, subject to the same daily maximum limitation and delayed exercise provisions.

8. Risks Relating to the Market Generally

Set out below is a brief description of the principal market risks, including liquidity risk, exchange rate
risk, interest rate risk and credit risk that may have an impact on an investment in the Instruments.

Many factors will determine the price of the Instruments in the secondary market and such market
may be illiquid

It is not possible to predict the price at which Instruments will trade in the secondary market or whether
such market will be liquid or illiquid. Each Issuer may, but is not obliged to, list or admit to trading an
issue of Instruments on a securities exchange or market. If the Instruments are not listed or admitted to
trading on any securities exchange or market, pricing information for the Instruments may be more
difficult to obtain and the liquidity of the Instruments may be adversely affected. If the relevant Issuer
does list or admit to trading an issue of Instruments, there can be no assurance that at a later date, the
Instruments will not be delisted or that trading on such securities exchange or market will not be
suspended. In the event of a de-listing or suspension of listing or trading on a securities exchange or
market, the relevant Issuer will use its reasonable efforts to list or admit to trading the Instruments on
another securities exchange or market, unless it concludes it would be unduly burdensome to do so. Also,
in the case of American Style Warrants to the extent Warrants of a particular issue are exercised, the
number of Warrants of such issue outstanding will decrease, resulting in a diminished liquidity for the
remaining Warrants of such issue. A decrease in the liquidity of an issue of Warrants may cause, in turn,
an increase in the volatility associated with the price of such issue of Warrants.

The relevant Issuer cannot assure holders of the Instruments that a trading or secondary market for their
Instruments will develop or, if one develops, it will be maintained.

The relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (if applicable), or any of BAC's Affiliates may, but is not obliged to,
at any time purchase Instruments at any price in the open market or by tender or private treaty for their
own account for business reasons or in connection with their hedging arrangements. Any Instruments
so purchased may be held or resold or surrendered for cancellation. The relevant Issuer, the Guarantor
(if applicable), or any of BAC's Affiliates may, but is not obliged to, be a market-maker for an issue of
Instruments. Even if the relevant Issuer or such other entity is a market-maker for an issue of Instruments,
the secondary market for such Instruments may be limited and any market-maker may discontinue
making a market for such Instruments at any time without giving notice. These activities may affect the
price of such obligations or securities in a manner that would be adverse to a Holder's investment in the
Instruments. The relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (if applicable) and BAC's Affiliates have not considered,
and are not required to consider, the interests of investors as Holders in connection with entering into
any of the above mentioned transactions.

The market value of the Instruments may be less than the principal amount of the Instruments. The market
for, and market value of, the Instruments may be affected by a number of factors. These factors include:

(a) the complexity and volatility of the Reference Item(s) or formula or other basis of reference
applicable to the Instruments;

(b) the method of calculating amounts payable, including any dividend rates or yield or other
securities or financial instruments applicable to the securities payable and/or deliverable, or
other consideration, if any, in respect of the Instruments;
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(©) the time remaining to the expiration (in the case of Warrants), exercise (in the case of
Certificates) or redemption (in the case of Notes) of the Instruments;

(d) the aggregate amount or number of Instruments outstanding;
(e) the redemption, repayment or settlement features of the Instruments;
® the value of other securities linked to the Reference Item(s) or formula or other basis of reference

applicable to the Instruments;
(2) the level, direction and volatility of market interest rates generally;

(h) the general economic conditions of the capital markets, as well as geopolitical conditions and
other financial, political, regulatory and judicial events that affect the financial markets
generally, may affect the value of the Reference Item(s) and the Instruments;

(1) any market-making activities with respect to the Instruments; and
)] the possibility that investors may be unable to hedge their exposure to risks relating to their
Instruments.

In addition, certain Instruments may be designed for specific investment objectives or strategies and,
therefore, may have a more limited secondary market and experience more price volatility. Holders may
not be able to sell such Instruments readily or at prices that will enable them to realise their anticipated
yield. No investor should purchase Instruments unless such investor understands and is able to bear the
risk that such Instruments may not be readily saleable, that the value of such Instruments will fluctuate
over time, that such fluctuations may be significant and that such investor may lose all or a substantial
portion of the purchase price of the Instruments.

Often, the only way to obtain liquidity in respect of a Holder's investment in an issue of Instruments prior
to maturity will be to sell such Instruments. At that time, there may be a very illiquid market for the
Instruments or no market at all. For Instruments that have specific investment objectives or strategies,
the applicable trade market may be more limited, and the price may be more volatile, than for other
Instruments. Holders may not be able to sell such Instruments readily or at prices that will enable them
to realise their anticipated yield. To the extent that an issue of Instruments is or becomes illiquid, an
investor may have to exercise such Instruments (in the case of American Style Warrants) or wait until
the Exercise Date (in the case of European Style Warrants or Certificates) or the Maturity Date (in the
case of Notes) of such Instruments to realise value. If an investor sells its Instruments prior to exercise
(in the case of American Style or European Style Warrants or Certificates) or prior to maturity (in the
case of Notes), it may lose some or all of its investment. No investor should purchase Instruments unless
such investor understands and is able to bear the risk that such Instruments may not be readily saleable,
that the value of such Instruments will fluctuate over time, that such fluctuations may be significant, and
that such investor may lose all or a substantial portion of the purchase price of the Instruments.

Investors may be subject to foreign exchange exposure and the Instruments may become subject to
exchange controls

In the case of Cash Settled Instruments, the relevant Issuer will pay the Cash Settlement Amount (in the
case of W&C Instruments) or Final Redemption Amount (in the case of the Notes) in respect of the
Instruments in the Settlement Currency or Specified Currency specified in the applicable Final Terms.
This presents certain risks relating to currency conversions if an investor's financial activities are
denominated principally in a currency or currency unit (the "Investor's Currency") other than the
Settlement Currency or Specified Currency, as applicable (the "Settled Currency"). These include the
risk that exchange rates may significantly change (including changes due to devaluation of the Settled
Currency or revaluation of the Investor's Currency) and the risk that authorities with jurisdiction over the
Investor's Currency may impose or modify exchange controls. An appreciation in the value of the
Investor's Currency relative to the Settled Currency would decrease (i) the Investor's Currency-equivalent
yield on the Instruments, (ii) the Investor's Currency equivalent value of the Cash Settlement Amount or
Final Redemption Amount (as applicable) in respect of the Instruments and (iii) the Investor's Currency
equivalent market value of the Instruments. These risks generally depend on factors over which BAC
has no control, such as economic and political events and the supply of and demand for the relevant
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currencies in the global markets. In recent years, exchange rates between many currencies have been
highly volatile. This volatility may continue and could spread to other currencies in the future.

Government and monetary authorities may impose exchange controls (as some have done in the past)
that could adversely affect an applicable exchange rate. As a result, the Cash Settlement Amount (in the
case of Cash Settled W&C Instruments) or the Final Redemption Amount (in the case of Notes) that
investors may receive may be less than expected or zero.

Except in connection with a Currency Substitution Event (as described herein), and, in the case of Notes,
in connection with the circumstances described in Condition 8(B) (Unavailability of Currency) of the
Terms and Conditions of the Notes, the relevant Issuer may not make any adjustment in or change to the
terms of any Instruments for changes in foreign currency exchange rates that may affect such
Instruments, including any devaluation, revaluation, or imposition of exchange or other regulatory
controls or taxes, or for other developments affecting the relevant currency or currencies. Consequently,
investors will bear the risk that their investment may be affected adversely by these types of events.

Government policy can adversely affect currency exchange rates and an investment in an Instrument
denominated in a currency other than the Investor's Currency

Currency exchange rates either can float or be fixed by sovereign governments. Governments or
governmental bodies, including the European Central Bank, may intervene from time to time in their
economies to alter the exchange rate or exchange characteristics of their currencies. For example, a
central bank may intervene to devalue or revalue a currency or to replace an existing currency. In
addition, a government may impose regulatory controls or taxes to affect the exchange rate of its currency
or may issue a new currency or replace an existing currency. As a result, the amounts payable on and
rate of return of an Instrument with a Settled Currency other than the Investor's Currency could be
affected significantly and unpredictably by governmental actions. Even in the absence of governmental
action directly affecting currency exchange rates, political or economic developments in the country or
region issuing the Settled Currency for an Instrument with a Settled Currency other than the Investor's
Currency or elsewhere could result in significant and sudden changes in the exchange rate between the
Investor's Currency and the Settled Currency. Changes in exchange rates could affect the value of such
Instruments as participants in the global currency markets move to buy or sell the Settled Currency of
Investor's Currency in reaction to these developments.

If a governmental authority imposes exchange controls or other conditions, such as taxes on the exchange
or transfer of the Settled Currency, there may be limited availability of the Settled Currency for payment
on the Instruments denominated in such currency at their maturity or on any other payment date. In
addition, the ability of a Holder to move currency freely out of the country in which payment in the
currency is received or to convert the currency at a freely determined market rate could be limited by
governmental actions.

In certain circumstances the relevant Issuer will not be obliged to maintain the listing of Instruments
which are specified as being listed in the applicable Final Terms

When the relevant Issuer specifies in the applicable Final Terms that a Series of Instruments is to be
admitted to trading on the Euro MTF market operated by the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and admitted
to listing on the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and/or listed or admitted to trading by
any other relevant stock exchange or market, the relevant Issuer expects, but is not obliged, to maintain
such listing of the Instruments on such exchange(s) or market(s). Changed circumstances, including
changes in listing requirements, could result in a suspension or removal of any such listing, or cause the
relevant Issuer to conclude that continued listing of the Instruments on such exchange(s) or market(s) is
unduly burdensome.

Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments

The investment activities of certain investors are subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or
review or regulation by certain authorities. Each potential investor should consult its legal advisers to
determine whether and to what extent (i) Instruments are legal investments for it, (ii) Instruments can be
used as collateral for various types of borrowing and (iii) other restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge
of any Instruments. Financial institutions should consult their legal advisers or the appropriate regulators
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to determine the appropriate treatment of Instruments under any applicable risk-based capital or similar
rules.

Holding CREST Depository Interests

Investors may hold the Instruments through CREST. CREST allows Holders to hold instruments in a
dematerialised form rather than holding physical instruments. Instead of issuing physical instruments,
CREST issues CDIs, representing the interests in the relevant Instruments underlying the CDIs (the
"Underlying Instruments"). CDI Holders will hold, or have an interest in, a separate legal instrument
and will not be the legal owners of the Instruments. The rights of CDI Holders to the Instruments are
represented by the relevant entitlements against CREST Depository Limited (the "CREST Depository")
on behalf of which CREST International Nominees Limited (the "CREST Nominee") holds interests in
the Instruments. Accordingly, rights under the Instruments cannot be enforced by CDI Holders directly
against the relevant Issuer; instead they must be enforced indirectly through CREST and certain
companies acting as intermediary depositaries and custodians. The enforcement of rights under the
Instruments will be subject to the local law of the relevant intermediaries. This could result in an
elimination or reduction in the payments that otherwise would have been made in respect of the
Instruments in the event of any insolvency or liquidation of any of the relevant intermediaries, in
particular where the Instruments held in clearing systems are not held in special purpose accounts and
are fungible with other securities held in the same accounts on behalf of other customers of the relevant
intermediaries. If such risk should materialise, Holders may receive reduced payments under the
Instruments and may not recover their investment in full or at all, which could pose a material risk for
Holders.

CDiIs are constituted under English law and transferred through CREST and will be issued by the CREST
Depository pursuant to the CREST Deed Poll. The rights of the CDI Holders will be governed by the
arrangements between CREST, Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and the relevant Issuer, including
the CREST Deed Poll. Potential investors should note that the provisions of the CREST Deed Poll, the
CREST Manual issued by Euroclear UK & Ireland (including the CREST International Manual dated 14
April 2008) as amended, modified, varied or supplemented from time to time (the "CREST Manual")
and the CREST Rules contained in the CREST Manual applicable to the CREST International Settlement
Links Service (the "CREST Rules") contain indemnities, warranties, representations and undertakings
to be given by CDI Holders, and limitations on the liability of the CREST Depository. CDI Holders are
bound by such provisions and may incur liabilities resulting from a breach of any such indemnities,
warranties, representations and undertakings in excess of the amounts originally invested by them. As a
result, the rights of, and returns received by, CDI Holders, may differ from those of holders of
Instruments which are not represented by CDIs. This could have an adverse effect on the payments
received under the Instruments by Holders.

In addition, CDI Holders may be required to pay fees, charges, costs and expenses to the CREST
Depository in connection with the use of the CREST International Settlement Links Service (the
"CREST International Settlement Links Service"). These will include the fees and expenses charged
by the CREST Depository in respect of the provision of services by it under the CREST Deed Poll and
any taxes, duties, charges, costs or expenses which may be or become payable in connection with the
holding of the Instruments through the CREST International Settlement Links Service.

Potential investors should note that the Issuers, the Guarantor, the Dealers, the Agents or the Registrar
will not have any responsibility for the performance by any intermediaries or their respective direct or
indirect participants or accountholders of their respective obligations under the rules and procedures
governing their operations. The CDIs are not the subject of this Offering Circular.

9. Risks Relating to the Structure of a Particular Issue of Instruments

A wide range of Instruments may be issued under the Programme. A number of these Instruments may
have features which contain particular risks for potential investors. Set out below is a description of the
most common features.

(a) General risks relating to Reference Item Linked Instruments

Reference Item Linked Instruments will represent an investment linked to the economic performance of
the relevant Reference Item(s) and potential investors should note that the return (if any) on their
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investment in such Instruments will depend upon the performance of such Reference Item(s). Potential
investors should also note that whilst the market value of such Instruments is linked to such Reference
Item(s) and will be influenced (positively or negatively) by such Reference Item(s), any change in the
market value of such Instruments may not be comparable to changes in the market value of the Reference
Item(s). It is impossible to predict how the market value of the relevant Reference Item(s) will vary over
time. In addition, in contrast to a direct investment in the relevant Reference Item(s), such Instruments
represent the right to receive payment or delivery, as the case may be, of the Cash Settlement Amount(s),
the Final Redemption Amount(s) or the Entitlement, as the case may be, as well as periodic payments of
interest or additional amounts (if specified in the applicable Final Terms), all or some of which and the
value of which will be determined by reference to the performance of the relevant Reference Item(s) but
which are likely to differ from and may be less than the return on a direct investment in the same
Reference Items(s).

As the amounts payable and/or non-cash consideration deliverable in respect of Reference Item Linked
Instruments are linked to the performance of the relevant Reference Item(s), a purchaser of such an
Instrument must generally be correct about the direction, timing and magnitude of an anticipated change
in the value of the relevant Reference Item(s). Assuming all other factors are held constant, the lower
the value of such an Instrument and the shorter the remaining term to expiration (in the case of a Warrant),
exercise (in the case of a Certificate) or redemption (in the case of a Note), the greater the risk that
purchasers of such Instrument will lose all or part of their investment.

Depending on the terms of the relevant Instruments, Reference Item Linked Instruments may be
redeemed/settled on the maturity date/settlement date at an amount that is equal to (or nearly equal to),
greater than or less than the amount invested. Except for Reference Item Linked Instruments that are
structured to redeem/settle at a minimum amount on the maturity date/settlement date, investors in
Reference Item Linked Instruments may risk losing their entire investment if the value of the relevant
Reference Item(s) does not move in the anticipated direction. Regardless of the terms of the Instrument,
all payments thereon are subject to the relevant Issuer's and (if applicable) the Guarantor's credit risk and
their respective ability to pay their relevant obligations on the applicable payment dates.

POTENTIAL INVESTORS MUST REVIEW THE APPLICABLE FINAL TERMS TO
ASCERTAIN WHAT THE RELEVANT REFERENCE ITEM(S) ARE AND TO SEE HOW THE
CASH SETTLEMENT AMOUNT, FINAL REDEMPTION AMOUNT OR THE
ENTITLEMENT, AS THE CASE MAY BE, AND ANY INTEREST PAYMENTS (IN THE CASE
OF NOTES) OR ANY ADDITIONAL AMOUNT PAYMENTS (IN THE CASE OF W&C
INSTRUMENTS) ARE DETERMINED AND WHEN SUCH AMOUNTS ARE PAYABLE
AND/OR DELIVERABLE, AS THE CASE MAY BE, BEFORE MAKING ANY DECISION TO
PURCHASE ANY INSTRUMENTS.

Risks relating to Instruments which are linked to emerging market Reference Item(s)

Where the terms and conditions of the Instruments reference one or more emerging market Reference
Item(s), investors in such Instruments should be aware that the political and economic situation in
countries with emerging economies or stock markets may be undergoing significant evolution and rapid
development, and such countries may lack the social, political and economic stability characteristics of
more developed countries, including a significant risk of currency value fluctuation. Such instability
may result from, among other things, authoritarian governments, or military involvement in political and
economic decision-making, including changes or attempted changes in governments through extra-
constitutional means; popular unrest associated with demands for improved political, economic or social
conditions; internal insurgencies; hostile relations with neighbouring countries; and ethnic, religious and
racial disaffections or conflict. Certain of such countries may have in the past failed to recognise private
property rights and have at times nationalised or expropriated the assets of private companies. As a
result, the risks from investing in those countries, including the risks of nationalisation or expropriation
of assets, may be heightened. In addition, unanticipated political or social developments may affect the
values of a Reference Item investment in those countries. The small size and inexperience of the
securities markets in certain countries and the limited volume of trading in securities may make the
emerging market Reference Item(s) illiquid and more volatile than investments in more established
markets. There may be little financial or accounting information available with respect to local issuers,
and as a result it may be difficult to assess the value or prospects of the Reference Item(s).
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The relevant Issuer may redeem early or settle a Series of Instruments if an Additional Disruption
Event occurs, causing the investor to lose some or all of its investment in such Series of Instruments

If Additional Disruption Events are specified as applicable in the Final Terms for the applicable Series
of Instruments of the relevant Issuer, and one or more Additional Disruption Event occurs with respect
to that Series of Instruments, the relevant Issuer may, in its sole and absolute discretion, cause the early
redemption or settlement of such Series of Instruments in accordance with the applicable Conditions. If
the relevant Issuer elects to redeem early or settle the Instruments as a result of an Additional Disruption
Event, the amount payable or other consideration deliverable to the Holders may be significantly less
than the investor's initial investment, and may be as low as zero. Additional Disruption Events include,
among others, as specified in the applicable Final Terms and described in the applicable Conditions, (1)
Change in Law, (2) Increased Cost of Hedging and (3) Hedging Disruption.

(b) Risks associated with baskets comprised of various components as Reference Items
Exposure to performance of basket and its components

Where the Instruments are linked to or reference a basket of assets, the investors in such Instruments are
exposed to the performance of such basket. The investors will bear the risk of the performance of each
of the basket components. See, as applicable, the risk factors set out in the sections entitled "Risks
relating to Index Linked Instruments", "Risks relating to Share Linked Instruments", "Risks relating to
GDR/ADR Linked Instruments", "Risks relating to FX Linked Instruments and other Instruments in
respect of which "Exchange Rate" is specified to be applicable", "Risks relating to Commodity Linked
Instruments”, "Risks relating to Fund Linked Instruments", "Risks relating to Inflation Linked
Instruments”, "Risks relating to Credit Linked Instruments" and "Risks relating to Saudi Share Linked
Warrants".

A high correlation of basket components may have a significant effect on amounts payable

Some Instruments are linked to baskets of Reference Items where the performance of such Reference
Items tends to move in the same direction, or correlate, as a result of changes in market conditions, such
as a change in interest rates. Correlation of basket components indicates the level of interdependence
among the individual basket components with respect to their performance. If, for example, all of the
basket components originate from the same sector and the same country, a high positive correlation may
generally be assumed. Past rates of correlation may not be determinative of future rates of correlation:
investors should be aware that, though basket components may not appear to be correlated based on past
performance, it may be that they suffer the same adverse performance following a general downturn or
other economic or political event. Where the basket components are subject to high correlation, any
move in the performance of the basket components will exaggerate the performance of the Instruments.

The negative performance of a single basket component may outweigh a positive performance of one
or more other basket components

Investors in Instruments must be aware that even in the case of a positive performance of one or more
basket components, the performance of the basket as a whole may be negative if the performance of the
other basket components is negative to a greater extent, subject to the Conditions of the relevant
Instruments.

A small basket, or an unequally weighted basket, will generally leave the basket more vulnerable to
changes in the value of any particular Reference Item

The performance of a basket that includes a smaller number of Reference Items will generally, subject
to the terms and conditions of the relevant Instruments, be more affected by changes in the value of any
particular Reference Item included therein than a basket that includes a greater number of Reference
Items.

The performance of a basket that gives greater weight to some Reference Items will generally, subject to
the terms and conditions of the relevant Instruments, be more affected by changes in the value of any
such particular Reference Item included therein than a basket that gives relatively equal weight to each
Reference Item.

A change in composition of a basket may have an adverse effect on basket performance

73



Risk Factors

Where the Instruments grant the Calculation Agent the right, in certain circumstances, to adjust the
composition of the basket, investors should be aware that any replacement basket component may
perform differently from the original basket component, which may have an adverse effect on the
performance of the basket which will in turn have an adverse effect on the value of the Instruments.

(c) Risks relating to Instruments linked to certain References Item(s)
(1) Risks relating to Index Linked Instruments
Factors affecting the performance of Indices may adversely affect the value of the Instruments

Indices are comprised of a synthetic portfolio of shares, bonds, currency exchange rates, commodities,
property or other assets, and as such, the performance of an Index is dependent upon the performance of
components of such Index, which may include interest rates, currency developments, political factors,
market factors such as the general trends in capital markets or broad based indices and (in the case of
shares) company-specific factors such as earnings position, market position, risk situation, shareholder
structure and distribution policy. If an Index does not perform as expected, this will materially and
adversely affect the value of Index Linked Instruments.

Returns on the Instruments do not reflect a direct investment in underlying shares or other assets
comprising the Index

The return payable on Instruments that reference Indices may not reflect the return a potential investor
would realise if it actually owned the relevant assets comprising the components of the Index or owned
a different form of interest in the relevant Index. For example, if the components of the Indices are
shares, Holders will not receive any dividends paid or distributions made on those shares and will not
participate in the return on those dividends or distributions unless the relevant Index takes such dividends
into account for purposes of calculating the relevant level. Similarly, Holders will not have any voting
rights in the underlying shares or any other assets which may comprise the components of the relevant
Index. Accordingly, Holders of Instruments that reference Indices as Reference Items may receive a
lower payment upon redemption/settlement of such Instruments than any return such Holder would have
received if it had invested in the components of the Index directly or other comparable instruments linked
to the Index.

Holders may receive physical delivery of Fund Shares of one or more Index-Related ETFs in lieu of
payment of cash amounts

Where "Physical Settlement" is specified as applicable to the Index Linked Conditions in the relevant
Final Terms, the relevant Issuer may redeem the Index Linked Instruments at their maturity by delivering
Fund Shares of one or more Index-Related ETFs to the investor. In such case, the investors will receive
such Fund Shares rather than a monetary amount upon maturity. Holders will, therefore, be exposed to
such Index-Related ETFs and the risks associated with such Fund Shares. The investor should not assume
that he or she will be able to sell such Fund Shares for a specific price after the redemption/settlement of
the Instruments, and in particular not for the purchase price of the Index Linked Instruments. Under
certain circumstances the Fund Shares may only have a very low value or may, in fact, be worthless, in
which case see "Investors risk losing all of their investment in the Instruments" above. Holders may also
be subject to certain documentary or stamp taxes in relation to the delivery and/or disposal of such Fund
Shares. The holding of such Fund Shares instead of the Instruments may adversely affect the Holder's
tax position.

A change in the composition or discontinuance of an Index could adversely affect the market value of
the Instruments

The sponsor of any Index can add, delete or substitute the components of such Index or make other
methodological changes that could change the level of one or more components. The changing of
components of any Index may affect the level of such Index as a newly added component may perform
significantly worse or better than the component it replaces, which in turn may affect the payments made
by the relevant Issuer to the Holders of the Index Linked Instruments. The sponsor of any such Index
may also alter, discontinue or suspend calculation or dissemination of such Index. The sponsor of an
Index will have no involvement in the offer and sale of the Index Linked Instruments and will have no
obligation to any Holder of such Instruments. Accordingly, the sponsor of an Index may take any actions
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in respect of such Index without regard to the interests of the Holder of the Instruments, and any of these
actions could adversely affect the market value of the Index Linked Instruments.

Exposure to Index Modification, Index Cancellation, Index Disruption, Administrator/Benchmark
Event and correction of Index levels

The Calculation Agent has broad discretion to make certain determinations and adjustments, to replace
the original Reference Item with another and/or to cause early redemption/settlement of the Instruments,
any of which may be adverse to Holders in connection with Index Modification, Index Cancellation,
Index Disruption and Administrator/Benchmark Event. The Calculation Agent may determine that the
consequence of any such event is to make adjustments to the Instruments, or to replace such Index with
another or to cause early redemption/settlement of the Instruments. The Calculation Agent may (subject
to the terms and conditions of the relevant Instruments) also amend the relevant Index level due to
corrections in the level reported by the Index Sponsor. The consequences of such amendments could
adversely affect the market value of the Index Linked Instruments.

There are additional risks in relation to "Proprietary Indices" or "'Strategies"
See "There may be conflicts of interest between the relevant Issuer, its Affiliates and the Holders" above.
There are additional risks in relation to Commodity Indices

See "Additional risks in relation to the "rolling" of commodity futures contracts (including commodity
futures contracts which are components of a Commodity Index)" below.

Specific risks relating to Index Linked Instruments in respect of which the applicable Final Terms
specify that the "LEPW Conditions'' shall be applicable

Holders of Index Linked Instruments in respect of which the applicable Final Terms specify that the
"LEPW Conditions" shall be applicable should note that all payments made by the relevant Issuer will
be made subject to deductions to account for any costs and taxes which a hypothetical broker dealer,
directly or indirectly, could incur in connection with any hedging arrangements which such hypothetical
broker dealer could make in order to hedge such Index Linked Instruments.

Further, certain Index Linked Instruments in respect of which the applicable Final Terms specify that the
"LEPW Conditions" shall be applicable ("Index Linked LEPWSs"), the issuance, sale, transfer and/or
holding of which may be subject to laws and regulations of the relevant jurisdiction in which the
underlying index of such Index Linked LEPWs is listed and traded ("Relevant Jurisdiction").
Purchasers of such Index Linked LEPWs are required to comply with the applicable laws and regulations
of the Relevant Jurisdiction.

In order to ensure compliance with these laws and regulations, each purchaser of the relevant Index
Linked LEPWs is deemed to represent, warrant, agree and undertake on an ongoing basis its full
compliance with the relevant selling restrictions and transfer restrictions applicable to the Relevant
Jurisdiction set out in the "Offering and Sale" section of this Offering Circular, and agree and undertake
to provide any additional disclosure or information that the relevant Issuer, MLI, BAC and/or their
respective affiliates reasonably deem necessary or appropriate in order to comply with the regulations or
requests from any governmental or regulatory authorities of the Relevant Jurisdiction from time to time.

Failure of any Holder to comply with the relevant selling restrictions or transfer restrictions applicable
to the Relevant Jurisdiction and/or failure to provide the relevant Issuer and/or its affiliates promptly
with the information described above and/or execute any document that the relevant Issuer, MLI, BAC
and/or their respective affiliates reasonably deem necessary or appropriate in order to comply with the
regulations or requests from any governmental or regulatory authorities of the Relevant Jurisdiction from
time to time (each an "LEPW Non-compliance Event") will, if LEPW Non-compliance Event is
specified as applicable in the Final Terms for the relevant Index Linked LEPWs, be an Additional
Disruption Event which gives the relevant Issuer the right to make appropriate adjustments to the Terms
and Conditions of the relevant Index Linked LEPWs or cancel such Index Linked LEPWs early.

Furthermore, if Regulatory Order is specified as applicable in the Final Terms for the relevant Index

Linked LEPWs, in the event that a governmental or regulatory authority of the Relevant Jurisdiction has
requested the relevant Issuer, MLI and/or their respective affiliates or agent to terminate or modify the
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relevant Index Linked LEPWs, any Applicable Hedge Positions or any Related Hedging Arrangement
relating thereto, or otherwise imposes material requirements on the foregoing, the Guarantee, the holders
or related documents, an Additional Disruption Event will occur which gives the relevant Issuer the right
to make appropriate adjustments to the Terms and Conditions of the relevant Index Linked LEPWs or
cancel such Index Linked LEPWs early.

Any adjustment and/or early termination of the relevant Index Linked LEPWs may result in the loss of
some or all of the purchaser's investment.

Further, the adjustment and/or early termination right applies to the entire series of the relevant Index
Linked LEPWs. Any breach by a single Holder may trigger adjustment and/or early termination of the
entire series of such Index Linked LEPWs. Holders who are not in breach will also be affected as their
holdings in the same series of such Index Linked LEPWs will be subject to adjustment and/or early
termination caused by the breach of such other Holder.

There are additional risks in relation to Index-Linked Futures Contracts

Holders of Index Linked Instruments in respect of which the applicable Final Terms specify that the
"Additional Terms and Conditions for Index-Linked Futures Contracts" shall be applicable should note
that they are exposed to the performance of the Index-Linked Futures Contracts which, in turn, will be
driven by the level of the underlying Index.

There will be a correlation between the level of an Index and the price at which an Index-Linked Futures
Contract trades on the relevant futures or options exchange, and Holders will therefore be exposed to the
performance of the Index.

However, Holders should also be aware that the expectations of dealers in Index-Linked Futures
Contracts of the level of the Index on the date(s) on which the settlement amount of an Index-Linked
Futures Contract is determined may also have an impact on the price of Index-Linked Futures Contracts
on the Index. For example, if the expectation of dealers in options contracts is that the level of the Index
will be lower on a future date when the settlement amount of the options contract is to be determined
than the current level of the Index, this may result in the price of the options contract falling (in the case
of a call option) or rising (in the case of a put option) even where the current level of the Index is rising.
Moreover, because the settlement amount of many options contracts is a multiple of the difference
between the level of the Index on a future date and the strike, a relatively small change in the level of an
Index may result in a proportionately much larger change in the price of the options contract.

If the expectation of dealers in futures contracts is that the settlement price of the Index on the date(s) on
which the settlement amount of the futures contract is determined will be lower than the forward price
of the Index specified in the contract, this may result in the price of the futures contract falling (in the
case of buyers of the futures contract) or rising (in the case of sellers of the futures contract) even where
the current level of the Index is rising. Moreover, because the settlement amount of many futures
contracts is a multiple of the difference between the settlement price and the forward price, a relatively
small change in the level of an Index may result in a proportionately much larger change in the price of
the futures contract.

Instruments are not sold or promoted by an Index or the sponsor of such Index

Instruments linked to an Index are not sponsored, endorsed, sold, or promoted by such Index or the
sponsor of such Index. The sponsor of an Index makes no representation whatsoever, whether express or
implied, either as to the results to be obtained from the use of such Index or the levels at which such
Index stands at any particular time on any particular date. Neither an Index nor sponsor of such Index
shall be liable (whether in negligence or otherwise) to any person for any error in such Index. A sponsor
of an Index is under no obligation to advise any person of any error in such Index. A sponsor of an Index
does not make any representation whatsoever, whether express or implied, as to the advisability of
investing or assuming any risk in connection with the Instruments linked to such Index.

The relevant Issuer, BAC and BAC's Affiliates are not liable for the actions or omissions of the
sponsor of an Index, any information concerning an Index, the performance of such Index or use
thereof in connection with the Instruments
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None of the relevant Issuer, BAC and any of BAC's Affiliates is liable to the Holders of Instruments for
any act or failure to act by a sponsor of an Index in connection with the calculation, adjustment, or
maintenance of such Index. Although the Calculation Agent will obtain information concerning an Index
from publicly available sources it believes reliable, it will not independently verify this information.
Accordingly, no representation, warranty, or undertaking (express or implied) is made and no
responsibility is accepted by the relevant Issuer, BAC, any of BAC's Affiliates or the Calculation Agent
as to the accuracy, completeness, and timeliness of information concerning such Index. In addition, none
of the relevant Issuer, BAC, any of BAC's Affiliates and the Calculation Agent makes any representation
whatsoever, whether express or implied, as to the performance of any Index which is linked to the
Instruments, any data included in, or omitted from, such Index, or the use of such Index in connection
with the Index Linked Instruments.

(ii) Risks relating to Share Linked Instruments

No issuer of the relevant Share(s) will have participated in the preparation of the applicable Final
Terms or in establishing the terms of the Share Linked Instruments

No Share Company or Companies will have participated in the preparation of the applicable Final Terms
or in establishing the terms of the Share Linked Instruments and none of the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor
(if applicable) and any Dealer will make any investigation or enquiry in connection with such offering
with respect to any information concerning any such Share Company or Companies contained in such
Final Terms or in the documents from which such information was extracted. Neither the relevant Issuer
nor the Guarantor (if applicable) controls any Share Company or Companies and are not responsible for
any disclosure, misstatements or omissions made by any Share Company or Companies. Consequently,
there can be no assurance that all events occurring prior to the relevant issue date (including events that
would affect the adequacy, accuracy or completeness of the publicly available information described in
this paragraph or in any applicable Final Terms) that would affect the trading price of the relevant
Share(s) will have been publicly disclosed. Subsequent disclosure of any such events or the disclosure
of or failure to disclose material future events concerning such Share Company or Companies could
affect the trading price of the Share(s) and therefore the trading price of the Instruments or amounts paid
or delivered under the Instruments.

Factors affecting the performance of Shares may adversely affect the value of the Share Linked
Instruments

The performance of Shares is dependent upon macroeconomic factors, such as interest and price levels
on the capital markets, currency developments, political factors and company-specific factors such as
earnings position, market position, risk situation, shareholder structure and distribution policy. These
factors are not within the relevant Issuer's or (if applicable) the Guarantor's control and may result in a
decline in the value of the Instruments.

Holders have no claim against the Share Company or Companies or recourse to the Shares

Share Linked Instruments do not represent a claim against or an investment in any Share Company or
Companies and investors will not have any right of recourse under the Share Linked Instruments to any
such company or the Shares. Share Linked Instruments are not in any way sponsored, endorsed or
promoted by any Share Company or Companies and such companies have no obligation to take into
account the consequences of their actions for any Holders. Accordingly, the Share Company or
Companies may take any actions in respect of such Share without regard to the interests of the investors
in the Share Linked Instruments, and any of these actions could adversely affect the market value of the
Share Linked Instruments.

Determinations made by the Calculation Agent in respect of Potential Adjustment Events, Merger
Events, Tender Offers, De-listings, Nationalisations, Announcement Events, Insolvencies and
Additional Disruption Events may have an adverse effect on the value of the Share Linked Instruments

Upon determining that a Potential Adjustment Event, Merger Event, Tender Offer, De-listing,
Nationalisation, Announcement Event, Insolvency or Additional Disruption Event has occurred in
relation to an underlying Share or Share Company, the Calculation Agent has broad discretion to make
certain determinations to account for such event including to (i) make adjustments to the terms of the
Share Linked Instruments and/or (ii) (in the case of a Merger Event, Tender Offer, De-listing,
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Nationalisation, Announcement Event, Insolvency or Additional Disruption Event) cause early
redemption/settlement of the Share Linked Instruments, any of which determinations may have an
adverse effect on the value of the Share Linked Instruments. In particular, in the event that the Share
Linked Instruments are early settled/redeemed, the amount payable to Holders may be significantly less
than the investor's initial investment, and may be as low as zero.

If Announcement Event is specified to be applicable, the Calculation Agent may exercise the broad
discretions described in the paragraph above based on a public announcement by the Share Company or
a third party of an intention to take an action or enter into a transaction that would, if taken or
consummated prior to final valuation of the Share Linked Instruments, constitute a Merger Event, Tender
Offer, De-Listing or Nationalisation, regardless of whether the action or transaction is taken or
consummated prior to final valuation of the Share Linked Instruments or at all.

Potential Adjustment Events include (a) a sub-division, consolidation or re-classification of the Shares,
(b) an extraordinary dividend, (c) a call of the Shares that are not fully paid, (d) a repurchase by the Share
Company, or an affiliate thereof, of the Shares, (e) a separation of rights from the Shares or (f) any event
having a dilutive or concentrative effect on the value of the Shares. Additional Disruption Events include
(1) a change in applicable law since the Trade Date that makes it illegal to hold, acquire or dispose of the
Shares or more expensive for the relevant Issuer to hedge its obligations under the relevant Share Linked
Instruments, (2) an insolvency filing by or on behalf of any issuer of the relevant Share(s), (3) Increased
Cost of Hedging and (4) Hedging Disruption.

Holders may receive physical delivery of Shares in lieu of payment of cash amounts

Where the Share Linked Instruments include the right of the relevant Issuer, subject to the fulfilment of
a particular condition, to redeem the Share Linked Instruments at their maturity by delivering Shares to
the investor, the investors will receive such Shares rather than a monetary amount upon maturity.
Holders will, therefore, be exposed to the Share Company or Companies and the risks associated with
such Shares. The investor should not assume that he or she will be able to sell such Shares for a specific
price after the redemption/settlement of the Instruments, and in particular not for the purchase price of
the Share Linked Instruments. Under certain circumstances the Shares may only have a very low value
or may, in fact, be worthless, in which case see "Investors risk losing all of their investment in the
Instruments" above. Holders may also be subject to certain documentary or stamp taxes in relation to
the delivery and/or disposal of such Shares. The holding of such Shares instead of the Instruments may
adversely affect the Holder's tax position.

Holders will have no voting rights and may have no right to receive dividends or distributions in respect
of the relevant Shares

Except as provided in the relevant Conditions in relation to Physical Delivery Instruments, Holders of
Share Linked Instruments will not have voting rights or any other rights with respect to the relevant
Shares to which such Share Linked Instruments relate.

Unless the "Dividend Conditions" are applicable for Share Linked Instruments, Holders of Share Linked
Instruments will not have rights to receive dividends or distributions. As a result, the return on the Share
Linked Instruments may not reflect the return an investor would realise if the investor actually owned
those relevant Shares and received the dividends paid or other distributions made in connection with
them.

Specific risks relating to Share Linked Instruments in respect of which the applicable Final Terms
specify that the "LEPW Conditions'" shall be applicable

Share Linked Instruments in respect of which the applicable Final Terms specify that the "LEPW
Conditions" shall be applicable are linked to the value of specified Shares during a specified period. If
cash dividends are declared and paid on such Shares during such specified period, Holders of such Share
Linked Instruments shall receive such amounts, less deductions for local taxes (including withholding
taxes). Holders of such Share Linked Instruments should note that they will not acquire any interest in
or right to acquire the relevant Shares, and will not in any way have any rights with respect to the relevant
Shares (including voting rights). There is no obligation on the relevant Issuer or any of its Affiliates to
purchase, sell, hold, deliver, pledge or transfer any such Shares. In addition, the Additional Amount(s)
and/or the Cash Settlement Amount (if any) due to Holders of such Share Linked Instruments will

78



Risk Factors

generally be payable in a currency other than the currency in which the relevant Shares are denominated;
as a result, the returns to Holders will be subject to exchange rate risk as well.

Holders of such Share Linked Instruments should note that following the occurrence of any Potential
Adjustment Event, the Calculation Agent may make certain determinations in respect of such Share
Linked Instruments, such as the issue of additional Share Linked Instruments to Holders or the issue to
Holders of new Share Linked Instruments linked to the relevant Share or the share capital or other
securities of another company created as a result of a spin-off or other similar transaction relating to the
relevant Share Company or the distribution of a cash amount to Holders or the adjustment of the terms
and conditions of such Share Linked Instruments, in each case, to account for the diluting or
concentrative effect of such Potential Adjustment Event. Holders of such Share Linked Instruments
should note that none of the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (if applicable) and any of their respective
affiliates are in a position to advise or give assurance to the Holders as to the impact to the economic,
legal or tax position of such Holders as a result of such determinations or actions to the Holders. Holders
of such Share Linked Instruments should consult their own business, accounting, regulatory, legal, tax
and other professional advisers with respect to any consequences or considerations (whether relating to
tax or otherwise) which may be relevant to or which may result from any such determinations or actions.

Holders of such Share Linked Instruments should also note that all payments made by the relevant Issuer
(other than additional amounts) will be made subject to deductions to account for any costs and taxes
which a hypothetical broker dealer, directly or indirectly, could incur in connection with any hedging
arrangements which such hypothetical broker dealer could make in order to hedge such Share Linked
Instruments.

The Share Linked Instruments may give exposure to a specified China A share traded through the China
Connect Service. Holders of such Share Linked Instruments should also note the specific risks relating
to China Connect Share LEPW set out in the paragraph below.

Specific Risks relating to Share Linked Instruments in respect of which the applicable Final Terms
specify that the "LEPW Conditions" and "China Connect Share LEPW Conditions" shall be
applicable

Share Linked Instruments in respect of which the applicable Final Terms specify that the "LEPW
Conditions" and "China Connect Share LEPW Conditions" shall be applicable are linked to the value of
specified A shares traded through "China Connect". "China Connect" refers to the Shanghai-HK Connect
and/or the Shenzhen-HK Connect as the case may be. China Connect is a securities trading and clearing
links programme, initially developed by the Shanghai Stock Exchange ("SSE"), the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited ("SEHK"), the China Securities Depository and Clearing Corporation and the Hong
Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited for the establishment of mutual market access between SSE
and SEHK ("Shanghai-HK Connect"). Shanghai-HK Connect is a platform for foreign investors to
invest in eligible A shares listed and traded on the SSE. Following the launch of the Shanghai-HK
Connect in November 2014 and the joint announcement made by the China Securities Regulatory
Commission ("CSRC") and the Securities and Futures Commission ("SFC") on 16 August 2016, a
similar securities trading and clearing links programme for giving mutual market access between the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange ("SZSE") and the SEHK has been launched ("Shenzhen-HK Connect").
Shenzhen-HK Connect extends the current arrangements of Shanghai-HK Connect by linking up the
SZSE and the SEHK. Shenzhen-HK Connect is a platform for foreign investors to invest in eligible A
shares listed and traded on the SZSE. The relevant Issuer or its Affiliates may (but are not obliged to)
hedge the relevant Issuer's obligations under such Share Linked Instruments through China Connect.

China Connect has some unique features and restrictions, including (without limitation) daily quota
restrictions, eligibility criteria for A shares that can be traded through China Connect, and restrictions on
the ability of an investor to take up certain types of rights issuances through China Connect, and
restrictions on investor eligibility for trading A shares listed on the ChiNext Market of the SZSE
("ChiNext Shares") through the Shenzhen-HK Connect. Trading through China Connect is also subject
to the laws, regulations, rules and guidelines published or applied by the exchanges, clearing systems
and regulators in Hong Kong and the PRC which provide services in relation to and/or regulate activities
relating to China Connect ("China Connect Rules").

China Connect has been launched since 2014 and is subject to further development. There is no
assurance as to whether or how such developments may affect an investment in securities traded through
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China Connect. Also, the interpretation and application of the China Connect Rules is untested and there
is uncertainty as to how they will be applied.

Holders of such Share Linked Instruments should note that these potential restrictions and uncertainties
relating to China Connect may trigger a Hedging Disruption, a Potential Adjustment Event or an
Additional Disruption Event, or may lead to adjustments to the terms or early termination of such Share
Linked Instruments, and any disruption to or early closure of China Connect may trigger a Market
Disruption Event, all as provided for in the China Connect Share LEPW Conditions.

Additional risks associated with investing in Instruments linked to ChiNext Share

ChiNext is a board market of SZSE for innovative enterprises and other growing start-ups. The rules
and regulations regarding securities traded on ChiNext are less stringent in terms of profitability and
share capital than those in respect of the SZSE Main Board Market or the SZSE SME Board Market. As
such, securities traded on ChiNext will be subject to higher market volatility than securities traded on the
Main Board Market or the SME Board Market of SZSE. Holders of Instruments linked to ChiNext Share
will be exposed to a higher underlying market volatility.

Currently, the Rules of SEHK restrict the buying and selling of ChiNext Shares traded through the
Shenzhen-HK Connect to institutional professional investors (as defined in the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Cap. 571) of Hong Kong) ("Institutional Professional Investors") only. Accordingly,
purchase of any Instruments over ChiNext Share will be limited to Institutional Professional Investors
only.

Trading of China A shares through China Connect may be subject to laws and regulations in the PRC
and Hong Kong (each a "Relevant Jurisdiction"). Further, any purchase, offer or sale of LEPWs linked
to ChiNext Shares traded through China Connect ("ChiNext Share LEPW") will be subject to ChiNext
Share Connect Selling Restrictions as set out in the "Offering and Sale" of this Offering Circular.

In order to ensure compliance with these laws and regulations, each purchaser of a ChiNext Share LEPW
is deemed to represent, warrant, agree and undertake its full compliance with the ChiNext Share Connect
Selling Restrictions set out in the "Offering and Sale" of this Offering Circular. Failure of any Holder to
comply with the ChiNext Share Connect Selling Restrictions (an "LEPW Non-compliance Event") will
be an Additional Disruption Event which gives the relevant Issuer the right to make appropriate
adjustments to the Terms and Conditions of such LEPWs or cancel such LEPWs early.

Furthermore, in the event that a governmental or regulatory authority of any Relevant Jurisdiction has
requested the relevant Issuer, MLI and/or their respective affiliates or agent to terminate or modify the
LEPWs, any Applicable Hedge Positions or any Related Hedging Arrangement relating thereto, or
otherwise imposes material requirements on the foregoing, the Guarantee, the holders or related
documents, an Additional Disruption Event will occur which gives the relevant Issuer the right to make
appropriate adjustments to the Terms and Conditions of the LEPWs or cancel the LEPWs early.

Any adjustment and/or early termination of the LEPWs may result in the loss of some or all of the
purchaser's investment.

Further, the adjustment and/or early termination right applies to the entire series of the LEPWs. Any
breach by a single Holder may trigger adjustment and/or early termination of the entire series of the
LEPWs. Holders who are not in breach will also be affected as their holdings in the same series of LEPWs
will be subject to adjustment and/or early termination caused by the breach of such other Holder.

Specific risks relating to Share Linked Instruments linked to a share listed and/or traded on a stock
exchange in a jurisdiction (a "Relevant Jurisdiction") in respect of which the applicable Final Terms
specify that the "LEPW Conditions" shall be applicable ("LEPW'")

In respect of LEPWs issued by the relevant Issuer, the issuance, sale, transfer and/or holding of such
LEPWs may be subject to laws and regulations in the Relevant Jurisdiction. Purchasers of LEPWs are
required to comply with the applicable laws and regulations of the Relevant Jurisdiction.

In order to ensure compliance with these laws and regulations, each purchaser of a LEPW is deemed to
represent, warrant, agree and undertake on an ongoing basis its full compliance with the relevant selling
restrictions and transfer restrictions applicable to the Relevant Jurisdiction set out in the "Offering and
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Sale" section of this Offering Circular, and agree and undertake to provide any additional disclosure or
information that the relevant Issuer, MLI, BAC and/or their respective affiliates reasonably deem
necessary or appropriate in order to comply with the regulations or requests from any governmental or
regulatory authorities of the Relevant Jurisdiction from time to time.

Failure of any Holder to comply with the relevant selling restrictions or transfer restrictions applicable
to the Relevant Jurisdiction and/or failure to provide the relevant Issuer and/or its affiliates promptly
with the information described above and/or execute any document that the relevant Issuer, MLI, BAC
and/or their respective affiliates reasonably deem necessary or appropriate in order to comply with the
regulations or requests from any governmental or regulatory authorities of the Relevant Jurisdiction from
time to time (each an "LEPW Non-compliance Event") will, if LEPW Non-compliance Event is
specified as applicable in the Final Terms for the applicable Series of LEPW, be an Additional Disruption
Event which gives the relevant Issuer the right to make appropriate adjustments to the Terms and
Conditions of the LEPWs or cancel the LEPWs early.

Furthermore, if Regulatory Order is specified as applicable in the Final Terms for the applicable Series
of LEPW, in the event that a governmental or regulatory authority of the Relevant Jurisdiction has
requested the relevant Issuer, MLI and/or their respective affiliates or agent to terminate or modify the
LEPWs, any Applicable Hedge Positions or any Related Hedging Arrangement relating thereto, or
otherwise imposes material requirements on the foregoing, the Guarantee, the holders or related
documents, an Additional Disruption Event will occur which gives the relevant Issuer the right to make
appropriate adjustments to the Terms and Conditions of the LEPWs or cancel the LEPWs early.

Any adjustment and/or early termination of the LEPWs may result in the loss of some or all of the
purchaser's investment.

Further, the adjustment and/or early termination right applies to the entire series of the LEPWs. Any
breach by a single Holder may trigger adjustment and/or early termination of the entire series of the
LEPWs. Holders who are not in breach will also be affected as their holdings in the same series of LEPWs
will be subject to adjustment and/or early termination caused by the breach of such other Holder.

(1ii) Risks relating to GDR/ADR Linked Instruments

Exposure to risk that redemption amounts do not reflect direct investment in the shares underlying
the Depositary Receipts

There are important differences between the rights of holders of ADRs or GDRs (ADRs and GDRs,
together, "Depositary Receipts") and the rights of holders of the stock of the issuer of underlying shares
represented by such Depositary Receipts. A Depositary Receipt is a security that represents capital stock
of the relevant underlying share issuer. The relevant Deposit Agreement for the Depositary Receipt sets
out the rights and responsibilities of the Depositary (being the issuer of the Depositary Receipt), the
underlying share issuer and holders of the Depositary Receipt which may be different from the rights of
holders of the underlying shares. For example, the underlying share issuer may make distributions in
respect of its underlying shares that are not passed on to the holders of its Depositary Receipts. Any such
differences between the rights of holders of the Depositary Receipts and holders of the underlying shares
of the underlying share issuer may be significant and may materially and adversely affect the value of
the relevant GDR/ADR Linked Instruments.

Exposure to the risk of non-recognition of beneficial ownership of the underlying shares represented
by Depositary Receipts and therefore generally do not include dividends

The legal owner of the underlying shares represented by Depositary Receipts is the custodian bank which
at the same time is the issuing agent of the Depositary Receipts. Depending on the jurisdiction under
which the Depositary Receipts have been issued and the jurisdiction to which the custodian agreement is
subject, it is possible that the corresponding jurisdiction would not recognise the purchaser of the
Depositary Receipts as the actual beneficial owner of the underlying shares. Particularly in the event
that the custodian becomes insolvent or that enforcement measures are taken against the custodian, it is
possible that an order restricting free disposition could be issued with respect to the underlying shares
represented by Depositary Receipts or that such shares are realised within the framework of an
enforcement measure against the custodian. If this is the case, the holder of the Depositary Receipt loses
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the rights under the underlying shares and the GDR/ADR Linked Instruments would become worthless.
See "Investors risk losing all of their investment in the Instruments" above.

Potential exposure to risks of emerging markets

Depositary Receipts often represent shares of underlying share issuers based in emerging market
jurisdictions. In such case, there are risks relating to GDR/ADR Linked Instruments linked to Depositary
Receipts which represent such underlying shares. See "Risks relating to Instruments which are linked to
emerging market Reference Item(s)" above.

Adjustment to the terms and conditions or replacement of the Reference Item following certain
corporate events in relation to the underlying shares represented by Depositary Receipts may
materially and adversely affect the value of the Instruments

Following certain corporate events specified in the terms and conditions of the relevant GDR/ADR
Linked Instruments relating to the underlying shares represented by Depositary Receipts or the relevant
issuer of such underlying shares, such as a merger where the relevant company is not the surviving entity,
the amount Holders of GDR/ADR Linked Instruments will receive, if any, at maturity of such
Instruments may be adjusted by the Calculation Agent or the affected underlying shares and Depositary
Receipts may be replaced by another Reference Item. The occurrence of such corporate events and the
consequential adjustments may materially and adversely affect the value of the GDR/ADR Linked
Instruments.

Holders of Instruments are exposed to changes in the rate of exchange between the currency of the
Depositary Receipt and the underlying share

Where the currency of the Depositary Receipt is different from that of the underlying share, represented
by a Depositary Receipt, Holders of Instruments linked to such Depositary Receipt may be exposed not
only to the performance of the Depositary Receipt but also to the performance of the relevant foreign
currency of the underlying share, which cannot be predicted. See "Factors affecting the performance of
the relevant foreign exchange rate may adversely affect the value of the Instruments" below.

(iv) Risks relating to FX Linked Instruments and other Instruments in respect of which
"Exchange Rate" is specified to be applicable

Factors affecting the performance of the relevant foreign exchange rate may adversely affect the value
of the Instruments

In the case of FX Linked Instruments or any other Instruments in respect of which "Exchange Rate" is
specified to be applicable in the applicable Final Terms, any changes to the foreign exchange rate(s) to
which such Instruments are linked will affect the nature and value of the investment return on such
Instruments. The performance of foreign exchange rates is dependent upon the supply and demand for
currencies in the international foreign exchange markets, which are subject to international and domestic
political factors, economic factors (including inflation rates in the countries concerned, interest rate
differences between the respective countries), economic forecasts, currency convertibility and safety of
making financial investments in the currency concerned, speculation and measures taken by governments
and central banks. Measures taken by governments and central banks include, without limitation,
imposition of regulatory controls or taxes, issuance of a new currency to replace an existing currency,
alteration of the exchange rate or exchange characteristics by devaluation or revaluation of a currency or
imposition of exchange controls with respect to the exchange or transfer of a Specified Currency that
would affect exchange rates and the availability of a Specified Currency which would affect the return
on such an Instrument or the ability of the relevant Issuer to make delivery in the Specified Currency.

BAC is a major foreign exchange dealer and is subject to conflicts of interest

Investors should note that BAC and its Affiliates (including Merrill Lynch International) are regular
participants in the foreign exchange markets and in the ordinary course of their business may effect
transactions for their own account or for the account of their customers and hold long and short positions
in currencies and related derivatives, including in the currencies of the relevant foreign exchange rate(s).
Such transactions may affect the relevant foreign exchange rate(s) and the market price, liquidity or value
of the Instruments and could be adverse to the interests of Holders. Neither BAC nor any of its Affiliates
has any duty to enter into such transactions in a manner which is favourable to Holders.
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Currencies of emerging markets jurisdictions pose particular risks

Instruments (including FX Linked Instruments) which expose the investor to emerging market currencies
may experience greater volatility and less certainty as to the future levels of such emerging market
currencies or their rate of exchange as against other currencies. See "Risks relating to Instruments which
are linked to emerging market Reference Item(s)" above.

v) Risks relating to Commodity Linked Instruments

An investment in Commodity Linked Instruments entails significant risks in addition to those associated
with investments in a conventional debt security.

Ownership of the Commodity Linked Instruments will not entitle an investor to any rights with respect
to any futures contracts or Commodities included in or tracked by the Reference Item(s)

An investor will not own or have any beneficial or other legal interest in, and will not be entitled to any
rights with respect to, any of the Commodities or commodity futures contracts included in such Reference
Item(s). Neither the relevant Issuer nor the Guarantor (if applicable) will invest in any of the
Commodities or commodity futures contracts included in such Reference Item(s) on behalf or for the
benefit of the Holders.

Factors affecting the performance of Commodities may adversely affect the value of the Commodity
Linked Instruments; Commodity prices may be more volatile than other asset classes

The prices of Commodities may be volatile and may fluctuate substantially if, for example, natural
disasters or catastrophes, such as hurricanes, fires, or earthquakes, affect the supply or production of such
Commodities. Commodity prices also fluctuate due to general macro-economic forces and general
market movements. The price of Commodities may also fluctuate substantially if conflict or war affects
the supply or production of such Commodities. If any amount payable in respect of an Instrument is
linked to the price of a Commodity, any change in the price of such Commodity may result in the
reduction of the amount of such payment in respect of an Instrument. The reduction in the amount
payable on the redemption/settlement of the Instrument may result, in some cases, in a Holder receiving
a smaller sum on redemption/settlement of the Instrument than the amount originally invested in such
Commodity Linked Instrument.

Commodity Linked Instruments may reference physical commodities or commodity contracts, and
Commodity Indices may include commodity contracts that are not traded on regulated exchanges

Commodities comprise both (i) "physical" commodities, which need to be stored and transported, and
which are generally traded at a "spot" price, and (ii) commodity contracts, which are agreements either
to (a) buy or sell a set amount of an underlying physical commodity at a predetermined price and delivery
period (which may be referred to as a delivery month), or to (b) make and receive a cash payment based
on changes in the price of the underlying physical commodity.

Commodity Indices are typically based solely on futures contracts traded on regulated futures exchanges;
however, a Commodity Index may include over-the-counter contracts traded on trading facilities outside
the United States that are subject to lesser degrees of regulation or, in some cases, no substantive
regulation. Accordingly, trading in such contracts, and the manner in which prices and volumes are
reported by the relevant trading facilities, may not be subject to the provisions of, and the protections
afforded by, the applicable regulations governing regulated futures exchanges. As a result, the trading
of contracts on such facilities and the inclusion of such contracts in a Commodity Index may be subject
to certain risks not presented by most exchange-traded futures contracts, including risks related to the
liquidity and price histories of the relevant contracts, and any Instruments which reference any such
commodity contracts may have reduced liquidity or greater price volatility or be subject to more
extensive market disruptions.

Commodity Linked Instruments which are linked to commodity futures contracts may provide a
different return from Commodity Linked Instruments linked to the relevant physical commodity and
will have certain other risks

The price of a futures contract on a commodity will generally be at a premium or at a discount to the spot
price of the underlying commodity. This discrepancy is due to such factors as (i) the need to adjust the
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spot price due to related expenses (e.g., warehousing, transport and insurance costs) and (ii) different
methods being used to evaluate general factors affecting the spot and the futures markets. In addition,
and depending on the commodity, there can be significant differences in the liquidity of the spot and the
futures markets. Accordingly, Commodity Linked Instruments which are linked to commodity futures
contracts may provide a different return from Commodity Linked Instruments linked to the relevant
physical commodity.

Investments in futures contracts involve certain other risks, including potential illiquidity. A holder of a
futures position may find that such position becomes illiquid because certain commodity exchanges limit
fluctuations in such futures contract prices pursuant to "daily limits". Once the price of a particular
futures contract has increased or decreased by an amount equal to the daily limit, positions in the contract
can neither be taken nor liquidated unless holders are willing to effect trades at or within the limit. This
could prevent a holder from promptly liquidating unfavourable positions and subject it to substantial
losses. Futures contract prices in various commodities occasionally have exceeded the daily limit for
several consecutive days with little or no trading. Any such losses in such circumstances could have a
negative adverse effect on the return of any Commodity Linked Instruments the Reference Item of which
is the affected futures contract. There can be no assurance that any such disruption or any other force
majeure (such as an act of God, fire, flood, severe weather conditions, act of governmental authority or
a labour dispute or shortage) will not have an adverse effect on the value of or trading in the Reference
Item(s), or the manner in which it is calculated, and therefore, the value of the Instruments.

In the case of a direct investment in commodity futures contracts, the invested capital may be applied in
whole or in part by way of collateral in respect of the future claims of the respective counterparties under
the commodity futures contracts. Such capital will generally bear interest, and the interest yield will
increase the return of the investor making such direct investment. However, Holders of Instruments
linked to the price of commodity futures contracts do not participate in such interest yields from the
hypothetical fully collateralised investment in commodity futures contracts.

Additional risks in relation to the "rolling" of commodity futures contracts (including commodity
futures contracts which are components of a Commodity Index)

Commodity contracts have a predetermined expiration date, which is the date on which trading of the
commodity contract ceases. Holding a commodity contract until expiration will result in delivery of the
underlying physical commodity or the requirement to make or receive a cash settlement. Alternatively,
"rolling" the commodity contracts means that the commodity contracts that are nearing expiration (the
"near-dated commodity contracts") are sold before they expire and commodity contracts that have an
expiration date further in the future (the "longer-dated commodity contracts") are purchased.
Investments in commodities apply "rolling" of the component commodity contracts in order to maintain
an ongoing exposure to such commodities.

"Rolling" can affect the value of an investment in commodities in a number of ways, including:

(1) The investment in commodity contracts may be increased or decreased through "rolling":
Where the price of a near-dated commodity contract is greater than the price of the longer-dated
commodity contract (the commodity is said to be in "backwardation"), then "rolling" from the
former to the latter will result in exposure to a greater number of the longer-dated commodity
contract being taken. Therefore, any loss or gain on the new positions for a given movement in
the prices of the commodity contract will be greater than if one had synthetically held the same
number of commodity contracts as before the "roll". Conversely, where the price of the near-
dated commodity contract is lower than the price of the longer-dated commodity contract (the
commodity is said to be in "contango"), then "rolling" will result in exposure to a smaller
number of the longer-dated commodity contract being taken. Therefore, any gain or loss on the
new positions for a given movement in the prices of the commodity contract will be less than if
one had synthetically held the same number of commodity contracts as before the "roll".

(ii) Where a commodity contract is in contango (or, alternatively, backwardation) it may be
expected to (though it may not) have a negative (or, alternatively, positive) effect over time:
Where a commodity contract is in "contango", the price of the longer-dated commodity contract
will generally be expected to (but may not) decrease over time as it nears expiry. In such event,
rolling is generally expected to have a negative effect on an investment in the commodity
contract. Where a commodity contract is in "backwardation", the price of the longer-dated
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commodity contract will generally be expected to (but may not) increase over time as it nears
expiry. In such event, the investment in the relevant commodity contract can generally be
expected to be positively affected.

Commodity indices are indices which track the performance of a basket of commodity contracts on
certain commodities, depending on the particular index. The weighting of the respective commodities
included in a commodity index will depend on the particular index, and is generally described in the
relevant index rules of the index. Commodity indices apply "rolling" of the component commodity
contracts in order to maintain an ongoing exposure to such commodities. Specifically, as a commodity
contract is required to be rolled pursuant to the relevant index rules, the commodity index is calculated
as if exposure to the commodity contract was liquidated and exposure was taken to another (generally
longer-dated) commodity contract for an equivalent exposure. Accordingly, the same effects as
described above with regard to "rolling" on the value of a Commodity Reference Item also apply with
regard to the index level of a Commodity index.

Legal and regulatory changes relating to the Commodities may lead to adjustment to, or early
redemption or settlement of, the Commodity Linked Instruments, and could adversely affect the return
on and value of the Commodity Linked Instruments

The legal and regulatory regimes of Commodities in many jurisdictions, including, in particular, the
United States and Europe, may change in ways that could increase the level of regulation of markets and
market participants, reduce liquidity, increase market volatility and increase the costs of participating in
the commodity or futures markets which could negatively affect an interest in Commodity Linked
Instruments.

In the United States, the regulation of commodity transactions is subject to ongoing modification by
governmental and judicial action. For example, the U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission
("CFTC") has interpreted the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the "Dodd-
Frank Act"), which was enacted in July 2010, to require the CFTC to impose limits on the size of
positions that can be held by market participants in futures contracts and OTC derivatives on certain
physical commodities. The CFTC's rules providing for such position limits have been, and may in the
future be, subject to litigation challenging their validity, the potential final outcome of which cannot be
known at this time. While the ultimate scope and effect of any final and implemented position limit rules
are not yet known, these limits will likely restrict the ability of many market participants to trade in the
commodities markets to the same extent as they have in the past, including affecting their ability to enter
into or maintain hedge positions in the applicable commodity or futures contracts. These rules and
various other legislative and regulatory requirements may, among other things, reduce liquidity, increase
market volatility, and increase costs in these markets. These consequences could adversely affect the
applicable Reference Item and the Commodity Linked Instruments.

In addition, other governmental or regulatory bodies (such as the European Commission) have proposed
or may propose in the future legislation or regulations containing restrictions similar to those
contemplated by the Dodd-Frank Act, or other legislation or regulations containing other restrictions that
could adversely impact the liquidity of, and increase the costs of, participating in the commodities
markets. In Europe, the European Market Infrastructure Regulation ("EMIR") and its accompanying
technical standards, as well as MiFID II and its implementing measures, seek to address concerns in
relation to the monitoring of counterparty credit risk of OTC derivatives market participants,
transparency and liquidity in financial markets. For example, under the recast MiFID II and the
accompanying Markets in Financial Instruments Regulation ("MiFIR"), there are requirements to
establish position limits on trading commodity derivatives. The implementing regulations and technical
standards are currently subject to review and consultation and the scope of the final rules remains unclear.

Any such changes to the legal and regulatory regime in relation to Commodities may adversely affect
the relevant Issuer's obligations in respect of any underlying or hedging transactions in relation to the
Commodity Linked Instruments, or may make it unlawful or infeasible, in whole or in part, for any reason
for the relevant Issuer to access the commodity markets for purposes of managing commodity market
risk, which may lead to adjustment to, or early redemption/settlement of, the Commodity Linked
Instruments. In the event of an early redemption/settlement, any early settlement amount or early
redemption amount may be less than the purchase price of the Commodity Linked Instruments, and may
be zero.
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In addition, any such changes to the legal and regulatory regime in relation to Commodities could have
an adverse impact on the price of a Commodity, or the return on a Commodity Index, and the return on
and value of the Commodity Linked Instruments.

Data sourcing and calculation risks associated with a Commodity Index and the commodity contracts
underlying a Commodity Index may adversely affect the value of the Commodity Index

The closing level of a Commodity Index or the prices of commodity contracts underlying such
Commodity Index will be calculated based on price data that are subject to potential errors in data sources
or other errors that may affect the closing levels published by the relevant sponsor of a Commodity Index
or the prices published by the relevant price source(s) for such underlying commodity contracts, as
applicable. Also, there may be errors in any other data sourced by the sponsor of a Commodity Index.
Such errors could adversely affect the closing level of the Commodity Index on any given day, which
could in turn have an adverse effect on the value of the Instruments and any amount payable under the
Instruments. There can be no assurance that any error or discrepancy on the part of any data source or
sponsor will be corrected or revised or that the sponsor of a Commodity Index will incorporate any such
correction or revision into the calculation of such Commodity Index. None of the sponsor of a
Commodity Index, the Issuers and the Guarantor makes any representation or warranty, express or
implied, as to the correctness or completeness of that information or takes any responsibility for the
accuracy of such data or the impact of any inaccuracy of such data on the relevant level of such
Commodity Index, or on the value of any commodity contracts included in such Commodity Index.

(vi) Risks relating to Fund Linked Instruments

No Fund will have participated in the preparation of the applicable Final Terms or in establishing the
terms of the Fund Linked Instruments

No Fund will have participated in the preparation of the applicable Final Terms or in establishing the
terms of the Fund Linked Instruments and none of the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (if applicable) and
any Dealer will make any investigation or enquiry in connection with such offering with respect to any
information concerning any such Fund contained in such Final Terms or in the documents from which
such information was extracted. Neither the relevant Issuer nor the Guarantor (if applicable) controls
any Fund or is responsible for any disclosure, misstatements or omissions made by any Fund.
Consequently, there can be no assurance that all events occurring prior to the relevant issue date
(including events that would affect the adequacy, accuracy or completeness of the publicly available
information or in any applicable Final Terms) that would affect the net asset value of a unit (or fund
interest) in the relevant Fund(s) or, the share price of the Fund Shares of the relevant Exchange Traded
Fund(s) ("ETFs"), will have been publicly disclosed. Subsequent disclosure of any such events or the
disclosure of or failure to disclose material future events concerning such Fund could affect the net asset
value of a unit (or fund interest) in such Fund, or the share price of the Fund Shares of such ETFs, and
therefore the trading price of the Instruments or amounts paid or delivered under the Instruments.

A Fund may be subject to Fund Events which may adversely impact the value of Fund Linked
Instruments

If certain events specified as Fund Events occur, the Calculation Agent may replace the Fund by other
Funds and thereafter the amount payable in respect of the Fund Linked Instruments will depend on and
be calculated by reference to the performance of an alternate asset. This may have a considerable impact
on the value of the Fund Linked Instruments and the amount payable in respect of the Fund Linked
Instruments.  Alternatively, any determination dates and payment dates may be changed by the
Calculation Agent, or the amount paid per Fund Linked Instrument may be based on the only cash
amounts that an investor in the fund actually received, which might be as low as zero.

Risk from composition and changes to a Fund

The management company of a Fund can, without regard to the interests of the investors in the Fund
Linked Instruments, add, delete or substitute any Funds by reference to which the value of a Fund is
calculated or make other methodological changes that could change the investment profile of a Fund.
The management company may also determine to discontinue a Fund. If a Fund is discontinued, it may
be replaced by other assets and/or the Fund Linked Instruments may be redeemed or exercised early.
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In the event that a Fund is materially modified or permanently cancelled or the management company
fails to calculate or announce the net asset value of a Fund, the Calculation Agent either will make such
adjustments to any variable, calculation methodology, valuation, settlement, payment terms or any other
terms and conditions of the Fund Linked Instruments as the Calculation Agent determines appropriate to
account for the effect on the Fund Linked Instruments of such events, or may redeem or exercise the
Fund Linked Instruments early. Any of these decisions or determinations may adversely impact the
value of the Fund Linked Instruments. In the event that the Fund Linked Instruments are early
settled/redeemed, the amount payable to an investor may be less than the investor's initial investment,
and may be as low as zero.

Funds may be subject to transfer restrictions and illiquidity

Funds and the assets thereof may be subject to transfer restrictions arising by way of applicable securities
laws or otherwise. Such restrictions may mean that purchasers of the Fund Linked Instruments are not
entitled to acquire interests in the Funds directly. Holders of units or shares in a Fund may have the right
to transfer or withdraw their investment in the Funds only at certain times and upon completion of certain
documentary formalities and such rights may be subject to suspension or alteration. These circumstances
may affect the net asset value of the Funds in question. Potential investors should familiarise themselves
with the features of the Funds in this regard.

Events which affect the value of a Fund will affect the value of Fund Linked Instruments

The occurrence of any of the following events could materially and adversely affect the value of shares
or units in a Fund, and have a consequent material and adverse effect on the value of Fund Linked
Instruments:

. Valuation: The valuation of Funds is generally controlled by the management company of the
Fund. Valuations are performed in accordance the terms and conditions governing the Fund.
Such valuations may be based upon the unaudited financial records of the Fund and any accounts
pertaining thereto. Such valuations may be preliminary calculations of the net asset values of
the Fund and accounts. The Fund may hold a significant number of investments which are
illiquid or otherwise not actively traded and in respect of which reliable net asset values may be
difficult to obtain. In consequence, the management company may vary certain quotations for
such investments held by the Fund in order to reflect its judgement as to the fair value thereof.
Therefore, valuations may be subject to subsequent adjustment upward or downward.
Uncertainties as to the valuation of Fund assets and/or accounts may have an adverse effect on
the net asset value of the Fund where such judgements regarding valuations prove to be
incorrect.

. Trading charges: The performance of a Fund will be affected by the charges incurred thereby
relating to the investments of such Fund. The Fund may engage in short-term trading which
may result in increased turnover and associated higher than normal brokerage commissions and
other expenses.

. Legal and regulatory changes: Future changes to applicable law or regulation may be adverse
to a Fund.
. Investment risk: All investments risk the loss of capital and/or the diminution of investment

returns. A Fund may utilise (inter alia) strategies such as short-selling, leverage, securities
lending and borrowing, investment in sub-investment grade or non-readily realisable
investments, uncovered options transactions, options and futures transactions and foreign
exchange transactions and the use of concentrated portfolios, each of which could, in certain
circumstances, magnify adverse market developments and losses.

. Mlliquidity: A Fund may make investments in markets that are volatile and/or illiquid and it may
be difficult or costly for positions therein to be opened or liquidated.

. Performance risk: No assurance can be given relating to the present or future performance of a
Fund. The performance of a Fund is dependent on the performance of the management company
thereof. Certain management companies may utilise analytical models upon which investment
decisions are based. No assurance can be given that these persons will succeed in meeting the
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investment objectives of the Fund, that any analytical model used thereby will prove to be
correct or that any assessments of the short-term or long-term prospects, volatility and
correlation of the types of investments in which the Funds have invested or will invest will prove
accurate.

Effect of exchange rates and exchange controls: The net asset value of a Fund could be adversely
affected not only by hedging costs and changes in exchange rates, but also by local exchange
control regulations and other limitations, including currency exchange limitations and political
and economic developments in the relevant countries.

Market risks: The markets in which a Fund invests may prove to be highly volatile from time to
time as a result of, for example, sudden changes in government policies on taxation and currency
repatriation or changes in legislation relating to the value of foreign ownership in companies,
and this may affect the net asset value at which a Fund may liquidate positions to meet
repurchase requests or other funding requirements.

Hedging risks: A Fund may in certain cases employ various hedging techniques to reduce the
risk of investment positions. A substantial risk remains, nonetheless, that such techniques will
not always be available and when available, will not always be effective in limiting losses. A
Fund may take substantial unhedged positions.

Interest rate risks: The values of securities held by a Fund (or by any underlying Fund) tend to
be sensitive to interest rate fluctuations and unexpected fluctuations in interest rates could cause
the corresponding net asset values of a Fund's positions to move in directions which were not
initially anticipated. To the extent that interest rate assumptions underlie the hedge ratios
implemented in hedging a particular position, fluctuations in interest rates could invalidate those
underlying assumptions and expose a Fund to losses.

Absence of regulation: A Fund will generally not be regulated under the laws of any country or
jurisdiction. As a result, certain protections of such laws (which, among other things, may
require investment companies to have disinterested directors, require securities to be held in
custody and segregated, regulate the relationship between the investment company and its
adviser and mandate investor approval before fundamental investment policies may be changed)
do not apply to a Fund. This absence of regulation may adversely affect the performance of a
Fund.

Suspension of trading: A securities exchange typically has the right to suspend or limit trading
in any instrument traded on that exchange. A suspension could render it impossible for a Fund
to liquidate positions and thereby expose a Fund to losses.

Dependence on key individuals: The success of a Fund is dependent on the expertise of its
managers. The loss of one or more individuals could have a material adverse effect on the
ability of a Fund manager to direct a fund's portfolio, resulting in losses for a Fund and a decline
in the value of a Fund. Indeed, certain fund managers may have only one principal, without
whom the relevant Fund manager could not continue to operate.

Experience of Fund managers: Certain Funds may be managed by investment managers who
have managed hedge funds for a relatively short period of time. The previous experience of
such investment managers is typically in trading proprietary accounts of financial institutions
or managing unhedged accounts of institutional asset managers or other investment firms. As
such investment managers do not have direct experience in managing Funds or hedge funds,
including experience with financial, legal or regulatory considerations unique to Fund
management, and there is generally less information available on which to base an opinion of
such managers' investment and management expertise, investments with such investment
managers may be subject to greater risk and uncertainty than investments with more experienced
Fund managers.

Risk of fraud: There is a risk that a Fund manager could divert or abscond with the assets, fail

to follow agreed-upon investment strategies, provide false reports of operations or engage in
other misconduct.
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Performance compensation payable to Fund managers: The performance-based compensation
paid to a Fund manager is typically calculated on a basis that includes unrealised appreciation
and may consequently be greater than if such compensation were based solely on realised gains.
Each Fund generally calculates its own performance compensation based on its individual
performance, irrespective of increases in the overall value of the Fund. Furthermore, when the
Fund is rebalanced and an unprofitable underlying asset is removed, the loss carried forward by
such Fund's trading is eliminated for purposes of calculating subsequent performance
compensation due to the Fund manager of any replacement underlying asset. Thus, there may
be substantial incentive compensation due to the relevant Fund manager even during a period
when the portfolio of assets is incurring significant losses.

Concentration risk: As many hedge funds have the authority to concentrate their investments in
securities of a single issuer or industry, the overall adverse impact on one or more components
of the fund, and correspondingly on the value of the Fund, of adverse movements in the value
of such securities could be considerably greater than if the Fund were not permitted to
concentrate their investments. Moreover, a number of hedge funds included as components in
a Fund might accumulate substantial positions in the same or related instruments at the same
time. As information regarding the actual investments made by such funds is not generally
available, the management company will be unable to identify any such accumulations, which
could expose the relevant Fund to the risk of sudden and severe declines.

Risks of leverage: A Fund may borrow without limitation and typically utilises various lines of
credit and other forms of leverage. In addition, certain of a Fund's investment strategies
(primarily those utilising derivative instruments) may involve indirect forms of leverage. While
leverage presents opportunities for increasing a Fund's total return, it increases the potential risk
of loss as well. Any event which adversely affects the value of an investment by a Fund is
magnified to the extent that such investment is leveraged. Leverage can have a similar effect
on issuers in which a Fund invests. The use of leverage by a Fund could result in substantial
losses which would be greater than if leverage had not been used. A Fund's assets may be
further leveraged or hedged by the use of derivatives. In addition, investments of a fund may
include investments in partnerships and other pooled investment vehicles, which themselves
employ leverage to a significant extent. Such investments are subject to the same leverage risks
as described above and a Fund could lose its entire investment. As a general matter, the banks
and dealers that provide financing to a fund can apply essentially discretionary margin, haircut,
financing and security and collateral valuation policies. Changes by banks and dealers in these
policies may result in large margin calls, loss of financing and forced liquidations of positions
at disadvantageous net asset values.

Non-deductible taxes: As Funds may be resident in so-called off-shore jurisdictions, which have
not entered into any double taxation conventions with other countries, any income of such Fund
may be subject to taxation in the countries of origin. As such withholding taxes are non-
deductible due to the fact that such Funds are not subject to income taxation in their countries
of residence, the Fund's net income may be reduced which may have a negative impact on the
performance of such Fund.

Investment criteria: It may be difficult to specify precisely or comprehensively the strategies of
a Fund. As a result, it may not sometimes be clear whether or not a Fund fulfils the investment
criteria set out in its offering document.

Risks of equity investments: The investment orientation of a Fund may be based to a significant
extent on equity investments. Investment in equity securities to aggressively seek capital
appreciation is speculative and is generally perceived to encompass greater risks than those
involved in connection with an investment in debt securities of comparable issuers.

Risks of fixed income investments: A Fund may invest in fixed income securities and, therefore,
may be exposed to the risk of default by the issuers of such securities. Such default may result
in delays in payment, or non-payment of interest or principal when due. Furthermore, the net
asset value of fixed income securities may also fluctuate with changes in prevailing interest rates
and/or in the creditworthiness of the issuer, and these fluctuations may result in a loss of capital
by a Fund.
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Risks of collective investment schemes: Some Funds may invest in other collective investment
schemes. Investment in schemes of this type may afford the investor less transparency in respect
of the ultimate assets of the scheme.

Large transactions: Large subscriptions and redemptions may result in the liquidation or
dilution of fund assets that may affect the net asset value of such Fund.

Emerging markets: A Fund may invest in securities of governments of, or companies domiciled
in, less-developed or emerging markets. See "Risks relating to Instruments which are linked to
emerging market Reference Item(s)" above. Custody arrangements in such countries may also
present enhanced risk.

Risks of repos: A Fund may use repurchase agreements. Under a repurchase agreement, a
security is sold to a buyer and at the same time the seller of the security agrees to buy back the
security at a later date at a higher net asset value. In the event of a bankruptcy or other default
of the transferor of securities in a repurchase agreement, a Fund could experience delays in
liquidating the underlying securities and losses, including possible declines in the value of the
collateral during the period while it seeks to enforce its rights thereto; possible subnormal levels
of income and lack of access to income during this period and the expenses of enforcing its
rights. In the case of a default by the transferee of securities in a repurchase agreement, the
management company bears the risk that the transferee may not deliver the securities when
required.

Risks of currency speculation: A Fund may engage in exchange rate speculation. Foreign
exchange rates have been highly volatile in recent years. The combination of volatility and
leverage gives rise to the possibility of large profit but also carries a high risk of loss. In
addition, there is counterparty credit risk since foreign exchange trading is done on a principal
to principal basis.

Risks of commodity futures: Commodity futures prices can be highly volatile. As a result of the
low margin deposits normally required in futures trading, an extremely high degree of leverage
is typical of a futures trading account. As aresult, a relatively small price movement in a futures
contract may result in substantial losses to the investor. Like other leveraged investments, a
futures transaction may result in losses in excess of the amount invested.

Risks of derivative instruments: A Fund may use derivative instruments, such as collateralised
debt obligations, stripped mortgage-backed securities, options and swaps. There are
uncertainties as to how the derivatives market will perform during periods of unusual price
volatility or instability, market illiquidity or credit distress. Substantial risks are also involved
in borrowing and lending against such instruments. The prices of these instruments are volatile,
market movements are difficult to predict and financing sources and related interest rates are
subject to rapid change. One or more markets may move against the positions held by a Fund,
thereby causing substantial losses. Most of these instruments are not traded on exchanges but
rather through an informal network of banks and dealers. These banks and dealers have no
obligation to make markets in these instruments and may apply essentially discretionary margin
and credit requirements (and thus, in effect, force a Fund to close out its relevant positions). In
addition, such instruments carry the additional risk of failure to perform by the counterparty to
the transaction. Government policies, especially those of the Federal Reserve Board and non-
U.S. central banks, have profound effects on interest and exchange rates which, in turn, affect
prices of derivative instruments. Many other unforeseeable events, including actions by various
government agencies and domestic and international political events, may cause sharp market
fluctuations.

Risks of short selling: A Fund may sell securities short. Short selling exposes a Fund to
theoretically unlimited risk due to the lack of an upper limit on the price to which a security may
rise. Short selling involves the sale of borrowed stock. If a stock loan is called, the short seller
may be forced to repurchase the stock at a loss. In addition, some traders may attempt to profit
by forcing short sellers to incur a loss. Traders may make large purchases of a stock that has
been sold short. The large purchases are intended to drive up the stock price, and cause the
short sellers to incur losses. By doing this, the traders hope that the short sellers will limit their
losses by repurchasing the stock and force the stock price even higher.
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. Risks of arbitrage: The use of arbitrage strategies by a Fund in no respect should be taken to
imply that such strategies are without risk. Substantial losses may be incurred on "hedge" or
"arbitrage" positions, and illiquidity and default on one side of a position may effectively result
in the position being transformed into an outright speculation. Every arbitrage strategy involves
exposure to some second order risk of the market, such as the implied volatility in convertible
bonds or warrants, the yield spread between similar term government bonds or the net asset
value spread between different classes of stock for the same underlying firm. Further, there are
few examples of "pure" arbitrage Funds. Most Funds also employ limited directional strategies
which expose them to market risk.

. Credit risk: Many of the markets in which a Fund effects its transactions are "over-the-counter"
or "inter-dealer" markets. The participants in these markets are typically not subject to credit
evaluation and regulatory oversight as are members of "exchange based" markets. To the extent
that a Fund invests in swaps, derivatives or synthetic instruments, or other over-the-counter
transactions in these markets, such Fund may take a credit risk with regard to parties with which
it trades and also may bear the risk of settlement default. These risks may differ materially from
those involved in exchange-traded transactions, which generally are characterised by clearing
organisation guarantees, daily marking-to-market and settlement, and segregation and minimum
capital requirements applicable to intermediaries. Transactions entered into directly between
two counterparties generally do not benefit from these protections, which in turn may subject a
Fund to the risk that a counterparty will not settle a transaction in accordance with its terms and
conditions because of a dispute over the terms of the contract or because of a credit or liquidity
problem. Such "counterparty risk" is increased for contracts with longer maturities when events
may intervene to prevent settlement. The ability of a Fund to transact business with any one or
any number of counterparties, the lack of any independent evaluation of the counterparties or
their financial capabilities, and the absence of a regulated market to facilitate settlement, may
increase the potential for losses.

. Risks relating to controlling stakes: A Fund may take controlling stakes in companies. The
exercise of control over a company imposes additional risks of liability for environmental
damage, product defects, failure to supervise and other types of related liability.

. Price volatility: The market price of Fund Linked Instruments may be volatile and may depend
on the time remaining to the redemption date or settlement date (as applicable) and the volatility
of the price of Fund share(s) or unit(s). The price of Fund share(s) or unit(s) may be affected
by the economic, financial and political events in one or more jurisdictions, including factors
affecting the exchange(s) or quotation system(s) on which any units in the Fund or Funds may
be traded.

AS the shares of certain Funds may only be redeemable on certain dates, there is a risk of delays or
defaults in payment

The shares of a Fund may only be redeemable on certain redemption dates, subject to the prescribed
notice period in respect of such Fund. This gives rise to a time delay between the execution of an order
for redemption and payment of the proceeds on such redemption. If the Fund becomes insolvent
following the date on which a redemption order would have to be notionally placed or the Calculation
Agent determines that the relevant Fund would fail to pay to any shareholder in cash the full redemption
proceeds owing to them if they redeemed their shares on the relevant date, an adjustment may be made
by the Calculation Agent when calculating the return on the Instruments to the net asset value per share
of the relevant Fund, thereby reducing the return on the Instruments.

In the case of Fund Linked Instruments linked to ETFs, if the Calculation Agent determines that an event
giving rise to a Disrupted Day has occurred at any relevant time, any such determination may have an
effect on the timing of valuation and consequently the value of the Instruments and/or may delay
settlement in respect of the Fund Linked Instruments. Potential investors should review the relevant
Conditions and the applicable Final Terms to ascertain whether and how such provisions apply to the
Fund Linked Instruments.

In the case of Fund Linked Instruments linked to ETFs, following the declaration by the ETF of the
occurrence of any Potential Adjustment Event, the Calculation Agent will, in its sole and absolute
discretion, determine whether such Potential Adjustment Event has a diluting or concentrative effect on
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the theoretical relevant Fund Shares and, if so, will (i) make the corresponding adjustment, if any, to any
of the terms of the relevant Conditions and/or the applicable Final Terms as the Calculation Agent in its
sole and absolute discretion determines appropriate to account for that diluting or concentrative effect
and (ii) determine the effective date of that adjustment. Such adjustment may have an adverse effect on
the value and liquidity of the affected Fund Linked Instruments.

In addition, in the case of Fund Linked Instruments linked to ETFs, if a Merger Event, Tender Offer, De-
Listing, Material Underlying Event, Nationalisation or Insolvency occurs in relation to any Fund Share,
the relevant Issuer in its sole and absolute discretion may take the action described in (i) or (ii) below:

6)] require the Calculation Agent to determine in its sole and absolute discretion the appropriate
adjustment, if any, to be made to any of the relevant Conditions and/or the applicable Final
Terms to account for the Merger Event, Tender Offer, De-Listing, Material Underlying Event,
Nationalisation or Insolvency and determine the effective date of that adjustment. Such
adjustment may have an adverse effect on the value and liquidity of the affected Fund Linked
Instruments; or

(ii) redeem or cancel, as applicable, all of the Fund Linked Instruments. In the event of such
redemption or cancellation the amount payable to an investor may be less than the investor's
initial investment, and may be as low as zero.

The Instruments are not sold or promoted by any ETF Party

The Instruments are not regulated, sponsored, endorsed, underwritten, guaranteed, sold, marketed, or
promoted by any ETF issuer or its affiliates (including for sake of clarity, any underwriters, custodians,
and distributors) or the sponsor or owner of any underlying index or other component (each an "ETF
Party"). No ETF Party has passed on, or makes any representation, warranty, or guarantee, to the owners
of the Instruments or any member of the public regarding, the suitability, advisability, results to be
obtained, or legality, of investing in the Instruments, or as to the Instruments' descriptions, disclosures,
or disclaimers. No ETF Party has any obligation or liability in connection with the operation, marketing,
trading or sale of the Instrument. Third party trademarks are property of their respective owners.

NO ETF PARTY MAKES ANY WARRANTIES AND BEARS NO LIABILITY (WHETHER IN
NEGLIGENCE OR OTHERWISE) WITH RESPECT TO THE INSTRUMENTS, OR ANY
UNDERLYING ETF, INDEX, OR OTHER COMPONENT, (INCLUDING WITHOUT
LIMITATION: THEIR QUALITY, ACCURACY, TIMELINESS, COMPLETENESS; FOR
ERRORS, OMISSIONS, UNAVAILABILITY, OR INTERRUPTIONS THEREIN; AS TO
MERCHANTABILITY, OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE OR USE), OR FOR
ANY DIRECT, SPECIAL, PUNITIVE, INDIRECT, INCIDENTAL, CONSEQUENTIAL
DAMAGES, OR LOST PROFITS.

(vii) Risks relating to Inflation Linked Instruments

A relevant consumer price index or other formula linked to a measure of inflation to which the
Instruments are linked may be subject to significant fluctuations that may not correlate with other indices.
Any movement in the level of the index may result in a reduction of the interest payable on the
Instruments, and in the case of Instruments with a settlement/redemption amount linked to inflation, in a
reduction of the amount payable on settlement/redemption which in some cases could be less than the
amount originally invested.

The timing of changes in the relevant consumer price index or other formula linked to the measure of
inflation comprising the relevant index or indices may affect the actual yield to investors on the Inflation
Linked Instruments, even if the average level is consistent with their expectations.

An index to which interest payments on an Inflation Linked Instrument and/or the redemption amount of
an Inflation Linked Instrument are linked is only one measure of inflation for the relevant jurisdiction,
and such index may not correlate perfectly with the rate of inflation experienced by Holders in such
jurisdiction.
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(viii)  Risks relating to Credit Linked Instruments
General risks relating to Credit Linked Instruments

The Issuers may issue Credit Linked Instruments where the amount payable is dependent upon whether
certain events ("Credit Events") have occurred in respect of one or more Reference Entity/Entities and,
if so, on the value of certain specified assets of such Reference Entity/Entities or where, if one or more
Credit Events have occurred, on redemption the relevant Issuer's obligation is to deliver certain specified
assets.

Holders of any such Credit Linked Instruments should be aware that depending on the terms of the Credit
Linked Instruments (i) they may receive no or a limited amount of interest or additional amounts, (ii) the
payment of the redemption amount, interest or additional amounts or delivery of any specified assets
may occur at a different time than expected and (iii) they may lose all or a substantial portion of their
investment.

The market price of Credit Linked Instruments may be volatile and will be affected by, amongst other
things, the time remaining to the redemption date or settlement date, as applicable, prevailing credit
spreads and the creditworthiness of the Reference Entity/Entities which in turn may be affected by the
economic, financial and political events in one or more jurisdictions. Risks relating to Credit Linked
Instruments may be correlated or compounded and such correlation and/or compounding may result in
increased volatility in the value of such Instruments and/or in increased losses for holders of such
Instruments.

Actions of Reference Entities (for example, merger or demerger or the repayment or transfer of
indebtedness) may adversely affect the value of any Credit Linked Instruments. The views of market
participants and/or legal counsel may differ as to how the terms of market standard credit default swaps,
and the corresponding terms of any Credit Linked Instruments, should be interpreted in the context of
such actions, or such terms may operate in a manner contrary to the expectations of market participants
and/or adversely to the interests of holders of any Credit Linked Instruments. Holders of any Credit
Linked Instruments should be aware that the Reference Entities to which the value of such Instruments
are exposed, and the terms of such exposure, may change over the term of such Instruments. Reference
Entities may not be subject to regular reporting requirements under Luxembourg securities laws and may
report information in accordance with different disclosure and accounting standards. Consequently, the
information available for such Reference Entities may be different from, and in some cases less than, the
information available for entities that are subject to the reporting requirements under the Luxembourg
securities laws. None of the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (if applicable), the Calculation Agent and any
of their respective affiliates make any representation as to the accuracy or completeness of any
information available with respect to the Reference Entities.

Holders may be affected by Credit Events that occur before the Issue Date

Holders of Credit Linked Instruments may suffer a loss of some or all of their investment if one or more
Credit Events occur on or after the Credit Event Backstop Date (which may fall prior to the Issue Date).
None of the Calculation Agent, the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (if applicable) and any of their
respective affiliates has any responsibility to avoid or mitigate the effects of a Credit Event that has taken
place prior to the Issue Date.

There may be increased risks associated with Nth-to-Default Instruments

Where the Credit Linked Instruments are Nth-to-Default Instruments, the relevant Credit Linked
Instruments will be subject to redemption in full as described above upon the occurrence of a Credit
Event in relation to the Nth Reference Entity in relation to which an Event Determination Date has
occurred. With Nth-to-Default Instruments, the credit risk to holders of the Instruments may be increased
as a result of, amongst other things, the concentration of Reference Entities in a particular industry sector
or geographic area, or the exposure of the Reference Entities to similar financial or other risks.

There may be increased risks associated with Tranched Portfolio CLNs

If a Credit Event occurs in respect of a Reference Entity that results in an Incurred Loss Amount, the
Outstanding Principal Amount of the Credit Linked Notes shall be reduced by the sum of the lesser of:
(a) the Outstanding Principal Amount; and (b) the relevant Settlement Amount, which amount may be at
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a considerable discount to par and could be zero and interest will cease to accrue from the immediately
preceding Interest Payment Date with respect to an amount equal to the relevant Settlement Amount with
respect to such Reference Entity and Credit Event.

If following the occurrence of a Credit Event, the Outstanding Principal Amount of the Credit Linked
Notes is reduced to zero, the Credit Linked Notes will be redeemed early. An investor therefore risks
losing all of its principal and interest.

Further, if on an Interest Determination Date, the Calculation Agent determines that a potential Credit
Event has occurred or a Credit Event has occurred which, in either case, could result in the determination
of an Incurred Loss Amount, then interest shall be deferred in an amount which would have accrued on
the Reference Entity Notional Amount of the relevant affected Reference Entity until the actual
Settlement Amount can be determined and, in such cases, any interest which would have been paid had
the relevant potential Credit Event or Credit Event been determined in the same Interest Period shall be
paid on a deferred basis on the Interest Payment Date following the date on which the relevant Settlement
Amount has been determined.

Since payment under the Credit Linked Notes is linked to the credit of the Reference Portfolio, Holders
will be exposed to the credit risk of the Reference Entity to the full extent of the principal amount of their
Credit Linked Notes. Holders will have no right to vote or exercise any other right or remedy with
respect to any Reference Entity or any of its obligations.

The relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (if applicable), the Dealer(s) and the Calculation Agent have no
duty to disclose use of non-public information with respect to any Reference Entity

The relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (if applicable), the Dealer(s), the Calculation Agent or any of their
respective Affiliates may have acquired, or during the term of the Credit Linked Instruments may acquire,
non-public information with respect to the Reference Entity/Entities that they may not disclose. Potential
investors must therefore make an investment decision based upon their own due diligence and purchase
the Credit Linked Instruments in the knowledge that non-public information which the relevant Issuer,
the Guarantor (if applicable), the Dealer(s), the Calculation Agent or any of their respective Affiliates
may have will not be disclosed to investors. None of the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (if applicable),
the Dealer(s), the Calculation Agent and any of their respective Affiliates is under any obligation (i) to
review on the Holders' behalf, the business, financial conditions, prospects, creditworthiness, status or
affairs of the Reference Entity/Entities or conduct any investigation or due diligence into the Reference
Entity/Entities or (ii) other than as may be required by applicable rules and regulations relating to the
Credit Linked Instruments, to make available (a) any information relating to the Instruments or (b) any
non-public information they may possess in respect of the Reference Entity/Entities.

An investor has no rights with respect to the Reference Entity in respect of any Credit Linked
Instruments

None of the Issuer, the Guarantor (if applicable) or the Dealer have the ability to control or predict the
actions of the Reference Entity, including actions that could affect the value of any Credit Linked
Instruments. No amounts paid with respect to the Credit Linked Instruments will be paid to the Reference
Entity; the Reference Entity will not be involved in the offering of the Credit Linked Instruments in any
way; and the Reference Entity will not have any obligation to consider any investor's interest as a Holder
of the Credit Linked Instruments in taking any actions that might affect the value of the Credit Linked
Instruments. As a Holder of the Credit Linked Instruments, an investor will not have voting rights, rights
to receive distributions or any other rights or remedies with respect to any obligations of the Reference
Entity.

A Credit Event may occur even if the relevant Issuer does not suffer any loss

The relevant Issuer's obligations in respect of Credit Linked Instruments are irrespective of the existence
or amount of the relevant Issuer's and/or any Affiliates' credit exposure to a Reference Entity and the
relevant Issuer and/or any Affiliate need not suffer any loss nor provide evidence of any loss as a result
of the occurrence of a Credit Event.
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Risks relating to Physical Settlement

Where the Credit Linked Instruments provide that the applicable Settlement Method is "Physical
Settlement", or a Fallback Settlement Event has occurred and the Fallback Settlement Method is
"Physical Settlement", the relevant Issuer may determine that the specified assets to be delivered are
either (a) assets which (i) for any reason (including, without limitation, failure of the relevant clearing
system or due to any law, regulation, court order or market conditions or the non-receipt of any requisite
consents with respect to the Delivery of assets which are loans) it is impossible or illegal to deliver on
the specified settlement date or (ii) it is impracticable to Deliver on the specified settlement date because
(1) the relevant holder(s) has not taken any action that is deemed necessary by the Calculation Agent to
enable such Delivery or (2) the holder(s) has failed to provide know-your-customer information sign and
deliver relevant transfer documentation and/or confidentiality agreement, pay a fee to the agent to effect
the transfer and/or provide any other information or documentation or make any other payment
(including taxes) specified under the terms of the relevant specified asset or as is customary to provide
in respect of such specified asset or (b) assets which the relevant Issuer and/or any Affiliate and/or agent
has not received under the terms of any transaction and/or trading position entered into by the relevant
Issuer and/or such Affiliate and/or agent to hedge the relevant Issuer's obligations in respect of the Credit
Linked Instruments.

Any such determination may delay settlement in respect of the Credit Linked Instruments and/or cause
the obligation to deliver such specified assets to be replaced by an obligation to pay a cash amount which,
in either case, may affect the value of the Credit Linked Instruments and, in the case of payment of a
cash amount, will affect the timing of the valuation of such Credit Linked Instruments and as a result,
the amount payable on redemption. Potential investors should review the relevant Conditions and the
applicable Final Terms to ascertain whether and how such provisions should apply to the Credit Linked
Instruments.

In the case of Physical Settlement, where the Reference Obligation is a loan, in order for the Delivery of
the loan (or an interest in the loan) to be effected, the Reference Obligation must be capable of being
transferred to the Holder in accordance with its terms and the Holders must have the capacity to hold
such loan (or loan interest).

In the event that a Governmental Intervention Credit Event or certain Restructuring Credit Events which,
in each case, constitute an Asset Package Credit Event occurs, the assets that may be delivered to the
Holders may include the Asset Package received or retained by a Relevant Holder in place of the Prior
Deliverable Obligation or Package Observable Bond in connection with such Asset Package Credit
Event. Such Asset Package may be comprised of illiquid assets and/or may be worth significantly less
than the original Prior Deliverable Obligation or Package Observable Bond prior to such Asset Package
Credit Event. If the Relevant Holder is offered, receives and retains nothing, the Asset Package shall be
deemed to be zero. In these circumstances, Holders may lose all or a substantial portion of their
investment.

Risks relating to Cash Settlement

If the applicable Settlement Method is "Cash Settlement", or a Fallback Settlement Event has occurred
and the Fallback Settlement Method is "Cash Settlement", then, following the occurrence of a Credit
Event, the Calculation Agent will be required to seek quotations in respect of selected obligations of the
affected Reference Entity. Such quotations may not be available, or the level of such quotations may be
substantially reduced as a result of illiquidity in the relevant markets or as a result of factors other than
the credit risk of the affected Reference Entity (for example, liquidity constraints affecting market
dealers). Accordingly, any quotations so obtained may be significantly lower than the value of the
relevant obligation which would be determined by reference to (for example) the present value of related
cashflows. Quotations may be deemed to be zero in the event that no such quotations are available. This
could result in a lower or zero recovery rate for investors in such Instruments.

If the relevant Issuer has discretion to choose the portfolio of obligations to be valued or delivered
following a Credit Event in respect of a Reference Entity, it is likely that the portfolio of obligations
selected will be obligations of the Reference Entity with the lowest market value that are permitted to be
selected pursuant to the terms of any relevant Credit Linked Instruments. This could result in a lower
recovery value and hence greater losses for investors in such Instruments.
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Risks relating to Auction Settlement

If, in relation to any Credit Linked Instruments, "Auction Settlement" is applicable, and a Credit
Derivatives Determinations Committee publishes auction settlement terms in respect of a Reference
Entity (and the relevant seniority of the Reference Obligation), then the Calculation Agent will determine
the Auction Settlement Amount in accordance with such auction settlement terms. The losses determined
pursuant to a market auction process may be greater than the losses which would have been determined
in the absence of the auction. In particular, the auction process may be affected by technical factors or
operational errors which would not otherwise apply or may be the subject of actual or attempted
manipulation. Auctions may be conducted by ISDA or by a relevant third party. None of the Calculation
Agent, the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (if applicable) and any of their respective affiliates has any
responsibility for verifying that any auction price is reflective of current market values for establishing
any auction methodology or for verifying that any auction has been conducted in accordance with its
rules. If the Dealer, the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (if applicable), the Calculation Agent or any of
their respective Affiliates participates in any auction for the purposes of such an auction, then it will do
so without regard to the interests of the holders of the Credit Linked Instruments. Such participation may
have a material effect on the outcome of the relevant auction. Where the terms of any Credit Linked
Instruments state "M(M)R Restructuring" to be applicable and the relevant Credit Event is an M(M)R
Restructuring, several concurrent but separate Auctions may occur with respect to such Reference Entity
and such Credit Event. In certain circumstances, the relevant Issuer may apply specific Parallel Auction
Settlement Terms notifying Holders of the relevant Instruments. The Auction Final Price may be based
on one or more obligations of the Reference Entity having a final maturity date different from the
Restructured Bond or Loan and this may affect the Auction Settlement Amount determined in respect of
the Credit Linked Instruments. In the event of a Governmental Intervention Credit Event or certain
Restructuring Credit Events which constitute an Asset Package Credit Event, the Auction Final Price
may be determined by reference to the value of the Asset Package received or retained by a Relevant
Holder in place of the Prior Deliverable Obligation or Package Observable Bond in connection with such
Asset Package Credit Event. Such Asset Package may be worth significantly less than the original
Package Observable Bond prior to such Asset Package Credit Event and may result in a significantly
lower Auction Settlement Amount being payable to the Holders than would have been the case following
the relevant Credit Event had the Auction Final Price been determined only by reference to Deliverable
Obligations.

Settlement of Credit Linked Instruments may not occur until six months or more after a Credit Event

In accordance with the Credit Linked Note Conditions and Credit Linked W&C Conditions, settlement
of Credit Linked Instruments may occur up to six months or more after a Credit Event. The date for
settlement will be determined in accordance with the Credit Linked Note Conditions, Credit Linked
W&C Conditions and the relevant Final Terms. During this period holders will be exposed to settlement
risk (including, without limitation, credit risk of the Issuer and, other than in the case of Secured
Instruments, the Guarantor, liquidity risk, legal risk and certain market risks). See risk factors "Risk
Factors Relating to the Relevant Issuer's and (with respect to the Instruments other than Secured
Instruments) the Guarantor's Ability to Fulfil Their Respective Obligations Under the Relevant
Instruments", "Risk Factors Relating to BAC and the Group and to the Group's Businesses and Industry"
and "Risks Relating to the Market Generally" above for further detail on these dimensions of settlement
risk.

Unwind costs may be deducted from the amounts payable to Holders of Credit Linked Instruments

Investors should note that amounts paid or delivered in respect of any Credit Linked Instruments may
take into account Unwind Costs which are determined by the Calculation Agent to be equal to all costs,
expenses, taxes and duties, incurred by the relevant Issuer and/or any of its Affiliates and/or agents in
connection with the redemption or cancellation of the Credit Linked Instruments and the related
termination, settlement or re-establishment of any hedge or related trading position.

The determinations of the Calculation Agent are binding on Holders

The determination by the Calculation Agent of any amount or of any state of affairs, circumstance, event
or other matter, or the formation of any opinion or the exercise of any discretion required or permitted to
be determined, formed or exercised by the Calculation Agent shall (in the absence of manifest error) be
final and binding on the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (if applicable) and the holders. In performing its
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duties pursuant to the Credit Linked Instruments, the Calculation Agent shall act in its sole and absolute
discretion. In making any determinations expressed to be made by it, for example as to substitute
Reference Obligations or Successors, the Calculation Agent is under no obligation to consider the
interests of the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (if applicable) or the Holders. If the Final Terms specify
that "Calculation Agent Determination" is applicable, the relevant Issuer and the Calculation Agent may,
but will not be required to apply any DC Resolution to any Credit Linked Instruments unless the
Calculation Agent notifies the relevant Issuer that any DC Resolution shall apply to such Credit Linked
Instruments.

Holders should note that the Calculation Agent may modify the terms of any Credit Linked Instruments
without the consent of the Holders of such Instruments to account for any DC Resolution.

Risks relating to the Credit Derivatives Determinations Committees

The institutions represented on the Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee owe no duty to the
holders of Credit Linked Instruments and have the ability to make determinations that may materially
affect the holders of Credit Linked Instruments. The Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee will
be able to make determinations without action or knowledge of the holders of Credit Linked Instruments.
Holders of Credit Linked Instruments will have no role in the composition of the Credit Derivatives
Determinations Committee. Separate criteria apply with respect to the selection of dealer and non-dealer
institutions to serve on the Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee and the holders of Credit
Linked Instruments will have no role in establishing such criteria. In addition, the composition of the
Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee will change from time to time in accordance with the DC
Rules, as the term of an institution may expire or an institution may be required to be replaced. To the
extent applicable, the Credit Linked Instruments will be subject to the determinations made by such
selected institutions in accordance with the DC Rules.

Holders of Credit Linked Instruments will have no recourse against either the institutions serving on the
Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee or any external reviewers. Institutions serving on the
Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee and the external reviewers, among others, disclaim any
duty of care or liability arising in connection with the performance of duties or the provision of advice
under the DC Rules, except in the case of gross negligence, fraud or wilful misconduct. Furthermore,
the institutions on the Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee do not owe any duty to the holders
of Credit Linked Instruments and the holders of Credit Linked Instruments will be prevented from
pursuing claims with respect to actions taken by such institutions under the DC Rules.

Holders of Credit Linked Instruments should also be aware that institutions serving on the Credit
Derivatives Determinations Committee have no duty to research or verify the veracity of information on
which a specific determination is based. In addition, the Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee
is not obligated to follow previous determinations and, therefore, could reach a conflicting determination
on a similar set of facts. If the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (if applicable) or the Calculation Agent or
any of their respective Affiliates serve as a member of the Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee
at any time, then they will act without regard to the interests of the holders of Credit Linked Instruments.

Holders of Credit Linked Instruments are responsible for obtaining information relating to deliberations
of the Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee. Notices of questions referred to the Credit
Derivatives Determinations Committee, meetings held to deliberate such questions and the results of
binding votes will be published on the ISDA website and none of the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (if
applicable), the Calculation Agent and any of their respective affiliates shall be obliged to inform the
holders of Credit Linked Instruments of such information (other than as expressly provided in respect of
such Instruments).

Holders of Credit Linked Instruments should also be aware that following the occurrence of a Credit
Event Resolution Request Date in respect of a Reference Entity, any obligation of the relevant Issuer to
redeem or cancel or otherwise settle any such Instruments or pay any amount in respect thereof may be
suspended until the occurrence of a DC Credit Event Announcement, a DC No Credit Event
Announcement or a DC Credit Event Question Dismissal.
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Risks relating to the Physical Settlement Matrix

Holders of Credit Linked Instruments should be aware that the terms applicable to each Reference Entity
incorporate the terms of the Physical Settlement Matrix for the Transaction Type specified in respect of
such Reference Entity.

Risks relating to Short Credit Linked W&C Instruments

Holders of Short Credit Linked W&C Instruments should be aware that under the terms of such Credit
Linked Instruments the Holders are purchasing credit protection on the relevant Reference Entity/Entities
and consequently they may only receive a payout where such Short Credit Linked W&C Instruments are
exercised following the occurrence of a Credit Event. If no Credit Event occurs during the life of the
Short Credit Linked W&C Instruments then such Short Credit Linked W&C Instruments shall expire
worthless unless otherwise provided in the terms of such Short Credit Linked W&C Instruments. In
certain circumstances where an M(M)R Restructuring Credit Event has occurred, Holders may be entitled
to deliver a Credit Event Notice to the relevant Issuer. None of the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor, the
Calculation Agent and any of their respective affiliates shall have any obligation to inform the Holders
at any time when they may be entitled to deliver such Credit Event Notice.

Risks relating to amendments in accordance with market convention or otherwise
Calculation Agent's powers to amend terms without Holders' consent

Holders should note that the Calculation Agent may (but shall not be obliged to) from time to time,
without obtaining their consent or consulting them:

(1) amend fundamental credit-linked provisions (including but not limited to the applicable
Transaction Type, Credit Events, Deliverable Obligation Category, Deliverable Obligation
Characteristics and deliverability, Reference Obligation, Successor and other provisions) in the
Credit Linked Note Conditions and Credit Linked W&C Conditions or other provisions of the
Instruments to correspond with those specified as applicable for a particular Reference Entity
in the most recently published ISDA Credit Derivatives Definitions, ISDA Credit Derivatives
Physical Settlement Matrix version, SRO List and/or prevailing trading standards applicable to
such Reference Entity;

(i1) amend any provision of the Credit Linked Note Conditions, Credit Linked W&C Conditions or
the Instruments to incorporate and/or reflect further or alternative documents from time to time
published by ISDA with respect to credit derivative transactions and/or the operation or
application of determinations by the ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committees
which the Calculation Agent determines are necessary to reflect market practice for credit
derivative transactions; and/or

(1ii) in circumstances where a Reference Entity has proposed an exchange of all or substantially all
of the obligations of such Reference Entity into cash, securities and/or other assets, elect to make
certain amendments to any provision of the Credit Linked Note Conditions, the Credit Linked
W&C Conditions or the Instruments to reflect or account for such exchange, regardless of the
credit derivatives definitions or trading standards applicable to such Reference Entity, as set out
in Credit Linked Note Condition 26 (Change in Market Convention) and Credit Linked W&C
Condition 24 (Change in Market Convention).

(ix) Risks relating to Saudi Share Linked Warrants

No issuer of the relevant Share(s) will have participated in the preparation of the applicable Final
Terms or in establishing the terms of the Saudi Share Linked Warrants

No issuer of the relevant Share(s) will have participated in the preparation of the applicable Final Terms
or in establishing the terms of the Saudi Share Linked Warrants and none of the relevant Issuer, the
Guarantor and any Dealer will make any investigation or enquiry in connection with such offering with
respect to any information concerning any such issuer of Shares contained in such Final Terms or in the
documents from which such information was extracted. Neither the relevant Issuer nor the Guarantor
controls any issuer of the relevant Share(s) or is responsible for any disclosure made by any issuer of the
relevant Share(s). Consequently, there can be no assurance that all events occurring prior to the relevant
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issue date (including events that would affect the adequacy, accuracy or completeness of the publicly
available information described in this paragraph or in any applicable Final Terms) that would affect the
trading price of the relevant Share(s) will have been publicly disclosed. Subsequent disclosure of any
such events or the disclosure of or failure to disclose material future events concerning such an issuer of
relevant Share(s) could affect the trading price of the Share(s) and therefore the trading price of the Saudi
Share Linked Warrants or amounts paid or delivered under the Saudi Share Linked Warrants.

Exposure to value of Shares and notional liquidation of the Shares over a valuation period

Saudi Share Linked Warrants are issued at a price linked to the value of the underlying Shares on
particular trading days during a fixing period. On settlement a Holder will not receive the principal
amount of its investment but instead will receive an amount calculated as the weighted average sale price
of the Shares over a valuation period commencing on the Valuation Date (or such other price as may be
specified in the applicable Final Terms) less deductions for local taxes (if any) and other costs which
would have been incurred had the Shares been held by a Saudi resident investor directly and less
deductions for any other taxes and costs associated with the relevant Issuer's hedging position. The
valuation period will be the number of days commencing on/and including the valuation date that would
have been required for a holder of the Shares to complete the sale of the equivalent position on the
securities exchange on which such Shares are primarily traded. Depending on the performance of the
Shares, the value of the Shares at settlement may be substantially lower than when the Saudi Share
Linked Warrants were initially purchased. There is no assurance that the Cash Settlement Amount on
settlement will be equal to or more than the purchase price of the Saudi Share Linked Warrants. In the
worst case, the Saudi Share Linked Warrants may settle at zero, exposing investors to the full loss of
their initial investment. If investors have any doubt on the risk level implied, they should consult a
professional investment adviser. Further, generally returns to investors in Saudi Share Linked Warrants
will be payable in U.S. Dollars or another currency other than the currency in which the Shares are
denominated. Changes in the rate of exchange between the currency in which the underlying Shares are
denominated and that in which returns are payable to Holders will affect the return to investors. See
"Exposure to changes in the rate of exchange between the currency of the Shares and Settlement
Currency" below.

Factors affecting the performance of Shares may adversely affect the value of the Saudi Share Linked
Warrants

The performance of Shares is dependent upon macroeconomic factors, such as interest and price levels
on the capital markets, currency developments, political factors and company-specific factors such as
earnings position, market position, risk situation, shareholder structure and distribution policy. These
factors are not within the relevant Issuer's or the Guarantor's control and may result in a decline in the
value of the Saudi Share Linked Warrants. Neither the relevant Issuer nor the Guarantor makes any
representation or warranty about, or guarantee of, the performance of the Shares. Past performance of
the Shares cannot be considered to be either a guarantee of, or necessarily a guide to, future performance.
The value of the Shares may go down as well as up during the term of the Saudi Share Linked Warrants.
Saudi Share Linked Warrants are linked to Shares listed in an emerging market which may make the
Shares less liquid and more volatile than investments in more established markets. See "Risks relating
to Instruments which are linked to emerging market Reference Item(s)" above.

Exposure to changes in the rate of exchange between the currency of the Shares and Settlement
Currency

Where the currency of the Shares is different from that of the Settlement Currency, Holders of Saudi
Share Linked Warrants linked to such Shares may be exposed not only to the performance of the Shares
but also to the performance of the relevant foreign currency of the Shares, which cannot be predicted.
Saudi Share Linked Warrants may be linked to the Saudi Arabian Riyal which may experience volatility
and uncertainty as to its future levels or its rate of exchange as against other currencies (including the
Settlement Currency). See "Risks relating to Instruments which are linked to emerging market Reference
Item(s)" and "Factors affecting the performance of the relevant foreign exchange rate may adversely
affect the value of the Instruments" above.
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Holders have no claim against the issuer of the relevant Share(s) or recourse to the Shares or the
Hedge Positions

Saudi Share Linked Warrants do not represent a claim against or an investment in any issuer of the
relevant Share(s) and investors will not have any right of recourse under the Saudi Share Linked Warrants
to any such company or the Shares or the relevant Issuer's Hedge Positions. Saudi Share Linked Warrants
are not in any way sponsored, endorsed or promoted by any issuer of the relevant Share(s) and such
companies have no obligation to take into account the consequences of their actions for any Holders.
Accordingly, the issuer of a Share may take any actions in respect of such Share without regard to the
interests of the investors in the Saudi Share Linked Warrants, and any of these actions could adversely
affect the market value of the Saudi Share Linked Warrants.

Determinations made by the Calculation Agent in respect of Potential Adjustment Events, Merger
Events, Tender Offers, De-listings, Nationalisations, Insolvencies and Additional Disruption Events
may have an adverse effect on the value of the Saudi Share Linked Warrants

Upon determining that a Potential Adjustment Event, Merger Event, Tender Offer, De-listing,
Nationalisation, Insolvency or Additional Disruption Event has occurred in relation to an underlying
Share or Share Company, the Calculation Agent has broad discretion to make certain determinations to
account for such event including to (i) make adjustments to the terms of the Saudi Share Linked Warrants,
(i1) distribute additional Instruments or cash payments to Holders and/or (iii) (in the case of a Merger
Event, Tender Offer, De-listing, Nationalisation, Insolvency or Additional Disruption Event) cause early
settlement of the Saudi Share Linked Warrants, any of which determinations may have an adverse effect
on the value of the Saudi Share Linked Warrants.

Potential Adjustment Events include (a) a sub-division, consolidation or re-classification of the Shares,
(b) an extraordinary dividend, (c) a call of the Shares that are not fully paid, (d) a repurchase by the
issuer, or an affiliate thereof, of the Shares, (e) a separation of rights from the Shares or (f) any event
having a dilutive or concentrative effect on the value of the Shares. Additional Disruption Events include
(a) a trading failure and (b) if specified to be applicable in the applicable Final Terms, (i) a change in
applicable law since the Trade Date that makes it (A) illegal to hold, acquire or dispose of the Shares or
(B) more expensive for the relevant Issuer to hedge its obligations under the relevant Saudi Share Linked
Warrants, (ii) an insolvency filing by or on behalf of any issuer of the relevant Share(s) and/or (iii) a
disruption or increased cost of hedging.

Holders will have no voting rights in respect of the relevant Shares

Holders of Saudi Share Linked Warrants will not have voting rights or any other rights with respect to
the relevant Shares to which such Saudi Share Linked Warrants relate.

(x) Risks relating to Secured Instruments
Holders of Secured Instruments do not have recourse to the Guarantees

The Secured Instruments will be limited recourse obligations of MLBV or MLICo., as applicable,
secured by a separate Collateral Pool for each Series and will not be obligations or responsibilities of, or
guaranteed by, the Guarantor or any other person or entity. Therefore a Holder of Secured Instruments
will not be able to claim under the terms of the Guarantees against the Guarantor for any unpaid amounts
and any such shortfall will not constitute an unsecured claim by such Holder of Secured Instruments
against the Guarantor.

Limitations of the Security Interest under each Deed of Charge

The security granted by the Secured Instruments Collateral Provider under each Deed of Charge is a
security interest over (i) the Collateral Account in which the Collateral Assets are held (although
investors should note the remaining provisions of this section relating to Collateral Assets held through
a clearing system) and does not extend to any interest or distributions paid on such Collateral Assets (to
the extent such amounts are not held in the relevant Collateral Account) and (ii) the Secured Instruments
Collateral Provider's rights under the Charged Documents, to the extent those rights relate to the relevant
Series of Secured Instruments.
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No security interest will be granted by the Secured Instruments Collateral Provider over any of its rights
under any agreement under which it acquires any Collateral Assets (including, without limitation, any
hedging agreements). This means that the Security Agent will not have the ability to compel the Secured
Instruments Collateral Provider to enforce its rights (or to enforce such rights on behalf of the Secured
Instruments Collateral Provider) under any agreement against a counterparty to such agreement.

The Collateral Assets will be secured in favour of the Secured Parties pursuant to a fixed charge which
is intended to create a security interest in the Collateral Assets in favour of the Secured Parties to secure
the relevant Issuer's obligations in respect of the relevant Series of Secured Instruments. However, where
the Collateral Assets are held through a clearing system (either directly or through a sub-custodian), the
interests which the Collateral Agent will hold and which are traded in the clearing system are not the
physical Collateral Assets themselves but a series of contractual rights against such clearing system.
These rights consist of (a) the Collateral Agent's rights as a participant against the clearing system, (b)
the rights of the clearing system against the common depositary and (c) the rights of the common
depositary against the Secured Instruments Collateral Provider of the Collateral Assets. As a result, where
the Collateral Assets are held in a clearing system, the security in respect of a Series of Secured
Instruments may take the form of an assignment of the Secured Instruments Collateral Provider's rights
against the Collateral Agent under the relevant Triparty Account Control Agreement rather than a charge
over the Collateral Assets themselves.

A court may characterise the security created under a Deed of Charge as a floating charge rather than
a fixed charge

Notwithstanding that the Collateral Provider purports to create a "fixed" charge over the collateral under
the Deed of Charge, there is a risk that a court would characterise it as a "floating" charge. The distinction
between a fixed charge and a floating charge depends on a number of factors, including the extent of the
control exercised over the collateral by the collateral taker. It is a mixed question of fact and law. If a
fixed charge is recharacterised as floating charge, the claims of (a) the unsecured creditors of the
Collateral Provider in respect of that part of the chargor's net property which is ringfenced under the
Insolvency Act 1986 (the "Insolvency Act") and (b) certain statutorily defined preferential creditors of
the Collateral Provider, would have priority over the rights of the Security Agent to the proceeds of
enforcement of the relevant Collateral Assets. As a result, the full amount of the proceeds of enforcement
of the relevant Collateral Assets may not be available to pay holders of the Secured Instruments, resulting
in a loss for investors.

A failure to register the security created under a Deed of Charge could mean that it is void against a
liquidator, administrator or creditor of the Secured Instruments Collateral Provider

In accordance with section 859A of the Companies Act 2006, relevant particulars of the Deed of Charge
(together with a certified copy of the relevant instrument) must be delivered to the Registrar of
Companies for registration within 21 days beginning with the date after the day on which the relevant
security is created, failing which the security will be void against a liquidator, administrator and any
creditor of the Secured Instruments Collateral Provider, except where the Deed of Charge constitutes a
"financial collateral arrangement" under the Financial Collateral Arrangements (No. 2) Regulations 2003
(the "Financial Collateral Regulations"), in which case the registration requirement is disapplied
pursuant to the Financial Collateral Regulations. Uncertainty in respect of the meaning of key terms in
the Financial Collateral Regulations including "possession" and "control" means that there is a legal risk
that a court would not characterise the security granted under the Deed of Charge as a financial collateral
arrangement. If the Deed of Charge were not to be registered in accordance with section 859A of the
Companies Act and did not constitute a financial collateral arrangement under the Financial Collateral
Regulations, investors would be exposed to the potentially severe consequences of a failure to register.

Holders are exposed to the operational risks related to the collateral arrangements and the structure
of the Collateral Accounts

The Collateral Agent may, to the extent permitted in accordance with the terms of the Custodian
Agreement and the relevant Triparty Account Control Agreement entered into with the Secured
Instruments Collateral Provider, hold certain cash and/or securities sub-accounts with other custodial
entities ("sub-custodians"). Collateral Assets which, pursuant to the terms of the Secured W&C
Instruments Conditions, the Custodian Agreement and the relevant Triparty Account Control Agreement,
are to be held with the Collateral Agent in a Collateral Account may therefore in practice be held by the
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Collateral Agent in sub-accounts with sub-custodians. Where the Collateral Assets are held by a sub-
custodian on behalf of the Collateral Agent, they will be held pursuant to separate agreements which may
vary in relation to any particular sub-custodian and which may not be governed by English law. Security
interests in respect of the Collateral Assets also may be created pursuant to separate agreements which
may not be governed by English law. A sub-custodian, securities depositary or clearing system may have
a lien or rights of set-off with respect to the Collateral Assets held with them in relation to any of their
fees and/or expenses. If such fees and/or expenses are not paid, such sub-custodian, securities depositary
or clearing system may exercise such lien or rights of set-off and this may adversely affect the amounts
that are available for distribution to Holders.

The Collateral Agent shall exercise reasonable care in selecting and continuing to use a sub-custodian in
each relevant country in light of customary or established rules, practices and procedures then prevailing
in each such country, but shall otherwise have no responsibility with respect to the performance by such
sub-custodian (other than a sub-custodian that is an affiliate of the Collateral Agent) of its duties or in
the event of its insolvency or dissolution. Accordingly, a Holder of Secured Instruments will be exposed
to, amongst other things, the risk of any potential operational disruption or any other adverse impact
related to the Collateral Agent and any sub-custodian (including disruption caused by any insolvency
proceedings which may be commenced in respect of the Collateral Agent and/or any such sub-
custodians).

Neither the relevant Issuer nor any Holder shall be entitled to enforce a Triparty Account Control
Agreement or the Custodian Agreement or to proceed directly against the Collateral Agent or the
Custodian to enforce the terms of the relevant Triparty Account Control Agreement or the Custodian
Agreement, as applicable. Neither the Collateral Agent nor the Custodian has any liability to the relevant
Issuer or any Holder as to the consequence of any actions taken by the Collateral Agent or Custodian, as
applicable.

The Collateral Assets may be insufficient to pay all amounts due to Holders of the Secured Instruments

The security provided for a Series of Secured Instruments is limited to the Collateral Assets constituting
the Collateral Pool applicable to such Series. The amount of Collateral Assets constituting such Collateral
Pool will depend on, amongst other things, in respect of the Secured Instruments issued (a) under the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Secured Static/Floating Instruments set out in Annex 13 of the
Offering Circular ("Secured Static/Floating Instruments Conditions"), the MTM Collateral Specified
Percentage and the Static Collateral Specified Percentage specified in the applicable Final Terms and (b)
under the Additional Terms and Conditions for Secured Fully Floating Instruments set out in Annex 14
to the Offering Circular ("Secured Fully Floating Instruments Conditions"), the Collateralisation
Percentage specified in the applicable Final Terms and/or whether or not "Collateral Valuation at
Nominal Value" is specified to be applicable in the applicable Final Terms. There is no guarantee that
the Collateral Assets will be sufficient to ensure that, following enforcement of a Deed of Charge, the
amounts available for distribution or the value of the Collateral Assets available to be delivered by the
Security Agent will be sufficient to pay all amounts due to a Holder of Secured Instruments in respect of
the relevant Series of Secured Instruments (see "Shortfall on Realisation of Collateral Assets and Limited
Recourse of Holders of Secured Instruments"). In addition the claim of a Holder of Secured Instruments
may differ from the value of the Collateral Assets due to the application and distribution of proceeds on
enforcement in accordance with the Order of Priority specified in the applicable Final Terms or if
Collateral Assets are liquidated and realised by the Security Agent or the Disposal Agent on its behalf
rather than being physically delivered due to a Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets Disruption Event
(see Secured Static/Floating Instruments Conditions 6.7 and 6.10 and Secured Fully Floating Instruments
Conditions 6.6 and 6.9).

A lack of diversification of Collateral Assets in a Collateral Pool may impact the value of the Collateral
Assets

If the Secured Static/Floating Instruments Conditions apply to a Series of Secured Instruments, the
Collateral Assets in the Collateral Pool on which such Series of Secured Instruments are secured in
respect of (a) the MTM Collateral Assets, may be limited to one or a few assets or types of assets
depending on the relevant Eligibility Criteria, and (b) the Static Collateral Assets, if comprising of a
single debt security, will be limited to one type of asset or, if comprising of a basket of debt securities,
will be limited to a few assets of the same type.
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If the Secured Fully Floating Instruments Conditions apply to a Series of Secured Instruments, the
Collateral Assets in the Collateral Pool on which the Series of Secured Instruments are secured may be
limited to one or a few assets or types of assets depending on the relevant Eligibility Criteria.

Low diversification of Collateral Assets in a Collateral Pool may increase the risk that the value of
Collateral Assets deliverable on early redemption or early settlement (if physical settlement is applicable)
and that the proceeds of realisation of the Collateral Assets may be less than the sums due to the relevant
Holder of Secured Instruments under the relevant Secured Instruments. If the Collateral Pool is
comprised of a limited number of different types of assets, any depreciation in the value of such assets
and the realisation or delivery, as the case may be, of the Collateral Assets in the corresponding Collateral
Pool will have a proportionally larger impact on any shortfall as the amount recovered in respect of the
Collateral Assets on their sale will be dependent on the then-current market value of a smaller range of
Collateral Assets.

None of the relevant Issuer, the Secured Instruments Collateral Provider, the Security Agent or the
Collateral Agent is under any obligation to ensure that any relevant Eligibility Criteria provide for the
diversification of Collateral Assets in a Collateral Pool.

Collateral Assets may be illiquid

Depending on the relevant Eligibility Criteria, certain of the Collateral Assets may not be admitted to
trading on any public market and may be illiquid and not easily realisable in certain market
circumstances. Where there is limited liquidity in the secondary market relating to Collateral Assets, in
the event of enforcement the Security Agent, or the Disposal Agent on its behalf, may not be able to
readily sell such Collateral Assets to a third party or may only be able to sell such Collateral Assets at a
discounted value.

Potential correlation between the value of the Collateral Assets and the creditworthiness of certain
entities

Depending on the Eligibility Criteria applicable to a Series of Secured Instruments, the Collateral Assets
relating to such Series could be composed of assets whose value may be positively correlated with the
creditworthiness of the relevant Issuer and the Secured Instruments Collateral Provider in that adverse
economic factors which apply to one may apply to the others, or the default or decline in the
creditworthiness of one may itself adversely affect the others.

Where the value of the Collateral Assets is positively correlated with the creditworthiness of the relevant
Issuer and the Secured Instruments Collateral Provider, for example where the Collateral Assets consist
of securities (such as debt or equities) issued by other financial institutions, a default by the relevant
Issuer in relation to its obligations under the Secured Instruments may be associated with a fall in the
value of Collateral Assets securing such Secured Instruments.

Difference between the calculation of Marked-to-Market Derivative Hedge Value and Secured
Instrument Market Value and calculation of a Secured Instrument's value for other purposes

The Marked-to-Market Derivative Hedge Value is the market value of the Derivative Hedge in respect
of the Secured Instruments to which the Secured Static/Floating Instruments Conditions apply, as
determined by the Secured Instruments Valuation Agent as the present value of the future payment
obligations of the Issuer under such Secured Instruments minus the present value of the future cash flows
of the Static Collateral Assets that secure such Secured Instruments, taking into account such factors as
the Secured Instruments Valuation Agent considers to be appropriate in its discretion, including without
limitation:

(a) spot and forward market prices or values for the underlying asset(s) of the Derivative Hedge
and other relevant economic variables (including, without limitation, interest rates and, if
applicable, exchange rates) at the relevant time;

(b) the correlation between the market prices or value of the underlying asset(s) of the Derivative
Hedge and other relevant economic variables at the relevant time;

(c) historic and implied volatility of the market prices or value of the underlying asset(s) of the
Derivative Hedge;
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(d) the remaining time until expiry of the Derivative Hedge;
(e) internal pricing models;
) prices at which other market participants might bid for options or other instruments similar to

the Derivative Hedge; and

(2) the valuation using relevant economic variables of the cash flows and/or coupon payments of
the Static Collateral Assets that secure such Secured Instruments.

The Derivative Hedge hedges part of the relevant Issuer's payment obligations under the Secured
Instruments. However, there may be a difference between the sum of the Marked-to-Market Derivative
Hedge Value plus the nominal amount of the Secured Instruments and the value of the Secured
Instrument as determined for other purposes, including, without limitation, any determination as to its
Cash Settlement Amount.

The Secured Instrument Market Value is the market value of the relevant Secured Instrument to which
the Secured Fully Floating Instruments Conditions apply, which will take into account the relevant
Issuer's creditworthiness and will be determined by the Secured Instruments Valuation Agent by
reference to such factors as the Secured Instruments Valuation Agent considers to be appropriate
including, without limitation:

(a) market prices or values for any underlying asset(s) to which the Secured Instruments are linked
and other relevant economic variables (such as interest rates and, if applicable, exchange rates)
at the relevant time;

(b) the remaining term of the Secured Instruments until their scheduled maturity and final
redemption or scheduled exercise and final settlement, as applicable;

(c) internal pricing models; and
(d) prices at which other market participants might bid for securities similar to the Secured
Instruments.

There may be a difference between the Secured Instrument Market Value and the value of the Secured
Instrument as determined for other purposes, including, without limitation, any determination as to its
Cash Settlement Amount.

The value of the Collateral Assets in a Collateral Pool may decline prior to any adjustment

If the Secured Static/Floating Instruments Conditions apply to a Series of Secured Instruments, on each
Collateral Test Date, the Collateral Agent shall verify whether (a) the Pool Aggregate Nominal Amount
is greater than or equal to the Static Collateral Specified Percentage of the Required Static Collateral
Nominal Amount for a Collateral Pool (the "Static Collateral Test") and (b) the Collateral Value is
greater than or equal to the MTM Collateral Specified Percentage of the Required Collateral Value for a
Collateral Pool (the "MTM Collateral Test").

If the Secured Fully Floating Instruments Conditions apply to a Series of Secured Instruments, on each
Collateral Test Date, the Collateral Agent shall verify whether the Collateral Value is greater than or
equal to the Required Collateral Value for a Collateral Pool (the "Collateral Test").

Where it is not possible to provide such verification or the Static Collateral Test, the MTM Collateral
Test or the Collateral Tests, as applicable, are not met, the Secured Instruments Collateral Provider may
be required to deliver, or procure the delivery of, additional or replacement Collateral Assets to the
Collateral Account such that after such adjustment of Collateral Assets, the Static Collateral Test, the
MTM Collateral Test or the Collateral Test, as applicable, will be satisfied. Prior to such adjustment, the
Holders of Secured Instruments will be exposed to a decline in the Pool Aggregate Nominal Amount or
the Collateral Value, as applicable, and there is also a risk that the Collateral Assets may not meet the
relevant Eligibility Criteria.

Substitution of Collateral Assets may affect the value of the Collateral Assets in a Collateral Pool
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If the Secured Static/Floating Instruments Conditions apply to a Series of Secured Instruments, the
Secured Instruments Collateral Provider may withdraw and/or replace MTM Collateral Assets from any
Collateral Account provided that following such adjustment the applicable MTM Collateral Test
continues to be satisfied. Neither the Issuer nor the Secured Instruments Collateral Provider are entitled
to withdraw and/or replace Static Collateral Assets, provided that the Secured Instruments Collateral
Provider may withdraw from the relevant Collateral Account an aggregate nominal amount of Static
Collateral Assets equal to (a) in respect of Secured Instruments that are Secured Notes, the total aggregate
principal amount of Non-Waived Instruments that are converted into Waived Instruments or (b) in
respect of Secured Instruments that are Secured W&C Instruments, the sum of the Notional Amount of
each Non-Waived Instrument that is converted into a Waived Instrument, if, following such withdrawal,
(x) the Collateral Test continues to be satisfied, and (y) if the Eligible Static Collateral Assets specified
in the Final Terms are a Basket of Eligible Debt Securities, the aggregate nominal amount of each
Eligible Debt Security is equal to the percentage weighting for each such Eligible Debt Security within
the Basket of Eligible Debt Securities, as specified in the applicable Final Terms.

If the Secured Fully Floating Instruments Conditions apply to a Series of Secured Instruments, the
Secured Instruments Collateral Provider may withdraw and/or replace Collateral Assets from any
Collateral Account provided that following such adjustment the applicable Collateral Test continues to
be satisfied.

The Secured Instruments Collateral Provider may give instructions for the substitution of MTM
Collateral Assets or Collateral Assets, as applicable, any number of times over the term of the Secured
Instruments and is not required to obtain the consent of any other party prior to effecting the proposed
substitution of MTM Collateral Assets or Collateral Assets, as applicable. Until any further adjustments
to the MTM Collateral Assets or Collateral Assets, as applicable, have occurred, the value of the MTM
Collateral Assets or Collateral Assets held in a Collateral Account securing a Series of Secured
Instruments may be less than it would have been were it not for the substitution of the MTM Collateral
Assets or Collateral Assets, as applicable. Also, in spite of the contractual restrictions on the Secured
Instruments Collateral Provider's ability to withdraw and/or replace MTM Collateral Assets, Static
Collateral Assets and Collateral Assets, there are no practical restrictions on the Secured Instruments
Collateral Provider's ability to withdraw assets from the scope of the security.

The relevant Issuer may early redeem or cancel and early settle the Secured Instruments upon a
Collateral Disruption Event

Secured Instruments will be subject to Collateral Disruption Events, including, but not limited to: (a) the
Secured Instruments Collateral Provider being unable to (i) acquire, establish, re-establish, substitute,
maintain, unwind or dispose of any transaction(s) or asset(s) or futures or option contacts it deems
necessary to obtain Collateral Assets, or (ii) freely realise, recover, remit, receive, re-patriate or transfer
the proceeds of any such transaction(s) or asset(s) or futures or option contract(s) or any relevant hedge
positions relating to the Collateral Assets; (b) the Secured Instruments Collateral Provider incurring a
material increase in certain costs related to (a)(i) and (a)(ii); or (c) the relevant Issuer is unable to find a
substitute or replacement Collateral Arrangement Party or Security Agent. This may increase the
possibility (in comparison with Instruments which are not secured) of the Secured Instruments being
early redeemed or cancelled and settled early. Upon the occurrence of a Collateral Disruption Event, the
relevant Issuer may, in its sole and absolute discretion, redeem or cancel and settle, as applicable, all of
the relevant Secured Instruments (a) in respect of Secured Instruments to which the Secured
Static/Floating Instruments Conditions apply, at their Early Redemption/Settlement Amount (CDE) and,
where Physical Delivery of Static Collateral Assets is specified to apply in the applicable Final Terms,
deliver the Entitlement (CDE); or (b) in respect of Secured Instruments to which the Secured Fully
Floating Instruments Conditions apply, at their Early Redemption/Settlement Amount.

Further, following the early redemption or cancellation and early settlement, as applicable, of the Secured
Instruments, a Holder of Secured Instruments may not be able to reinvest the redemption or settlement
proceeds at an equivalent rate of return to the Secured Instruments being redeemed or settled and may
only be able to do so at a significantly lower rate or in worse investment conditions. Potential investors
should consider reinvestment risk in light of other available investments at the time they contemplate
investing in Secured Instruments.

The Secured Instruments will be automatically early redeemed or cancelled and settled early upon a
Collateral Trigger Event

105



Risk Factors

Under the Secured Static/Floating Instruments Conditions, if "Collateral Trigger Event" is specified to
be applicable in the applicable Final Terms, the relevant Secured Instruments will be subject to early
redemption or cancellation following the occurrence of a Collateral Trigger Event. The Secured
Instruments Valuation Agent shall determine that a Collateral Trigger Event has occurred if, at any time
during business hours on a London business day during the relevant observation period, the value of a
Secured Instrument of the relevant series is (a) if "less than the Collateral Trigger Level" is specified in
the applicable Final Terms, less than the Collateral Trigger Level or (b) if "less than or equal to the
Collateral Trigger Level" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, less than or equal to the Collateral
Trigger Level. The Collateral Trigger Level will be specified in the applicable Final Terms. Upon the
occurrence of a Collateral Trigger Event, the relevant Issuer will cancel and settle all of the relevant
Secured Instruments at their Early Redemption/Settlement Amount (CTE) and, where "Physical Delivery
of Static Collateral Assets" is specified to apply in the applicable Final Terms, deliver the Entitlement
(CTE).

The value of the relevant Secured Instrument will be determined by the Secured Instruments Valuation
Agent as an amount equal to the sum of (x) the intra-day market value of the portion of the option that
relates to such Secured Instrument and (y) the intra-day market value of the relevant Static Collateral
Assets that relate to such Secured Instrument, by reference to such factors as the Secured Instruments
Valuation Agent considers appropriate in its discretion. As the relevant Issuer and the Secured
Instruments Valuation Agent are affiliates, a potential conflict of interest may arise between the Secured
Instruments Valuation Agent and the Holders of Secured Instruments in respect of these determinations.
See "Potential Conflicts of Interest between Holders of Secured Instruments, the Secured Instruments
Collateral Provider and the Secured Instruments Valuation Agent" below.

If a Collateral Trigger Event has occurred the value of all or some of the Collateral Assets forming the
Collateral Pool will have lost a substantial proportion of their value. Therefore on early cancellation of
the Instruments as a result of such Collateral Trigger Event, the Early Redemption/Settlement Amount
(CTE) payable or Entitlement (CTE) deliverable may be significantly less than the investor's initial
investment.

In addition, if a Collateral Trigger Event is specified to be applicable in the applicable Final Terms, it
may increase the possibility (in comparison with Instruments which are not secured) of the Secured
Instruments being redeemed or cancelled and settled early, as applicable. Following such early
redemption or cancellation and early settlement, as applicable, a Holder of Secured Instruments may not
be able to reinvest the redemption or settlement proceeds at an equivalent rate of return to the Secured
Instruments being redeemed or settled and may only be able to do so at a significantly lower rate or in
worse investment conditions. Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of other
available investments at the time they contemplate investing in Secured Instruments.

The Secured Instruments will be automatically early redeemed or cancelled and settled early upon a
MTM Trigger Event

Under the Secured Fully Floating Instruments Conditions, if "MTM Trigger Event" is specified to be
applicable in the applicable Final Terms, the relevant Secured Instruments will be subject to early
cancellation following the occurrence of a MTM Trigger Event. The Secured Instruments Valuation
Agent shall determine that a MTM Trigger Event has occurred if, at any time between 5.00 a.m. Sydney
time to 5.00 p.m. New York City time (or such other times specified in the applicable Final Terms) on a
business day during the relevant observation period, the market value of a Secured Instrument of the
relevant series is (a) if "less than the MTM Trigger Level" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, less
than the MTM Trigger Level or (b) if "less than or equal to the MTM Trigger Level" is specified in the
applicable Final Terms, less than or equal to the MTM Trigger Level. The MTM Trigger Level will be
specified in the applicable Final Terms. Upon the occurrence of a MTM Trigger Event, the relevant
Issuer will redeem or cancel and settle all of the relevant Secured Instruments at their Early
Redemption/Settlement Amount.

The market value of the relevant Secured Instrument will be determined by the Secured Instruments
Valuation Agent by reference to such factors as the Secured Instruments Valuation Agent considers
appropriate in its discretion. Given that MLICo., MLBYV and the Secured Instruments Valuation Agent
are affiliates, a potential conflict of interest may arise between the Secured Instruments Valuation Agent
and the Holders of Secured Instruments in respect of these determinations. See "Potential Conflicts of
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Interest between Holders of Secured Instruments, the Secured Instruments Collateral Provider and the
Secured Instruments Valuation Agent" below.

If a MTM Trigger Event has occurred the Secured Instruments will have lost a substantial proportion of
their value. Therefore on early cancellation of the Secured Instruments as a result of such MTM Trigger
Event, the Early Redemption/Settlement Amount payable may be significantly less than the investor's
initial investment.

In addition, if "MTM Trigger Event" is specified to be applicable in the applicable Final Terms, it may
increase the possibility (in comparison with Instruments which are not secured) of the Secured
Instruments being early redeemed or cancelled and settled early, as applicable. Following such early
redemption or cancellation and early settlement, as applicable, a Holder of Secured Instruments may not
be able to reinvest the redemption or settlement proceeds at an equivalent rate of return to the Secured
Instruments being redeemed or settled and may only be able to do so at a significantly lower rate or in
worse investment conditions. Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of other
available investments at the time they contemplate investing in Secured Instruments.

Investors are exposed to the credit risk of the issuer(s) of the Static Collateral Assets

In respect of Secured Instruments to which the Secured Static/Floating Instruments Conditions apply, the
value of the Secured Instruments is expected to be affected by the creditworthiness of an issuer of the
Static Collateral Assets and actual or anticipated changes in the credit ratings of an issuer of the Static
Collateral Assets.

In respect of Secured Instruments to which the Secured Static/Floating Instruments Conditions apply,
Collateral Disruption Events also include certain events which are indicative of a default or material
decline in the creditworthiness of an issuer of the Static Collateral Assets. In such circumstances, upon
any early redemption or cancellation and early settlement of Secured Instruments by the relevant Issuer,
it is likely that the market value of the Static Collateral Assets will be low and may be zero, thereby
having a material adverse impact on the returns to investors. Therefore, such Secured Instruments
explicitly bear the credit risk of an issuer of the Static Collateral Assets and any guarantor of such issuer's
obligations under the Static Collateral Assets.

The market value of a Secured Instrument may be affected negatively when the probability of, or the
market's perception of the probability of, a Collateral Disruption Event occurring in respect of an issuer
of the Static Collateral Assets increases, even if a Collateral Disruption Event does not actually occur.

No investigations, searches or other enquiries have been made by or on behalf of the Issuer, the Secured
Instruments Collateral Provider or the Security Agent in respect of the Static Collateral Assets or an
issuer or any guarantor of the Static Collateral Assets. No representations or warranties, express or
implied, have been given by the Issuer, the Secured Instruments Collateral Provider or the Security Agent
or any other person on their behalf in respect of the Static Collateral Assets or an issuer or any guarantor
in respect of the Static Collateral Assets. Investors should conduct their own investigation and analysis
with respect to the creditworthiness of an issuer and any guarantor of the Static Collateral Assets.

An issuer or any guarantor of the Static Collateral Assets may be a publicly reporting company and
financial and other information with respect to the issuer or any guarantor may be available from publicly
available sources. Publicly available information in relation to an issuer or any guarantor of the Static
Collateral Assets may be incomplete, inaccurate or misleading. None of MLICo., MLBYV, the Secured
Instruments Collateral Provider or the Security Agent gives any assurance as to the accuracy or
completeness of any information available with respect to an issuer or any guarantor of the Static
Collateral Assets or that all events that would affect the creditworthiness of an issuer or any guarantor of
the Static Collateral Assets have been publicly disclosed. Subsequent disclosure of any such events or
the disclosure of, or failure to disclose, material future events concerning the issuer or any guarantor of
the Static Collateral Assets could affect its creditworthiness and therefore the market value of the Secured
Instruments, the likelihood of a Collateral Disruption Event occurring and the resulting Early
Redemption/Settlement Amount (CDE) or, if "Physical Delivery of Static Collateral Assets" is specified
to be applicable in the applicable Final Terms, the value of the Static Collateral Assets delivered to
Holders.
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Risks related to an Acceleration Event and enforcement of the security following a Secured Instrument
Event of Default

If a Secured Instrument Event of Default has occurred and is continuing with respect to any Series of
Secured Instruments, then any Holder may, at its option, send an Acceleration Notice to the relevant
Issuer and the relevant Instrument Agent. If Holders of at least 33 per cent. (in respect of Secured
Instruments that are Secured Notes) in aggregate principal amount or (in respect of Secured Instruments
that are Secured W&C Instruments) in aggregate Notional Amount or by number (as applicable) of such
Non-Waived Instruments (which, unless notified in writing by the Issuer and/or its Affiliates to the
Secured Instruments Collateral Provider, shall not include any Secured Instruments held by the Issuer or
its Affiliates) and if any such default is not waived or cured by the Issuer in accordance with the relevant
Secured Instruments Conditions, an Acceleration Event shall occur in respect of such Series of Secured
Instruments.

The relevant Instrument Agent will as soon as reasonably practicable after the occurrence of an
Acceleration Event notify the Security Agent of the occurrence of such Acceleration Event and such
notification shall be deemed to be an instruction to the Security Agent to, among other things, enforce
the security constituted by the relevant Deed of Charge (an "Acceleration Instruction"). If the Security
Agent receives an Acceleration Instruction, the Security Agent shall (acting in accordance with such
Acceleration Instruction), among other things, deliver a Collateral Enforcement Notice to the relevant
Issuer, the Secured Instruments Collateral Provider and the relevant Instrument Agent upon which all
Secured Instruments in respect of which such Collateral Enforcement Notice is served will become
immediately due and repayable at their applicable Early Redemption/Settlement Amount.

No Holder shall be entitled to enforce the relevant Deed of Charge or to proceed directly against the
Secured Instruments Collateral Provider to enforce the other provisions of a Charged Document unless
the Security Agent, having become bound to so enforce or proceed, fails so to do within a reasonable
time and such failure is continuing or the Security Agent is prevented from enforcing the relevant Deed
of Charge by any court order. If a Holder becomes so entitled, then such Holder shall not be entitled to
enforce the relevant Deed of Charge or Charged Document in the United Kingdom.

Where the Collateral Assets consist of debt securities, shares or other tradable securities, liquidation of
all the Collateral Assets simultaneously may increase the risk that the proceeds of realisation of the
Collateral Assets may be less than the sums due to the relevant Holder of Secured Instruments under the
relevant Secured Instruments because liquidation of all the Collateral Assets in the Collateral Pool at the
same time could, in particular market circumstances, lead to a reduction in the market value of some or
all of the Collateral Assets.

In addition, following the realisation of the Collateral Assets, an investor may not be able to reinvest any
redemption or settlement proceeds or, where applicable, any Collateral Assets that it receives at an
equivalent rate of return to the Secured Instruments that have become immediately due and payable
following the occurrence of an Acceleration Event and may only be able to do so at a significantly lower
rate or in worse investment conditions. Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of
other available investments at the time they contemplate investing in Secured Instruments.

Limitations on the entitlement of a Holder of Secured Instruments on enforcement and subordination
to payment of expenses and other payments

If the Secured Static/Floating Instruments Conditions apply to a Series of Secured Instruments, following
the enforcement of the relevant Deed of Charge, the rights of a Holder of Secured Instruments to be paid
amounts from the proceeds of such enforcement and the realisation of the related Collateral Assets will
be limited to the applicable Early Redemption/Settlement Amount and, where Physical Delivery of Static
Collateral Assets is applicable, the delivery of the Entitlement.

If the Secured Fully Floating Instruments Conditions apply to a Series of Secured Instruments, and,
following the enforcement of the relevant Deed of Charge, each Secured Instrument's share of the
proceeds of enforcement (following payment of the Secured Parties ranking above the Holders in the
Order of Priority) is greater than the Early Redemption/Settlement Amount, then the rights of a Holder
of Secured Instruments to be paid amounts from the proceeds of such enforcement and the realisation of
the related Collateral Assets (or, where "Physical Delivery of Static Collateral Assets" is applicable, the
market value of Collateral Assets that a Holder is entitled to receive delivery of) will be limited to: (a)
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where "NV Collateralisation" or "Max (NV, MV) Collateralisation" is specified to be applicable in the
applicable Final Terms, the greater of: (i) the product of (A) the Collateralisation Percentage, multiplied
by (B) in respect of Secured Instruments that are Secured Notes, the aggregate principal amount or, in
respect of Secured Instruments that are Secured W&C Instruments, the Notional Amount, of the Non-
Waived Instruments; and (ii) the Early Redemption/Settlement Amount; and (b) where "MV
Collateralisation" or "Min (NV, MV) Collateralisation" is specified to be applicable in the applicable
Final Terms, the applicable Early Redemption/Settlement Amount.

Following the early redemption or settlement of the Secured Instruments, a Holder of Secured
Instruments may not be able to reinvest the settlement proceeds at an equivalent rate of return to the
Secured Instruments being redeemed or settled and may only be able to do so at a significantly lower
rate or in worse investment conditions. Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of
other available investments at the time they contemplate investing in Secured Instruments.

A Holder's entitlement on enforcement and realisation of the related Collateral Assets will be
subordinated to and therefore rank behind claims relating to any amounts payable to Secured Parties
ranking prior to the Holder of Non-Waived Instruments in accordance with the Order of Priority specified
in the applicable Final Terms and any rights of preference existing by operation of law.

Shortfall on Realisation of Collateral Assets, Limited Recourse of a Holder of Secured Instruments
and inadequacy of collateral

The security provided for a Series of Secured Instruments is limited to the Collateral Assets constituting
the Collateral Pool applicable to such Series together with the Secured Instruments Collateral Provider's
right, benefit, interest and title, present and future, in, under and to the Charged Documents (to the extent
they relate to such Series). The value realised for the Collateral Assets in the relevant Collateral Pool or,
where (a) in the event that the Secured Static/Floating Instruments Conditions apply to a Series of
Secured Instruments, "Physical Delivery of Static Collateral" is applicable, and (b) in the event that the
Secured Fully Floating Instruments Conditions apply to a Series of Secured Instruments, Physical
Delivery of Collateral Assets on Enforcement is applicable, the value of the Collateral Assets delivered,
upon enforcement of the relevant Deed of Charge may be less than the amounts due to a Holder of
Secured Instruments in respect of the relevant Series of Secured Instruments and as a result, investors
may lose all or a substantial portion of their investment. The level of risk will particularly depend on the
Eligibility Criteria and, if the Secured Fully Floating Instruments Conditions apply to a Series of Secured
Instruments on the collateralisation method (either MV Collateralisation, NV Collateralisation, Max
(MV, NV) Collateralisation or Min (MV, NV) Collateralisation) as specified in the applicable Final
Terms).

The Collateral Assets may suffer a fall in value between the time at which the relevant Deed of Charge
becomes enforceable and the time at which the Collateral Assets are realised in full or, where (a) in the
event that the Secured Static/Floating Instruments Conditions apply to a Series of Secured Instruments,
Physical Delivery of Static Collateral Assets on Enforcement is applicable, and (b) in the event that the
Secured Fully Floating Instruments Conditions apply to a Series of Secured Instruments, Physical
Delivery of Collateral Assets on Enforcement is applicable, the Collateral Assets are delivered. In
extraordinary circumstances, the Collateral Assets forming part of the Collateral Pool available at the
time at which a Deed of Charge becomes enforceable could lose all or a substantial proportion of their
value by the time of realisation and distribution or delivery, as applicable. Moreover, the security created
in respect of the Secured Instruments may be unperfected for a variety of reasons, including the failure
to make required filings and, as a result, Holders may not have priority over other creditors as anticipated.

If there is any shortfall in amounts due to a Holder of Secured Instruments in accordance with the Secured
Instruments Conditions then such Holder of Secured Instruments shall have no further claim against the
relevant Issuer, the Secured Instruments Collateral Provider or the Security Agent in respect of such
amounts which remain unpaid following enforcement of the relevant Deed of Charge (including, for the
avoidance of doubt, payments of redemption amounts or settlement amounts or additional amounts in
respect of the Secured Instruments). In such a scenario, as the Guarantees are not applicable to Secured
Instruments, a Holder of the Secured Instruments will have no further claim against any entity in respect
of any shortfall in amounts due to it.
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If physical delivery of Collateral Assets applies on enforcement and a Physical Delivery of Collateral
Assets Disruption Event occurs or exists, there may be a delay in delivery of the Collateral Assets or
the Collateral Assets may be sold in lieu of delivery

If the Secured Static/Floating Instruments Conditions apply to a Series of Secured Instruments and
Physical Delivery of Static Collateral Assets is specified to be applicable, upon enforcement of a Deed
of Charge, the Security Agent will not sell, or cause to be sold, the Static Collateral Assets (unless there
is a Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets Disruption Event or to the extent required in order to pay any
amounts payable to Secured Parties ranking prior to the Holders in accordance with the Order of Priority
specified in the applicable Final Terms that have not been met by the sale of MTM Collateral Assets) but
will procure delivery of the Static Collateral Assets to each Holder of Secured Instruments in the manner
set out in the Secured Static/Floating Instruments Conditions.

If the Secured Fully Floating Instruments Conditions apply to a Series of Secured Instruments and
Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets is specified in respect of a Series of Secured Instruments, upon
enforcement of a Deed of Charge, the Security Agent will not sell, or cause to be sold, the Collateral
Assets (unless there is a Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets Disruption Event or to the extent required
in order to pay any amounts payable to Secured Parties ranking prior to the Holders of Secured
Instruments in accordance with the Order of Priority specified in the applicable Final Terms) but will
procure delivery of the Collateral Assets to each Holder of Secured Instruments in the manner set out in
the Secured Fully Floating Instruments Conditions.

If, in the opinion of the Disposal Agent, delivery of all or some of the Static Collateral Assets or Collateral
Assets, as applicable, forming part of the Entitlement is not practicable by reason of a Physical Delivery
of Collateral Assets Disruption Event having occurred or continuing on any Collateral Delivery Date,
then settlement will be postponed until the next Collateral Business Day on which there is no Physical
Delivery of Collateral Assets Disruption Event. If delivery of any of the Static Collateral Assets or
Collateral Assets, as applicable, forming part of the Entitlement is not possible due to the occurrence of
a Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets Disruption Event for a period of greater than 20 Collateral
Business Days, the Disposal Agent will sell or realise the undeliverable Static Collateral Assets or
Collateral Assets, as applicable, in lieu of physical settlement. The amount received by a Holder of
Secured Instruments following such sale of Static Collateral Assets or Collateral Assets, as applicable
may be lower than the amount which a Holder of Secured Instruments would have received if the relevant
Static Collateral Assets or Collateral Assets, as applicable, had been delivered to it and the Holder of
Secured Instruments held the relevant Static Collateral Assets or Collateral Assets, as applicable, to the
maturity date of such assets or sold such assets at a different point in time.

Risk of a delay in the realisation of the Collateral Assets in the event of the insolvency of the Security
Agent or any Collateral Arrangement Party

The insolvency of the relevant Issuer will constitute a Secured Instrument Event of Default, which may
trigger early redemption or settlement of any Secured Instruments issued by the relevant Issuer. In these
circumstances, or in the event of the insolvency of the Security Agent or any Collateral Arrangement
Party, the realisation of the Collateral Assets may be delayed either by the appointment of an insolvency
administrator or other insolvency official in relation to the relevant party or by measures ordered by a
competent court.

In addition, in the case of an insolvency of a member of the Group, it is possible that the relevant Issuer,
the Secured Instruments Collateral Provider and the Secured Instruments Agent that are members of the
Group may also each be insolvent. Such circumstances may lead to a delay in the administrative
processes involved in the realisation of the Collateral Assets. However, as the entities responsible for the
enforcement of the Deed of Charge and the realisation of the Collateral Assets, namely the Custodian,
the Collateral Agent, the Security Agent and the Disposal Agent are not part of the Group, the impact of
any insolvency of a member of the Group on such enforcement and realisation should be less material
than it would have been if the Custodian, the Collateral Agent, the Security Agent and/or the Disposal
Agent were part of the Group.

The initial Custodian, the initial Collateral Agent, and the initial Security Agent are affiliates of one
another and it is possible that the Disposal Agent will also be an affiliate, and in the event of the
insolvency of one such entity it is possible that another of those entities may also be insolvent. Such
circumstances may lead to a delay in the realisation of the Collateral Assets. The Custodian Agreement,
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Triparty Account Control Agreement, and the Security Agency Agreement will contain provisions
permitting the replacement of the Custodian, Collateral Agent, and Security Agent, as applicable, in
certain circumstances, including following insolvency, as further provided in such agreements and the
Secured Instrument.

If there is a delay in the realisation of the Collateral Assets due to the insolvency of any of these entities,
such Collateral Assets could depreciate in value resulting in a shortfall in the amounts returned to Holders
of Secured Instruments.

Potential Conflicts of Interest between Holders of Secured Instruments, the Secured Instruments
Collateral Provider and the Secured Instruments Valuation Agent

As the Secured Instruments Collateral Provider and the Secured Instruments Valuation Agent are the
same legal entity and are affiliates of MLICo. and MLBYV, potential conflicts of interest may arise
between the Secured Instruments Collateral Provider, the Secured Instruments Valuation Agent and the
Holders of Secured Instruments, including with respect to the making of certain determinations and the
exercise of certain discretions (including as to the calculation of and determinations relating to (a) the
Marked-to-Market Derivative Hedge Value, (b) in respect of Secured Instruments to which the Secured
Static/Floating Instruments Conditions apply: (i) the MTM Collateral Specified Percentage of the
Required MTM Collateral Value; (ii) the Static Collateral Specified Percentage of the Required Static
Collateral Nominal Amount; and (iii) (if applicable) a Collateral Trigger Event or a MTM Trigger Event,
and (c) in respect of Secured Instruments to which the Secured Fully Floating Instruments Conditions
apply: (i) the Secured Instrument Market Value; and (ii) the Required Collateral Value). In addition,
whilst the Secured Instruments Collateral Provider and the Secured Instruments Valuation Agent are
obliged to carry out their duties and functions in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner,
neither the Secured Instruments Collateral Provider nor the Secured Instruments Valuation Agent acts or
will act as a fiduciary or as an advisor to the Holder of Secured Instruments in respect of their duties as
Secured Instruments Collateral Provider and Secured Instruments Valuation Agent, respectively.

A failure by the Security Agent or the Disposal Agent to perform its obligations following an
Acceleration Event may adversely affect the amount the Holders of the Secured Instruments may
recover

Following a Secured Instruments Event of Default and subsequent Acceleration Event, the Security
Agent will (acting in accordance with an Acceleration Instruction) enforce the security under the relevant
Deed of Charge upon the delivery of a Collateral Enforcement Notice and will give instructions to the
Disposal Agent to: (a) liquidate and realise the Collateral Assets in the Collateral Pool which secures a
Series of Secured Instruments and subsequently distribute the relevant Collateral Enforcement Proceeds
Share to the relevant Holders of Secured Instruments or (b) where, in respect of Secured Instruments to
which the Secured Static/Floating Instruments Conditions apply, Physical Delivery of Static Collateral
Assets is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms or where, in respect of Secured Instruments
to which the Secured Fully Floating Instruments Conditions apply, Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets
is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, arrange for delivery of the relevant Entitlement
to the relevant Holder of Secured Instruments, in each case in accordance with the Order of Priority.

A failure by the Security Agent or the Disposal Agent to perform its obligations with respect to the
Collateral Assets or to perform its obligations in a timely or efficient manner may adversely affect the
realisation of the Collateral Assets and the amount distributable or deliverable to Holders of Secured
Instruments. Accordingly, in the event of a Secured Instruments Event of Default and subsequent
Acceleration Event, the amount that Holders of the Secured Instruments recover may be adversely
affected.

The Security Agent may be entitled not to act following an Acceleration Event if it believes that it will
be unable to recover certain amounts or is not indemnified and/or secured or pre-funded by the
Holders

Following a Secured Instruments Event of Default and subsequent Acceleration Event (as notified to the
Security Agent upon receipt of an Acceleration Instruction), the Security Agent shall be under no
obligation to take any action to liquidate or realise any Collateral Assets, if (a) in the event that it is
directed by the requisite percentage of Holders of the Secured Instruments to effect such liquidation or
realisation in accordance with the exact provisions of an Acceleration Instruction (the form of which is
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scheduled to the English Law Agency Agreement) it reasonably believes that it would not be able to
recover Security Agent Amounts (being amounts incurred by it in respect of exceptional duties) or would
experience an unreasonable delay in doing so; or (b) in the event that it is directed by a Secured Party to
effect such liquidation or realisation other than in accordance with the exact provisions of an Acceleration
Instruction (the form of which is scheduled to the English Law Agency Agreement) it has not been
indemnified and/or secured and/or prefunded to its satisfaction by the Holders of the Secured
Instruments.

In any such event, the Security Agent may decide not to take any action and such inaction will not
constitute a breach by it of its obligations under the Security Agency Agreement, the Deed of Charge or
the Secured Instruments Conditions. Consequently, if applicable, the Holders of the Secured Instruments
would have to either arrange for such indemnity and/or security and/or pre-funding, accept the
consequences of such inaction by the Security Agent or appoint a replacement Security Agent. Holders
of at least 33 per cent., in respect of Secured Notes, in aggregate principal amount or, in respect of
Secured W&C Instruments, in aggregate Notional Amount or by number (as applicable), of Non-Waived
Instruments outstanding may remove the Security Agent and appoint a replacement Security Agent.
Holders of the Secured Instruments should be prepared to bear the costs associated with any such
indemnity and/or security and/or pre-funding and/or the consequences of any such inaction by the
Security Agent and/or the replacement of the Security Agent. Such inaction by the Security Agent will
not entitle Holders of the Secured Instruments to take action in the United Kingdom directly against the
Secured Instruments Collateral Provider to pursue remedies for any breach by the Secured Instruments
Collateral Provider of the Deed of Charge, the Secured Instruments Conditions or Charged Documents.
Any consequential delay in the liquidation or realisation of the Collateral Assets may adversely affect
the amount distributable or deliverable to Holders of Secured Instruments.

No Fiduciary duties

In performing their duties under the Programme, none of the Secured Instruments Collateral Provider,
the Custodian, the Collateral Agent, the Secured Instruments Valuation Agent or the Disposal Agent will
act as a fiduciary or as an advisor to the Holders of Instruments in respect of their respective duties and
do not act as a trustee for the Holders of Instruments. In performing its role under the Programme, the
Security Agent does not act as an advisor to or fiduciary or trustee for the Holders of the Secured
Instruments (either as a Series or individually) or any other party and nothing in any of the documents
relating to the Programme shall be interpreted to constitute the Security Agent as a trustee or fiduciary
of the Issuer, the Secured Instruments Collateral Provider, the Holders of the Secured Instruments or any
other party.

(xi) Risks relating to Preference Share Linked Notes

Factors affecting the performance of the Preference Share Underlyings may adversely affect the value
of the Preference Share Linked Notes

The relevant Issuer may issue Preference Share Linked Notes where the amount payable on redemption
is determined by reference to the changes in the value of the preference shares (the "Preference Shares")
issued by Preface Holdings Limited (the "Preference Share Issuer"). The Preference Shares will be
linked to the economic performance of an underlying reference item or items including shares, indices,
funds or exchange traded funds or baskets of shares, indices, funds or exchange traded funds (each a
"Preference Share Underlying" and together, the "Preference Share Underlyings") and the value of
the Preference Shares may fluctuate up or down depending on the performance of the relevant Preference
Share Underlyings as set out in the Private Placement Memorandum of the relevant issue of Preference
Shares (see "Description of the Preference Share Issuer and the Preference Shares" for details) and as
specified in the applicable Final Terms. If, as a result of the performance of the Preference Share
Underlyings, the performance of the Preference Shares is negative, the value of the Preference Share
Linked Notes will be adversely affected. Purchasers of Preference Share Linked Notes risk losing all or
a part of their investment if the value of the Preference Shares declines.

Preference Share Linked Notes may be subject to early redemption
Preference Share Linked Notes will be subject to early redemption if (i) an Early Redemption Event

occurs, or (ii) Redemption at the Option of the Issuer is specified as "Applicable" in the applicable Final
Terms and the Issuer gives notice to the Noteholders that it will redeem the Preference Share Linked
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Notes. In these circumstances the Issuer may redeem the Preference Share Linked Notes at (i) the Early
Redemption Amount or (ii) the Optional Redemption Amount (as applicable). Following such early
redemption, a Holder of Preference Share Linked Notes may not be able to reinvest the redemption
proceeds at an equivalent rate of return to the Preference Share Linked Notes being redeemed and may
only be able to do so at a significantly lower rate or in worse investment conditions. Potential investors
should consider reinvestment risk in light of other available investments at the time they contemplate
investing in Preference Share Linked Notes.

The taxation applicable to Preference Share Linked Notes may be subject to change

The basis and rate of taxation in respect of Preference Share Linked Notes and reliefs depend on each
investor's individual circumstances and could change at any time. This could have a negative impact on
the return of the Preference Share Linked Notes. Prospective investors should seek their own independent
tax advice as to the possible tax treatment of redemption payments (such term including early or final
redemption) received on Preference Share Linked Notes prior to investing.

Exposure to the Preference Share Underlyings

The Preference Share Underlyings may include, shares, indices, funds or exchange traded funds or
baskets of shares, indices, funds or exchange traded funds, as may be determined by the Preference Share
Issuer and specified in the Private Placement Memorandum of the relevant issue of Preference Shares.
The composition of the relevant Preference Share Underlyings may be designed to change over time as
a result of performance or other factors.

Prospective investors shall consider the risk factors set out in "Risks Relating to the Structure of a
Particular Issue of Instruments" in respect of the risks involved in investing in Reference Item Linked
Instruments. In considering these risk factors, prospective investors shall construe each reference to an
Instrument as a reference to the Preference Shares and the relevant references to Reference Items as
references to the Preference Share Underlyings of the same asset class.

Conflicts of interest may arise when Merrill Lynch International acts in different roles in respect of
the Preference Share Linked Notes and Preference Shares

Merrill Lynch International is appointed by the Preference Share Issuer to act as calculation agent in
respect of each class of Preference Shares. The calculation agent in respect of the Preference Shares has
wide discretionary powers under the terms and conditions of the Preference Shares. For example, upon
the occurrence of certain events relating to the Preference Share Issuer, the Preference Share Underlyings
or the hedging arrangements in respect of the Preference Share Linked Notes and/or the Preference
Shares, the calculation agent may determine that the Preference Shares shall be early redeemed. An early
redemption of the Preference Shares will result in an Early Redemption Event occurring under the
Preference Share Linked Notes and that may result in prospective investors receiving less than their
initial investments.

Merrill Lynch International will also act as structuring agent in respect of the Preference Shares and
arranger in respect of the Preference Share Linked Notes. In performing such roles, Merrill Lynch
International may enter into hedging arrangements in respect of the Preference Share Linked Notes and
the Preference Shares as a principal. Merrill Lynch International may thus acquire positions in the
Preference Share Underlyings and its interests may not necessarily align with the interests of prospective
investors.

Merrill Lynch International is an Affiliate of the relevant Issuer and the Guarantor. By virtue of the
different roles performed by it, potential conflicts of interest may arise when Merrill Lynch International
acts in such capacities. Please see the risk factor headed "There may be conflicts of interest between the
relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (if applicable), the relevant Dealer and/or their respective Affiliates and
the Holders" for additional details.

10. Risks Relating to Floating Rate Notes

(a) Risks Relating to Floating Rate Notes and Notes That Bear Interest by Reference to a
Reference Rate or SOFR, SONIA or TONA
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The following discussion of risks relates to Floating Rate Notes and Notes that bear interest by reference
to a Reference Rate or SOFR, SONIA or TONA (together, "Reference Rate Notes").

Reference Rate Notes bear additional risks

If the Notes bear interest by reference to a Reference Rate for some or all of the term of the Notes, there
will be additional significant risks not associated with a conventional fixed-rate note. These risks include
fluctuation of the interest rates and the possibility that an amount of interest received is lower than
expected or lower than one or more prior Interest Periods, which would result in the amount of interest
payments being lower than the interest payments for prior Interest Periods and so could affect the market
value of an investment in such Reference Rate Notes. In recent years, one or more interest rates have
been volatile, and volatility in interest rates may be expected in the future. The Issuer has no control over
anumber of factors, including economic, financial, and political events, that are important in determining
the existence, magnitude, and longevity of market volatility and other risks and their impact on the value
of, or payments made on, the Reference Rate Notes. Volatility of rates may adversely impact the return
on or market value of such Reference Rate Notes.

The Issuer or its affiliates may publish research reports that could affect the market value of the
Reference Rate Notes

The Issuer or one or more of its affiliates, at present or in the future, may publish research reports with
respect to movements in interest rates generally, or with respect to the transition to alternative reference
rates or any Reference Rate that is used for the Reference Rate Notes specifically. This research may be
modified from time to time without notice and may express opinions or provide recommendations that
are inconsistent with purchasing or holding the Reference Rate Notes. Any of these activities may
adversely affect the market value of the Reference Rate Notes.

Regulation of certain ""benchmark' rates may adversely affect the value of, return on and trading
market for Reference Rate Notes that bear interest by reference to such rates

Previously, certain interest rates which are deemed to be "benchmark" rates have been the subject of
national, international and other regulatory guidance, reform and other actions. This has resulted in
regulatory reform and changes to existing benchmarks. Such reform of benchmarks includes Regulation
(EU) 2016/11 (as amended, the "EU Benchmarks Regulation") and Regulation (EU) 2016/11 as it
forms part of UK domestic law by virtue of the EUWA and the regulations made under the EUWA (the
"UK Benchmarks Regulation", together with the EU Benchmarks Regulation, the "Benchmarks
Regulations"), which apply to the provision of benchmarks, the contribution of input data to a
benchmark and the use of a benchmark within the EU and the UK, respectively. The Benchmarks
Regulations are applicable to BBSW, EURIBOR, EUR EURIBOR ICE Swap Rate®, GBP SONIA ICE
Swap Rate®, U.S. Dollar SOFR ICE Swap Rate®, Tokyo Swap Rate (for swaps referencing TONA) and
the Applicable RFRs. Among other things, the Benchmarks Regulations (i) require benchmark
administrators to be authorised or registered (or, if non-EU-based or non-UK based, to be subject to an
equivalent regime or otherwise recognised or endorsed) and (ii) prevent certain uses by EU and UK
supervised entities, as applicable, of benchmarks of administrators that are not authorised or registered
(or if non EU-based or UK-based, as applicable, not deemed equivalent or recognised or endorsed). The
Benchmarks Regulations could have a material impact on any Reference Rate Notes referencing a
benchmark, in particular, if the methodology or other terms of the benchmark are changed in order to
comply with the requirements of the Benchmarks Regulations. Such changes could, amongst other
things, have the effect of reducing, increasing or otherwise affecting the volatility of the published rate
or level of the relevant benchmark.

In addition, in the future, benchmark rates, including BBSW, EURIBOR, the Constant Maturity Swap
rates and the Applicable RFRs, could be subject to further regulatory scrutiny, reform efforts and/or other
actions. Any such regulatory scrutiny, reform efforts and/or other actions could increase the costs and
risks of administering or otherwise participating in the setting of a "benchmark" and complying with
applicable regulations or requirements. Such factors may have the effect of discouraging market
participants from continuing to administer or contribute to certain "benchmarks", trigger changes in the
rules or methodologies used in certain "benchmarks" or lead to the elimination, discontinuance or
obsolescence of certain "benchmarks". Following the implementation of reforms, the manner of
administration of benchmarks may change, with the result that they may perform differently than in the
past, or the benchmark could be eliminated or discontinued entirely, or there could be other consequences
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that cannot be predicted. Even prior to the implementation of any changes, uncertainty as to the nature
of potential alternative reference rates and as to the nature and effect of potential changes to such
benchmark may adversely affect such benchmark during the term of the relevant Notes, as well as the
value of, the return on and/or trading market for Notes linked to such benchmark. Any of the foregoing
consequences could have a material adverse effect on the Rate of Interest on, value of, return on and
trading market for any Notes linked to such a "benchmark" rate.

Future Performance of Reference Rates cannot be inferred from historical performance

No future performance of an applicable Reference Rate may be inferred from historical data about such
Reference Rate. Future levels of an applicable Reference Rate may bear little or no relation to historical
data about such Reference Rate. Prior observed patterns, if any, in the behaviour of market variables and
their relation to such Reference Rate, such as correlations, may change in the future. Historical
performance data are not indicative of, and have no bearing on, the potential performance of an applicable
Reference Rate. If the pricing of a Note is based on prior performance of a Reference Rate and future
performance is different, the returns on or market price of affected Notes may be adversely affected.

(b) Risks relating to BBSW Notes

The following discussion of risks relates to Floating Rate Notes and Notes that bear interest by reference
to BBSW ("BBSW Notes").

Interest rate benchmarks (such as BBSW) have been and continue to be the subject of national and
international regulatory guidance and proposals for reform. These reforms may cause such
benchmarks to perform differently than in the past, to disappear entirely, or have other consequences
which cannot be predicted. Any such consequence could have a material adverse effect on the BBSW
Notes.

Interest rate benchmarks (such as BBSW) have been and continue to be the subject of national and
international regulatory guidance and proposals for reform. These reforms may cause such benchmarks
to perform differently than in the past, to disappear entirely, or have other consequences which cannot
be predicted. Any such consequence as it relates to BBSW could have a material adverse effect on the
BBSW Notes.

In Australia, examples of reforms that are already effective include the replacement of the Australian
Financial Markets Association ("AFMA") as BBSW administrator with the Australian Securities
Exchange, changes to the methodology for calculation of BBSW, and amendments to the Corporations
Act 2001 (Cth) made by the Treasury Laws Amendment (2017 Measures No. 5) Act 2018 (Cth) which,
among other things, enable the Australian Securities and Investment Commission ("ASIC") to make
rules relating to the generation and administration of financial benchmarks. On 6 June, 2018, ASIC
designated BBSW as a "significant financial benchmark" and made the ASIC Financial Benchmark
(Administration) Rules 2018 and the ASIC Financial Benchmarks (Compelled) Rules 2018.

Although many of the Australian reforms were designed to support the reliability and robustness of
BBSW, it is not possible to predict with certainty whether, and to what extent, BBSW will continue to
be supported or the extent to which related regulations, rules, practices or methodologies may be
amended going forward. This may cause BBSW to perform differently than it has in the past, and may
have other consequences which cannot be predicted. For example, it is possible that these changes could
cause BBSW to cease to exist, to become commercially or practically unworkable, or to become more
or less volatile or liquid. Any such changes could have a material adverse effect on the BBSW Notes.

In March 2021, the Reserve Bank of Australia (the "RBA") expressed a view that calculations of BBSW
using tenors of 3 months or 6 months are robust. The Reserve Bank of Australia, with the support of the
Australian Prudential Regulation Authority and ASIC, has also recommended Australian institutions to
adhere to the 2020 IBOR Fallbacks Protocol and associated Supplement to the 2006 ISDA Definitions
which were launched by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association on 23 October 2020, where
suitable for the relevant security (the "Benchmark Supplement"). The Benchmark Supplement
prescribes fallback reference rates in the event BBSW cannot be determined or is not available. The RBA
has also recently amended its criteria for securities to be accepted as being eligible collateral for the
purposes of any repurchase agreements to be entered into with the RBA. These include a requirement
that floating rate notes and marked asset-backed securities issued on or after 1 December 2022
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referencing BBSW must contain at least one "robust" and "reasonable and fair" fallback rate for BBSW
in the event that it permanently ceases to exist.

AFMA published the "AFMA Fallback Language Template For Floating Rate Notes" on 1 November
2022 (the "AFMA Market Guideline") for voluntary use in contracts that reference BBSW to assist
market participants to meet the requirements of the RBA's updated criteria, with a view to these becoming
standardised provisions for BBSW-linked floating rate note issuances. However, market participants are
not required to adopt the AFMA Market Guideline approach where the underlying securities are not
intended to be repo-eligible, which has resulted in inconsistent application. Further, reference to a
specific risk free rate (such as AONIA) as a fallback for BBSW has not yet been settled at an industry
level in Australia or adopted. There is therefore risk of inconsistency in the application of potential risk
free fallback rates across different products. However the Reserve Bank of Australia is actively
promoting, as of the date of this Offering Circular, a coordinated industry-agreed position on the relevant
fallback rate to use.

For the purposes of determining payments of interest on the BBSW Notes, investors should be aware
that Additional Note Condition 2(b) provides for a fall back arrangement in the event that the relevant
published benchmark cannot be determined for an Interest Period, which is consistent with the AFMA
Market Guideline. Any such fall back rates may also, at the relevant time, be difficult to calculate, be
more volatile than originally anticipated or not reflect the funding cost or return anticipated by investors.

Investors should consult their own independent advisers and make their own assessment about the
potential risks imposed by BBSW reforms and the potential for BBSW to be discontinued in making any
investment decision with respect to any BBSW Notes.

(c) Risks Relating to EURIBOR Notes

The following discussion of risks relates to Floating Rate Notes and Notes that bear interest by reference
to the Euro Interbank Offered Rate ("EURIBOR Notes").

EURIBOR is subject to the Benchmarks Regulations. See the discussion of the risks in the risk factor
"Regulation of certain "benchmark" rates may adversely affect the value of; return on and trading market
for Reference Rate Notes that bear interest by reference to such rates."”

EURIBOR has been reformed such that it is based on a hybrid methodology. On 13 September 2018, the
working group on euro risk-free rates recommended the new euro short-term rate ("€STR") as the new
risk free rate for the euro area. ESTR was published for the first time on 2 October 2019. In addition, in
response to regulatory scrutiny and applicable legal requirements, the European Money Markets Institute
("EMMI"), as administrator of the Euro Interbank Offered Rate ("EURIBOR"), conducted a series of
consultations on a proposed reformed hybrid methodology for EURIBOR. In July 2019, EMMI
published its EURIBOR Benchmark Statement setting forth its reformed hybrid methodology and
received regulatory authorisation for the continued administration of EURIBOR. Although EURIBOR
has been reformed in order to comply with the terms of the EU Benchmarks Regulation, its future remains
uncertain. It is not known how long EURIBOR will continue in its current form. Any of these
developments could have a material adverse effect on the value and the return on EURIBOR Notes.

The euro risk-free rate working group for the euro area has published a set of guiding principles and high
level recommendations for the fallback provisions in, among other things, new euro denominated cash
products (including floating-rate debt securities) referencing EURIBOR. The guiding principles indicate,
among other things, that continuing to reference EURIBOR in relevant contracts (without robust fallback
provisions) may increase the risk to the euro area financial system. On 11 May 2021, the euro risk-free
rate working group published its recommendations on EURIBOR fallback trigger events and €STR-
based fallback rates. €ESTR has a different methodology and other important differences from EURIBOR
and has little historical track record and may be subject to changes in its methodology.

In addition, EMMI has launched a forward-looking EFTERM as an alternative to, and as a new fallback
rate for, EURIBOR. As at the date of this Offering Circular, it is therefore currently not foreseeable
whether EURIBOR will continue to exist permanently.

With respect to any series of EURIBOR Notes, if the Issuer or its designee, after consulting with the
Issuer, determines that a General Benchmark Transition Event and related General Benchmark
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Replacement Date have occurred with respect to EURIBOR, the applicable General Benchmark
Replacement will replace EURIBOR for all purposes relating to such Notes. See the discussion of risks
in the risk factor "Risks relating to General Benchmark Transition Provisions Set Forth in Additional
Note Condition 4(a)."

Furthermore, if EURIBOR is discontinued or ceases to be published, there can be no assurances that the
Issuer and other market participants will be adequately prepared for such discontinuance or cessation,
which may have an unpredictable impact on contractual mechanics (including, but not limited to, the
interest rate with respect to particular series of EURIBOR Notes), among other adverse consequences.

(d) Risks relating to TORF Notes

The following discussion of risks relates to Floating Rate Notes and Notes that bear interest by reference
to TORF ("TORF Notes").

The information regarding TORF that QUICK Benchmarks Inc., the administrator of TORF, makes
publicly available may be limited

On its website, the Quick Benchmarks, Inc. ("Quick") provides a link to a third-party website that
provides historical Tokyo Term Risk Free Rate ("TORF") rates on a daily basis for the preceding 180
days and a weekly basis for the preceding year. In order to obtain historical TORF rates from earlier
periods, users must request such information from Quick. As a result, an investor may find it more
difficult to obtain historical TORF data than data relating to certain other reference rates. In addition, the
historical TORF data available through such third-party website may be published on a delayed basis. In
addition, Quick may make changes to the rate information or other rate information that it makes publicly
available.

TORF is a new rate with a limited history, and the future performance of TORF cannot be predicted
based on historical performance or other available information

The daily publication of TORF began on a prototype basis on 9 October 2020 and on a production basis
(i.e., for use in transactions) on 26 April 2021, and, therefore, it has a limited history. All TORF rate
information relating to dates prior to 26 April 2021 is prototype rate information, which Quick published
only as a reference to be used for preparation of the future administrative framework of TORF and was
not intended for use in financial contracts. The future performance of TORF cannot be predicted based
on the very limited historical and prototype data that is available. Future levels of TORF may bear little
or no relation to the historical actual or historical indicative TORF data. Prior observed patterns, if any,
in the behaviour of market variables and their relation to TORF, such as correlations, may change in the
future. While some pre-publication historical TORF rate data have been released by Quick, production
of such historical indicative TORF data inherently involves assumptions, estimates and approximations.
No future performance of TORF may be inferred from any of the historical actual or historical indicative
TOREF data. Hypothetical or historical performance data are not indicative of, and have no bearing on,
the potential performance of TORF.

In addition, the methodology Quick uses to calculate TORF relies on input data from a small number of
institutions, which may lead to a delay of publication of TORF. According to Quick's website, data for
calculating TOREF is provided by reporting brokers designated by Quick. According to the most recent
available information on Quick's website, there are three reporting brokers. In order to calculate TORF,
at least two reporting brokers must report data to Quick. Quick may delay the publication of TORF until
6:30 p.m. Tokyo time if, for any reason, the number at least two reporting brokers do not report such
data. If only one or no reporting brokers report data to Quick by 5:30 p.m. Tokyo time, the previous day's
TORF will be published as TORF for the relevant day by 6:30 p.m. Tokyo time. In addition, the
methodology relies on data from OIS market, so depending on the sufficiency of market liquidity of the
underlying Overnight Index Swap ("OIS") market, it may impair the robustness of TORF as a financial
benchmark.

In addition, because TORF is a new rate with limited history, it may be less robust than more established
benchmarks. For example, in speech in June 2021, the Deputy Governor of the Bank of Japan noted that
there are important issues with the use of TORF to be addressed in terms of robustness as a financial
benchmark, such as the establishment of the governance structure, improvement of transparency in the
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calculation process, and the sufficiency of market liquidity of the underlying OIS market. This could
have an adverse impact on the liquidity for the affected Notes.

The composition and characteristics of TORF are not the same as those of JPY LIBOR, and TORF is
not expected to be a comparable substitute or replacement for JPY LIBOR

In Japan, there are several candidates for alternative reference rates to replace the London interbank
Offered Rate for Japanese yen ("JPY LIBOR"), which ceased publication following 31 December 2021,
and one of such candidates is TORF. The composition and characteristics of TORF are not the same as
JPY LIBOR and TOREF is not the economic equivalent of JPY LIBOR. While JPY LIBOR included the
cost of bank credit risk since it was calculated based on the submissions of panel banks of rates they can
borrow unsecured funds in the interbank market, TORF is a risk free rate since it is a benchmark
calculated based on the uncollateralised overnight call rate which involves almost no credit risk of
financial institutions. The main characteristic of TORF is that it does not rely on rates provided by panel
banks but uses Japanese yen OIS transaction rates. A Japanese yen OIS transaction is, according to Quick,
a transaction where the value of the compounded uncollateralised overnight call rate is used to pay the
floating interest rate or variable interest rate and swapped with a fixed rate. As a result, there can be no
assurance that TORF will perform in the same way as JPY LIBOR would have at any time, including,
without limitation, as a result of changes in interest and yield rates in the market, bank credit risk, market
volatility or global or regional economic, financial, political, regulatory, judicial or other events. For the
same reasons, TORF is not expected to be a comparable substitute or replacement for JPY LIBOR.

TORF may be modified or discontinued, which could adversely affect the return on, value of or market
for the TORF Notes

Quick (or any successor administrator) may make methodological or other changes that could change the
value of TORF, including changes related to the method by which TOREF is calculated, eligibility criteria
applicable to the transactions used to calculate TORF, or timing related to the publication of TORF. In
addition, TOREF is published by Quick based on data received from sources other than the Issuer, and the
Issuer has no control over the methods of calculation, publication schedule, rate revision practices or
availability of TORF. If the manner in which TOREF is calculated is changed, that change may result in a
reduction of the amount of interest payable on the TORF Notes, which may adversely affect the trading
prices of the TORF Notes. The administrator of TORF may withdraw, modify, amend, suspend or
discontinue the calculation or dissemination of TORF in its sole discretion and without notice and has
no obligation to consider the interests of investors in the TORF Notes in calculating, withdrawing,
modifying, amending, suspending or discontinuing TORF. For purposes of the formula used to calculate
interest with respect to the TORF Notes, TORF in respect of a particular Interest Period will not be
adjusted for any modifications or amendments to TORF data that Quick (or any successor administrator)
may publish after the Calculation Agent has determined TORF for such Interest Period.

There can be no guarantee that TORF will not be modified or discontinued in a manner that is materially
adverse to an investor in the TORF Notes. If the manner in which TOREF is calculated is changed or if
TOREF is discontinued, that change or discontinuance could reduce or otherwise negatively impact the
amount of interest that accrues on the TORF Notes, which could adversely affect the return on, value of
and market for the TORF Notes.

The secondary trading market for TORF Notes may be limited

As of the date of this Offering Circular, the Issuer is not aware of TORF having been widely used as a
reference rate for floating-rate or other types of notes, and it may not be widely used as such in the future.
As a result, as of the date of this Offering Circular, no market exists for Japanese yen-denominated notes
using TORF as a reference rate. If TORF does not prove to be widely used as a benchmark in securities
that are similar or comparable to the TORF Notes, the trading price of the TORF Notes may be lower
than those of debt securities with interest rates based on rates that are more widely used.

The market continues to develop in relation to TORF as a reference rate for floating rate and other
types of notes

The market continues to develop in relation to TORF as a base rate as an alternative to JPY LIBOR. In
particular, market participants may use an alternative reference rates based on TONA, including for
example a compounded average of TONA calculated in arrears, as well as the TONA Averages and
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TONA Index published by the Quick. In addition, the Tokyo Interbank Offered Rate ("TIBOR"), an
existing reference rate, is expected to continue to be used by market participants. The market or a
significant part thereof may adopt a TONA-based rate or TIBOR. If the market adopts a TONA-based
rate, TIBOR or another reference rate, that would likely adversely affect the market price of the TORF
Notes.

(e) Risks relating to KRW CD 91 Rate Notes

The following discussion of risks relates to Floating Rate Notes and Notes that bear interest by reference
to the KRW CD 91 Rate, being the rate for Korean Won certificates of deposit with a 91-day maturity
("KRW CD 91 Rate Notes").

The long-term future of the KRW CD 91 rate is uncertain

The KRW CD 91 Rate is calculated based on final quotation yields of 91 day KRW certificates of deposit
issued by Korean banks with credit rating of AAA or higher ("KRW CD"). It has been reported that the
volume of KRW CD issuances has diminished in recent years, and the long-term future of the KRW CD
91 Rate is uncertain. On 26 February 2021, the Financial Services Commission of Korea (the "FSC")
and the Bank of Korea announced that a market participant task force on benchmark interest rate reform
had picked an overnight repo rate as the new KRW risk-free rate. Furthermore, on September 2021, the
Financial Supervisory Service (the executive arm of the FSC) designated the Korea Overnight Financing
Repo Rate (the "KOFR") as a critical benchmark which has been published by the Korea Securities
Depository since November 2021 and announced on December 2021 that the FSC will try to have the
CD rate replaced by the KOFR in the market in the medium to long term. However, at this time, there
is uncertainty with respect to the future of the KRW CD 91 Rate, as well as when the KOFR or other
rates may become market accepted alternatives to the KRW CD 91 Rate, and it is difficult to predict the
effect of any such uncertainty or alternatives on the KRW CD 91 Rate. Any of these developments could
have a material adverse effect on the value and the return on the KRW CD 91 Rate Notes.

(2) Risks relating to the Applicable RFRs Generally

The following discussion of risks relates to Floating Rate Notes and Notes for which Compounded Daily
is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined.
With respect to such Notes, the applicable Reference Rate will be calculated by reference to SOFR,
SONIA or TONA (each, an "Applicable RFR"), in accordance with the Additional Note Conditions that
are specified in Annex 17 and the applicable Final Terms to be applicable to the applicable Reference
Rate and Notes bearing interest by reference thereto.

The Applicable RFRs may be more volatile than other benchmark or market rates

Daily changes in the Applicable RFRs have, on occasion, been more volatile than daily changes in other
benchmark or market rates during corresponding periods. In addition, although changes in the
Compounded Daily Reference Rates generally are not expected to be as volatile as changes in the
Applicable RFRs upon which such rates are based on a daily basis, the return on, value of and market for
the Notes bearing interest by reference to a Compounded Daily Reference Rate may fluctuate more than
floating-rate debt securities with interest rates based on less volatile rates.

The market continues to develop in relation to the Applicable RFRs as reference rates for floating rate
and other types of Notes

The market continues to develop in relation to the Applicable RFRs as reference rates in the capital
markets as alternatives to the relevant interbank offered rates. In particular, market participants are still
exploring alternative reference rates based on the Applicable RFRs. For example, the administrators of
SOFR, SONIA and TONA (or authorised market participants) have published compounded indices
and/or compounded averages based on such rates. In addition, Quick Corp. publishes TORF, which seeks
to measure the market's forward expectation of an average TONA over a designated term and could be
used as an alternative to other reference rates based on TONA. TORF was recommended by the Cross-
Industry Committee on Japanese Yen Interest Rate Benchmarks as the first option to replace JPY LIBOR
in fallback provisions for floating-rate debt securities linked to JPY LIBOR. The development of the
Applicable RFRs as reference rates for the relevant bond markets, as well as continued development of
potentially competing rates — whether based on the Applicable RFRs or otherwise — for such market and
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the market infrastructure for adopting such rates, could result in reduced liquidity or increased volatility
or could otherwise affect the market price of the Notes bearing interest by reference to the Applicable
RFRs.

The relevant market or a significant part thereof may adopt a rate other than the Compounded Daily
Reference Rate that is applicable with respect to a particular Series of Notes or may adopt an application
of an Applicable RFR that differs significantly from that set out in the applicable Final Terms and the
Additional Note Conditions. The Issuer may in the future also issue Notes referencing a Compounded
Daily Reference Rate (which may, if so specified in the applicable Final Terms, be determined by
reference to the applicable Compounded Index) that differs materially in terms of interest determination
when compared with any previous Notes referencing the applicable Compounded Daily Reference Rate
issued by it under this Programme. The development of the Compounded Daily Reference Rates as
interest reference rates for the relevant bond markets, as well as continued development of risk-free rates
for such markets and the market infrastructure for adopting such rate, could result in reduced liquidity or
increased volatility or could otherwise affect the market price of any Notes that reference an Applicable
RFR issued under the Programme from time to time.

The manner of adoption or application of risk-free rates in the relevant bond markets may differ
materially compared with the application and adoption of risk-free rates in other markets, such as the
derivative and loan markets. Investors should carefully consider how any mismatch between the adoption
of such reference rates in the bond, loan and derivatives markets may impact any hedging or other
financial arrangement which they may put in place in connection with any acquisition, holding or
disposal of Notes referencing an Applicable RFR.

The Applicable RFRs and the RFR Compounded Indices may be modified or discontinued and a
Series of Notes with a Compounded Daily Reference Rate may bear interest by reference to a rate
other than the original stated Compounded Daily Reference Rate, which could adversely affect the
value of such Notes

The Applicable RFRs, which will be used in the calculation of a Compounded Daily Reference Rate, as
so stated in the applicable Final Terms and the applicable Terms and Conditions, and the RFR
Compounded Indices, which will be used in the calculation of a Compounded Daily Reference Rate as
so stated in the applicable Final Terms and the applicable Terms and Conditions, are relatively new rates
published by the third-party administrators based on data received by such administrators from sources
other than the Issuer, and the Issuer has no control over the methods of calculation, publication schedule,
rate revision practices or availability of such Applicable RFRs and RFR Compounded Indices at any
time.

There can be no guarantee, particularly given their relatively recent introduction, that the Applicable
RFRs and/or the RFR Compounded Indices will not be discontinued or fundamentally altered in a manner
that is materially adverse to the interests of investors in Notes that bear interest by reference thereto. The
administrator of an Applicable RFR or RFR Compounded Index may make methodological or other
changes that could change the value of the Applicable RFR or RFR Compounded Index, including
changes related to the method by which the Applicable RFR or RFR Compounded Index is calculated,
eligibility criteria applicable to the transactions used to calculate the Applicable RFR and/or RFR
Compounded Index, or timing related to the publication of the Applicable RFR and/or RFR Compounded
Index. Such administrator may suspend or discontinue the calculation or dissemination of an Applicable
RFR or RFR Compounded Index in its sole discretion and without notice and has no obligation to
consider the interests of investors in Notes bearing interest by reference thereto in calculating
withdrawing, modifying, amending, suspending or discontinuing an Applicable RFR and/or RFR
Compounded Index. Any such change may result in a reduction in the amount of interest payable on a
Series of Notes with a Compounded Daily Reference Rate that is determined by reference to such
Applicable RFR or RFR Compounded Index, and the trading prices of such Series of Notes.

In addition, the administrator of an Applicable RFR or RFR Compounded Index may withdraw, modify
or amend the published data with respect to the Applicable RFR or the RFR Compounded Index in the
sole discretion of such administrator and without notice, in which case the Rate of Interest for an
applicable Series of Notes the Compounded Daily Reference Rate for which is determined by reference
to such Applicable RFR or RFR Compounded Index will not be adjusted for any modifications or
amendments to such Applicable RFR or RFR Compounded Index data that the applicable administrator
may publish after the Rate of Interest for an applicable Interest Period has been determined.
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(h) Risks relating to TONA Notes

The following discussion of risks relates to Floating Rate Notes and Notes that bear interest by reference
to TONA ("TONA Notes").

The information regarding TONA that the Bank of Japan makes publicly available may be limited

On its website, the Bank of Japan makes available certain information relating to the uncollateralised
overnight call rate (also referred to as the Tokyo Overnight Average Rate ("TONA")), including certain
information relating to the sources of input data for TONA and how such data is collected and analysed
to produce TONA. However, the Bank of Japan does not publish a detailed methodology describing such
input data and analysis, its policies and procedures relating to the collection of input data and production
of TONA, or how such policies and procedures may change in the future. As a result, investors in the
TONA Notes may find it more difficult to obtain information relating to TONA than certain other
reference rates.

The composition and characteristics of TONA are not the same as those of JPY LIBOR, and TONA
is not expected to be a comparable substitute or replacement for JPY LIBOR

In December 2016, the Japanese Study Group on Risk-Free Reference Rates announced TONA as its
preferred risk-free rate for Japanese Yen. The composition and characteristics of TONA are not the same
as those of JPY LIBOR. TONA measures the rates of transactions settled on the same day as the trade
date and maturing the following business day in the uncollateralised call money market. TONA
represents the weighted average of call rates for uncollateralised overnight transactions in Japanese Yen.
TONA is not the economic equivalent of JPY LIBOR. While TONA currently is an overnight rate, JPY
LIBOR was a forward-looking rate that represents interbank funding for a specified term. As a result,
there can be no assurance that TONA will perform in the same way as JPY LIBOR would have at any
time, including, without limitation, as a result of changes in interest and yield rates in the market, bank
credit risk, market volatility or global or regional economic, financial, political, regulatory, judicial or
other events. For the same reasons, TONA is not expected to be a comparable substitute or replacement
for JPY LIBOR. In addition, any failure of TONA to gain market acceptance could adversely affect the
value of and market for the affected Notes.

The secondary trading market for TONA Notes may be limited

Since TONA has only recently been identified by the Japanese Study Group on Risk-Free Reference
Rates as the preferred risk-free rate for Japanese Yen, the trading market in debt securities such as the
TONA Notes may not develop or may not be very liquid.

As of the date of this Offering Circular, TONA has not been widely used as a reference rate for floating-
rate debt securities. If TONA does not prove to be as widely used as a benchmark in securities that are
similar or comparable to the TONA Notes, the trading price of the TONA Notes may be lower than those
of debt securities with interest rates based on rates that are more widely used.

(1) Risks relating to SOFR Notes

The following discussion of risks relates to Floating Rate Notes and Notes that bear interest by reference
to SOFR ("SOFR Notes").

Any failure of SOFR to maintain market acceptance could adversely affect the return on or value of
the SOFR Notes and result in a limited secondary market for SOFR Notes

According to the ARRC, SOFR was developed for use in certain U.S. dollar derivatives and other
financial contracts as an alternative to USD LIBOR in part because it is considered a good representation
of general funding conditions in the overnight U.S. Treasury repurchase agreement market. However,
as a rate based on transactions secured by U.S. Treasury securities, it does not measure bank-specific
credit risk and, as a result, is less likely to correlate with the unsecured short-term funding costs of banks.
This may mean that market participants would not consider SOFR a suitable substitute, replacement or
successor for USD LIBOR which may, in turn, lessen market acceptance of SOFR.

Further, other index providers are developing products that are perceived as competing with SOFR. It is
possible that market participants will prefer one of these competing products and that such competing
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products may become more widely accepted in the marketplace than SOFR. To the extent market
acceptance for SOFR as a benchmark for floating-rate debt securities declines, the return on and value
of the SOFR Notes and the price at which investors can sell the SOFR Notes in the secondary market
could be adversely affected. In addition, investors in the SOFR Notes may not be able to sell the SOFR
Notes at all or may not be able to sell the SOFR Notes at prices that will provide them with a yield
comparable to similar investments that continue to have a developed secondary market and may
consequently suffer from increased pricing volatility and market risk.

The selection of a SOFR Benchmark Replacement could adversely affect the return on, value of or
market for affected SOFR Notes

If the Issuer or its designee, after consulting with the Issuer, determines that a SOFR Benchmark
Transition Event and related SOFR Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred with respect to SOFR,
the applicable SOFR Benchmark Replacement will replace the then-current SOFR Benchmark (which
will be a rate based on SOFR at the original issue date of the relevant SOFR Notes) for all purposes
relating to such SOFR Notes. If a particular SOFR Benchmark Replacement or SOFR Benchmark
Replacement Adjustment cannot be determined, then the next-available SOFR Benchmark Replacement
or SOFR Benchmark Replacement Adjustment will apply. These replacement rates and adjustments may
be selected or formulated by (i) the SOFR Benchmark Replacement Relevant Governmental Body (such
as the ARRC), (ii) the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. ("ISDA") or any successor
thereto or (iii) in certain circumstances, the Issuer or its designee (which may be the Issuer's affiliate),
after consulting with the Issuer.

In addition, the terms of the SOFR Notes expressly authorise the Issuer or its designee (which may be
the Issuer's affiliate), after consulting with the Issuer, in connection with a SOFR Benchmark
Replacement to make SOFR Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes with respect to, among other
things, the determination of Interest Periods and the timing and frequency of determining rates and
making payments of interest and other administrative matters. The application of a SOFR Benchmark
Replacement and SOFR Benchmark Replacement Adjustment, and any implementation of SOFR
Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes, could result in adverse consequences to the Rate of
Interest or amount of interest payable on the SOFR Notes, which could adversely affect the return on,
value of and market for such SOFR Notes and the price at which investors may be able to sell such SOFR
Notes.

Moreover, certain determinations, decisions and elections with respect to the SOFR Benchmark
Replacement and any SOFR Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes, or the occurrence or non-
occurrence of a SOFR Benchmark Transition Event, may require the exercise of discretion and the
making of subjective judgments by the Issuer or its designee (after consulting with the Issuer). Any
determination, decision or election made by the Issuer or its designee pursuant to the SOFR benchmark
transition provisions set forth in Additional Note Condition 4(c) will, if made by the Issuer, be made in
its sole discretion and, if made by the Issuer's designee, be made after consultation with the Issuer and,
in each case, will become effective without consent from the holders of the affected SOFR Notes or any
other party. The Issuer may designate an entity to make any determination, decision or election that the
Issuer has the right to make in connection with the SOFR benchmark transition provisions set forth
Additional Note Condition 4(c). Any designee that the Issuer may appoint in connection with these
determinations, decisions or elections may be the Issuer's affiliate. When performing such functions,
potential conflicts of interest may exist between the Issuer, its designee and investors in the SOFR Notes
and making such potentially subjective determinations may adversely affect the return on, value of and
market for the SOFR Notes. All determinations by the Issuer or its designee in the Issuer's or the
designee's discretion will be conclusive for all purposes and binding on the Issuer and investors in the
applicable SOFR Notes absent manifest error.

Further, (i) the composition and characteristics of any SOFR Benchmark Replacement for a Series of
SOFR Notes will not be the same as those of the applicable SOFR rate for a Series of SOFR Notes, the
SOFR Benchmark Replacement will not be the economic equivalent of SOFR, there can be no assurance
that the SOFR Benchmark Replacement will perform in the same way as SOFR would have at any time
and there is no guarantee that the SOFR Benchmark Replacement will be a comparable substitute for
SOFR (each of which means that a SOFR Benchmark Transition Event could adversely affect the return
on, value of and market for the applicable Series of SOFR Notes), (ii) any failure of the SOFR Benchmark
Replacement to gain market acceptance could adversely affect the relevant Series of SOFR Notes, (iii)
the SOFR Benchmark Replacement may have a very limited history and the future performance of the
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SOFR Benchmark Replacement may not be able to be predicted based on historical performance, (iv)
the secondary trading market for debt securities linked to the SOFR Benchmark Replacement may be
limited and (v) the administrator of the SOFR Benchmark Replacement may make changes that could
change the value of the SOFR Benchmark Replacement or discontinue the SOFR Benchmark
Replacement and would not have any obligation to consider the interests of investors in the relevant
Series of SOFR Notes in doing so.

)] Risks Relating to Swap Rate Notes

The following discussions of risks relate to Floating Rate Notes for which the applicable Final Terms
specify EUR EURIBOR ICE Swap Rate®, GBP SONIA ICE Swap Rate®, U.S. Dollar SOFR ICE Swap
Rate®, Tokyo Swap Rate (for swaps referencing TONA), the KRW CMS Rate or the Constant Maturity
Swap Rate (such rates together, the "Swap Rates") to be the Reference Rate (such Notes, the "Swap Rate
Notes").

Certain of the following discussions of risks relate to sub-categories of Swap Rate Notes, including
Floating Rate Notes for which the applicable Final Terms specify the Reference Rate to be:

. GBP SONIA ICE Swap Rate®, U.S. Dollar SOFR ICE Swap Rate® or Tokyo Swap Rate (for
swaps referencing TONA) (such rates, together, the "RFR Swap Rates" and such Notes, the
"RFR Swap Rate Notes");

. GBP SONIA ICE Swap Rate®, U.S. Dollar SOFR ICE Swap Rate® or EUR EURIBOR ICE
Swap Rate® (such rates together, the "ICE Swap Rates" and such Notes, the "ICE Swap Rate
Notes"),

. Tokyo Swap Rate (for swaps referencing TONA) (such rate, "TONA TSR" and such Notes,
"TONA TSR Notes"),

. EUR EURIBOR ICE Swap Rate® (such rate, the "EUR ICE Swap Rate" and such Notes, "EUR
ICE Swap Rate Notes"); and

. KRW CMS Rate (such rate, the "KRW CMS Rate" and such Notes, the "KRW CMS Rate
Notes")

. Constant Maturity Swap Rate for the Specified Currency specified in the applicable Final Terms

(each such rate, a "Specified CMS Rate" and such Notes, "Specified CMS Rate Notes").
(1) Risks Relating to RFR Swap Rate Notes

The following discussion of risks relates to RFR Swap Rate Notes. Investors should carefully consider
the following discussion of risks before investing in any such Notes.

The RFR Swap Rates are new benchmarks, and the future performance of the RFR Swap Rates
cannot be predicted based on the limited historical information available.

ICE Benchmark Administration ("IBA") began publication of the U.S. Dollar SOFR ICE Swap Rate®
on 8 November, 2021 and the GBP SONIA ICE Swap Rate® on 14 December, 2020. On 28 October,
2021, the Refinitiv Benchmark Services (UK) Limited ("RBSL") announced publication of TONA TSR,
for available tenors, as a production benchmark. As a result, there is very limited historical information
on which to evaluate the performance of the RFR Swap Rates or on which to base a prediction as to their
future performance, which may bear little or no relation to such limited information. The very limited
historical information is not necessarily indicative of the future performance of the RFR Swap Rates or
the value of the RFR Swap Rate Notes, and any historical upward or downward trend in the level of the
RFR Swap Rates during any period is not an indication that the level of the applicable benchmark is more
or less likely to increase or decrease over the term of the applicable RFR Swap Rate Notes. The actual
future levels of the RFR Swap Rates may be lower than any available historical data, and this could
adversely affect the return on, value of and market for the affected Notes. An investment in the RFR
Swap Rate Notes may involve more risk than investing in Notes linked to benchmarks or indices with
established performance records, where a longer history of performance may be available so that
investors have more information on which to base an investment decision.
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The composition of the RFR Swap Rates is not the same as the U.S. Dollar LIBOR ICE Swap Rate®,
the Sterling LIBOR ICE Swap Rate® or the Tokyo Swap Rate (for swaps referencing 6-month JPY
interbank offered rates from London banks) (together, the "LIBOR Swap Rates"), as applicable, and
the RFR Swap Rates are not expected to be a comparable substitute or replacement for the LIBOR
Swap Rates.

The composition of the RFR Swap Rates is not the same as the LIBOR Swap Rates, and the RFR Swap
Rates are not expected to be a comparable substitute or replacement for the LIBOR Swap Rates.

The U.S. Dollar LIBOR ICE Swap Rate® seeks to represent the mid-price for the semi-annual fixed leg
of an interest rate swap where the floating leg is based on three-month U.S. dollar LIBOR payable
quarterly, calculated on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months. The U.S. Dollar
SOFR ICE Swap Rate® seeks to represent the annual fixed leg of an interest rate swap where the floating
leg is based on a compounded average of the daily SOFR administered by the Federal Reserve Bank of
New York (the "New York Fed") (or any successor administrator) compounded in arrears for twelve
months payable annually using standard market conventions, calculated on the basis of the actual number
of days elapsed, with a year presumed to comprise 360 days.

The Sterling LIBOR ICE Swap Rate seeks to represent the mid-price for the semi-annual fixed leg of an
interest rate swap where the floating leg is based on three-month or six-month Sterling LIBOR payable
quarterly, calculated on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months. The SONIA ICE
Swap Rate seeks to represent the annual fixed leg of an interest rate swap where the floating leg is based
on a compounded average of the daily SONIA administered by the BOE (or any successor administrator)
compounded in arrears for twelve months payable annually using standard market conventions,
calculated on the basis of the actual number of days elapsed, with a year presumed to comprise 360 days.

RBSL ceased publication of the Tokyo Swap Rate (for swaps referencing 6-month JPY interbank offered
rates from London banks) ("JPY LIBOR TSR") following 30 December, 2021. Prior to its cessation,
JPY LIBOR TSR measured the fixed leg of a swap referencing 6 month JPY LIBOR, determined using
input data from a panel of seven banks. The Tokyo Swap Rate (for swaps referencing TONA) is a
benchmark rate for OIS referencing TONA, and differs in significant respects from JPY LIBOR TSR.
TONA, the rate referenced in the swap transactions that Tokyo Swap Rate (for swaps referencing TONA)
is designed to represent, measures the rates of transactions settled on the same day as the trade date and
maturing the following business day in the uncollateralised call money market. TONA represents the
weighted average of call rates for uncollateralised overnight transactions in Japanese yen.

The composition and characteristics of the SOFR, SONIA and TONA rates described above and
underlying the RFR Swap Rates are not the same as those of three-month U.S. dollar LIBOR, three-
month Sterling LIBOR or six-month JPY LIBOR, as applicable, nor are such SOFR, SONIA and TONA
rates the economic equivalent of three-month U.S. dollar LIBOR, three-month Sterling LIBOR or six-
month JPY LIBOR, as applicable. Thus, the RFR Swap Rates have been designed with respect to swap
transactions referencing rates that differ in significant respects from the rates referenced in the swap
transactions with respect to which the LIBOR Swap Rates were designed. As a result, the Rate of Interest
on and value of the RFR Swap Rate Notes may perform differently over time from the manner in which
the interest rate and value of debt securities with comparable terms and provisions that were linked to
the applicable LIBOR Swap Rates would perform. In addition, any failure of the RFR Swap Rates to
gain market acceptance could adversely affect the value of and market for the affected Notes.

The secondary trading market for the RFR Swap Rate Notes may be limited.

Publication of the RFR Swap Rates began recently, and, as of the date of this Offering Circular, use of
these rates as reference rates for floating-rate notes is very limited. In addition, the RFR Swap Rates may
not be widely used as such in the future. If the RFR Swap Rates do not prove to be widely used as a
benchmark in securities that are similar or comparable to the RFR Swap Rate Notes, a trading market for
the Swap Rate Notes may fail to develop or be maintained, and the trading price of the Swap Rate Notes
may be lower than those of debt securities with rates of interest based on rates that are more widely used.

(i1) Risks Relating to ICE Swap Rate Notes

The following discussion of risks relates to ICE Swap Rate Notes.
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A lack of input data may impact IBA's ability to calculate and publish the ICE Swap Rates for one or
more tenors.

The input data for the ICE Swap Rates is based on swaps referencing SOFR, SONIA or EURIBOR, as
applicable, as the floating leg. The ICE Swap Rates are dependent on receiving sufficient eligible input
data, from the trading venue sources identified by IBA in accordance with the "Waterfall" methodology
for each applicable ICE Swap Rate tenor. The ability of the applicable trading venues to provide
sufficient eligible input data in accordance with the Waterfall methodology depends on, among other
things, there being a liquid market in swap contracts referencing SOFR, SONIA or EURIBOR, as
applicable, on such trading venues, which in turn depends, among other things, on there being a liquid
market in loans, floating rate debt securities and other financial contracts referencing SOFR, SONIA or
EURIBOR, as applicable. Because SOFR's and SONIA's use as a reference rate for financial contracts
began relatively recently and the related market for SOFR and SONIA-based swaps is relatively new,
there is limited information on which to assess potential future liquidity in SOFR and SONIA-based
swap markets or in the market for SOFR and SONIA-based financial contracts more generally. In
addition, although EURIBOR has been reformed in order to comply with the terms of the EU
Benchmarks Regulation, its future remains uncertain. It is not known how long EURIBOR will continue
in its current form and there is uncertainty with regards to the future liquidity in EURIBOR-based swap
markets or in the market for EURIBOR-based financial contracts more generally. If the market for SOFR,
SONIA and EURIBOR-based swap contracts is not sufficiently liquid, or if the liquidity in such market
proves to be volatile, this could result in the inability of IBA to calculate the ICE Swap Rates on certain
occasions, which could materially adversely affect the reliability of ICE Swap Rates, and could adversely
affect the return on and value of the ICE Swap Rate Notes and the price at which you are able to sell
such Notes in the secondary market, if any. In addition, if SOFR, SONIA or EURIBOR does not maintain
market acceptance for use as reference rates for U.S. dollar, sterling or euro-denominated financial
contracts, as applicable, uncertainty about SOFR, SONIA or EURIBOR may adversely affect the return
on and the value of the ICE Swap Rate Notes.

The information regarding the ICE Swap Rates that IBA makes publicly available is limited.

Certain information and materials relating to the ICE Swap Rates are available on IBA's website at
https://www.theice.com/iba/ice-swap-rate (including any successor or replacement source, the "ICE
Swap Rate® Website"). Currently, publicly available rate information for the ICE Swap Rates can be
viewed only on the ICE Report Center on the ICE Swap Rate® Website, and, for any particular day, the
only rate available for viewing is the rate published for the preceding publication day. In addition, as of
the date of this Offering Circular, such rate appearing on the ICE Report Center is rounded to two decimal
places and does not represent the actual ICE Swap Rate data that will be used to determine the applicable
ICE Swap Rate for purposes of calculating interest on the ICE Swap Rate Notes (which rate will be that
published on the designated swap rate page and rounded to three decimal places). As of the date of this
Offering Circular, a paid subscription to the Bloomberg Professional Services service is required to
obtain additional ICE Swap Rate data (such as historical ICE Swap Rate rates rounded to three decimal
places). IBA has not indicated whether such information will become publicly available in the future or
the ICE Swap Rates will be made available from another source. As a result of this limited publicly
available information, it may be difficult for an investor to determine the applicable ICE Swap Rate for
a specific date or dates.

(1ii) Risks Relating to TONA TSR Notes
The following discussion of risks relates to TONA TSR Notes.

A lack of input data may impact Refinitiv's ability to calculate and publish TONA TSR for one or more
tenors.

Because TONA TSR is a new reference rate, all potential limitations of such rate are not known.
However, RBSL has identified certain potential limitations on TONA TSR. RBSL has stated that
determination of TONA TSR is dependent on receiving sufficient input data—consisting of (i) dealer
quotes taken from Tradeweb, a dealer-to-client trading platform, and (ii) indicative rates for spot starting
TONA OIS contracts cleared by the Japan Securities Clearing Corporation ("JSCC") taken from two
inter-dealer brokers, (Tradition and TP ICAP) and Tradeweb (composite rates) —from the input data
sources for each applicable TONA TSR tenor. In this regard, RBSL has stated that the ability of the
dealer-to-client trading platforms and inter-dealer brokers to provide accurate input data relies on there
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being a liquid market in TONA OIS contracts and, in addition, that technical problems or extreme market
events may lead to insufficient input data for determination of TONA TSR. In addition, RBSL has stated
that, in order for TONA TSR to be a reliable reference rate for TONA OIS rates both of the following
conditions should be satisfied: (i) there is liquidity in the market for TONA OIS cleared by JSCC and
(i) the input data from the sources (Tradeweb, Tradition and TP ICAP) are representative of this TONA
OIS liquidity. If either of such conditions is not satisfied, this could materially adversely affect the
reliability of TONA TSR. The existence of a liquid market for TONA OIS contracts depends, among
other things, on there being a liquid market in loans, floating rate notes and other financial contracts
referencing TONA. Because TONA's use as a reference rate for financial contracts began relatively
recently and the related market for TONA-based OIS is relatively new, there is limited information on
which to assess potential future liquidity in TONA-based OIS markets or in the market for TONA-based
financial contracts more generally. If the market for TONA-based OIS contracts is not sufficiently liquid,
or if the liquidity in such market proves to be volatile, this could result in the inability of RBSL to
calculate TONA TSR on certain occasions and could adversely affect the return on and value of the
TONA TSR Notes and the price at which an investor in the TONA TSR Notes is able to sell the TONA
TSR Notes in the secondary market, if any. In addition, if TONA does not achieve and maintain market
acceptance for use as reference rates for Japanese yen-denominated financial contracts, uncertainty about
TONA may adversely affect the return on and the value of the TONA TSR Notes.

The information regarding TONA TSR that Refinitiv makes publicly available is limited.

Certain Information and materials relating to TONA TSR are available on Refinitiv Limited's
("Refinitiv") website at https://www.refinitiv.com/en/financial-data/financial-benchmarks/tokyo-swap-
rate (including any successor or replacement source, the "TONA TSR Website"). Hyperlinks to
additional pages on the TONA TSR Website or other portions of Refinitiv's website that provide
additional information are available in certain of such information and materials. As of the date of this
Offering Circular, RBSL does not make publicly available historical rates for TONA TSR and has not
indicated whether such information will become publicly available in the future. Furthermore, the Issuer
has no information on which to base any expectation that any such information will become publicly
available in the future. In order to access such information, an investor in the TONA TSR Notes will
need to obtain a paid subscription to a Refinitiv service such as Refinitiv Eikon. In addition, if
RBSL/Refinitiv (or any successor administrator) changes its practices and makes additional rate
information available in the future, there can be no assurance that RBSL/Refinitiv (or any such successor
administrator) would continue the practice of making such information publicly available. As a result of
this limited publicly available information, it may be difficult for an investor in the TONA TSR Notes to
determine the Rate of Interest on the TONA TSR Notes for a specific date or dates.

(iv) Risks Relating to EUR ICE Swap Rate Notes
The following discussion of risks relates to EUR ICE Swap Rate Notes.

Regulation, reform and the actual or potential discontinuation of EURIBOR may adversely affect the
return on, value of and market for EUR ICE Swap Rate Noftes.

The EUR EURIBOR ICE Swap Rate® is designed to represent the fixed rate of interest payable on a
hypothetical interest rate swap whose floating leg is based on three- or six-month EURIBOR. EURIBOR
has been reformed such that it is based on a hybrid methodology. On 13 September 2018, the working
group on euro risk-free rates recommended the €STR ("€STR") as the new risk free rate for the euro
area. €STR was published for the first time on 2 October 2019. In addition, in response to regulatory
scrutiny and applicable legal requirements, the EMMI, as administrator of EURIBOR, conducted a series
of consultations on a proposed reformed hybrid methodology for EURIBOR. In July 2019, EMMI
published its EURIBOR Benchmark Statement setting forth its reformed hybrid methodology and
received regulatory authorisation for the continued administration of EURIBOR. Although EURIBOR
has been reformed in order to comply with the terms of the EU Benchmarks Regulation, its future remains
uncertain. It is not known how long EURIBOR will continue in its current form. At this time, there is
still uncertainty as to what rate or rates may become market accepted alternatives to EURIBOR, and it is
impossible to predict the effect of any such alternatives on the value of EURIBOR, and therefore, the
values of, and the method of calculating, the EUR EURIBOR ICE Swap Rate®. Any of these
developments could have a material adverse effect on the value and the return on the EUR ICE Swap
Rate Notes.
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v) Risks Relating to KRW CMS Rate Notes
The following discussion of risks relates to KRW CMS Rate Notes.

Regulation, reform and the actual or potential discontinuation of the 91-day Korean won CD rate for
the applicable Specified CMS Rate may adversely affect the return on, value of and market for KRW
CMS Rate Notes

Over the past decade, certain interest rates, such as LIBOR and EURIBOR, which are deemed to be
"benchmark" rates have been the subject of national, international and other regulatory guidance, reform
and other actions. This has resulted in regulatory reform and changes to—and cessation of—many
existing benchmarks. In addition, in many markets new benchmark reference rates, such as SOFR,
SONIA and TONA, have increasingly been adopted as replacements for LIBOR, EURIBOR and other
benchmarks that previously were market standard rates.

The 91-day Korean won certificate of deposit ("CD") rate is the floating rate leg for swap transaction
upon which the KRW CMS Rate is based, is uncertain. It has been reported that the volume of Korean
won CD transactions has diminished in recent years, and that the long-term future of the 91-day Korean
won rate is uncertain. On 26 February 2021, the Korea Financial Services Commission ("FSS") and the
Bank of Korea announced that a market participant task force on benchmark interest rate reform had
picked an overnight repo rate as the new risk-free rate. Furthermore, the FSS designated on September
2021, the Korea Overnight Financing Repo Rate ("KOFR") as a critical benchmark which has been
published by the Korea Securities Depository since November 2021 (http://www.kofr.kr) and announced
on December 2021 that the FSS will try to have the CD rate replaced by KOFR in the market in the
medium to long term. However, at this time, there is uncertainty with respect to the future of the 91-day
Korean won CD rate, as well as when KOFR or other rates may become market accepted alternatives to
the CD rate, and it is impossible to predict the effect of any such uncertainty or alternatives on the value
of the KRW CMS Rate, and therefore, the values of, and the method of calculating, the KRW CMS Rate.
Any of these developments could have a material adverse effect on the value and the return on the KRW
CMS Rate Notes.

Publicly available information regarding the bid and ask rates from which the KRW CMS Rate is
calculated is limited

The KRW CMS Rate is calculated as the arithmetic mean of the bid and ask rates for a Korean won
deliverable interest rate swap with a term of the Specified Maturity (quoted on an Actual/365 (Fixed)
day count basis) where the floating leg is based on the 91-day Korean won CD rate, as provided by
Tullett Prebon Information and appearing on Bloomberg Page "GDCO 4572 33". Tullett Prebon
Information does not make publicly available any historical rate information with respect to the KRW
CMS Rate, or any information relating to the data/information that is used to calculate or determine the
bid and ask rates that it provides to Bloomberg, the sources from which such data/information is obtained,
how it calculates such bid and ask rates, or its publication practices with respect thereto. A paid
subscription to an information services provider such as Bloomberg is required to obtain historical rate
information relating to the bid and ask rates upon which the KRW CMS Rate is based. As a result of this
extremely limited publicly available information, it may be difficult for an investor in the KRW CMS
Rate Notes to analyse potential risks relating to such rate or determine the Rate of Interest on the KRW
CMS Rate Notes for a specific date or dates.

The KRW CMS Rate is not an administered rate and is not subject to regulation

Certain swap rate benchmarks, such as the ICE Swap Rates and TONA TSR, are administered by
regulated benchmark administrators such as IBA and Refinitiv. Such swap rate benchmarks are subject
to regulation under applicable law, including the UK Benchmarks Regulation and EU Benchmarks
Regulation. Regulated swap rate benchmarks generally must be calculated pursuant to a methodology
and meet certain standards relating to, among other matters, methodology, representativeness, input data
and governance and oversight. Neither the KRW CMS Rate nor the bid and ask rates from which the
KRW CMS rate is calculated are administered by a regulated benchmark administrator, and they are not
subject to regulation. As a result, Tullett Prebon Information, the provider of the bid and ask rates from
which the KRW CMS Rate is calculated has wide discretion with respect to the methodology it uses to
calculate such bid and ask rates, the data/information that it uses to calculate or determine such bid and
ask rates, the sources from which it obtains such data/information and other matters. As a result, it is
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possible that the KRW CMS Rate may be less robust, less representative and/or more susceptible to
manipulation than regulated benchmarks published by regulated benchmark administrators. In addition,
the KRW CMS Rate may be more easily influenced by a single transaction or price quotation or small
number of transactions or price quotations than typically would be the case for a regulated swap rate
benchmark administered by a regulated benchmark administrator. These factors may make performance
of the KRW CMS Rate more unpredictable, which could have a material adverse effect on the value and
the return on the KRW CMS Rate Notes.

(vi) Risks Relating to Specified CMS Rate Notes
The following discussion of risks relates to Specified CMS Rate Notes.

The Specified CMS Rate may be a new rate and, if so, the composition and characteristics might not
be the same as other swap rates for the Specified Currency.

The Specified CMS Rate specified in the applicable Final Terms may have existed for a limited amount
of time prior to issuance of the applicable Specified CMS Rate Notes. In such a case, there may be very
limited historical information on which to evaluate the performance of such Specified CMS Rate or on
which to base a prediction as to its future performance, which may bear little or no relation to such limited
information. The very limited historical information will not necessarily be indicative of the future
performance of such Specified CMS Rate or the value of the Specified CMS Rate Notes, and any
historical upward or downward trend in the level of such Specified CMS Rate during any period will not
be an indication that the level of such rate is more or less likely to increase or decrease over the term of
the applicable Series of Specified CMS Rate Notes. The actual future levels of a Specified CMS Rates
may be lower than any available historical data, and this could adversely affect the return on, value of
and market for the affected Specified CMS Rate Notes. An investment in Specified CMS Rate Notes
may involve more risk than investing in Notes linked to benchmarks, rates or indices with established
performance records, where a longer history of performance may be available so that investors have more
information on which to base an investment decision.

If the Specified CMS Rate specified in the applicable Final Terms, there may already be one or more
swap rates used for the Specified Currency ("Existing Swap Rates"). The composition and
characteristics of a Specified CMS Rate may not be the same as any Existing Swap Rates for the Specified
Currency, and the Specified CMS Rate may not be the economic equivalent, or a comparable substitute
or replacement for, such Existing Swap Rates.

The Existing Swap Rate(s) with respect to a Specified CMS Rate may seek to represent a rate that differs
in significant respects from the rate underlying swap transactions that such Specified CMS Rate seeks to
measure. For example, a Specified CMS Rate may seek to represent the fixed rate leg of an interest rate
swap where the floating leg is based on a risk-free rate, whereas the Existing Swap Rate may seek to
measure the fixed rate leg of an interest rate swap where the floating leg is based on a forward-looking
term rate that includes a credit risk component. In addition, the Existing Swap Rate may refer to different
day count and payment conventions from those referred to by the applicable Specified CMS Rate. Thus,
it is possible that a Specified CMS Rate will have been designed with respect to swap transactions that
differ in fundamental and significant respects from the rate referenced in the swap transactions with
respect to which the Existing Swap Rates were designed. As a result, the Rate of Interest on and value
of Specified CMS Rate Notes may perform differently over time from the manner in which the interest
rate and value of debt securities with comparable terms and provisions that were linked to the Existing
Swap Rates would perform.

Regulation, reform and the actual or potential discontinuation of the floating rate leg for the
applicable Specified CMS Rate may adversely affect the return on, value of and market for Specified
CMS Rate Notes.

Over the past decade, certain interest rates, such as LIBOR and EURIBOR, which are deemed to be
"benchmark" rates have been the subject of national, international and other regulatory guidance, reform
and other actions. This has resulted in regulatory reform and changes to many existing benchmarks. In
addition, in many markets new benchmark reference rates, such as SOFR, SONIA and TONA, have
increasingly been adopted as replacements for LIBOR, EURIBOR and other benchmarks that previously
were market standard rates. At this time, there is still uncertainty as to the floating rate leg with respect
to a Specified CMS Rate, and what rate or rates may become market accepted alternatives to existing
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rates, and it is impossible to predict the effect of any such uncertainty or alternatives on the value of the
Specified CMS Rate, and therefore, the values of, and the method of calculating, the Specified CMS
Rate. Any of these developments could have a material adverse effect on the value and the return on the
Specified CMS Rate Notes.

The information regarding the Specified CMS Rate that the Designated Constant Maturity Swap
Administrator or the Designated Constant Maturity Swap Provider, as applicable, makes publicly
available may be extremely limited.

Certain Information and materials relating to the Specified CMS Rate may be available on the website
of the Designated Constant Maturity Swap Administrator or the Designated Constant Maturity Swap
Provider, as applicable. Any such information that is made available may be extremely limited. For
example, such website may not provide historical rate information with respect to the Specified CMS
Rate and may not provide any information relating to the data/information that is used to calculate or
determine the Specified CMS Rate, the sources from which such data/information is obtained, how the
Specified CMS Rate is calculated, and publication practices with respect thereto. A paid subscription to
an information services provider such as Bloomberg or Refinitiv may be required to obtain historical rate
information relating to the applicable Specified CMS Rate. In addition, if the Designated Constant
Maturity Swap Administrator or the Designated Constant Maturity Swap Provider, as applicable, does
provide any information relating to the applicable Specified CMS Rate, such Designated Constant
Maturity Swap Administrator or the Designated Constant Maturity Swap Provider may change its
practices in the future and cease providing such information. If the publicly available information relating
to the applicable Specified CMS Rate is limited, it may be difficult for an investor in the Specified CMS
Rate Notes to analyse potential risks relating to such rate or determine the Rate of Interest on the
Specified CMS Rate Notes for a specific date or dates.

The Specified CMS Rate may not be an administered rate and may not be subject to regulation.

Certain swap rate benchmarks, such as the ICE Swap Rates and TONA TSR, are administered by
regulated benchmark administrators such as IBA and Refinitiv. Such swap rate benchmarks are subject
to regulation under applicable law, including the UK Benchmarks Regulation and EU Benchmarks
Regulation. Regulated swap rate benchmarks generally must be calculated pursuant to a methodology
and meet certain standards relating to, among other matters, methodology, representativeness, input data
and governance and oversight. The Specified CMS Rate may not be administered by a regulated
benchmark administrator and may not be subject to regulation. As a result, the publisher or provider of
Specified CMS Rate may have wide discretion with respect to the methodology it uses to calculate such
Specified CMS Rate, the data/information that it uses to calculate or determine the Specified CMS Rate,
the sources from which it obtains such data/information and other matters. As a result, it is possible that
an applicable Specified CMS Rate may be less robust, less representative and/or more susceptible to
manipulation than regulated benchmarks published by regulated benchmark administrators. In addition,
depending on the methodology used by the publisher or provider of an applicable Specified CMS Rate
and the liquidity of the market for swaps that such Specified CMS Rate is designed to measure, such
Specified CMS Rate may be more easily influenced by a single transaction or price quotation or small
number of transactions or price quotations than typically would be the case for a regulated swap rate
benchmark administered by a regulated benchmark administrator. These factors may make performance
of an applicable Specified CMS Rate more unpredictable, which could have a material adverse effect on
the value and the return on the Specified CMS Rate Notes.

(vii) Risk Relating to Swap Rate Notes
The following discussion of risks relates to all Swap Rate Notes.

The Swap Rates may be modified or discontinued, which could adversely affect the return on, value
of or market for the Swap Rate Notes.

The applicable administrator, publisher or provider for any Swap Rate (or any successor administrator)
may make methodological or other changes that could change the value of an applicable Swap Rate,
including changes related to the method by which such rate is calculated, eligibility criteria applicable to
the transactions used to calculate such rate, including the trading venues for such transactions, or timing
related to the determination or publication of such rate, or may cease the calculation or dissemination of
such rate. Depending on the circumstances, such change or cessation could be implemented with little or
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no public notice or consultation. Any such changes may result in a reduction of the applicable Swap Rate
and, in turn, reduce the amount of interest payable on the Swap Rate Notes, which may adversely affect
the return on, value of and market for the Swap Rate Notes. In addition, the Swap Rates are determined
by the applicable administrator based on data received from sources other than the Issuer, and the Issuer
does not have any control over the methods of calculation, publication schedule, rate revision practices
or availability of such data.

If the applicable Swap Rate does not appear on the applicable Relevant Screen Page at the Relevant
Time, and a Constant Maturity Swap Transition Event and related Constant Maturity Swap
Replacement Date have not occurred, the applicable Swap Rate will be determined by the Calculation
Agent (which is one of the Issuer's affiliates) using alternative methods, which will involve the exercise
of discretion by the Calculation Agent.

If the applicable Swap Rate does not appear on the Relevant Screen Page at the specified time on an
applicable Interest Determination Date (for example, as a result of insufficient liquidity in the underlying
applicable swap contracts market) and a Constant Maturity Swap Transition Event and related Constant
Maturity Swap Replacement Date have not occurred with respect to the Swap Rate, the Calculation Agent
will determine the Swap Rate for such applicable Interest Determination Date in its sole discretion, after
consulting such sources as it deems comparable to the Designated Swap Rate Page or to the sources from
which the administrator, publisher or provider of such rate obtains the swap rate input data used by the
administrator, publisher or provider to calculate such rate, or any other source or data it determines to be
reasonable (including, if applicable, the Swap Rate that was most recently published by the administrator
of such rate) for the purpose of estimating such rate. This method of determining the Swap Rate may
result in interest payments on the Swap Rate Notes that are higher than, lower than or that do not
otherwise correlate over time with the interest payments that would have been made on the Swap Rate
Notes if the Swap Rate had been published in accordance with the administrator, publisher or provider
of such Swap Rate's (or any successor administrator's) usual policies and procedures governing the
determination and publication of such rate and appeared on the Relevant Screen Page at the specified
time. In addition, in determining the Swap Rate in this manner, the Calculation Agent, will have no
obligation to consider a Holder's interests as an investor in the Swap Rate Notes and may have economic
interests that are adverse to the Holder's interests.

If a Constant Maturity Swap Transition Event and related Constant Maturity Swap Replacement Date
are determined to have occurred with respect to an applicable Swap Rate, the Constant Maturity Swap
Replacement may not be a suitable replacement for such rate.

If the Issuer or its designee (after consulting with the Issuer) determines that a Constant Maturity Swap
Transition Event and related Constant Maturity Swap Replacement Date have occurred with respect to
the applicable Swap Rate, then the applicable Constant Maturity Swap Replacement will replace the
Swap Rate for all purposes relating to the Swap Rate Notes in respect of such determination on such date
and all determinations on all subsequent dates. The Constant Maturity Swap Replacement will be the
alternate rate of interest that has been selected by the Issuer or its designee (after consulting with the
Issuer) as an industry-accepted replacement for the applicable Swap Rate for floating-rate notes
denominated in the same currency as such Swap Rate at such time, plus the applicable Constant Maturity
Swap Replacement Adjustment (if any). If the Issuer or its designee (after consulting with the Issuer)
determines that there is no such replacement rate as of any applicable date of determination, then the
Issuer or its designee (after consulting with the Issuer) will determine a substitute rate or substitute rate
value to be used in place of the applicable Swap Rate for that date of determination after consulting such
sources as the Issuer or its designee (after consulting with the Issuer) deems comparable to the sources
(if any) on which such rate customarily was published by the administrator or provider, as applicable, of
such Swap Rate or authorised distributors prior to the applicable Constant Maturity Swap Transition
Event and Constant Maturity Swap Replacement Date or to the sources from which the administrator or
provider, as applicable, of such rate obtains the swap rate input data used by the administrator or provider,
as applicable to calculate or publish such rate or information, or any other source or data the Issuer or its
designee (after consulting with the Issuer) determines to be reasonable (including, if applicable, the
applicable Swap Rate that was most recently published by the administrator or provider of such rate) for
the purpose of determining such substitute rate or substitute rate value. After determination of the
Constant Maturity Swap Replacement, or such substitute rate or substitute rate value, as applicable,
interest on the Swap Rate Notes will no longer be determined by reference to the applicable Swap Rate,
but instead will be determined by reference to the applicable Constant Maturity Swap Replacement or
such substitute rate or substitute rate value, as applicable.
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There is no assurance that any Constant Maturity Swap Replacement will be similar to the initial stated
Swap Rate in any respect as it is determined and published by the applicable administrator, publisher or
provider of such Swap Rate as of the date of this Offering Circular, or that any Constant Maturity Swap
Replacement will produce the economic equivalent of the such Swap Rate as a reference rate for
determining the Rate of Interest on the Swap Rate Notes or otherwise be a suitable replacement or
successor for such rate. In addition, it is possible that, at the time of the occurrence of a Constant Maturity
Swap Transition Event and related Constant Maturity Swap Replacement Date, no industry-accepted
interest rate as a replacement for the applicable Swap Rate will exist and there may be disagreement
regarding the selection of a replacement rate for such Swap Rate. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the
determination of the Constant Maturity Swap Replacement will become effective without the consent of
the Holders of the Notes of any other party. Use of the Constant Maturity Swap Replacement may result
in interest payments on the Swap Rate Notes that are higher than, lower than or that do not otherwise
correlate over time with the interest payments that would have been made on such Swap Rate Notes in
the absence of a Constant Maturity Swap Transition Event and related Constant Maturity Swap
Replacement Date.

In addition, although the benchmark transition provisions set forth in Additional Notes Condition 5(e)
provide for a Constant Maturity Swap Replacement Adjustment to be added to the Unadjusted Constant
Maturity Swap Replacement, such Constant Maturity Swap Replacement Adjustment may be zero or
negative, and there is no guarantee that the Constant Maturity Swap Replacement Adjustment (if any)
will make the Unadjusted Constant Maturity Swap Replacement equivalent to the initial stated Swap
Rate as it is calculated and published by the applicable administrator, publisher or provider of such Swap
Rate as of the date of this Offering Circular.

(k) Risks relating to Notes for Which Compounded Daily Is Specified in the Applicable Final
Terms as the Manner in Which the Rate of Interest Is To Be Determined

The following discussion of risks relates to Floating Rate Notes and Notes for which Compounded Daily
is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined
(including, for the avoidance of doubt, such Notes for which Index Determination is specified as the
Determination Convention,).

Where Compounded Daily is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the manner in which the Rate
of Interest is to be determined, the Compounded Daily Reference Rate will be based on a compounded
average of the Applicable RFR, which is relatively new in the marketplace

Where Compounded Daily is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the manner in which the Rate of
Interest is to be determined, for each Interest Period, the Rate of Interest on the relevant Series of Notes
will be based on a compounded average of the Applicable RFR calculated as described in Additional
Note Condition 3(b) and not on the Applicable RFR published on or in respect of a particular date. The
Compounded Daily Reference Rate will also be determined in accordance with the terms and provisions
set forth in Additional Note Condition 3(b) in accordance with the Determination Convention specified
in the applicable Final Terms. For this and other reasons, the Rate of Interest on such a Series of Notes
during any Interest Period may not be the same as the rate of interest on other investments bearing interest
at a rate based on the Applicable RFR that use an alternative method to determine the applicable Rate of
Interest. Further, if the Applicable RFR in respect of a particular date that is used to calculate the
applicable Compounded Daily Reference Rate with respect to a Series of Notes is negative, the inclusion
of the Applicable RFR in respect of such date in the calculation of the applicable Compounded Daily
Reference Rate for the applicable Interest Period will reduce the Rate of Interest and the interest payable
on such Series of Notes for such Interest Period.

Limited market precedent exists for securities that use a Compounded Daily Reference Rate as the
reference rate, and the method for calculating a rate of interest based upon a Compounded Daily
Reference Rate in those precedents varies. With respect to TONA in particular, as of the date of this
Offering Circular, very little or no market precedent exists for calculating a rate of interest based upon a
Compounded Daily Reference Rate. Accordingly, the specific formula and related Determination
Conventions (for example, Payment Delay, Observation Period, Lag, Rate Cut-Off or Index
Determination) used for a Series of Notes with a Compounded Daily Reference Rate that the Issuer may
issue may not be widely adopted by other market participants, if at all. Adoption by the market of a
different calculation method from the formula and Determination Convention applicable to a particular
Series of Notes with a Compounded Daily Reference Rate likely would adversely affect the return on,
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value of and market for such Series of Notes. In addition, the Issuer may issue different additional Series
of Notes for which the Rate of Interest is determined by reference to the same Compounded Daily
Reference Rate but for which the Determination Convention and/or other terms and provisions of such
Series differ significantly.

In addition, there is currently no uniform market convention with respect to the implementation of risk-
free rates (such as the Applicable RFRs) as a reference rate for floating-rate debt securities or other
securities. The manner of calculation and related conventions with respect to the determination of Rates
of Interest based on Applicable RFRs in floating-rate debt securities markets may differ materially
compared with the manner of calculation and related conventions with respect to the determination of
Rates of Interest based on the Applicable RFRs in other markets, such as the derivatives and loan markets.
Investors should carefully consider how any potential inconsistencies between the manner of calculation
and related conventions with respect to the determination of Rates of Interest based on the Applicable
RFRs across these markets may impact any hedging or other financial arrangements which they may put
in place in connection with any acquisition, holding or disposition of the floating rate or other types of
Notes for which Compounded Daily is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the manner in which
the Rate of Interest is to be determined.

In addition, if the Determination Convention with respect to a Note is specified in the applicable Final
Terms to be Index Determination, the Compounded Daily Reference Rate will be determined by
reference to one of the following compounded indices (as specified in the applicable Final Terms), each
of which began publication only recently: the SOFR Compounded Index (began publication 20 March,
2020), SONIA Compounded Index (began publication 3 August, 2020) or the TONA Compounded Index
(began publication 15 March, 2021) (together, the "RFR Compounded Indices"). Accordingly, the use
of one of the foregoing indices or the specific formula for the applicable Compounded Daily Reference
Rate used in a Series of Notes may not be widely adopted by other market participants, if at all. If the
market adopts a different calculation method, that would likely adversely affect the market value of the
applicable Series of Notes.

Interest payments due on a Series of Notes with a Compounded Daily Reference Rate will be
determined only at the end of the relevant Interest Period

Interest payments due on a Series of Notes with a Compounded Daily Reference Rate will be determined
only at the end of the relevant Interest Period. Therefore, holders of any Series of Notes with a
Compounded Daily Reference Rate will not know the amount of interest payable with respect to each
Interest Period until shortly prior to the related Interest Payment Date, and it may be difficult for investors
in such Notes to estimate reliably the amounts of interest that will be payable on each such Interest
Payment Date at the beginning of or during the relevant Interest Period. In addition, some investors may
be unwilling or unable to trade such Notes without changes to their information technology systems, both
of which could adversely impact the liquidity and trading price of any Series of Notes with a
Compounded Daily Reference Rate.

With respect to a Series of Notes with a Compounded Daily Reference Rate and for which the
applicable Determination Convention is Payment Delay or Rate Cut-Off, it will not be possible to
calculate accrued interest with respect to any period until after the rate cut-off date or the end of such
period, as applicable.

With respect to a Series of Notes with a Compounded Daily Reference Rate and for which the applicable
Determination Convention is Payment Delay or Rate Cut-Off, because the Applicable RFR in respect of
a given day generally will not be published until the Banking Day immediately following such day, it
will not be possible to calculate accrued interest with respect to any Interest Period until after the Rate
Cut-Off Date or the end of such Interest Period, which may adversely affect the ability to trade such
Notes in the secondary market.

With respect to a Series of Notes with a Compounded Daily Reference Rate using a Determination
Convention for which a Rate Cut-Off Date is applicable, pursuant to the formula used to determine
the applicable Compounded Daily Reference Rate for such Series of Notes for an applicable Interest
Period, the Applicable RFR used in such calculation for any day from, and including, the applicable
Rate Cut-Off Date to, but excluding, the relevant Interest Payment Date (or Maturity or Optional
Redemption Date, if applicable) will be the Applicable RFR in respect of the applicable Rate Cut-Off
Date
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The formula used to determine the Reference Rate for any Series of Notes with a Compounded Daily
Reference Rate using the Payment Delay Determination Convention employs a Rate Cut-Off Date for
the final Interest Period. In addition, the formula used to determine the Reference Rate for any Series of
Notes with a Compounded Daily Reference Rate using the Rate Cut-Off Determination Convention
employs, and the formula used to determine the Reference Rate for any Series of Notes with a
Compounded Daily Reference Rate using the Lag Determination Convention may employ, if so specified
in the applicable Final Terms, a Rate Cut-Off Date for each Interest Period with respect to such Notes.

A holder of any such Series of Notes will not receive the benefit of any increase in the level of the
Applicable RFR on any date subsequent to the applicable Rate Cut-Off Date in connection with the
determination of the interest payable with respect to (i) the final Interest Period for an applicable Series
of Notes with a Compounded Daily Reference Rate using the Payment Delay Determination Convention
or (ii) each Interest Period for a Series of Notes with a Compounded Daily Reference Rate using the Rate
Cut-Off Determination Convention or, if the applicable Final Terms specifies that a Rate Cut-Off Date
is applicable, the Lag Determination Convention. The amount of interest that may be payable with respect
to a particular Interest Period for an applicable Series of Notes may be reduced as a result of the
application of an applicable Rate Cut-Off Date.

Holders of a Series of Notes with a Compounded Daily Reference Rate using the Payment Delay
Determination Convention will receive payments of interest on a delayed basis

The Interest Payment Dates for any Series of Notes with a Compounded Daily Reference Rate using the
Payment Delay Determination Convention with respect to determination of the Rate of Interest and
interest payments will be two Business Days (or such other number of Business Days as the Issuer may
specify in the applicable Final Terms) after the Interest Period Demarcation Date at the end of each
Interest Period for such Series. This convention differs from the interest payment convention that has
been used historically for floating-rate debt securities with rates of interest based on other benchmark or
market rates, such as LIBOR, with respect to which interest typically has been paid on a fixed day that
immediately follows the final day of the applicable Interest Period. As a result, holders of a Series of
Notes with a Compounded Daily Reference Rate using the Payment Delay Determination Convention
will receive payments of interest on a delayed basis as compared to traditional floating-rate or other debt
securities without the Payment Delay Determination Convention in which they previously may have
invested.

M Risks relating to General Benchmark Transition Provisions Set Forth in Additional Note
Condition 4(a)

The following discussion of risks relates to Additional Note Condition 4(a) (Benchmark Replacement —
General), which is applicable to the following types of Notes (such Notes, "General Benchmark
Replacement Provision Notes"):

(1) Floating Rate Notes and Notes for which the Reference Rate specified in the applicable Final
Terms is Compounded Daily SONIA, Compounded Daily TONA, EURIBOR, the KRW CD 91
Rate or TORF;

(ii) Notes for which any of the Reference Rates identified in (i) above or SONIA or TONA is
otherwise to be used in the calculation of any amounts due under such Notes; or

(iii) Notes for which "Benchmark Replacement — General” provisions are specified to be applicable
in the applicable Final Terms.

The selection of a General Benchmark Replacement could adversely affect the return on, value of or
market for affected Notes

If, with respect to a Series of General Benchmark Replacement Provision Notes, the Issuer or its
designee, after consulting with the Issuer, determines that a General Benchmark Transition Event and
related General Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred with respect to the General Benchmark set
forth in the applicable Final Terms for such Series as of the Issue Date of such Series, the applicable
General Benchmark Replacement will replace such General Benchmark for all purposes relating to such
Notes. If a particular General Benchmark Replacement or General Benchmark Replacement Adjustment
cannot be determined, then the next-available General Benchmark Replacement or General Benchmark
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Replacement Adjustment will apply. These replacement rates and adjustments may be selected or
formulated by (i) the General Relevant Governmental Body, (ii) ISDA or any successor thereto or (iii)
in certain circumstances, the Issuer or its designee (which may be the Issuer's affiliate), after consulting
with the Issuer.

In addition, the terms of the General Benchmark Replacement Provision Notes expressly authorise the
Issuer or its designee (which may be the Issuer's affiliate), after consulting with the Issuer, in connection
with a General Benchmark Replacement to make General Benchmark Replacement Conforming
Changes with respect to, among other things, the determination of Interest Periods and the timing and
frequency of determining rates and making payments of interest and other administrative matters. The
application of a General Benchmark Replacement and General Benchmark Replacement Adjustment,
and any implementation of General Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes, could result in
adverse consequences to the Rate of Interest or amount of interest payable on the General Benchmark
Replacement Provision Notes, which could adversely affect the return on, value of and market for such
General Benchmark Replacement Provision Notes, and the price at which investors may be able to sell
such General Benchmark Replacement Provision Notes.

Moreover, certain determinations, decisions and elections with respect to the General Benchmark
Replacement and any General Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes, or the occurrence or non-
occurrence of a General Benchmark Transition Event, may require the exercise of discretion and the
making of subjective judgments by the Issuer or its designee (after consulting with the Issuer). Any
determination, decision or election made by the Issuer or its designee pursuant to the general benchmark
transition provisions set forth in Additional Note Condition 4(a) will, if made by the Issuer, be made in
its sole discretion and, if made by the Issuer's designee, be made after consultation with the Issuer and,
in each case, will become effective without consent from the Holders of the affected General Benchmark
Replacement Provision Notes or any other party. The Issuer may designate an entity to make any
determination, decision or election that the Issuer has the right to make in connection with the general
benchmark transition provisions set forth in Additional Note Condition 4(a). Any designee that the Issuer
may appoint in connection with these determinations, decisions or elections may be the Issuer's affiliate.
When performing such functions, potential conflicts of interest may exist between the Issuer, its designee
and investors in the General Benchmark Replacement Provision Notes and making such potentially
subjective determinations may adversely affect the return on, value of and market for the General
Benchmark Replacement Provision Notes. All determinations by the Issuer or its designee in the Issuer's
or the designee's discretion will be conclusive for all purposes and binding on the Issuer and investors in
the applicable General Benchmark Replacement Provision Notes absent manifest error.

Further, (i) the composition and characteristics of any General Benchmark Replacement for a Series of
General Benchmark Replacement Provision Notes will not be the same as those of the General
Benchmark set forth in the applicable Final Terms for such Series as of the Issue Date of such Series, the
General Benchmark Replacement will not be the economic equivalent of such General Benchmark for a
Series of General Benchmark Replacement Provision Notes, there can be no assurance that such General
Benchmark Replacement will perform in the same way as such General Benchmark for a Series of
General Benchmark Replacement Provision Notes would have at any time and there is no guarantee that
the General Benchmark Replacement will be a comparable substitute for such General Benchmark for a
Series of General Benchmark Replacement Provision notes (each of which means that a General
Benchmark Transition Event could adversely affect the return on, value of and market for the applicable
Series of General Benchmark Replacement Provision Notes), (ii) any failure of the General Benchmark
Replacement to gain market acceptance could adversely affect the relevant Series of General Benchmark
Replacement Provision Notes, (iii) the General Benchmark Replacement may have a very limited history
and the future performance of the General Benchmark Replacement may not be able to be predicted
based on historical performance, (iv) the secondary trading market for debt securities linked to the
General Benchmark Replacement may be limited and (v) the administrator of the General Benchmark
Replacement may make changes that could change the value of the General Benchmark Replacement or
discontinue the General Benchmark Replacement and would not have any obligation to consider the
interests of investors in the relevant series of General Benchmark Replacement Provision Notes in doing
SO.
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DESCRIPTION OF THE COLLATERAL ARRANGEMENTS RELATING TO SECURED

INSTRUMENTS

The following is a description of the security and collateral arrangements in relation to Instruments
(such Instruments being hereinafter referred to as Secured Instruments) to which the Secured
Instruments Conditions are specified as being applicable in the applicable Final Terms.

Terms used but not otherwise defined in this description shall have the meaning given to them in the
relevant Secured Instruments Conditions.

1.

General

MLBYV may issue Secured Notes. MLBV and MLICo. may issue Secured W&C Instruments.
References herein to "Issuer" shall be to MLBV and/or MLICo, as applicable.

Each Series of Secured Instruments will be issued by the Issuer and will be secured by a
segregated pool of collateral assets (the "Collateral Assets") provided by Merrill Lynch
International in its capacity as Secured Instruments Collateral Provider (the "Secured
Instruments Collateral Provider"). The Secured Instruments Collateral Provider has entered
into a custody agreement with The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch (in such capacity,
the "Custodian"), which provides for the establishment of cash accounts and securities accounts
in the name of the Secured Instruments Collateral Provider. For each Series of Secured
Instruments, the Secured Instruments Collateral Provider shall instruct The Bank of New York
Mellon, London Branch (in such capacity, the "Collateral Agent") to open segregated collateral
accounts (each, a "Collateral Account") in accordance with the provisions of a triparty account
control agreement to be entered into between the Secured Instruments Collateral Provider, the
Collateral Agent and the Security Agent (as defined below) (each, a "Triparty Account
Control Agreement"). Each Series of Secured Instruments will benefit from a deed of charge
(each a "Deed of Charge"), which will be governed by and under the jurisdiction of English
law, granted by the Secured Instruments Collateral Provider. Under each Deed of Charge, the
Secured Instruments Collateral Provider will grant first ranking security over the Collateral
Assets contained in the Collateral Account for the relevant Series of Secured Instruments.
Secured Instruments may be issued under the (a) Additional Terms and Conditions for Secured
Static/Floating Instruments set out in Annex 13 to the Offering Circular ("Secured
Static/Floating Instruments Conditions"), pursuant to which the Collateral Assets will be
separated into MTM Collateral Assets and Static Collateral Assets and (b) Additional Terms
and Conditions for Secured Fully Floating Instruments set out in Annex 14 to the Offering
Circular ("Secured Fully Floating Instruments Conditions" and, together with the Secured
Static/Floating Instruments Conditions, the "Secured Instruments Conditions").

Appointment of a Security Agent

In relation to each Series of Secured Instruments, The Bank of New York Mellon has been
appointed as security agent (the "Security Agent") and has undertaken to carry out the duties
of Security Agent in respect of such Secured Instruments under a New York law governed
security agency agreement entered into between, inter alia, the Issuers, the Secured Instruments
Collateral Provider and the Security Agent (the "Security Agency Agreement").

In relation to each Series of Secured Instruments, the security granted under each Deed of
Charge will be granted in favour of the Security Agent or any successor thereto on behalf of
itself and the relevant Holders of the Secured Instruments and the other relevant Secured Parties
(as defined in the relevant Secured Instruments Conditions) under the Security Agency
Agreement.

In performing its role under the Programme, the Security Agent does not act as an advisor to or
fiduciary or trustee for the Holders of the Secured Instruments (either as a Series or individually)
or any other party and nothing in any of the documents relating to the Programme shall be
interpreted to constitute the Security Agent as a trustee or fiduciary of the Issuer, the Secured
Instruments Collateral Provider, the Holders of the Secured Instruments or any other party.
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Nature of Collateral Assets

The Collateral Assets held in a Collateral Account and secured pursuant to a Deed of Charge
are together referred to as the "Collateral Pool".

(a)

(b)

Secured Static/Floating Instruments Conditions

In respect of Secured Instruments to which the Secured Static/Floating Instruments
Conditions apply, a Collateral Pool shall be made up of (i) Static Collateral Assets and
(il)) MTM Collateral Assets.

The Static Collateral Assets shall comprise of (x) a single debt security (an "Eligible
Debt Security") or a basket of Eligible Debt Securities (a "Basket of Eligible Debt
Securities") issued by the relevant entity or entities and having the ISIN(s) specified in
the applicable Final Terms and (y) debt securities that satisfy all of the Eligibility Criteria
(as defined below) applicable to a certain class or type of Eligible MTM Collateral Assets
(as defined below) as specified in the applicable Final Terms. Such Static Collateral
Assets are referred to as "Eligible Static Collateral Assets". The MTM Collateral Assets
may comprise of:

. cash;

. debt securities (including, but not limited to, government bonds, corporate bonds,
covered bonds and asset backed securities);

. equity securities, shares, units or interests in a fund; and/or
. any other negotiable financial instruments in book entry-form.

The MTM Collateral Assets must satisfy the eligibility criteria (the "Eligibility
Criteria") specified in the applicable Final Terms relating to such Series of Secured
Instruments. MTM Collateral Assets satisfying the relevant Eligibility Criteria are
referred to as "Eligible MTM Collateral Assets".

The Eligibility Criteria specified in the applicable Final Terms will set out the criteria
which must be met for MTM Collateral Assets to constitute Eligible MTM Collateral
Assets and may include limitations on the type of MTM Collateral Assets that may be
held, the maturity of the MTM Collateral Assets, the liquidity of the MTM Collateral
Assets, requirements regarding the jurisdiction of the issuer of the MTM Collateral
Assets or its guarantor or the credit rating of the obligor of the MTM Collateral Assets
and/or any other limitations, restrictions and/or requirements concerning the MTM
Collateral Assets as may be specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Notwithstanding the Eligibility Criteria specified to be applicable in the applicable Final
Terms in respect of a Series of Secured Instruments, the Collateral Agent shall be obliged
to refer only to the terms of the relevant Triparty Account Control Agreement in

determining whether the MTM Collateral Assets comply with the eligibility criteria set
out in the relevant Triparty Account Control Agreement.

Secured Fully Floating Instruments Conditions

In respect of Secured Instruments to which the Secured Fully Floating Instruments
Conditions apply, a Collateral Pool shall be made up of Collateral Assets comprising of:

. cash;

. debt securities (including, but not limited to, government bonds, corporate bonds,
covered bonds and asset backed securities);

. equity securities, shares, units or interests in a fund; and/or

. any other negotiable financial instruments in book entry-form.
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The Collateral Assets must satisfy the eligibility criteria (the "Eligibility Criteria")
specified in the applicable Final Terms relating to such Series of Secured Instruments.
Collateral Assets satisfying the relevant Eligibility Criteria are referred to as "Eligible
Collateral Assets".

The Eligibility Criteria specified in the applicable Final Terms will set out the criteria
which must be met for Collateral Assets to constitute Eligible Collateral Assets and may
include limitations on the type of Collateral Assets that may be held, the maturity of the
Collateral Assets, the liquidity of the Collateral Assets, requirements regarding the
jurisdiction of the issuer of the Collateral Assets or its guarantor or the credit rating of
the obligor of the Collateral Assets and/or any other limitations, restrictions and/or
requirements concerning the Collateral Assets as may be specified in the applicable Final
Terms.

Notwithstanding the Eligibility Criteria specified to be applicable in the applicable Final
Terms in respect of a Series of Secured Instruments, the Collateral Agent shall be obliged
to refer only to the terms of the relevant Triparty Account Control Agreement in
determining whether the Collateral Assets comply with the eligibility criteria set out in
the relevant Triparty Account Control Agreement.

Segregation between Collateral Pools, Limited Recourse and Non-Petition

By acquiring and holding Secured Instruments, Holders of the Secured Instruments will be
deemed to acknowledge and agree that the obligations of the Issuer to the Holders of the Secured
Instruments are limited in recourse to the Collateral Assets contained in the relevant Collateral
Pool securing such Series of Secured Instruments. In particular, the Collateral Assets contained
in any other Collateral Pool will not be available to pay amounts due in respect of any Secured
Instruments which are not secured by that Collateral Pool. The Secured Instruments are not
guaranteed by the Guarantor or any other entity and therefore Holders of the Secured
Instruments will have no claim against the Guarantor or any other entity in respect of any such
amounts owing to them which remain unpaid.

Valuation of Collateral

In order to ensure that a Series of Secured Instruments is collateralised in accordance with its
terms, on each Issue Date and relevant Collateral Business Day (each such test date being a
"Collateral Test Date"), the actual value of the Collateral Assets will be tested against the
required value of the Collateral Assets to be held in the Collateral Accounts to secure the
relevant Series of Secured Instruments, as determined in accordance with the provisions of the
applicable Secured Instruments Conditions. Merrill Lynch International shall undertake the
duties of Secured Instruments valuation agent (the "Secured Instruments Valuation Agent")
under the terms of a valuation agency agreement (the "Valuation Agent Agreement"), pursuant
to which it will determine values relating to the collateral and provide them to the Collateral
Agent as described below:

(a) Secured Static/Floating Instruments Conditions

On the Collateral Business Day immediately preceding the Collateral Test Date, the
Secured Instruments Valuation Agent will determine and will send to the Collateral
Agent a Collateral Test Notice notifying it of the following: (a) in respect of the Static
Collateral Assets, the Static Collateral Specified Percentage of the Required Static
Collateral Nominal Amount; and (b) in respect of the MTM Collateral Assets, the MTM
Collateral Specified Percentage of the Required MTM Collateral Value. On each
Collateral Test Date, the Collateral Agent shall: (a) in respect of the Static Collateral
Assets, determine the Pool Aggregate Collateral Nominal Amount and verify if such
amount is greater than or equal to the Static Collateral Specified Percentage of the
Required Static Collateral Nominal Amount (the "Static Collateral Test"); and (b) in
respect of the MTM Collateral Assets, determine the Collateral Value of the MTM
Collateral Assets in the Collateral Account and verify if such value is greater than or
equal to the MTM Collateral Specified Percentage of the Required MTM Collateral
Value (the "MTM Collateral Test").
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Static Collateral Assets

(A)

(B)

Pool Aggregate Collateral Nominal Amount

The Pool Aggregate Collateral Nominal Amount in respect of a Collateral
Pool on a relevant date, is an amount, expressed in the currency specified
in the applicable Final Terms (the "Collateral Valuation Currency"),
equal to the aggregate nominal amount of the Static Collateral Assets held
in the Collateral Account on the relevant date, as determined by the
Collateral Agent.

Static Collateral Specified Percentage of the Required Static Collateral
Nominal Amount

The Static Collateral Specified Percentage of the Required Static
Collateral Nominal Amount is the percentage, as specified in the
applicable Final Terms, of, in respect of a Collateral Pool which secures a
Series of Secured Instruments and any relevant date, (a) in respect of
Secured Instruments that are Secured Notes, the total aggregate principal
amount of the Non-Waived Instruments of such Series of Secured
Instruments; and (b) in respect of Secured Instruments, that are Secured
W&C Instruments, the sum of the Notional Amount of each Non-Waived
Instrument of such Series of Secured Instruments, each as determined by
the Secured Instruments Valuation Agent.

MTM Collateral Assets

(A)

(B)

Collateral Value

The Collateral Value is, in respect of a Collateral Pool and a Collateral
Test Date, an amount, expressed in the Collateral Valuation Currency,
equal to the sum of the Margin Value of each Eligible MTM Collateral
Asset in such Collateral Pool on such Collateral Test Date, as determined
by the Collateral Agent.

MTM Collateral Specified Percentage of the Required MTM Collateral
Value

The MTM Collateral Specified Percentage of the Required MTM
Collateral Value is the percentage, as specified in the applicable Final
Terms, of, in respect of a Collateral Pool and a Collateral Test Date, the
greater of zero and the sum of each portion of the Marked-to-Market
Derivative Hedge Value at the relevant time that relates to a Non-Waived
Instrument of the relevant Series of Secured Instruments which are secured
by such Collateral Pool, as determined by the Secured Instruments
Valuation Agent.

Secured Fully Floating Instruments Conditions

On the Secured Instrument Valuation Date for each Collateral Test Date, the Secured
Instruments Valuation Agent will determine the Required Collateral Value and will send
the Collateral Agent a Collateral Test Notice notifying it of such Required Collateral
Value. On each Collateral Test Date, the Collateral Agent shall calculate the Collateral
Value and verify if such value is greater than or equal to the Required Collateral Value
(the "Collateral Test").

(i)

Collateral Value

Except if "Collateral Valuation at Nominal Value" is specified as applicable in
the applicable Final Terms, the Collateral Value is an amount equal to the sum of
the quotient of (a) the Market Value of each Eligible Collateral Asset, divided by
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(b) the Margin Percentage applicable to each Eligible Collateral Asset, as
determined by the Collateral Agent.

If "Collateral Valuation at Nominal Value" is specified as applicable in the
applicable Final Terms, the Collateral Value shall be deemed to be equal to the
total aggregate nominal value of the Collateral Assets constituting Eligible
Collateral Assets, as determined by the Collateral Agent.

The Collateral Agent shall calculate the Collateral Value as of the relevant
Collateral Valuation Time (as described below) in the Collateral Valuation
Currency. Where the currency of denomination of a Collateral Asset is other than
the Collateral Valuation Currency, the Secured Instruments Valuation Agent shall
convert the value of such Collateral Asset (or other relevant values) at the relevant
spot exchange rate or spot rates in accordance with such method and as at such
time as the Secured Instruments Valuation Agent may select in its discretion,
having regard to the then-current rates of exchange, and shall notify the Collateral
Agent of such converted values.

Required Collateral Value

The Required Collateral Value will be calculated by the Secured Instruments
Valuation Agent on the Issue Date and on each Secured Instrument Valuation
Date, as follows:

(A) where "MV Collateralisation" is specified as being the Type of
Collateralisation applicable in the applicable Final Terms relating to a
Series of Secured Instruments, the Required Collateral Value shall be
equal to the product of (a) the Collateralisation Percentage, (b) the Secured
Instrument Market Value and (c) the Relevant Number of Non-Waived
Instruments of such Series;

(B) where "NV Collateralisation" is specified as being the Type of
Collateralisation applicable in the applicable Final Terms relating to a
Series of Secured Instruments, the Required Collateral Value shall be
equal to the product of (a) the Collateralisation Percentage and (b) the total
aggregate principal amount or nominal value, as applicable, of the Non-
Waived Instruments of such Series;

(C)  where "Min (MV, NV) Collateralisation" is specified as being the Type of
Collateralisation applicable in the applicable Final Terms relating to a
Series of Secured Instruments, the Required Collateral Value shall be
equal to the lower of (a) the product of (1) the Collateralisation Percentage,
(2) the Secured Instrument Market Value and (3) the Relevant Number of
Non-Waived Instruments and (b) the product of (1) the Collateralisation
Percentage and (2) the total aggregate principal amount or nominal value,
as applicable, of the Non-Waived Instruments of such Series; or

(D)  where "Max (MV, NV) Collateralisation" is specified as being the Type of
Collateralisation applicable in the applicable Final Terms relating to a
Series of Secured Instruments, the Required Collateral Value shall be
equal to the greater of (a) the product of (1) the Collateralisation
Percentage, (2) the Secured Instrument Market Value and (3) the Relevant
Number of Non-Waived Instruments and (b) the product of (1) the
Collateralisation Percentage and (2) the total aggregate principal amount
or nominal value, as applicable, of the Non-Waived Instruments of such
Series.

"Relevant Number" means:

(a) in respect of Secured Instruments that are Secured Notes, the aggregate
principal amount outstanding of Non-Waived Instruments of a Series of
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Secured Instruments divided by the specified denomination of each Non-
Waived Instrument of such Series of Secured Instruments; and

(b)  in respect of Secured Instruments that are Secured W&C Instruments, the
number of Non-Waived Instruments of such Series of Secured
Instruments.

The Collateralisation Percentage relating to a Series of Secured Instruments will
be specified in the applicable Final Terms and may specify a different
Collateralisation Percentage in respect of different Collateral Test Dates.

Adjustments to Collateral Pool and Collateral Agent Notice
(a)  Secured Static/Floating Instruments Conditions

If on the relevant Collateral Test Date the Collateral Agent determines that the Collateral
Test is not satisfied, the Collateral Agent will promptly send to the Secured Instruments
Collateral Provider a Collateral Agent Notice. On the date such Collateral Agent Notice
is given, the Secured Instruments Collateral Provider will instruct the Collateral Agent
to transfer sufficient additional Eligible MTM Collateral Assets or Eligible Static
Collateral Assets (as applicable) into the relevant Collateral Account to satisfy the
Collateral Test.

The Secured Instruments Collateral Provider will ensure that sufficient Eligible MTM
Collateral Assets and Eligible Static Collateral Assets are Delivered into the relevant
Collateral Account on or before each Collateral Test Date to satisfy the Collateral Test
in respect of such Collateral Test Date for the relevant Series of Secured Instruments.

(b)  Secured Fully Floating Instruments Conditions

If on the relevant Collateral Test Date the Collateral Agent determines that the Collateral
Test is not satisfied, the Collateral Agent will promptly send the Secured Instruments
Collateral Provider a Collateral Agent Notice. On the date such Collateral Agent Notice
is given, the Secured Instruments Collateral Provider will instruct the Collateral Agent
to transfer sufficient additional Eligible Collateral Assets into the relevant Collateral
Account to satisfy the Collateral Test.

The Secured Instruments Collateral Provider will ensure that sufficient Eligible
Collateral Assets are Delivered into the relevant Collateral Account on or before each
Collateral Test Date to satisfy the Collateral Test in respect of such Collateral Test Date
for the relevant Series of Secured Instruments.

Waived Instruments

In respect of all Secured Instruments held by the Issuer or its Affiliates, including but not limited
to, in its capacity as market maker, the Issuer or its Affiliates will be deemed to have waived
their rights (a) to receive the proceeds of realisation of the Collateral Assets securing such Series
of Secured Instruments (and where "Physical Delivery of Static Collateral Assets" is specified
as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, delivery of the Static Collateral Assets) following
the enforcement of the relevant Deed of Charge and Charged Documents or the redemption or
cancellation, as applicable, of such Series of Secured Instruments following the occurrence of a
Collateral Asset Default and (b) to give an Acceleration Notice on the occurrence of a Secured
Instrument Event of Default ("Waived Instruments").

As a consequence, when making various calculations under the Secured Instruments Conditions,
including the Required MTM Collateral Value and the Required Static Collateral Nominal
Amount (under the Secured Static/Floating Instruments Conditions) and the Required Collateral
Value (under the Secured Fully Floating Instruments Conditions), the Secured Instruments
Valuation Agent shall only take into account the value of the Secured Instruments that are not
subject to such waiver (any such Secured Instruments being "Non-Waived Instruments").

Collateral Substitution
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Secured Static/Floating Instruments Conditions

The Secured Instruments Collateral Provider may, subject to the terms of the relevant
Triparty Account Control Agreement, withdraw and/or replace MTM Collateral Assets
from the relevant Collateral Account provided that following such adjustment the
Collateral Test continues to be satisfied. The Secured Instruments Collateral Provider
will send or cause to be sent a notice to the Collateral Agent specifying the adjustments
to be made to the Collateral Pool (including inter alia the type and quantity of any MTM
Collateral Assets to be deposited and/or removed).

The Issuer and the Secured Instruments Collateral Provider shall not be entitled to
withdraw and/or replace Static Collateral Assets from the relevant Collateral Account,
on any day provided that the Secured Instruments Collateral Provider may on any
Collateral Test Date withdraw from the relevant Collateral Account an aggregate
nominal amount of Static Collateral Assets equal to the sum of the Notional Amount of
each Non-Waived Instrument that is converted into a Waived Instrument if, following
such withdrawal, (a) the Collateral Test continues to be satisfied, and (b) if the Eligible
Static Collateral Assets specified in the applicable Final Terms are a Basket of Eligible
Debt Securities, the aggregate nominal amount of each Eligible Debt Security is equal to
the percentage weighting for each such Eligible Debt Security within the Basket of
Eligible Debt Securities as specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Secured Fully Floating Instruments Conditions

The Secured Instruments Collateral Provider may, subject to the terms of the relevant
Triparty Account Control Agreement, withdraw and/or replace Collateral Assets from
the relevant Collateral Account provided that following such adjustment the Collateral
Test continues to be satisfied. The Secured Instruments Collateral Provider will send or
cause to be sent a notice to the Collateral Agent specifying the adjustments to be made
to the Collateral Pool (including infer alia the type and quantity of any Collateral Assets
to be deposited and/or removed).

Early redemption or settlement following the occurrence of a Collateral Disruption Event

(a)

Secured Static/Floating Instruments Conditions

If the Secured Instruments Valuation Agent determines that a Collateral Disruption
Event has occurred or is continuing, the Issuer may in its sole discretion redeem or cancel
all of the relevant Secured Instruments at their the Early Redemption/Settlement Amount
(CDE) or, if "Physical Delivery of Static Collateral Assets" is specified to be applicable
in the applicable Final Terms, deliver Static Collateral Assets that make up the
Entitlement (CDE) in accordance with the Secured Instruments Conditions. The Early
Redemption/Settlement Amount (CDE) will be calculated on the basis of (i) if "Physical
Delivery of Static Collateral Assets" is specified not to be applicable in the applicable
Final Terms, the market value of the Derivative Hedge entered into by the Issuer and/or
its Affiliates to hedge the Issuer's payment obligations plus the proceeds of the
liquidation and realisation of the Static Collateral, less any of the hedge unwind costs of
the Issuer and/or its Affiliates and costs of realising the Collateral Assets or (ii) if the
applicable Final Terms specify "Physical Delivery of Static Collateral Assets" to be
applicable, the market value of the Derivative Hedge entered into by the Issuer and/or its
Affiliates to hedge the Issuer's payment obligations less any hedge unwind costs of the
Issuer and/or its Affiliates and costs of realising the Collateral Assets.

Collateral Disruption Events are defined in the Secured Instruments Conditions and
include, but are not limited to: (i) a Collateral Asset Default occurs or is continuing, as
determined by the Secured Instruments Valuation Agent; or (ii) the Secured Instruments
Collateral Provider being (A) unable, after using commercially reasonable efforts, to
acquire the necessary Collateral Assets or (B) subject to materially increased costs in
acquiring Collateral Assets; or (iii) the Issuer being unable, after using commercially
reasonable efforts, to find a suitable substitute or replacement Collateral Arrangement
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Party (as defined below) following the termination of the relevant agreements or
resignation or removal, for any reason, of any Collateral Arrangement Party.

(b)  Secured Fully Floating Instruments Conditions

If the Secured Instruments Valuation Agent determines that a Collateral Disruption
Event has occurred or is continuing, the Issuer may in its sole discretion redeem or cancel
all of the relevant Secured Instruments at the Early Redemption/Settlement Amount
following the occurrence of a Collateral Disruption Event. The Early
Redemption/Settlement Amount will be calculated on the basis of the fair market value
of such Secured Instrument less any hedge unwind costs of the Issuer and/or its Affiliates.

Collateral Disruption Events are defined in the Secured Instruments Conditions and
include, but are not limited to: (i) the Secured Instruments Collateral Provider being (A)
unable, after using commercially reasonable efforts, to acquire the necessary Collateral
Assets or (B) subject to materially increased costs in acquiring Collateral Assets; or (ii)
the Issuer being unable, after using commercially reasonable efforts, to find a suitable
substitute or replacement Collateral Arrangement Party (as defined below) following the
termination of the relevant agreements or resignation or removal, for any reason, of any
Collateral Arrangement Party.

For the avoidance of doubt, the occurrence of a Collateral Disruption Event will not
constitute a Secured Instrument Event of Default.

Early redemption or settlement following the occurrence of a Collateral Trigger Event
under the Secured Static/Floating Instruments Conditions

If a "Collateral Trigger Event" is specified to be applicable in the applicable Final Terms and
the Secured Instruments Valuation Agent determines that a Collateral Trigger Event has
occurred or is continuing, the Issuer shall redeem or cancel all of the relevant Secured
Instruments at their Early Redemption/Settlement Amount (CTE) and, if "Physical Delivery of
Static Collateral Assets" is specified to be applicable in the applicable Final Terms, deliver
Static Collateral Assets that make up the Entitlement (CTE) (including payment of any
Fractional Cash Amount (CTE)) in accordance with the Secured Instruments Conditions. The
Early Redemption/Settlement Amount (CTE) will be calculated on the basis of (i) if "Physical
Delivery of Static Collateral Assets" is specified not to be applicable in the applicable Final
Terms, the intra-day market value of the Derivative Hedge entered into by the Issuer and/or its
Affiliates to hedge the Issuer's payment obligations plus the proceeds of the liquidation and
realisation of the Static Collateral, less any of the hedge unwind costs of the Issuer and/or its
Affiliates and costs of realising the Collateral Assets or (ii) if the applicable Final Terms specify
"Physical Delivery of Static Collateral Assets" to be applicable, the intra-day market value of
the Derivative Hedge entered into by the Issuer and/or its Affiliates to hedge the Issuer's
payment obligations less any hedge unwind costs of the Issuer and/or its Affiliates and costs of
realising the Collateral Assets.

A Collateral Trigger Event shall have occurred if the Secured Instruments Valuation Agent
determines that, at any time on a day during the relevant observation period, the value of a
Secured Instrument of the relevant series is (a) if "less than the Collateral Trigger Level" is
specified in the applicable Final Terms, less than the Collateral Trigger Level or (b) if "less than
or equal to the Collateral Trigger Level" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, less than or
equal to the Collateral Trigger Level. The Collateral Trigger Level will be specified in the
applicable Final Terms. The value of the relevant Secured Instruments will be determined by
the Secured Instruments Valuation Agent as an amount equal to the sum of (x) the intra-day
market value of the portion of the Derivative Hedge that relates to such Secured Instruments
and (y) the intra-day market value of the relevant Static Collateral Assets that relate to such
Secured Instruments.

The intra-day market value of the Derivative Hedge and of the Static Collateral Assets shall be

determined by the Secured Instruments Valuation Agent by reference to such factors as it
considers to be appropriate in its discretion, including without limitation:
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(a)  in respect of the Derivative Hedge, the present value of the future payment obligations
of the Issuer under the relevant Secured Instruments minus the present value of the future
cash flows of the Static Collateral Assets that secure such Secured Instruments, and
taking into account:

(1) spot and forward market prices or values for the underlying asset(s) of the
Derivative Hedge and other relevant economic variables (such as interest rates
and exchange rates);

(i)  the correlation between the market prices or value of the underlying asset(s) of
the Derivative Hedge and other relevant economic variables;

(iii)  historic and implied volatility of the market prices or value of the underlying
asset(s) of the Derivative Hedge;

(iv)  the remaining time until expiry of the Derivative Hedge;
(v)  internal pricing models; and

(vi)  prices at which other market participants might bid for similar Derivative Hedge;
and

(vii) the valuation using relevant economic variables of the cash flows and/or coupon
payments of the Static Collateral Assets that secure such Secured Instruments.

(b)  in respect of the relevant Static Collateral Assets:

6)] bid prices (if available) for a nominal amount of such Static Collateral Assets
equal to the minimum nominal amount that may be quoted for bids on the screen
page specified in the applicable Final Terms; and

(i)  internal pricing models.

Early redemption or settlement following the occurrence of a MTM Trigger Event under
the Secured Fully Floating Instruments Conditions

If a "MTM Trigger Event" is specified to be applicable in the applicable Final Terms and the
Secured Instruments Valuation Agent determines that a MTM Trigger Event has occurred or is
continuing, the Issuer shall redeem or cancel all of the relevant Secured Instruments at their
Early Redemption/Settlement Amount in accordance with the Secured Instruments Conditions.

A MTM Trigger Event shall have occurred if the Secured Instruments Valuation Agent
determines that, at any time between 5.00 a.m. Sydney time to 5.00 p.m. New York City time
(or such other times specified in the applicable Final Terms) on a business day during the
relevant observation period, the market value of a Secured Instrument of the relevant series is
(a) if "less than the MTM Trigger Level" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, less than
the MTM Trigger Level or (b) if "less than or equal to the MTM Trigger Level" is specified in
the applicable Final Terms, less than or equal to the MTM Trigger Level. The MTM Trigger
Level will be specified in the applicable Final Terms. The market value of a Secured Instrument
shall be determined by the Secured Instruments Valuation Agent by reference to such factors as
it considers to be appropriate in its discretion, including without limitation:

(a)  market prices or values for any underlying asset(s) to which the Secured Instruments are
linked and other relevant economic variables (such as interest rates and, if applicable,
exchange rates) at the relevant time;

(b)  the remaining term of the Secured Instruments until their scheduled exercise and final
settlement;

(c)  internal pricing models; and
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(d)  prices at which other market participants might bid for securities similar to the Secured
Instruments.

Default in provision of Collateral Assets

A "Required Collateral Default" shall occur if, following receipt by the Secured Instruments
Collateral Provider of a Collateral Agent Notice which indicates that the Collateral Test is not
satisfied (or will not be satisfied after taking into account any adjustments specified in a
Collateral Test Notice), the Secured Instruments Collateral Provider fails to instruct the
Collateral Agent to transfer sufficient Collateral Assets into the Collateral Account and such
failure results in the Collateral Test not being satisfied for one Collateral Business Day
following delivery of such Collateral Agent Notice (when determining whether the Collateral
Test has been so satisfied, only Collateral Assets which have actually been transferred to the
relevant Collateral Account shall be taken into account).

Following the occurrence of a Required Collateral Default, the Collateral Agent will send a
notice (a "Required Collateral Default Notice") to the Secured Instruments Collateral Provider
and the Security Agent, specifying that a Required Collateral Default has occurred. The Secured
Instruments Collateral Provider shall notify the Issuer of the Required Collateral Default Notice.
The Security Agent shall as soon as reasonably practicable after receiving a Required Collateral
Default Notice give notice to the relevant Instrument Agent and the relevant Instrument Agent
will give notice as soon as reasonably practicable to all relevant Holders of the receipt of a
Required Collateral Default Notice.

Secured Instruments Events of Default

The Secured Instruments are subject to various events of default (each a "Secured Instrument
Event of Default"), including, but not limited to, (i) the Issuer's failure to pay Additional Tax
Amounts and Cash Settlement Amounts or to deliver any Entitlement, (ii) insolvency
proceedings against the Issuer, (iii) the occurrence of a Required Collateral Default, or (iv) a
failure by the Issuer and/or the Secured Instruments Collateral Provider to comply with or
perform its obligations under the Security Agency Agreement or the relevant Deed of Charge.

If a Secured Instrument Event of Default occurs and is continuing with respect to any Series of
Secured Instruments, then any Holder may, at its option, send an Acceleration Notice through
the relevant Clearing System to the relevant Instrument Agent. If the Holder(s) of at least 33 per
cent. (a) in respect of Secured Instruments that are Secured Notes, in aggregate principal amount
of'such Non-Waived Instruments or (b) in respect of Secured Instruments that are Secured W&C
Instruments, in aggregate Notional Amount or by number (as applicable), of such Non-Waived
Instruments outstanding send Acceleration Notice(s) through the relevant Clearing System to
the relevant Instrument Agent, and if any such default is not waived or cured in accordance with
the Secured Instruments Conditions an "Acceleration Event" shall occur in respect of such
Series of Secured Instruments.

The relevant Instrument Agent will as soon as reasonably practicable after the occurrence of an
Acceleration Event send an instruction (an "Acceleration Instruction") to the Security Agent
confirming that the Holders of at least 33 per cent. (a) in respect of Secured Instruments that are
Secured Notes, in aggregate principal amount of the Non-Waived Instruments or (b) in respect
of Secured Instruments that are Secured W&C Instruments, in aggregate Notional Amount or
by number (as applicable) of the Non-Waived Instruments outstanding have delivered
Acceleration Notices and thereby instructing the Security Agent to, inter alia, enforce the
security constituted by the relevant Deed of Charge and distribute the proceeds (and, if
applicable, physically settle the Entitlement), in each case, in accordance with its terms, the
Secured Instruments Conditions and the Security Agency Agreement.

If the Security Agent receives an Acceleration Instruction, the Security Agent shall (acting in
accordance with such Acceleration Instruction), inter alia, as soon as reasonably practicable, (i)
deliver a Collateral Enforcement Notice to each of the Issuer, the Secured Instruments Collateral
Provider and the relevant Instrument Agent, (ii) give notice to the relevant Instrument Agent of,
inter alia, the occurrence of an Acceleration Event, upon which the relevant Instrument Agent
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will give notice of the same to all relevant Holders, and (iii) appoint a Disposal Agent, if a
Disposal Agent has not already been appointed.

Collateral Enforcement

(a)

(b)

Secured Static/Floating Instruments Conditions

Following delivery of a Collateral Enforcement Notice, the Security Agent (acting in
accordance with an Acceleration Instruction) shall enforce the security constituted by the
relevant Deed of Charge relating to the relevant Collateral Pool in accordance with the
terms thereof and the Secured Instruments Conditions and the terms of the Security
Agency Agreement and will give instructions to the Disposal Agent to effect a
liquidation and realisation of the Collateral Assets in the Collateral Pool which secures
such Series of Secured Instruments: (i) by liquidating or realising all Collateral Assets in
the Collateral Pool; or (ii) where "Physical Delivery of Static Collateral Assets" is
specified to be applicable in the applicable Final Terms: (A) firstly, by liquidating or
realising the MTM Collateral Assets in the Collateral Pool in accordance with the
Secured Instruments Conditions; (B) secondly, to the extent the proceeds available
following the liquidation and realisation of the MTM Collateral Assets in the Collateral
Pool are insufficient to make payment of any amounts payable to the Secured Parties
ranking prior to the Holders of the Non-Waived Instruments in accordance with the Order
of Priority specified in the applicable Final Terms, by liquidating or realising an amount
of Static Collateral Assets sufficient to make the remainder of such payments in
accordance with Secured Instruments; and (C) thirdly, by liquidating or realising an
amount of Static Collateral Assets to cover any outstanding hedge unwind costs;
provided that, in the case of (B) and (C), if the Static Collateral Assets are a Basket of
Eligible Debt Securities, the amount of each Eligible Debt Security liquidated or realised
should be proportionate to the percentage weighting for each such Eligible Debt Security
within the Basket of Eligible Debt Securities as specified in the applicable Final Terms.

The Security Agent (acting in accordance with an Acceleration Instruction) or the
Disposal Agent (acting on behalf of and at the instruction of the Security Agent) will (i)
liquidate or realise the MTM Collateral Assets and, if applicable, the Static Collateral
Assets and distribute the relevant Collateral Enforcement Proceeds Share to the relevant
Holders or (ii) where "Physical Delivery of Static Collateral Assets" is specified to be
applicable in the applicable Final Terms, arrange for delivery of the Entitlement to the
relevant Holders, in each case in accordance with the Order of Priority specified in the
applicable Final Terms and the Secured Static/Floating Instruments Conditions.

Secured Fully Floating Instruments Conditions

Following receipt of a Collateral Enforcement Notice, the Security Agent (acting in
accordance with an Acceleration Instruction) shall enforce the security constituted by the
relevant Deed of Charge relating to the relevant Collateral Pool in accordance with the
terms thereof and the Secured Instruments Conditions and the terms of the Security
Agency Agreement and will give instructions to the Disposal Agent to (i) liquidate or
realise the Collateral Assets in the Collateral Pool and subsequently distribute the
relevant Collateral Enforcement Proceeds Share to the relevant Holders or (ii) where
"Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets" is specified to be applicable in the applicable
Final Terms, arrange for delivery of the relevant Entitlement to the relevant Holders, in
each case in accordance with the Order of Priority specified in the applicable Final Terms
and the Secured Fully Floating Instruments Conditions.

Enforcement and realisation by Holders

No Holder shall be entitled to enforce a Deed of Charge or to proceed directly against the
Secured Instruments Collateral Provider to enforce the other provisions of a Charged Document
unless the Security Agent, having become bound to so enforce or proceed, fails so to do within
a reasonable time and such failure is continuing or the Security Agent is prevented from
enforcing a Deed of Charge by any court order. If a Holder becomes so entitled, then such

145



16.

17.

Description of the Collateral Arrangements relating to Secured Instruments

Holder shall not be entitled to enforce the relevant Deed of Charge or Charged Document in the
United Kingdom.

If the Security Agent becomes bound to enforce a Deed of Charge or a Charged Document and
fails to do so within a reasonable time and such failure is continuing or the Security Agent is
prevented from enforcing a Deed of Charge by any court order, then, without prejudice to the
paragraph above, Holder(s) of at least 33 per cent. (a) in respect of Secured Instruments that are
Secured Notes, in aggregate principal amount of such Non-Waived Instruments or (b) in respect
of Secured Instruments that are Secured W&C Instruments, in aggregate Notional Amount or
by number (as applicable), of such Non-Waived Instruments outstanding may remove the
Security Agent and appoint a replacement Security Agent in accordance with the Secured
Instruments Conditions and the terms of the Security Agency Agreement.

Neither the Issuer nor any Holder shall be entitled to enforce a Triparty Account Control
Agreement or the Custodian Agreement or to proceed directly against the Collateral Agent or
the Custodian to enforce the terms of the relevant Triparty Account Control Agreement or the
Custodian Agreement (as applicable). Neither the Collateral Agent nor the Custodian shall have
any liability to the Issuer or any Holder as to the consequence of any actions taken by the
Collateral Agent or Custodian (as applicable).

Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets Disruption Event

Where "Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets" is specified as applicable in the applicable Final
Terms, in certain circumstances, if, in the opinion of the Security Agent or the Disposal Agent
(acting on behalf of and at the instruction of the Security Agent), delivery of all or some of the
Static Collateral Assets (in respect of Secured Instruments to which the Secured Static/Floating
Instruments Conditions apply) or the Collateral Assets (in respect of Secured Instruments to
which the Secured Fully Floating Instruments Conditions apply) forming part of the Entitlement
is not possible for a specified period of time, then the Security Agent, or the Disposal Agent
(acting on behalf of and at the instruction of the Security Agent), in lieu of physical settlement,
may sell or realise such undeliverable Static Collateral Assets or Collateral Assets, as applicable,
and deliver the proceeds thereof to Holders.

Replacement of Collateral Arrangement Parties

Each of the Collateral Transaction Documents contains, or will contain, provisions for the
termination of such agreement and, as the case may be, the removal or replacement of the role
of the relevant party appointed thereunder (each a "Collateral Arrangement Party"). Any such
termination, removal and/or replacement will be effected in accordance with the provisions of
such agreements and (other than in respect of the Custodian or the Collateral Agent) the Secured
Instruments Conditions and may be effected without the consent of Holders. No such
termination or removal shall be effective until a replacement entity has been appointed. The
Secured Instruments Valuation Agent shall be required to give notice to Holders of any such
termination, removal and/or replacement.

A replacement Collateral Arrangement Party may only be appointed when the following
conditions are fulfilled: the replacement Collateral Arrangement Party (other than the
replacement Custodian or Collateral Agent): (i) is an institution incorporated and in good
standing in the United States of America or one of the States thereof or in a state which is, as at
the date of the relevant Collateral Transaction Document, a member state of the European Union
or the United Kingdom,; (ii) has the requisite resources and legal capacity to perform the duties
imposed upon the relevant existing Collateral Arrangement Party under the relevant Collateral
Transaction Document and is a recognised provider of the services provided by such Collateral
Arrangement Party; (iii) is legally qualified and has the capacity to act as successor to the
relevant Collateral Arrangement Party on the terms of the relevant Collateral Transaction
Document; and (iv) whose performance of its duties under the relevant Collateral Transaction
Document will not cause the Issuer and/or Secured Instruments Collateral Provider to become
subject to tax in any jurisdiction where such successor is incorporated, established, doing
business, has a permanent establishment or is otherwise considered tax resident.
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The Security Agency Agreement contains, or will contain, provisions for the termination of such
agreement and the removal or replacement of the Security Agent appointed thereunder. Any
such termination, removal and/or replacement will be effected in accordance with the provisions
of the Security Agency Agreement and may be effected without the consent of Holders. No such
termination or removal shall be effective until a replacement Security Agent has been appointed.
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DESCRIPTION OF THE PREFERENCE SHARE ISSUER AND THE PREFERENCE

SHARES

The following is an overview of the Preference Share Issuer and the Preference Shares.

1.

The Preference Share Issuer

Preface Holdings Limited (the "Preference Share Issuer") is a Jersey private company and was
incorporated under the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991 on 5 March 2020 (with registration
number 131121). Preface Holdings Limited is governed by the laws of Jersey and has its
registered office at 15 Esplanade, St Helier, Jersey JE1 1RB.

The sole business activity of the Preference Share Issuer is to (i) issue redeemable preference
shares (the "Preference Shares") under its preference share programme (the "Preference
Shares Programme"); and (ii) enter into hedging arrangements to hedge the exposure under
the Preference Shares. Accordingly, the Preference Share Issuer does not have any trading assets
and generates limited net income. The Preference Share Issuer does not have a credit rating.

As at the date of this Offering Circular, the Preference Share Issuer has two (2) ordinary shares
in issue. The Preference Share Issuer may issue further shares with such rights or restrictions as
may be determined by special resolution and the unissued shares for the time being in the capital
of the Preference Share Issuer are at the disposal of the directors on such terms as they think
proper. The ordinary shares of the Preference Share Issuer are held by Hawksford Nominees
Jersey Limited (one (1) ordinary share) and Hawksford Fiduciaries Jersey Limited (one (1)
ordinary share), each acting as a nominee of Hawksford Trustees Jersey Limited who serves as
the trustee of The Preface Charitable Trust.

The Preference Shares may be offered and issued to investors pursuant to the terms agreed with
the Preference Share Issuer. Merrill Lynch International acts as structuring agent in order to
facilitate the offer and issue by the Preference Share Issuer of Preference Shares as well as
calculation agent in respect of the Preference Shares. Other service providers act as registrar and
corporate administrator to the Preference Share Issuer or in respect of the Preference Shares, as
applicable.

A copy of the Preference Share Issuer's constitutional documents (the "Articles of
Association") and the terms and conditions of the Preference Shares (as contained in the
principal memorandum of the Preference Share Issuer relating to the issuance of Preference
Shares (the "Principal Memorandum") and the relevant Supplemental Memorandum (as
defined below) in respect of the Preference Shares) are available to investors in the Preference
Share Linked Notes on written request (free of charge) from the registered office of the
Preference Share Issuer and from the distributor of the relevant Preference Share Linked Notes.

Documents for Inspection

Copies of the Articles of Association will be available for inspection at the registered office of
the Preference Share Issuer, in each case during normal business hours on any weekday
(Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays excepted) for 14 days following the date of each
Supplemental Memorandum (as defined below).

The Private Placement Memorandum can be obtained by any interested investors from Merrill
Lynch International.

Documents on Display

Copies of the Principal Memorandum, any applicable Supplemental Memorandum relating to a
series of Preference Shares, the Articles of Association and, after publication thereof, the annual
accounts of the Preference Share Issuer may be obtained from the corporate administrator at its
registered office (15 Esplanade, St Helier, Jersey JE1 1RB) on request.
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The Preference Shares

Preference Shares may be issued from time to time by the Preference Share Issuer in a Series
under the Preference Shares Programme. Each Series of Preference Shares may have different
features which are set out in the Principal Memorandum and a Series specific supplemental
memorandum (the "Supplemental Memorandum", and together with the Principal
Memorandum, the "Private Placement Memorandum").

The Preference Shares issued under the Preference Shares Programme may pay an automatic
early redemption amount, an early redemption amount, an optional redemption amount and,
unless previously redeemed or cancelled, will pay a final redemption amount at maturity which
may be linked to the performance of one or more Preference Share Underlyings which may
include, but will not be limited to shares, indices, mutual funds or exchange traded funds, or
baskets of shares or indices, mutual funds or exchange traded funds. The composition of the
relevant Preference Share Underlyings may be designed to change over time as a result of
performance or other factors.

The Supplemental Memorandum applicable to a particular Series of Preference Shares will
specify the redemption amount(s) and when any such amount is payable and the terms based on
which it is calculated.

The Preference Shares will not be exchangeable through CREST (or any other clearing system)
and will not be listed or admitted to trading on any stock exchange. Therefore, no information
relating to the past or future performance of the Preference Shares or their volatility will be
available.

The Private Placement Memorandum also provides that the Preference Share Issuer may redeem
the Preference Shares early if:

(a)  the performance of the Preference Share Issuer's obligations under the relevant Series of
Preference Shares or any arrangements made to hedge the Preference Share Issuer's
obligations under the Preference Shares or in respect of any hedging arrangements in
relation to any Preference Share Linked Notes, has or will become, in whole or in part,
unlawful, illegal or otherwise contrary to any present or future law, rule, regulation,
judgment, order or directive of any governmental, administrative, legislative, judicial or
regulatory authority or powers, or any change in the interpretation thereof that is
applicable to the Preference Share Issuer or any of the Preference Share Issuer's
Affiliates; or

(b)  an event has occurred and/or is existing that constitutes an early redemption event or is
an event triggering an early redemption of the relevant Series of Preference Shares.

The Preference Share Underlyings

The performance of the Preference Shares depends on the performance of the Preference Share
Underlying or Underlyings to which the relevant Preference Shares are linked.

Investors should review the relevant Private Placement Memorandum and other constitutional
documents and consult with their own business, accounting, regulatory, legal, tax and other
professional advisers with respect to any consequences or considerations (whether relating to
tax or otherwise) which may be relevant to or which may result from investment in the
Preference Share Linked Notes.
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FORM OF THE INSTRUMENTS

Words and expressions defined in the "Terms and Conditions of the Notes", the "Terms and Conditions
of the Cash Settled Exchangeable Notes" or "Terms and Conditions of the W&C Instruments", as
applicable, shall have the same meanings in this Form of the Instruments.

Form of the Notes
Registered Notes

If the applicable Final Terms specify that Notes issued by MLBYV are eligible for sale exclusively in the
United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons (as defined below) pursuant to an
exemption from the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
"Securities Act"), the Notes sold (a) in the United States to qualified institutional buyers within the
meaning of Rule 144A ("Rule 144A") under the Securities Act ("QIBs") who are also each a qualified
purchaser (each a "QP") within the meaning of Section 3(c)(7) and as defined in Section 2(a)(51) of the
U.S. Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the "1940 Act") and the rules thereunder or (b) to,
or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons who are QIBs and also QPs will be represented by a Rule
144A Global Note (the "Rule 144A Global Notes") which will be in registered form and either (i)
deposited with the Principal Paying Agent as a custodian for, and registered in the name of a nominee
of, The Depository Trust Company ("DTC"); or (ii) deposited with, and registered in the name of a
nominee of, the Common Depositary.

Unless otherwise indicated, as used in this Offering Circular, "U.S. person" has the meaning ascribed to
it by Regulation S under the Securities Act. Notes which may be sold as described above to U.S. persons
who are QIBs and also QPs in reliance on Rule 144A are referred to in this Offering Circular as "Rule
144A Notes", which term shall also include, where the context requires, Rule 144A Notes sold as
described in the succeeding paragraph that are represented by a Regulation S/Rule 144A Global Note (as
defined below).

If specified in the applicable Final Terms, Notes issued by MLBV may be sold (a) pursuant to Rule 144A
(i) to persons in the United States who are QIBs and QPs or (ii) to or for the account or benefit of U.S.
persons who are QIBs and also QPs and (b) in either case, concurrently outside the United States to non-
U.S. persons pursuant to Regulation S. Such Notes will be represented by a Regulation S/Rule 144A
Global Note (the "Regulation S/Rule 144A Global Note") which will be in registered form and
deposited with, and registered in the name of a nominee for, the Common Depositary for Euroclear and
Clearstream, Luxembourg.

If Notes are to be issued into and transferred through accounts at Euroclear and/or Clearstream,
Luxembourg, and are not eligible for sale in the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of U.S.
persons, such Tranche of Notes will be issued in registered form and will be represented by a global
registered note (a "Euroclear/CBL Global Registered Note", together with the Rule 144A Global Notes
and the Regulation S/Rule 144A Global Notes, the "Global Notes" and each, a "Global Note") or Notes
in definitive form ("Definitive Registered Notes") represented by individual note certificates
("Individual Note Certificates"), as the case may be, together with the attached or incorporated Terms
and Conditions of the Notes and the applicable Final Terms. Each Euroclear/CBL Global Registered
Note will be deposited on or around the relevant issue date with either (a) the Common Depositary for
Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other relevant clearing system, in the case of a
Euroclear/CBL Global Registered Note not intended to be issued under the NSS, and registered in the
name of a nominee of the Common Depositary, or (b) the Common Safekeeper for Euroclear,
Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other relevant clearing system, in the case of a Euroclear/CBL Global
Registered Note intended to be issued under the NSS, and registered in the name of a nominee of the
Common Safekeeper.

The NSS form allows Notes in registered form to be issued and held in a manner which will permit them
to be recognised as eligible collateral for monetary policy of the central banking system for the euro (the
"Eurosystem") and intra-day credit operations by the Eurosystem either upon their issue or at any other
time prior to the applicable maturity date. However, such recognition will depend upon satisfaction of
the Eurosystem eligibility criteria. The European Central Bank (the "ECB") has published on its webpage
information on its collateral eligibility criteria. Among other criteria, the information published by the
ECB indicates that, effective as of 8 February 2018, unsecured debt instruments issued by credit
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institutions, or their closely-linked entities, such as BAC and BofA Finance, that are not established in
the member states of the European Union are not Eurosystem eligible. Therefore, as of the date of this
Offering Circular, the Notes issued by BAC and by BofA Finance will not be recognised as eligible
collateral for Eurosystem monetary and intraday credit operations.

Beneficial interests in a Global Note will be exchangeable for Definitive Registered Notes represented
by Individual Note Certificates if: (1) an Event of Default (as defined herein) occurs and is continuing,
(2) either (a) in the case of Notes represented by Rule 144 A Global Notes held through DTC, either DTC
has notified MLBYV that it is unwilling or unable to continue as a depositary for such Rule 144A Global
Notes held through DTC and no alternative clearing system is available, or DTC has ceased to be a
"clearing agency" registered under the Exchange Act, and no alternative clearing system is available, or
(b) in the case of Euroclear/CBL Global Registered Notes and other Notes registered in the name of a
nominee of the Common Depositary, the relevant Issuer has been notified that both Euroclear and
Clearstream, Luxembourg have been closed for business for a continuous period of 14 calendar days
(other than by reason of holiday, statutory or otherwise) or have announced an intention permanently to
cease business or have in fact done so and, in any such case, no successor clearing system is available,
or (3) the relevant Issuer, after notice to the Principal Paying Agent, determines to issue the Notes in
definitive form. The relevant Issuer will give notice of any such event specified above to the Holders in
accordance with Note Condition 14 (Notices).

Whenever the Global Note is to be exchanged for Individual Note Certificates, the relevant Issuer shall
procure that Individual Note Certificates will be issued in an aggregate principal amount equal to the
principal amount of the Global Note within five business days of the delivery by or on behalf of the
registered holder of the Global Note, DTC or such other relevant clearing systems, to the Principal Paying
Agent of such information as is required to complete and deliver such Individual Note Certificates
(including, without limitation, the names and addresses of the persons in whose names the Individual
Note Certificates are to be registered and the principal amount of each such person's holding) against the
surrender of the Global Note at the specified office of the Principal Paying Agent.

Such exchange will be effected in accordance with the provisions of the New York Law Agency
Agreement (in the case of Notes issued by BAC and BofA Finance) or the English Law Agency
Agreement (in the case of Notes issued by MLBV) and, in either case, the regulations concerning the
transfer and registration of Notes scheduled thereto, and, in particular, shall be effected without charge
to any holder, but against such indemnity as the Principal Paying Agent may require in respect of any
tax or other duty of whatsoever nature which may be levied or imposed in connection with such
exchange.

If:

(a) Individual Note Certificates have not been delivered by 5.00 p.m. (London time) on the thirtieth
calendar day after they are due to be issued and delivered in accordance with the terms of the
Global Note; or

(b) any of the Notes represented by a Global Note (or any part of it) has become due and payable
in accordance with the Terms and Conditions of the Notes or the date for final redemption of
the Notes has occurred and, in either case, payment in full of the amount of principal falling due
with all accrued interest thereon has not been made to the holder of the Global Note in
accordance with the terms of the Global Note on the due date for payment,

then the Global Note (including the obligation to deliver Individual Note Certificates) will become void
at 5.00 p.m. (London time) on such thirtieth calendar day (in the case of (a) immediately above) or at
5.00 p.m. (London time) on such due date (in the case of (b) immediately above) and the holder of the
Global Note will have no further rights thereunder (but without prejudice to the rights which the holder
of the Global Note or others may have under the MLBV Notes Deed of Covenant (as defined under
"Terms and Conditions of the Notes")). With respect to Notes issued by MLBV, under the MLBV Notes
Deed of Covenant, persons shown in the records of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or
any other relevant clearing system as being entitled to an interest in a Global Note will acquire directly
against MLBYV all those rights to which they would have been entitled if, immediately before the Global
Note became void, they were entered in the Register as the holder of Notes in an aggregate principal
amount equal to the principal amount of Notes they were shown as holding in the records of Euroclear
and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system. For the avoidance of doubt,
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Holders of Notes held through DTC are not entitled to the benefit of the direct rights under the Notes
Deed of Covenant.

Form of the Warrants
Registered Warrants

If the applicable Final Terms specify that Warrants are eligible for sale exclusively in the United States
or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons pursuant to an exemption from the registration
requirements of the Securities Act, the Warrants sold (a) in the United States to QIBs who are also each
a QP within the meaning of Section 3(c)(7) and as defined in Section 2(a)(51) of the 1940 Act and the
rules thereunder or (b) to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons who are QIBs and also QPs will
be represented by a Rule 144A Global Warrant (the "Rule 144A Global Warrant") which will be in
registered form and either (i) deposited with the Principal W&C Instrument Agent as a custodian for,
and registered in the name of a nominee of, DTC; or (ii) deposited with, and registered in the name of a
nominee of, the Common Depositary.

Warrants which may be sold as described above to U.S. persons who are QIBs and also QPs in reliance
on Rule 144A are referred to in this Offering Circular as "Rule 144A Warrants", which term shall also
include, where the context requires, Rule 144A Warrants sold as described in the succeeding paragraph
that are represented by a Regulation S/Rule 144A Global Warrant (as defined below).

If specified in the applicable Final Terms, the Warrants may be sold (a) pursuant to Rule 144A (i) to
persons in the United States who are QIBs and QPs or (ii) to or for the account or benefit of U.S. persons
who are QIBs and also QPs and (b) in either case, concurrently outside the United States to non-U.S.
persons pursuant to Regulation S. Such Warrants will be represented by a Regulation S/Rule 144A
Global Warrant (the "Regulation S/Rule 144A Global Warrant") which will be in registered form and
deposited with, and registered in the name of a nominee for, the Common Depositary.

If the Warrants are to be issued into and transferred through accounts at Euroclear and Clearstream,
Luxembourg, and are not eligible for sale in the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S.
persons, such Series of Warrants will on issue be constituted by a global warrant in registered form (the
"Euroclear/CBL Global Registered Warrant", together with the Rule 144A Global Warrants and the
Regulations S/Rule 144A Global Warrants, the "Global Warrants" and each, a "Global Warrant")
which will be deposited with, and registered in the name of the nominee of, the Common Depositary.

Each Rule 144A Global Warrant, Regulation S/Rule 144A Global Warrant and Euroclear/CBL Global
Registered Warrant will be exchangeable in whole, but not in part, for individual warrant certificates
("individual warrant certificates") in a form to be agreed between the relevant Issuer and the Principal
W&C Instrument Agent representing Warrants in definitive form ("Definitive Registered Warrants"),
only upon the occurrence of an Exchange Event. For these purposes, "Exchange Event" means that (a)
in the case of Warrants represented by a Rule 144A Global Warrant held through DTC, either DTC has
notified the Issuer that it is unwilling or unable to continue as a depositary for that Rule 144A Global
Warrant held through DTC and no alternative clearing system is available, or DTC has ceased to be a
"clearing agency" registered under the Exchange Act, and no alternative clearing system is available, (b)
in the case of Euroclear/CBL Global Registered Warrants and other Warrants registered in the name of
a nominee of the Common Depositary, the relevant Issuer has been notified that both Euroclear and
Clearstream, Luxembourg have been closed for business for a continuous period of 14 calendar days
(other than by reason of holiday, statutory or otherwise) or have announced an intention permanently to
cease business or have in fact done so and, in any such case, no successor clearing system is available or
(c) the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor has or will become subject to adverse tax consequences which
would not be suffered were the Warrants held in definitive form. The relevant Issuer will give notice of
any such Exchange Event to the Holders in accordance with W&C Instruments Condition 12 (Notices).

Whenever a Global Warrant is to be exchanged for individual warrant certificates, such individual
warrant certificates shall be issued in equal number to the number of Warrants represented by the Global
Warrant within five business days of the delivery, by or on behalf of the Holder, DTC or such other
relevant clearing system, to the Principal W&C Instrument Agent of such information as is required to
complete and deliver such individual warrant certificates (including, without limitation, the names and
addresses of the persons in whose names the individual warrant certificates are to be registered and the
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number or nominal amount of each such person's holding) against the surrender of the Global Warrant
at the specified office of the Principal W&C Instrument Agent.

Such exchange will be effected in accordance with the provisions of the English Law Agency Agreement
and the regulations concerning the transfer and registration of Warrants scheduled thereto and, in
particular, shall be effected without charge to any Holder, but against such indemnity as the Principal
W&C Instrument Agent may require in respect of any tax or other duty of whatsoever nature which may
be levied or imposed in connection with such exchange.

If:

(a) individual warrant certificates have not been issued and delivered by 5.00 p.m. (London time)
on the thirtieth calendar day after the date on which the same are due to be issued and delivered
in accordance with the terms of the Global Warrant; or

(b) the date for final settlement of the Warrants has occurred and payment in full of the amount due
has not been made to the Holder on the due date for payment in accordance with the terms of
the Global Warrant,

then the Global Warrant (including the obligation to deliver individual warrant certificates) will become
void at 5.00 p.m. (London time) on such thirtieth calendar day (in the case of (a) immediately above) or
at 5.00 p.m. (London time) on such due date (in the case of (b) immediately above) and the Holder of the
Global Warrant will have no further rights thereunder (but without prejudice to the rights which the
Holder of the Global Warrant or others may have under the W&C Instruments Deed of Covenant (as
defined under "Terms and Conditions of the W&C Instruments")). Under the W&C Instruments Deed
of Covenant, each Holder is entitled to exercise or enforce in respect of each Warrant held by him, the
rights and obligations attaching to the relevant Warrant as set out in, and subject to, the W&C Instruments
Deed of Covenant, the W&C Instruments Conditions and the applicable Final Terms issued in respect of
such Warrants. For the avoidance of doubt, Holders of Warrants held through DTC are not entitled to the
benefit of the direct rights under the W&C Instruments Deed of Covenant.

Form of the Certificates
Registered Certificates

If the applicable Final Terms specify that Certificates are eligible for sale exclusively in the United States
or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons pursuant to an exemption from the registration
requirements of the Securities Act, the Certificates sold (a) in the United States to QIBs who are also
QPs within the meaning of Section 3(c)(7) and as defined in Section 2(a)(51) of the 1940 Act and the
rules thereunder or (b) to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons who are QIBs and also QPs will
be represented by a Rule 144A Global Certificate (the "Rule 144A Global Certificates", together with
the Rule 144A Global Warrants, the "Rule 144A Global W&C Instruments", and together with the
Rule 144A Global Notes, the "Rule 144A Global Instruments") which will be in registered form and
either (i) deposited with the Principal W&C Instrument Agent as a custodian for, and registered in the
name of a nominee of, DTC; or (ii) deposited with, and registered in the name of a nominee of, the
Common Depositary.

Certificates which may be sold as described above to U.S. persons who are QIBs and also QPs in reliance
on Rule 144A are referred to in this Offering Circular as "Rule 144A Certificates", (and together with
the Rule 144A Warrants, the "Rule 144A W&C Instruments"), which term shall also include, where
the context requires, Rule 144A Certificates sold as described in the succeeding paragraph that are
represented by a Regulation S/Rule 144A Global Certificate (as defined below).

If specified in the applicable Final Terms, the Certificates may be sold (a) pursuant to Rule 144A (i) to
persons in the United States who are QIBs and QPs or (ii) to or for the account or benefit of U.S. persons
who are QIBs and also QPs and (b) in either case, concurrently outside the United States to non-U.S.
persons pursuant to Regulation S. Such Certificates will be represented by a Regulation S/Rule 144A
Global Certificate (the "Regulation S/Rule 144A Global Certificate", together with the Regulation
S/Rule 144A Global Warrants, the "Regulation S/Rule 144A Global W&C Instruments", and together
with the Regulation S/Rule 144A Global Notes, the "Regulation S/Rule 144A Global Instruments'")
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which will be in registered form and deposited with, and registered in the name of a nominee for, the
Common Depositary.

The Certificates are to be issued in registered form and will be represented by a global registered
certificate ("Euroclear/CBL Global Registered Certificates", together with the Rule 144A Global
Certificates and the Regulation S/Rule 144A Global Certificates, the "Global Certificates" and each, a
"Global Certificate"), as specified in the applicable Final Terms. Each Global Registered Certificate
will be deposited on or around the relevant Issue Date with, and registered in the name of the nominee
for, the Common Depositary.

Each Global Certificate will be exchangeable in whole, but not in part, for individual certificates
("individual certificates"), representing Certificates in definitive form ("Definitive Registered
Certificates" and, together with Definitive Registered Notes and Definitive Registered Warrants,
"Definitive Registered Instruments"), if (a) in the case of Certificates represented by Rule 144A Global
Certificates held through DTC, either DTC has notified the Issuer that it is unwilling or unable to continue
as a depositary for such Rule 144A Global Certificates held through DTC and no alternative clearing
system is available, or DTC has ceased to be a "clearing agency" registered under the Exchange Act, and
no alternative clearing system is available, (b) in the case of Global Registered Certificates and other
Certificates registered in the name of a nominee of the Common Depositary, the relevant Issuer has been
notified that both Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg have been closed for business for a continuous
period of 14 calendar days (other than by reason of holiday, statutory or otherwise) or have announced
an intention permanently to cease business or have in fact done so and, in any such case, no successor
clearing system is available and/or (c) in the case of Rule 144A Global Certificates and Regulation S/Rule
144A Global Certificates, the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor has or will become subject to adverse tax
consequences which would not be suffered were the Certificates held in definitive form. The relevant
Issuer will give notice of any such Exchange Event to the Holders in accordance with W&C Instruments
Condition 12 (Notices).

Whenever a Global Certificate is to be exchanged for individual certificates, the relevant Issuer shall
procure that individual certificates will be issued in number or nominal amount equal to the number or
nominal amount of the Global Certificates then outstanding within five business days of the delivery, by
or on behalf of the registered holder of the Global Certificate, DTC or such other relevant clearing system,
to the Principal W&C Instrument Agent of such information as is required to complete and deliver such
individual certificates (including, without limitation, the names and addresses of the persons in whose
names the individual certificates are to be registered and the number or nominal amount of each such
person's holding) against the surrender of the Global Registered Certificate at the specified office of the
Principal W&C Instrument Agent.

Such exchange will be effected in accordance with the provisions of the English Law Agency Agreement
and the regulations concerning the transfer and registration of Certificates scheduled thereto and, in
particular, shall be effected without charge to any Holder, but against such indemnity as the Principal
W&C Instrument Agent may require in respect of any tax or other duty of whatsoever nature which may
be levied or imposed in connection with such exchange.

If:

(a) individual certificates have not been delivered by 5.00 p.m. (London time) on the thirtieth
calendar day after they are due to be issued and delivered in accordance with the terms of the
Global Certificate; or

(b) the date for final settlement of the Certificates has occurred and payment in full of all amounts

due has not been made to the Holder of the Global Certificate on the due date for payment in
accordance with the terms of the Global Certificate,

then the Global Certificate (including the obligation to deliver individual certificates) will become void
at 5.00 p.m. (London time) on such thirtieth calendar day (in the case of (a) immediately above) or at
5.00 p.m. (London time) on such due date (in the case of (b) immediately above) and the Holder of the
Global Certificate will have no further rights thereunder (but without prejudice to the rights which the
holder of the Global Certificate or others may have under the W&C Instruments Deed of Covenant).
Under the W&C Instruments Deed of Covenant, each Holder is entitled to exercise or enforce in respect
of each Certificate held by him, the rights and obligations attaching to the relevant Certificate as set out
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in, and subject to, the W&C Instruments Deed of Covenant, the W&C Instruments Conditions and the
applicable Final Terms issued in respect of such Certificates. For the avoidance of doubt, Holders of
Certificates held through DTC are not entitled to the benefit of the direct rights under the W&C
Instruments Deed of Covenant.

CREST Depository Interests

Following their delivery into a clearing system, interests in Instruments may be delivered, held and settled
in CREST by means of the creation of CDIs representing the interests in the relevant Instruments. The
CDIs will be issued by the CREST Depository to CDI Holders and will be governed by English law.

The CDIs will represent indirect interests in the interest of the CREST Nominee in the Instruments.
Pursuant to the CREST Manual, Instruments held in global form may be settled through CREST, and the
CREST Depository will issue CDIs. The CDIs will be independent securities, constituted under English
law which may be held and transferred through CREST.

Interests in the Underlying Instruments will be credited to the CREST Nominee's account with Euroclear
and the CREST Nominee will hold such interests as nominee for the CREST Depository which will issue
CDIs to the relevant CREST participants.

Each CDI will be treated by the CREST Depository as if it were one Instrument, for the purposes of
determining all rights and obligations and all amounts payable in respect thereof. The CREST Depository
will pass on to CDI Holders any interest or other amounts received by it as holder of the Underlying
Instruments on trust for such CDI Holder. CDI Holders will also be able to receive from the CREST
Depository notices of meetings of holders of Instruments and other relevant notices issued by the Issuer.

Transfers of interests in Instruments by a CREST participant to a participant of Euroclear and/or
Clearstream, Luxembourg will be effected by cancellation of the CDIs and transfer of an interest in such
Underlying Instruments to the account of the relevant participant with Euroclear or Clearstream,
Luxembourg.

The CDIs will have the same ISIN as the ISIN of the Underlying Instruments and will not require a
separate listing on the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.

Prospective subscribers for Instruments represented by CDIs are referred to Chapter 3 of the CREST
Manual which contains the form of the CREST Deed Poll entered into by the CREST Depository. The
rights of the CDI Holders will be governed by the arrangements between CREST, Euroclear and/or
Clearstream, Luxembourg and the Issuer including the CREST Deed Poll (in the form contained in
Chapter 3 of the CREST International Manual (which forms part of the CREST Manual)) executed by
the CREST Depository. These rights may be different from those of holders of Instruments which are
not represented by CDIs.

If issued, CDIs will be delivered, held and settled in CREST, by means of the CREST International
Settlement Links Service. The settlement of the CDIs by means of the CREST International Settlement
Links Service has the following consequences for CDI Holders:

1. CDI Holders will not be the legal owners of the Instruments. The CDIs are separate legal
instruments from the Underlying Instruments to which they relate and represent an indirect
interest in such Underlying Instruments.

2. The Underlying Instruments themselves (as distinct from the CDIs representing indirect
interests in such Underlying Instruments) will be held in an account with a custodian. The
custodian will hold the Underlying Instruments through a clearing system. Rights in the
Underlying Instruments will be held through custodial and depository links through the
appropriate clearing systems. The legal title to the Underlying Instruments or to interests in the
Underlying Instruments will depend on the rules of the clearing system in or through which the
Underlying Instruments are held.

3. Rights under the Underlying Instruments cannot be enforced by CDI Holders except indirectly
through the intermediary depositaries and custodians described above. The enforcement of
rights under the Underlying Instruments will therefore be subject to the local law of the relevant
intermediary. The rights of CDI Holders to the Underlying Instruments are represented by the
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entitlements against the CREST Depository which (through the CREST Nominee) holds
interests in the Underlying Instruments. This could result in an elimination or reduction in the
payments that otherwise would have been made in respect of the Underlying Instruments in the
event of any insolvency or liquidation of a relevant intermediary, in particular where the
Underlying Instruments held in clearing systems are not held in special purpose accounts and
are fungible with other securities held in the same accounts on behalf of other customers of the
relevant intermediaries.

The CDIs issued to CDI Holders will be constituted and issued pursuant to the CREST Deed
Poll. CDI Holders will be bound by all provisions of the CREST Deed Poll and by all provisions
of or prescribed pursuant to the CREST Manual and the CREST Rules and CDI Holders must
comply in full with all obligations imposed on them by such provisions.

Potential investors should note that the provisions of the CREST Deed Poll, the CREST Manual
and the CREST Rules contain indemnities, warranties, representations and undertakings to be
given by CDI Holders and limitations on the liability of the issuer of the CDIs, the CREST
Depository.

CDI Holders may incur liabilities resulting from a breach of any such indemnities, warranties,
representations and undertakings in excess of the money invested by them. The attention of
potential investors is drawn to the terms of the CREST Deed Poll, the CREST Manual and the
CREST Rules, copies of which are available from CREST.

Potential investors should note that CDI Holders may be required to pay fees, charges, costs and
expenses to the CREST Depository in connection with the use of the CREST International
Settlement Links Service. These will include the fees and expenses charged by the CREST
Depository in respect of the provision of services by it under the CREST Deed Poll and any
taxes, duties, charges, costs or expenses which may be or become payable in connection with
the holding of the CDIs through the CREST International Settlement Links Service.

Potential investors should note that the Issuers, the Guarantor, the Dealers, the Agents, the
Registrar or their respective advisers will not have any responsibility for the performance by
any intermediaries or their respective direct or indirect participants or accountholders of their
respective obligations under the rules and procedures governing their operations.
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FORM OF FINAL TERMS OF THE NOTES

[IMPORTANT - PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA RETAIL INVESTORS - The Notes are not
intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise
made available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area ("EEA"). For these purposes, a
"retail investor" means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of
Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU, as amended or superseded ("MiFID II"); (ii) a customer within
the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97, as amended or superseded (the "Insurance Distribution
Directive"), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of
Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in the EU Prospectus Regulation (as
defined below). Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014
(as amended or superseded, the "EU PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise
making them available to retail investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling
the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under
the EU PRIIPs Regulation.]?

[IMPORTANT - PROHIBITION OF SALES TO UK RETAIL INVESTORS - The Notes are not
intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise
made available to any retail investor in the UK (as defined below). For these purposes, a "retail investor"
means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation
(EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of UK domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (as defined below) and
the regulations made under the EUWA,; (ii) a customer within the meaning of the provisions of the FSMA
(as defined below) and any rules or regulations made under the FSMA to implement Directive (EU)
2016/97, where that customer would not qualify as a professional client, as defined in point (8) of Article
2(1) of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of UK domestic law by virtue of the EUWA and
the regulations made under the EUWA; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Article 2 of the UK
Prospectus Regulation (as defined below). Consequently no key information document required by
Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 as it forms part of UK domestic law by virtue of the EUWA and the
regulations made under the EUWA (the "UK PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the Notes or
otherwise making them available to retail investors in the UK has been prepared and therefore offering
or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the UK may be unlawful
under the UK PRIIPs Regulation.]?

[PROHIBITION OF OFFERING AND MARKETING TO SWISS PRIVATE CLIENTS - The
Notes are not intended to be offered, sold, marketed or otherwise made available to and shall not be
offered, sold, marketed or otherwise made available to any private client in Switzerland other than in the
context of a portfolio management agreement within the meaning of article 58(2) of the Swiss Financial
Services Act ("FinSA") and article 83 of the Swiss Financial Services Ordinance ("FinSO"). No key
information document within the meaning of article 58 FinSA (or equivalent document) has been
prepared with respect to the Notes.]*

[Notification under Section 309B(1) of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 (the "SFA"): The Notes
are prescribed capital markets products (as defined in the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets
Products) Regulations 2018) and Excluded Investment Products (as defined in the Monetary Authority
of Singapore (the "MAS") Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS
Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products).]’

[Notification under Section 309B(1) of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 (the "SFA"): The Notes
are capital markets products other than prescribed capital markets products (as defined in the Securities
and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations 2018) and Specified Investment Products (as defined
in the Monetary Authority of Singapore (the "MAS") Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of

Include where the Notes will not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area.
Include where the Notes will not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the United Kingdom.

Include where the Notes are being offered and marketed in or into Switzerland only to professional or institutional clients, and where no
Swiss key infromation document (or equivalent document) is available.

Applicable where offers are made under Section 275(1A) of the Securities and Futures Act 2001, as designated in the relevant Singapore
selling restrictions in the documents for the relevant Notes and such Notes are prescribed capital markets products (as defined in the
Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations 2018).
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Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment
Products).]°

[Date]
[BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION] [BOFA FINANCE LLC] [MERRILL LYNCH B.V.]
LEI: [9DJT3UXIJIZJI4WXO0774] [549300CGZYSEY3ZSIW16] [549300RQ1D1WIE085245]

Issue of [Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche] [Aggregate Number of Units of Tranche] [Title
of Notes]

under the Bank of America Corporation, BofA Finance LLC, Merrill Lynch B.V. and Merrill
Lynch International & Co. C.V.

Note, Warrant and Certificate Programme

[unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed as to payment [and delivery]’ obligations
by Bank of America Corporation]®

[Include the following warning for all Notes where capital is at risk:

INVESTING IN THE NOTES PUTS YOUR CAPITAL AT RISK. YOU MAY LOSE SOME
[OR ALL] OF YOUR INVESTMENT.]

The Offering Circular referred to below (as completed by these Final Terms) has been prepared on the
basis that any offer of Notes in any Member State of the European Economic Area (each, a "Member
State") will be made pursuant to an exemption under Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (as amended or
superseded, the "EU Prospectus Regulation") from the requirement to publish a prospectus for offers
of the Notes. Accordingly any person making or intending to make an offer of the Notes in that Member
State may only do so in circumstances in which no obligation arises for the Issuer or any Dealer to publish
a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the EU Prospectus Regulation or supplement a prospectus pursuant
to Article 23 of the EU Prospectus Regulation, in each case, in relation to such offer. Neither the Issuer
nor any Dealer has authorised, nor do they authorise, the making of any offer of Notes in any other
circumstances.

The Offering Circular referred to below (as completed by these Final Terms) has been prepared on the
basis that any offer of Notes in the United Kingdom (the "UK") will be made pursuant to an exemption
under Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 as it forms part of UK domestic law by virtue of the European Union
(Withdrawal) Act 2018 (the "EUWA™") and regulations made under the EUWA (the "UK Prospectus
Regulation") from the requirement to publish a prospectus for offers of the Notes. Accordingly any
person making or intending to make an offer of the Notes in the UK may only do so in circumstances in
which no obligation arises for the Issuer or any Dealer to publish a prospectus pursuant to section 85 of
the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (as amended, the "FSMA") or supplement a prospectus
pursuant to Article 23 of the UK Prospectus Regulation, in each case, in relation to such offer. Neither
the Issuer nor any Dealer has authorised, nor do they authorise, the making of any offer of Notes in any
other circumstances.

[Neither this document nor any other offering or marketing material relating to the Notes constitutes a
prospectus as such term is understood pursuant to the Swiss Financial Services Act ("FinSA") and neither
this document nor any other offering or marketing material relating to the Notes may be publicly
distributed or otherwise made publicly available in Switzerland, except in instances where such

Applicable where offers are made under Section 275(1A) of the Securities and Futures Act 2001, as designated in the relevant Singapore
selling restrictions in the documents for the relevant Notes and such Notes are capital markets products other than prescribed capital
markets products (as defined in the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations 2018).

7 Delete for Notes issued by BofA Finance.

Remove references to the Guarantor and the Guarantee if BAC is the Issuer or the Notes to be issued are Secured Notes. For fungible
and straddle trades, references herein should reflect the applicable guarantee.
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marketing, offering or distribution does not require the publication of a prospectus pursuant to the
FinSA.)’

The Notes [are unsecured and]'® are not and will not be savings accounts, deposits or obligations of, or
otherwise guaranteed by, any bank. The Notes do not evidence deposits of Bank of America, N.A. or
any other bank and are not insured by the U.S. Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, the Deposit
Insurance Fund or any other insurer or governmental agency or instrumentality.

[The Notes [and the relevant Guarantee] have not been and will not be registered under U.S. Securities
Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act") or under any U.S. state securities laws. The Notes [and
the relevant Guarantee] may not be offered, sold, resold, traded, transferred, pledged, delivered or
redeemed, directly or indirectly, within the United States of America (including the U.S. states and the
District of Columbia), its territories, its possessions and other areas subject to its jurisdiction (the "United
States") or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons (as defined by Regulation S under the
Securities Act) (other than distributors) except in accordance with Regulation S under the Securities Act
or pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the
Securities Act.]'!

[The Notes[, the relevant Guarantee] and, in certain cases, the Entitlement have not been and will not be
registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act") or under any U.S.
state securities laws and [none of the Notes] [neither the Notes nor the relevant Guarantee] may be
offered, sold, resold, traded, transferred, pledged, delivered or redeemed, directly or indirectly, at any
time within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, any U.S. person. For the purposes
hereof, "U.S. person" has the meaning ascribed to it by Regulation S under the Securities Act.]'?

[Each purchaser of Notes being offered within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, a
U.S. person (as defined herein) is hereby notified that the offer and sale of such Notes is being made in
reliance upon an exemption from the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as
amended (the "Securities Act") pursuant to Rule 144A ("Rule 144A") and the U.S. Investment Company
Act of 1940, as amended (the "1940 Act"). [The MLBV/MLICo. Guarantee has not been and will not
be registered under the Securities Act.] The Issuer will offer and sell Notes within the United States or
to, or for the account or benefit of, a U.S. person through BofA Securities, Inc. or one of its affiliates,
which in each case is a U.S. registered broker dealer, in private transactions exclusively to persons
reasonably believed to be qualified institutional buyers (each a "QIB") as defined in Rule 144A who are
also each a qualified purchaser (each a "QP") within the meaning of Section 3(c)(7) and as defined in
Section 2(a)(51)(A) of the 1940 Act, and the rules thereunder, and who, as a condition to purchasing the
Notes will enter into and remain in compliance with an Investor Representation Letter for the benefit of
[BofA Securities, Inc.][,] [and] the Issuer [and Bank of America Corporation (the "Guarantor")]
(together with their respective affiliates and any persons controlling, controlled by or under common
control with [BofA Securities, Inc.][,] [and] the Issuer [and the Guarantor]). The exercise of the Notes
by, or for the account or benefit of, a U.S. person will be conditional upon such holder (and any person
on whose behalf the holder is acting) being a QIB and a QP. See "Terms and Conditions of the Notes"
and "Annex 11A - Additional Terms and Conditions for Rule 1444 Notes" in the Offering Circular.
Investors in the Notes will be deemed to have made or will be required to make certain representations
and warranties in connection with purchasing the Notes. See "Notice to Purchasers and Holders of
Instruments and Transfer Restrictions" of the accompanying Offering Circular.

The Rule 144A Notes will be represented by a global note (a "Rule 144A Global Note"), which will be
deposited with Citibank Europe plc, as common depositary for Euroclear Bank SA/NV ("Euroclear")
and Clearstream Banking, S.A. ("Clearstream, Luxembourg") or Citibank, N.A., London Branch as a
custodian for The Depository Trust Company ("DTC"), and will be exchangeable for Definitive
Registered Notes in the limited circumstances described in the Rule 144A Notes. Beneficial interests in
the Rule 144A Notes will be shown on, and transfers thereof will be effected only through, records
maintained in book-entry form by Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or DTC, as the case may be.

Include where Notes are marketed, offered or sold in or into Switzerland and in respect of Notes for which "Swiss Non-Exempt Public
Offer" is specified as "No".

Include in the case of all Notes other than Secured Notes.
1 Include for Notes issued by BAC and BofA Finance.

12 Include in the case of Notes issued by MLBV other than Rule 144A Notes or Regulation S/Rule 144A Notes.
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The English Law Agency Agreement (as defined in the Conditions) provides that it and the Rule 144A
Notes will be governed by, and construed in accordance with English Law. [The MLBV/MLICo.
Guarantee is governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of New York.]]"?

[The Notes will be eligible for sale concurrently (a) in the United States or to, or for the account or benefit
of, U.S. persons (as defined herein), in either case to qualified institutional buyers (each, a "QIB") as
defined in Rule 144A ("Rule 144A") of the Securities Act, as amended (the "Securities Act") who are
also qualified purchasers (each, a "QP") within the meaning of Section 3(a)(7) and as defined in Section
2(a)(51)(A) of the U.S. Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the "1940 Act"), and the rules
thereunder, and (b) outside the United States to non-U.S. persons in reliance on Regulation S under the
Securities Act, in each case subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein and in the Conditions
(described below) and the accompanying Offering Circular.

The Notes will be represented by a global note (a "Regulation S/Rule 144A Global Note") which will
be deposited with Citibank Europe plc, as common depositary for Euroclear Bank SA/NV ("Euroclear")
and Clearstream Banking, S.A. ("Clearstream, Luxembourg") and will be exchangeable for Definitive
Registered Notes in the limited circumstances described in the Regulation S/Rule 144A Global Note.
Beneficial interests in the Notes will be shown on, and transfers thereof will be effected only through,
records maintained in book-entry form by Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. The English Law
Agency Agreement (as defined in the Conditions) provides that it and the Notes will be governed by, and
construed in accordance with, English law. [The relevant Guarantee is governed by, and construed in
accordance with, the laws of the State of New York.]

Each purchaser of Notes being offered within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, a
U.S. person (as defined herein) is hereby notified that the offer and sale of such Notes is being made in
reliance upon an exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act pursuant to Rule
144A and the 1940 Act. [The MLBV/MLICo. Guarantee has not been and will not be registered under
the Securities Act.] The Issuer will offer and sell Notes within the United States or to, or for the account
or benefit of, a U.S. person through BofA Securities, Inc. or one of its affiliates, which in each case is a
U.S. registered broker dealer, in private transactions exclusively to persons reasonably believed to be
QIBs who are also each a QP, and who, as a condition to purchasing the Notes will enter into and remain
in compliance with an Investor Representation Letter for the benefit of [BofA Securities, Inc.][,] [and]
the Issuer [and Bank of America Corporation (the "Guarantor")] (together with their respective affiliates
and any persons controlling, controlled by or under common control with [BofA Securities, Inc.][,] [and]
the Issuer [and the Guarantor]). The exercise of the Notes by, or for the account or benefit of, a U.S.
person will be conditional upon such holder (and any person on whose behalf the holder is acting) being
a QIB and a QP. See "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" and "Annex 11A - Additional Terms and
Conditions for Rule 1444 Notes" in the Offering Circular. Investors in the Notes will be deemed to have
made or will be required to make certain representations and warranties in connection with purchasing
the Notes. See "Notice to Purchasers and Holders of Instruments and Transfer Restrictions" of the
accompanying Offering Circular.]'

[The Notes are being offered by Merrill Lynch International ("MLI") or BofA Securities Europe SA
("BofASE") subject to prior sale, when, as and if delivered to and accepted by MLI or BofASE and to
certain other conditions. Notes sold in the United States will be sold through BofA Securities, Inc., a
registered broker-dealer. MLI or BofASE reserves the right to withdraw, cancel or modify such offer and
to reject orders in whole or in part.

No person is authorised to give any information or to make any representation not contained in or not
consistent with this document or any other information supplied in connection with the Programme or
the Notes and, if given or made, such information or representation must not be relied upon as having
been authorised by the Issuer, [the Guarantor,] the Principal Paying Agent or any other person. This
document does not constitute, and may not be used for the purposes of, an offer or solicitation by anyone
in any jurisdiction in which such offer or solicitation is not authorised or to any person to whom it is
unlawful to make such offer or solicitation and no action is being taken to permit an offering of the Notes
or the distribution of this document in any jurisdiction where any such action is required.

13 Include in the case of Rule 144A Notes issued by MLBYV other than Regulation S/Rule 144A Notes.

14 Include in the case of Regulation S/Rule 144A Notes.
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The delivery of these Final Terms and the Offering Circular does not at any time imply that the
information contained herein or in the Offering Circular concerning the Issuer [and/or the Guarantor] is
correct at any time subsequent to the date hereof or that any other information supplied in connection
with the Programme or the Notes is correct as of any time subsequent to the date indicated in the
document containing the same. [None of][Neither] MLI[,] [nor] BofASE [and BofA Securities, Inc.]
undertakes to review the financial condition or affairs of the Issuer [and/or the Guarantor] during the life
of the Programme. Investors should review, inter alia, the most recently published annual financial
statements, if any, of the Issuer [and the Guarantor] when deciding whether or not to purchase any Notes.

The Notes create options which are either exercisable by the relevant holder or which will be
automatically exercised as provided herein. The Notes will be exercised or will be exercisable in the
manner set forth herein and in the Offering Circular. The Notes are subject to restrictions on transfer.
Holders of Notes may not transfer the Notes except as permitted under the Securities Act and applicable
state securities laws and subject to the transfer restrictions set forth in the Offering Circular. Any transfer
of a Rule 144A Note in the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, a U.S. person must be
made to or through the Issuer or the Dealer to a person that is a QIB/QP that executes an Investor
Representation Letter and otherwise in accordance with the applicable transfer restrictions set forth in
the Offering Circular. See "Notice to Purchasers and Holders of Instruments and Transfer Restrictions"
in the Offering Circular.

Neither these Final Terms, the Offering Circular nor any other information supplied in connection with
the Programme or any Notes (i) is intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation or (ii)
should be considered as a recommendation by the Issuer, [the Guarantor,] MLI[,] [or] BofASE [or BofA
Securities, Inc.] that any recipient of these Final Terms and the Offering Circular or any other information
supplied in connection with the Programme or any Notes should purchase any Notes. Each investor
contemplating purchasing any Notes should make its own independent investigation of the financial
condition and affairs, and its own appraisal of the creditworthiness, of the Issuer [and the Guarantor].
No representation is made to any offeree or purchaser of the Notes regarding the legality of an investment
therein by such offeree or purchaser under any applicable legal investment or similar laws or regulations.
The contents of these Final Terms and the Offering Circular are not to be construed as legal, business or
tax advice. Each prospective investor should consult his or her attorney or business and tax advisor as
to legal, business and tax advice.

Each person receiving these Final Terms and the Offering Circular acknowledges that (i) such person
has been afforded an opportunity to request from the Issuer [and the Guarantor] and to review all
additional information concerning the Issuer [and the Guarantor] and the terms of the Notes that it
considers to be necessary to verify the accuracy of, or to supplement, the information contained herein,
(i1) such person has not relied on the Initial Purchaser (as defined below) or any person affiliated with
the Initial Purchaser in connection with its investigation of the accuracy of such information or its
investment decision, (iii) none of the Issuer, [the Guarantor] and the Initial Purchaser has made any due
diligence inquiry with respect to the Reference Item (if applicable) in connection with the offering of the
Notes, (iv) the Issuer, [the Guarantor] and the Initial Purchaser and their affiliates may obtain material
non-public information regarding the Reference Item (if applicable) or any affiliate of the Reference Item
(if applicable), and none of the Issuer, [the Guarantor,] the Initial Purchaser and any such affiliate
undertakes to disclose any such information to subsequent purchasers of Notes and (v) no person has
been authorised to give any information or to make any representation concerning the Issuer, [the
Guarantor] or the Notes other than as contained herein or in the Offering Circular and, if given or made,
any such other information or representation should not be relied upon as having been authorised by the
Issuer, [the Guarantor] or the Initial Purchaser.]"

[Each offeree is authorised to use these Final Terms and the Offering Circular solely for the purpose of
considering the purchase of the Notes described herein. [The Issuer, [the Guarantor] and any of MLI[,]
[or] BofASE [or BofA Securities, Inc.], as initial purchaser (the "Initial Purchaser"), reserve the right
to reject any offer to purchase, in whole or in part, for any reason, or to sell less than all of the Notes.]'
These Final Terms and the Offering Circular are personal to the offeree to whom they have been delivered
and do not constitute an offer to any other person or to the public in general to subscribe for or otherwise
acquire the Notes. Distribution of these Final Terms and the Offering Circular to any person other than

15 Include in the case of Rule 144A Notes or Regulation S/Rule 144A Notes.

16 Include in the case of Rule 144A Notes or Regulation S/Rule 144A Notes
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the offeree and those persons, if any, retained to advise the offeree in connection with its purchase of the
Notes is unauthorised, and any disclosure of any of their contents, without the prior written consent of
the Issuer[,] [and] [the Guarantor] and the Initial Purchaser, is prohibited.]"”

[Nothing herein should be considered to impose on the recipient of these Final Terms any limitation on
disclosure of the tax treatment or tax structure of the transactions or matters described herein.]'®

The Issuer [and the Guarantor] reserve[s] the right to reject any offer to purchase, in whole or in part, for
any reason, or to sell less than all of the Notes.

[AVAILABLE INFORMATION

In order to preserve the exemptions for permitted re-sales and transfers pursuant to Rule 144A, the Issuer
[and the Guarantor] have agreed to furnish, upon the request of any holder of a Rule 144A Note or of a
beneficial interest therein, such information as is specified in paragraph (d)(4) of Rule 144 A under the
Securities Act to such holder or beneficial owner or to a prospective purchaser of such Rule 144A Note
in order to permit such holder or beneficial owner to comply with the requirements of Rule 144A in
connection with the re-sale, unless, at the time of such request, the Issuer is subject to the reporting
requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
"Exchange Act"), or is incl